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Preface

As a teacher of History during my long educational carcer,
I have had an opportunity of dealing with the whole range of
Indian History as well as the History of all European countries.
As a writer, I had to deal with the whole of Indian History and
malke a carelnl study of the events of what are _commonly known
as e Three Periods of History. My ficld of speeial research is
mediaeval Indian History but 1 havekept my vision wide and have
not ignored the other aspects of it, T have always liked a broader
outlook and belived that narrow specialization leads 1o pedantry.
A wider horizon in deseribing the event of the past is a valuable
aid to a histerian.

The Sixteenth and Seventeenth Centuries are occupied with
the rise, growih, glory, and affluence of the Indian Timurid
Eimpive. In the last decade of the Seventeenth Century began
the decline of the Empire owing to wrong policics, and towards
the end of the century its fall became inevitable. The Eight-
centh century began with the accession of imbecile kings and
degenerate nobles who were powerless to keep together the Em-
pire which was in the process of dissolution, The rise of the new
races in the Empire itself made its rehabilitation difficult and
the forcign invaders hastened its doom.

The signs of Hindu revival became manifests on all sides.
The Jats the Marathas, the Rajputs and the Sikhs rose like a
Phalanx to demolish the empire. The story of its decline and the
rise of powerful caste-nations invesis our history with a pathetic
interest like that which inspived Gibbon to write the history of
the Decline and fall of the Roman Empire.

In the present volume the story of the Eighteenth Century is
unfolded with a view to acquainting the lay Reader and the
professed Student of history with the forces that work to bring
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about the fall of kingdoms and empires, and the habits and
attitudes which lead to the degeneration of human societies,
India is a country in which casie-groups have always existed and
exercised a profound influenee on her history. They teach us a
lesson, warn us against the fatal results of political dis-unity and
emphesisc the necessity of foresight and wisdom in organizing the
administration of the country,

The Lighteenth Century is sometimes described as the dark
age of Indian History. The description is only partially true;
there were great men and women in the cighteenth century, great
rulers, warriors and statesmen but there was utter lack of unity
and national patrictism. They concentrated their attention on
their small ficld and neglected the larger interests of the whole
country. They showed culpable readiness to sacrifice the whole
for the part. Added to this lack of unity was the utter absence
of nationlism, love of liberty, and regard for the rights of man
and international morality and obligation. A state of confusion
was created which made it casy for the foreigners to bring the
whole country under their sway. Europe was under Enlightened
despots in the Eighteenih Cemwury. Indian rulers knew nothing
about the modern methods of administration; they had not
established even a printing press to print books or newspapers
for the advancement of the people. At a time when the Hali-
civilized countries of Europe like Russia and pro-catholic Austria
were introducing reforms and England was, as a result of the
industrial revolution, was becoming the workshop of the world,
Indian rulcrs were fighting among  themselves, making room for
the forcigners who were superior to them in diplomacy, state-craft
and military organization. India became a congeries of States
which, ene by one went under the yoke of foreign traders and a
large part of the map became Red. Such is the wagic story of
India’s history which is ne pride to us and to write it without
malice and bitter anguish of the soul is a difficult task.

Allahabad
5th March, 1973 Ishwari Prasad
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CHAPIER 1

Decline and Fall of the Mughal Empire

The year 1700 marks an epoch in Indian History, Auran-
vl who was the roler of Hindustan was approaching his end,
igoted and suspicious by nature, he was & master of the art of
dissimulation and no one could fathom the depths of his heare,
His policy wasa [ailure. DBy conviction and temperament he was
an orthodox Sunni Muslim, who had no faith in Akbars prineiple
ol Sulali-i-Kul and lopked upon religuons tolerntion as an act of
folly and sin, His numerous acts of unwisdon lostered discontent
throughout the eountry and his attempt to turn India into Darul-
Islam provoked stiff resistance [rom the various sections of the
non-Muslim population. He bad many good qualities but they
were neutralised by lis funaticism. According to the evidenee of
contemporary Muslim  writers, he was apious Muslim who
followed the Shara and lived his life in conformity o the Muslim
ideal, He hated the Hinedus and Shias alike and wanted to turm
ow anvient land into an Islamic country, The Rajputs who
had shed theip blood in the service of the empire turned inst
him and became his bitterest enemies. The Marvathas, Bundelas,
Jats, Sikhs all turned against him and broke out into open
revolt against his authority, The Hindus who wore exasperated
by his hostile and oppressive measures started a  movement
of revivalism in the country to withstand the tyranny of the
state. From a benefigial organisation for the protection and well-
being of the people, the empire became an outlandish engine of
ranny and the forces of disintegration began to work on all
siddes with redoubled vigour. It was the fanaticism of the Mugh-
als that had called into existence the militant scet of the Sikhs,
who from meck and gentle followers of Guru Nanak became
fievee warriors, thipsting for the blood of their enemics and or-
ganised themselves in the Khalsa for the defence of the Hindu
religion under the leadership of Gura Govind Singh, the tenth
and last ol the Gurus,

The prolonged wars in the Dececan had drained the resources
of the empire and even after 25 years' continued warfare the ve-
sistance of the Marathas was not broken. After Shivaji's death
his sceond son Raja Ram who was only 10 years of Was
crowned at Raigarh by his mother Sovay Bai in April 1680 with-
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out thinking of the consequences of the act,  Shamblngt who was
confined in the fort of Panhala decided (o seize (he throne.  He
put the commandant of the fort to death and acquired possession
alfit. Then he went 1o Raigarh and with the help of Hambir
Rao Mohite, the comnneler chiel] set aside Raja Ramn, theew him
and his mother into prison, and declaved himsell as king,  Shaou-
bhuji did not get on well with kis Luther's oflicers and employed
in his service a Bralunan from Kawuof, Kavi Kalash by naune,
who kuew Sauskrit and also composed verses in Hlindi,  "The
Marathas looked upon him as a foreiguer and resented his into -
ference in the affhirs of the stute,  The presence of twe kings ad
the intrigues of the chiefs cavsed dissensions i (e Muritha
camp.

A new complication was introduced into the politics of tht
Decean.  Auranzels'’s fourth son Akbar who had fled alter the
descrtion of Rajputs in the war between them and the empire in
the north went to the Maratha court to seek Shambhuji's help to
enable him to scize the throne of Delhi from his I":ll)lmr. Rum-
mour spread in the country that Prince Akbar had gone to the
south and the Emperoralso macched in pursuit of him. The
Prince was well veceived by the Marathas and a joint plan was
formed to raid the emperor's camp at Aurangabad. “This  dicd
not matcralise and through Mugﬁal manipulations, il scems,
Shambhuji was involved ina war with the Siddis of jinjiva and
later with the Portuguese at Chaul, The Marathas were  attacked
by the imperial army and they were defeated.  Shamblwji and
Kavi Kalash Dath were captuced and thrown into prison, Sham-
bhuji was told that his life would be spared if he sureendered  the
forts, he had seized, diselosed his hidden treasures and the seerel

urposcs with the Mughal nobles and officers. Although a prisoner
in Mughal hands, the Marvatha Chiel' became wild will vage,
showered foul abuse on the Emperor and demanded his daughter
in marriage as a condition of peace with hini,  The actual words
were not communicated to the Emperor but only their substance.
He jwas infuriated with rage and ordered Shambhuji and his
ady ser both to be put to death in circumstances of exceplional
barbarity in 1689,

Raja Ram now became King. He had received no  educa-
tion worth the name and had none of the qualitics that go to
make a great ruler,  With his moderate abilities, lic tricd to rouse
the national spirit of the Marathas and in this task lie was aided
by capable men like Ramchandra Pantand Prahlad Niraji who
were his chiel advisers. In his compaigns he was assisted by
generals like Shantaji and Dhanaji, War with the Mughals became
a national war and Maratha polriotism rosc to the highest piteh.
Ardent spirits rallied to the side of these geeat leaders and the



Decline and fall of the Mughal Empire 5

theatre of War extended from Burhanpur to Jinji in the south.
Raja Ram transferred his capital to Jinji and the Marathas scoured
the whole country and inflicted heavy losess on the Mughals,. The
sicge of Jinji which lasted for eight years shattered the Mughal
hopes of a complete subjugation of the Marathas,

Raja Ram left Jinji, went uE and down the whole countr
;'xharung the people to vise in the defonce of their hearths a
I0I0CE,

The condition of the Mughal army was pitiable, Sir Jadunath
Sarkar Writes: -

His soldiers and cam) [ollowers suffered unspeakable hard-
ships in marching over {looded rivers, muddy roads and
broken hill tracks; porters disappearcd, transport beasts
died of hunger and overwork, scarcily of grain was ever
fresent in the camp and the Maratha and the (Berad
thicves (as he officially called thoem) were not [ar off.
The mutual jealousy of his generals ruined his cause or
delayed his suceess. The siege of eight forts, Satara,
Parli, Panhala, Khelna (Vishalgarh, Kandhana (Sin-)
garh), Raigarh, Torma and Wagingera, besides five

laces of lusser note occupied him for five years and a
wall (1699-1703) after which the broken down old man
of eighty-cight vetired to dic.”

After Raja Ram's death in 1700, his som Shivaji 1] was
crowned as King and his widowed mother Tarabai became regent
for him, ‘Tarabai was a spirted woman ol great administrative
ability. 8he organised the government with great cnergy andin
fised a fresh life and vigour into the administration, ¢ Mara-
thas, inspired by her noble example, carried on the War of in-
dependence till the end of Auranzeb's carcer. His twenty-five
years' War had ended in misery and despair and the Marathas
were still defiant and rebellious. They carried their raids into
Malwa and Gujarat and obtained one victory after another and
cxtended their rule as far as the south Karnatak, The eredit [or
these heroie achicvements end  successful campaigns was due to
Tarabai who was the forelorn hope of the country’s resistance
and the inspirer of her national ideals.

The Imperial army had suffcred great privations and had
consequently grown very weak, The Commissariat arrangements
were cntirely unsatisfactory. The expenditure of the army had
grown enormously; it had become nearly double of that of Shah-
jehan. ‘The French traveller Bennier writes from personal obser-
vation about the economic breakdown of the empire. He speaks
of the recalcitrant attitude of Zamindars, the suffevings of the
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rack-rented peasantry and the deplorable plight ol ariists and
artisans who had migrated to the provincial eapitals,

The deeline of the adininisteation was cleavlydiseernible, Some
of the great mindsters and administators lind  dicd and o greeat
many inall partanl the empire had been incapacitited by age. ‘e
Muslim aristeocacy which was the (lwim:ilm fteder of the eivil
servier of the state, ud  Deeomes degenerate, Louxory and the

upsuit of smsual pleasures had sapped i strengtleand  seviously
impaired its elliciency and - discipline.  "Uhe song of distinguished
officials ofthe state spent their time in the ecompany  of cunnchs
el fickdlers and possessed seither valour nor vietwe, They ook
tolite Nying and pigeon lying as theie pasttioe o ele an aver-
sion for the husiness of office or achinistration.  Tlhe administris
tion in Northern India had vietually eollapsed; while the old
supporters of the cmpire were engaged in digging its grave, (e
provineial governers and Dewans, deveid of eificiency, discipline
and probity, acted asthey liked and e revenue [ell in arenes,
Autocracy defeats its own purpose. While the Emperor 1o
whom they were vesponsilile had Deeome incapabile ol enfincing
discipling, they lost their morale and began to avail Quemselves ol
the opportunity provided by administrative anarchy te enrich
themselves at the expense of the state and d: penple.  Liw &
Order were neglected and Hindu chiefs and Zamindars defied the
the authority of the state and destroyed the semblanee of loeal sell-
government in the yural areas, The regulations devised by 'Todar-
mal and TFathullah Shirazi about which Abul Fael writes
Ic;fl:h had pone into desuctude, and even the records were lulsi-
fie. The Mughal nobility cultivaled vicious and extruvagant
habits and lacked that moral gril and stamina which are vequired
to build up great political systemns, Pedarasty was o eommon
vice and the dignity of family life was at a low c¢bh, Profligucy
was thenorm of life and was perhaps the avistoeracy’s veply to
the emperor’s stern Puritanism. The Mughal nobility was a
hybrid conglomeration of diffirents races; it fomenied vebellion,
lived in a state of perpetual tension; it plotted against the Eupe-
ror and tried to bring about his dethvonement, It did not sen
the writing on the walland ignored the warning which destiny
gave them oftheir impending doom,

When Aurangzeb returned to Wagingera (1703), he was com-
pletely exhausted. He slowly wended lus way towards Ahmad-
nagar. So great was the audacity of the Marathas, according to
the Muslims Chronilers that they followed him and vaided his
camp. Their tactics baffled the imperalists and they succeeded
with difficulty in driving them away. Yet they persisted in their
attacks from the rear and put the Mughal army to heavy loss.
It seemed as if the decree had gone forth from the Most High
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that the Empire must fall. Beaten, baffled and crestfallen, the
Tgﬁﬂ};ﬂrﬂnrnmmmcd to Aurangabad where he died on March 3,

Nothing can deseribe adequtely Auwranzeb’s misery at this
time. He was [ortlorn and miserable, utterly devoid of the peace
and consolation which domestic felicity alone can bring to a
dying man, He did not (rust his sons and never allowed them
to come near him, "T'he aged monarch's mind was haunted by
the fate o' Shaljehan whow he had kept as a prisoner for eight
years in the fort of Agra and i'he was truly religious, his mental
anguish inust have been unhearable, despite his austere tempera-
ment and pitiless nature. He had heaped indignities upon the
most magnificent vuler ol the Mughal dynasty, who was called
Suhib Qiran Sani and caused the death of his own kinsmen.
Verily  he was now overtaken by Divine retribution,

Aurangzeb had threesons, Muazzam, Azam and Kamblhsha,
ITe had made a will by which he partitioned the empire among
his sons but they disrepavded it and began to prepave  themselves
lor the war of suceession.  As there was no fixed law of sucees-
sion among the Mughals, the question had to be decided by the
urbitrament of the sword. Muaszam hearvd the news of the
emperor’s death at Jajau and stareed atonce for the capital. Like
Azam he also thought that Agra  and Delhi would give him a
preat advantage over  his rvivals, Having seized the treasure at
Peshawar and Delli, he reached Agra and appropriated to him-
sell the vast treasures found in the fort. Fle wrote a letter to Azam
asking him to aveid shedding the blood of God's creation and
challenged him to a  personal combat ta deeide the question of
succession, Azam replied that the. question of sovercignty
was quite different from  personal quarrels and  tweo swords
could not remain in a single scabbard.  He crossed the Chambal
at Dholpur where his son Bedar Bakht was encamped. The heat
was lerrible and the troops suffered heavily. The two armies
engaged themselves in & battle near Jajau (not lar from A‘Era.} on
the 18th June,  Azam's son Bedar Takht was a eapable and hrave
man, He wanted to goto Agra but his father out of jealousy
did not allow him to do so.  The earnage on the battle field was
heavy; and about 12000 horsemen weve left dead and Azam and
Liis son were killed with many of their supporters.  Bedarbakht's
brother Walajah was mortally wounded. Many of the Rajputs on
cither side died fighting for him and most of the Muslim officers
were also killed.  Azam lost heavily and Bahadurshah eblained

a complete victory.

Hlaving got rid of his powerful rivals, Bahadurshah turned to
Rajputana and from there proceeded to the Deean on hearing of
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Kambakhsha's crucl and mad acts, While he was on his way to
Bijapur whither he was sent as Viceroy, he hicard of the death
of his father and proclaimed himsell as Emporer and  stayed for
two months, taking steps to organise his army anel the govern-
ment.  But his acts of folly and the bitter jealosy that existed
between his minister Taquerul Khan and  Tus Bakhshi Ahsan
Khan made him  blood-thivsty and he heeawme aocyeant, The con-
fiscated the property  of ollicers whom he suspected of conspiving
against him and imprisoned them, Mony otler acts o crnelly
were done by hitm and the peaple were teed ol his  yrianmical
ways, Matters eame to & head, when e tortuped  to detl
Rustam-dil-Khan, the Viceroy of Golkunda,  Ar tlis tome Badin-
durshoh crossed the Nnrlmmtf on e 170 My, 1708 and send Lo
his erving brother, a reasonable offer of peace whicl was vijected
by him. [t beeame necessary foe Bahadur Shali to put an end
to his tyranny, Many of Kambakhsha’s followers and suppor-
ters deserted to Bahadurshah and in a Skivemish that  followetd,
the small foree of 350 men which Lhe had gathered was  defeated
by the imprrialists who numbered 25000 under the eomod of
Munim Khan and Zulfigqar Khan. Having settled the Decean
affair, Bahadur Shah returned to the north to deal with (le ser-
ious situation that had arisen in Rajputana.

The Rajput chicfsof Jodhpur, Amber and Mewar had
combined against the Emperor after Aurangzeh’s death.  Ajit
Singh had recovered his ancentral provinces and expelled the
Muslim Faujdar Mihrab Khan. Jai S8ingh, the Prince of Amber,
had marricd his daughter to the Rana of Udaipur for the pur-
pose of strengthening the alliance, The Rujputs sureonnded
Jodhpur and reduced to sore straits the Muslim {"auidnr whin was
allowed to retreat with honour.  After a good deal of fighting,
order was restored and peace was made with the Rajputs,  Jaui
Singh and Ajit Singhwere taken back into the imperial service,
The Latter was given a command of 3500 and the title of Maha-
raja was conferred upon him. Bahadur Shah paid a second visit
to Rajputana in 1710 and by his conciliatory pelicy wun the
loyalty and support of the Rajputs. Just at this time came the
news of the trouble caused by the Sikhs in Sirhind and the
emperor turned to deal with them. With the accession of Baha-
dur Shah to the throne, therclationsof the Mughalswith the Sikhs
had changed for the time being, Guru Govind Singh joined the
service of the Emperor and received a Mansab, He is said to
have taken part in the battle of Jajau though it has been much
exaggerated by the Sikh writers, Guru Govind Singh was killed
by a fanatic in 1708 and he was succeeded by Banda who is some-
times called “false Guru'. Banda established himself near Sir-
hind and gathered a large following. He had at his cammand
40000 men who were mostly recruited from the lTower classes,
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He attacked Wazir Khan, the governor, who had murdered Guru
Govind Singh's childven and killed him.

The death of Wazir Khan spelled disaster for the inhabitants
of Sirhind, The town was given up toplunderand aterrible venge-
ance was cxacted from the Muslims in 1710, The most terrible
cruvlties were prepetrated and even women and children were not
spaved, Encouraged by these depredations, the Sikhs caused
much disturbanee at Lahore, drove out the local governar and
raided the parganas of Batala and Kalanaur. The news of these
outhreaks reached Bahadur Shah at Ajmer towards the close of
May but owing to diffirences between the King and his ministers
nn action enuld be taken. The villages in the vieinity of Lahore
were plundered and the Muslims organised themselves to expel
the Sikhs.  The Sikh devastation continued  all over the contigu-
ous lands and the SBaharanpur and Meerut districts were revaged.
The Sikhs were strongly entrenched in theiv fovts and the Musiim
resistance was not of much avail, Banda had cscaped from
Lohagarh which was captured by the imperialists but it was loat
again, and in the fighting that followed, the Sikhs displayed amaz-
ing spirit of sell~sacrifice and devation.,

Bahadur Shal was terribly annoyed on hearing of the dis-
comfiture of the impwialists. He started from Ajmer on 27th
June, 1710 to deal with Banda who was at Sadhawa, The Jat-
ter atanee, lelt the place and fed to the Fort of Lohagarh, The
Imporialists were steengthened by re-inlorcements under the com-
mand of Prince Rafiusshan, Munim Khan, Chatrazal Bundela
and other Rajputs. Fighting with the Sikhs continued, and the
only event worth noticing is the Khutba riot at Lahore which
occurrved in 1711. The Emporor r-ug%catcd the addition of the
word ‘wasi’ or heir after the name of *Ali in the Friday prayer.
As this meant reflection en the three caliphs, the Sunnis who cone
stituted the mnjnrn'r¥ protested against the innovation and riots
broke out in several places. Bahadur Shah ordered his artillery
officer to arrange for the reading of the changed Khutba but a
hundred thousand Sunnis gathered in the streets and a riot seem-
ed imminent. The emperor had to yield and the agitation came
to an end.

Bahadur Shad been strcm.mmlr' busy since his accession and
his health was declining. He fell ill and after few weeks he
died on 27th February, 1712

After a brief struggle for succession, his son Jahandar Shah
succeded to the throne. The scene of conflict among the sons
of the Late King was in the Punjab. Jehandar Shah proclaimed
his assumption of imperial dignity in an improvised audience
liall in the battle field oulside Lahore on the 29th March, 1712,
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Zulfiqar Khan became the chiel Wazir and reccived a Mansab
of 8000 Zat and a lavge sum ol maney. The oflicer ol Dewan
was conferred on  Tkhilas Khan, while the revenues of the Khalsa
were entrusted to the eare of Sablin Chand who was given the
title of Raja. Other officers were similurty  honoured and
hecame the veceipients of Royal favouwr, The Prinees ol the
Royal fumily were defeated or killed.

Fread from allrivals Jehandar Shalibegan torule as Emperor.,
He twrned ot o dissolute sensulist and pleasuresecker,  He
spont nst ol his e i the company ol his concubine Tal
Kumwar and drowve with er in o bullock-egaet o Clhandud Cliowk
to make purchases.  He was surronnded by hulfoons une jesters
of a low type and with them he indulged  inoevery kined of
frivolily and wiee that ean debase the dignily of man, By
Lis unwortly eonduct the king threw all decency o the winds,
The highest dignitaries of the Empire were insulted by Lal
Kunwar's relations and royal extravagance reached to such an
extent that the stores of the Palace were exhausted and even
the eold and silver on the ceill of the royal apartimeids was
stripped off and given to the soldiers who clamoured [or pay.
Lal Kunwar was given an allowance of 20 millions of rupees
a year and in addition w this huge amount clothes and jowals
and ather costly things were supplied n abundaee. The tone
of society became vulgour and the prestige of the administra-
tion reached its nadir. There were parties at the Court the
most }:-mw:rf'ul of which were the Tranis headed by Safdar Jang
and the Turanis headed by Nizamulmulk,

While Jehanandar Shall was immersed In plonsare  and
entirely neglected the business of the state Favrnkh Siyer, the
second son of Azimushan, proclaimed himsell’ Emperor at Paina,
With the help of Saiyyed brothevs, Hasan Ali Khan and Fusain
Ali Khan, Theycame from Barah a group of 12 villages in
the Saharanpur and Moeerut distriets and were Jnown for their
bravery and administrative ahility. DBoth rose by dint ol merit
to high position in the State and during the reign of Alamgir
the u%r.ler Syed was Faujdar of Sultanpur Nazdarbad and the
Subah of Khandesh and was afterwards given the charge of
Aurangabad. The younger brother was a man of remarkable
intrepidity and vigour. He held charge of Rantam bhor and |
then of Hindaun and Biyana in the Subah of Agra. They were
at Multan for sometime but owing to differences with Priuce
Muizuddin, the cldest son of Snah  Alam, they resigned and went
to Lahore where they remained for sometime in obscurity. They
took part in the battle of Jajau and fought on the side of Bahadur
Shah but after his accession to the throne they felt that their
service. had not been adequately recognised. Bahadur Shah
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gave the Subah of Ajmer to Abdulla but soon after changed his
mind. Azam extended his patronage to them.

Sayyid Hasan Ali Khan was made Deputy Governor at
Allahabad and Sapgid Husain Ali Khan who was given the title
af Amir-ul-umra, Firoz Jung, at Patna, Jehandar Shah asked
his son Azduddin to March against Ferrukh Siyer from Agra but
the prince who was aggrieved on account of his supersession by
Lalkunwar did not promptly obey the royal command. Distri-
bution ol offices followed and new provincial governors were
appointed to strengthen the Emperor’s pesition.  Abdus Samad
was given the chinege of Lahore, Jai Singh Sawai of Malwa, and
Su.yrid Khan in Jehan Barah of Ajmer. The governorships of
Multan and Behar were entrusted o the Sayyid brothers. Rengal
was given to Mirjumla but in reality it was Murshid Quli Khan
who was asked to govern it in addition to the provinee of Orissa.
The provinees ofthe Decean were entrusted to Nizamul-mulk
EC.‘.lun Qlisch Khan Bahadur) with his head quarters at Auranga-

ad, The Nizam wasthe ablest man among all these officers
and he wasthe leader of the Turnai party, which consisted of men
who had loyally served the Timurids and looked upon themselves
as their countrymen.  They came from the country north of the
Oxus and many of them were employed in the army. As has
been said before, the Iranis were opposed to the Turanis and
cach [aetinn tricd to acquire predominance in the State.

Jehandar Shah was alarmed by the advent of Farrukh-Siyer
His great handicap was the scarcity of money, Dire necessity
led him to disteibute the jewels and other valuable articles of
gold, vessels cotc. among the soldiers ro satisfy them. But even
these did not suffice to meet  their demand, Tt was Jehandar
Shal’s misfortune to be the leader of such a rablle He was at
his wit's and o find ways and means o mect the enemy whe had
crossed the Jamuna and encamped at Seral Roz Bahani near
Akbar's tomb at Sikandara,

Bothsides prepared for battle and on the 10th May, 1713
near Agra the imperialists were defeated. The Sa)'rlid brothers
fought with uncxampled courage and gave a short shrift to their
enemies. Husain Ali Khan was found beneath a heap of corpses
but when he heard of victory, he rose atonce and rejoiced over
the results of the battle, Desertions began in  Jehandarshah's
army and even his ministers opened negotiations with Farrukh
Siyer, The Sayyids had triumphed; Jehandarshah was captured
and fetters were thrown round his feet, After a few days he was
strangled to death and his head was cut off, Confusion spread all-
around and the stabilityof the administration wasseriously under-
mined. There was a fresh distribution of offices and new men
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were admitted to royal favour. Raja Chabila Ram Nagar was
sent to Agra but as he could not get on with Churiman Jat, ano-
ther officer was appointed in hisplace, Though power was in
their hands, the Sayyid brothers did not misuse it. The lion’s
share of gifts and rewards went to the king's fwourites most of
whom were Turanis.

The Saiyyids accupied the position of king makers bui they
were not free from danger. The Emperor was peefidions aod was
planning to averthrow the'r power.  He plotted It his inte
cowardice hmnpeved  his plans. Miv Jomlo's constant inteipues
tao ereate a cleavage botween the Fmperor and his  mindstors sne-
ceeded and the Itk became openly hostile and  delinnt, Bt
in the end Farrukhsiyer's courage failed and he patched np o
truce with Abdulla in a most abject mamner, The intrigues,
fears and jealousics had disturbed the peace of tie stute and the
Turanis and Iranis were making a bold bid for power. There
were many foreigners in the country who were employed in the
artillery branch and they added to the eonfusion ol the tme,
They were looked upon with distrust by the native Musalmuns.
They claimed as the lawful candidates for power rewards and
offices. Among them were the Sayyids of Barah who wore
supported by the Jats and Rajputs who held smaller posts in the
administration. The offieers of the Revenus department who were
mostly Kayasihas, Banias and Khattyis supported them and shar-
ed their hopes and fears. The Hindustanis from the West des-
pised those [rom the East and the chronicler’s outhurst is amus-
g and instructive :

“God ereared (e Purbiyah (easterner) without shame,
without faith, without kindness, without heart malevo-
lent, niggardily, beggarly, erncl, ready to sell his
children in the bazar on the slightest provocation; but
tE; jp?nd a penny he thinks that a crime equal to matri-
cide™,

There was another cause which divided the nobles of the
courlt. The riends of the Wazir were hostile to the Emperar and
vice versa, How could there be proper and efficient adminis-
tration in a state of this kind in which the exccution of policy was
hampered by the intrigues of seclfish and unscrupulous adven-
turers,

Mir Jumla, who hadbecome the Emperor’sconfidential advis-
er was secretly driving him on to the Path of disaster and ruin.
He held before Farrukh Siyer’s blinking eyes the grim spectre of
the Saiyyid brother's plan of placing another prince of 1!1:: royal
family on the throne. To checkmate this plan, he suggested a
wholesale murder of these princes. To a [rightened monarch
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who was loolish and feklemined, the court minlons pointed out in
their private conclaves the necessity of getting rid of the king-
makers. Nobles and ministers, suspected hostility, were got rid
of. Asad and Zulfigar were permiticd to wait upon the Emperor
who advised Asad to go away. Zulfigar was subjected to unspeak-
able indignity and then he was strangled to death, The houses
and property of Asad and Zulfigar were confiscated. Asad was
placed under serivellance and he spentthe remaining perviod
of his lifounder vigilance. The loreign elements in the state
had causeed utter confusion. The Emperor was powerless to
check their rivalry and, in their mad race for power the Indian
Muslims were overpowered by their rivals, who were intellectu-
ally superior ¢o them and were past masters in the art of political
intrigue and nefarious underhand activities.

While the court was in such a distracted condition, firmness
wits shown in dealing with the Rajputs, Jats and the Sikhs, The
Rajputs, writes Khafi Ehan, did not shew proper allegiance and
therefore Husain Ali Khan and the Emperor's maternal uncle,
Shayasta Khan were sent against Ajit Singh of Marwar. Secret
letters were sent to the Rajput Chief to resist with all his might
the foree sent ?Eainst him and take steps 1o kill the imperial gene-
ral. Husain Ali made a vigorous attack upon Ajit and defeated
him. A treaty was made by which the Raja agreed to pay the
tribute and marry one of his daughters to Farrukhsiyer. His son
Abhay Singh was to go to Delhi with Husain A and he himself
agreed to attend the court when he was called upon to do so,
The marringe of this princess was celebrated on the 17th Decem-
ber, 1715,

The Sikh Guru Banda was still at Jarge. He had built a
strong fortat Sadhaura and from there his followers commanded
the entire arca. Banda came out of Lohagarh and ravaged the
whole country and harassed the inhabitaims. They bravely defen-
cd themselves against the Delhi foree but their supplies being ex-
hausted they escaped from the fort and took shelter in the mud
fort of Gurdaspur, A ficrece battle raged round this forgress and
the Sikhs fought with desperate courage and showed amazing
valour, But in the end they were defleated by the imperial gene-
ral Abdus Samad who brought the Guru as a captive to Delhi
where he was executed with with great barbarity in March, 1716.
Having dealt with the Sikhs, the imperialists turned towards the
Jats. Thep had given not a littile trouble to the empire since
Aurangzeh's day. - Their depredations continued unabated in the
territory near Delhi and the contiguous tracts of land. The Jat
chiel Churaman who entrenched himsell in the fort of Thun was
made to surrender after a siege of twenty months. He agreed to
pay 50 lakh of rupees in carh and goods and to secure his good
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will the Emperor granted him the right of the royal highway
{enm Bharahpo!l neay Dellid (o the foery on tue Claanbal river,
The treaty was finally ratified on the 30th April, 1718, The Em-
peror was  displeased with Jad Singh of' Amber who was sewt
against Clivranian and Quitnlmlbiulk satisfivd his old geuedge 1y
asking the BEmperor tovrder e cesation of hostilities,

The Empere distristed the Saiyyid hrothers and wis anxions
to bring about thedr ruin Fe employed several persons oo Dring
about this result bt twey wore found hopeless wnell feomngetent.
Even Nizumul Mulk vas thouglt of fiv plooming s eonp againsg
the Saiyyids but Lie wats  thoroughly  disgusted with eowet iniri-
gves aned Telt withent making an attem)t.

Farrukhiyer hit upon another device (o destroy the Saiyyids
Fe planned @ connter revolution and swanted  tooset It{l & ol
ol nobles to oppose then,  Infyatullah Kashmiri who had heen
previously dismissed was re-appointed ns vevenie minister  osten-
sibly to ve-ovganizse the administraiion and remove the abuses
that had crept into il.  He rvevived the Jeziva and ordiered oan
enguiry into the titles and tenures of Jagivdars,  “This dreastie
netion was resented  and e Ehalse  Dewan Mooy Clioud o
other Hindus protested against this action sl the Wasir vefosed
to agree with the Dewan, Khalt Khan who appeoves ol (e Jeziva
Writes—

“This was very distastefnl to Ratan Chand and other vevenue
officials, They addressed themselves to Abdullali aoned e was
oppossed to the issue ol the ordor.  All the Hindus were greaily
enraged because ol the ovder for eollecting the Jeziya  and of
the advice about the cutting down of the  mmsals"

Then another cunning Kashuivi  Muhammad  Muvad who
talked glibly about his own ability came [orward 1o exeonte the
Emperor's plan.  Several other attempts were mwade but they
failed. Relationt hetween the Bmperor and the Mindster  hecame
highly strained. The Wazir made appaintments of unlit persons
to responsible posts.  The revenue fell into arrears and the busi-
ness of the State was neglected.

Farrukh Siver continued his ruthless campaign against the
Minister, He bestowed favours upon werthless  persons like
Muhammud Murad (the Kashmiri who has heen referved to before)
whose rank was raised to 7000 and squandered the treasures of
the State to gratify the wishes of such impostors. Mir Jumla
was also called to join this vile crew and the conrt became a
scene of intrigue, conspiracy and corruption. The Emperor form-
ed a plot to murder Abdullah at Id prayer hut the plan lNzzled
out,
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In this predicament the Mimister called his brother Husain
Ali Khan from the Deecan, In the ipeantime, he strengthencd
himsell by conciliating his opponents.  Ajit  Singh and Jai Singh
were reconciled to him and Nizamulmulk was also won over.
Husain Ali exerted himself with  great taet and foresight to
abitain the support of the Marathay, He left Burhanpur on 14th
Deeember, 1718 and gave out (hat he was escorting Aurangzach’s
fourth son Akbar who had Deen made over (o him by the
Marntha Raja Shahn,  He had under hiin an army consisting of
20000 eavalry, 10,000 musketeers and actillery.  Besides these,
I hael with him two  Maratha  commandants  Peshwa Baluji
Vishwanath and Khanderao Dablhiide having under them 11,000
Maratha Soldicrs. A treaty was made with Shahu by which
HMusain Al promised him Chaudy or sne-foucth of the rovenue
of the Decean and Sardesmukhi or ten per cent on the collections
Husain Ali Khan further promised to obtain [rom the imperial
government the confirmation of Shivaji's hereditary dominion
and the release of Shalu’s mother and half brother who werg
ditained ay prisoners at Delhi. On being  apprised of the State
of affairs atthe Court, Husain Al disguised lus real intentions
and outwardly had a warm exchange of grectings with the Eme
perar. Qntlml Mulk met the Emperor and began to talk about
his perficious econduct.  This was ton much for him and he
shotted in impotent vage and  despaivs “If I am o true son of
Azimslishan and a real deseendant of the Sahib Qiran (Timur),
I will impose retvibution for these uncalled for decds and chis
unmeasured audacity, I will have the lands of the Bavaha plou-
ghed by asses, and wice thrust into the rousers of thehr women.
The Wazir was heside himsell with wrath and began to shower
disrespect ful and filthy abuse on the Emperor, He accused the
latter of ingratitude and pevfidy, Husain Ali saw the king on
23vd. February. The latter concealed himself in the harem from
which place he was dragged out by the Afghans with blows and
sbuses to the Minister who had him blinded and  dethroned and
imprisoned in the voom over the Tivpoliya where Jehandrshah
had ended his lifc in miscrable captivity. The partisans of the
Wazir guarded the palace and allowed no supporter of Farrukh-
sihyer to enter it,  Rafiud-darjat, a son of Ralushshdn, was pro-
claimed king. He wasa puppetin the hands of the Sayyids.
The most sordid traits of the Sayyid character were revealed in
these disgraceful scenes,  They quarvrelled over the booty in the
palace and it was through Ratan Chand’s intercession that peace
was made hetween the brothers. Abdullah who was an uxorigus
prrson had already appropriated to himself the heautyful inmates
of the royal seraglio. In the pursuit of their mad ambition,
the king-makers never pauscd to consider that tyrants and miscre-
ants fall by the very methods which help them to risc to power.
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In dealing with Farrukhsiyer the Sayyids went to the
extreme. To imprison him after depriving Kim of his eyesight
wits an atrocious act which admits of little justification except the
plea of sel~preservation,

Teeble, [alse, cowardly and contemptible' is My, Irvine's
verdicr on Farrukhsiyer and, it is impossilile cither to admire or
regret bim’, Refiddaarjat a son of Rafiushshan was made King
but he was a weak, sickty, consumplive yonng man who could not
carry on the duties of a king. He was deposed and his  elder
brother Rafiuddowlat (June 1719) was declared as Emperor
uncler the title of Shah Jehan II. Rafiuddowlat did not tive long
and the S“t?ﬁd brathers placed Raushan Akhtar, son of  Jahan
Shah Elhr: ourth son of Bahadur Shah) on the throne under the
title of Muhamad Shah on 268th September 1718,

The new Emperor was confronted with a diffieult situation,
The empire was pulled to pieces like a child's map and every
where the centrifugal forces were working to bring about
its complete disintegration. The Sayyid brothers were atill
very powerful. Jafar Khan ruled as Vicgroy over the provinees
ul']gcngal, Behar and Orissa. The six provinces of the Deccan
were held by Husain Ali Khan who was assisted by his nephew
Alim Ali Khan, Ajit Singh of Jodhpur, who was frendly to the
Sayyids had the charge of Gujarat and Ajmer besides his own
territorics.  Malwa was held by Nizamul-mulk, who was the
leader of the Turani g:rt}- and who longed to see the destruction
of the power of the Sayyids. Chabila Ram was in charge of
M‘In’naﬁd and being a supporter of Farrukhsiyer, he was hostile
to the Sayyids, He died suddenly in 1719, His nephew Girdhar
Bahadur did not follow his father’s policy. He was offered the
governorship ol Oudh and was asked to surrender the fortress of
Allahabad. But he delayed compliance with this demand on
various pretexts. Some of the chiefs of Rajputana were also res-
tive and wanted to strengthen their position.

The Sayyid brothers quarrelled over the spoils of Agra and
wanted a just and fair division. A compromise was made by
which Husain Ali Khan a%c&d to surrender twenty lakhs of
rupees to his brother but the loss of money rankled in his mind
and brotherly relations between the two ceased to exist. Abdulla's
agent Ratan Chand was given enormous power and by mis-using
it he offended both the nobles and the people. Girdhar Raha-
dur was persuaded by Ratan Chand to reduce the fortress of

Agra,

Nizamulmulk by consolidating his pesition inthe Deccan,
had prepaced himself for an encounter with the Sayyids, The
Turani faction desired the restoration of its [ormer power and
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dignity. Many nobles who were tired of the Sayyid regime
wanied to free themselves from their yoke and their designs were
seconded by Qudsiya Begum, the mother of the fallen Emperor.

Nizamulmulk's suspicions that hislife was in danger were con-
firmed by his recall fiom Malwa. He was asked to choose any
of the governorships of Agra, Allahabad, Multan or Burhanpur,
His cousin Muhammed Amin kept him informed that his ruin
was contemplated and that he should guard himsell against all
eventualities. Nizamulmulk prepared himsell for defence and
securcd the Deccan.  He crossed the Narbada and took possession
of the fort of Asirgah. Burhanpur was soon occupied and  Dila-
war Ali Khan, the commander of the Sayyids, was defeated at
Ehandwa. The situation became very eritical when Alim Ali,
Husain® Ali's deputy, in the Decean, was defeated and  Slain.

Nizamulmulk®s vietory gave a blow to the prestige of the
angds and put Husain Ali Khan on his mettle. g—lu stavted for
the Deccan with  the Emperor, knowing nothing about the con.
spiracy that had Dbeen formed against him by Amin Khan, a
leader of the Turani party, Mir Muhamad Amin, a Persian
adventurer and Haider Quli, an artillery man. When lie was
encamped at Toda Bhim (in  the Jaipur state) he was presented
with a pettition by Haider Beg, a trooper in Amin Khan's [orce.
Husain Ali Khan, who was in a palangin, and had just returned
after paying homage to the Emperor, began to read the petition.
Haider Quli  Beg siezed the opportunity of thrusting has knife
into hisside and then dragginghis bodyout of the palanquin he sat
upon lim and began to cut off his head. He was dragged down
from the litter and his head was cut off. Husain Al was got
vid of but the Emperor and his mother were frightenced out of
their wits. They became anxious for their own salety and were
appalled by tha grimness of the event. Ratan Chand was caught
hold of and thrown into prison.

The Sayyid's camp was plundered and his treasure was
seized. His head was fixed on to 4 pole and was shown to the
multitude to convince them that the major domo of the palace had
becn done away with, Nizamulmulk was asked to return to the

north immediately,

Abdulla, when he heard the newss resolved to wresack venge-
ance on the murderers of his brother. He wrote a letler to the
Emperor asking him to take action against the culprits. The
weak-kneed Emperor denied all knowledge of the conspiracy and

roimised to punish the misereants, Md, Amin Ehan was appo-
inted Wazir, his rank was raised to 8,000 and he was given the
title of Itmad-uddowlah, He placed on the (hrone Ibrahim, a
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brother of the two emperors Rafiudowlat and Rafuddayjat. This
was done on 4th October, 1920,

. Abdulla now collected a large army. Money was lavishly
spent and the roving blades of the country side and ruffians from
the city were recrvited in large numbers and his force consisted
of 100,000 men neacly twice as lavge as the army of the other
purty. Doth sides prepared themsclves for action. A battle was
fought near Hasanpur (13th November 1720). At first the
Sayyid host scemed to win but the bravery of HMaider Quli the
imperial artillery officer earvied the day aned the enemy was defe-
ated. Seccing the howdth of Abdulla’s elephant empty the soldiers
took to light and many deserted (o the other side, Aldulla’s
heavt was filled with dismay and he is reported to have said to
his brother Najmutldin: “Lool at the fricklesses of fortune, and
the transitory nature of all earthy pomp and power. Both
surrendered to Haider Quli who took them to the Emperor
The roi faincant whom the Sayyids had placed on the throne was

ardoned on the ground that he was a tool in the hands of the
gay}rida. He was sent back to his prison and an allowance of
Rs, 40 per day wus granted to him, Abdulla was confined near
the royal apartments and was poisoned on 11th October, 1722,
Ovrders were issucd to lay waste the Barah countiy but the Say-

ids offercd  stubborn resistance and *broke the teeth of the
{/Iu hals,, The Wizarat was offeved to Nizamulmulk but pend-
ing his merival the duties of the office were entrusted to Inaya-
-tullah Khan, When Nizamulmulk arrived, he was lormally
appointed Wazir.

Such was the tragic end of the king makers of Deihi, If thctz
had exercised power with moderation, they might have surviv
the fearful catastrophe that overtook them. They were proud and
vain and gave offence to all parties at the Mughal Court. Husain
Ali Khan was haughty and egotistical and flatterers told him that
the whole creaticn sought shelter under his umbrella and he
secmed to like this sort of adulation, Once he proudly declared
that ‘on whomsoever the shadow of his shoe fell could be the
cqual of Alamgir. They were greedy and rapacious and when
occasion arose they had no hesitation in ordering plunder and
vapine. The Bmperor was unworthy of the royal office but they
went too far in humiliating him, andby their policy, they system-
atically destroyed his prestige.  Their favourites and hangers-on
like Ratan Cand advised them to take measures which were not
only scandalous but highly detrimental to the interests of the
state. Khwafi Khan who is by no means [riendly to them
points out their good qualities.
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“Both brotherss were kind to the poor and needy and patro-
nised learncd men, They were liberal in their outlook,
appointed Hindus to high posts and their pro Hindu

licy gave not a little offence to the ortho dox section.
The clder Sayyid though caseloving and uxorious was
a man of kind and affable temper and tried to be just
to those who laid jheir complaints before him. - Like
his Hindu [ellow citizens he observed Dasant and Holi
and had no prejudice against colour-throwing™.

The fall ofthe Sayyids was inevitable. They did nolhing
for the public well-being; they devised no laws or institutions
which would have conduced tothe stability of the government
or the progress of the country. They cannot be said to have been
successful party leaders; within their own party there were
dissensions and they were agpravated by the duplicity ol the
Emperor. The Svcicty in which they lived and which they were
called upon to lead was degraded by sensuality and crime. The
men who occupied the highest pesitions in the state were devoid
of any kind of principle or morality and behaved like criminals.
By their intrigues and treachery they hastaned the [all of the
empire which they pretended to save, They did nothing to
check the corruption which was rampant at the court and were
themselves so greedy and rvapacious that they [lell out over the
spoils which came into their hands, Alamgir used to say about
the Sayyids of Barah:

“Undue lfavour to the Barah Sayyids will be disastrous in
both worlds. I'or when promoted or cxalted they say: I am
and thereis no other' and stray {rom the path ol public duty.
The tone of court wasso debased and the morals of the courtiers
were 50 low that no discipline could be enforced in their ranks.
When Nizamulmulk, who was bred inthe austere traditions of
Alamgir, came to Sce the Emperor, he adwvised bim notto
waste time on pleasure and be more sober and dignified. All
advice fell flat upon the luckless monarch and the vile insects
of the court. When the Wazir left, they induilg\:d in. buffonery
and amused themselves with the remark, ¢ how the Deccan
monkey dances’. The Emperor enjoyed the caustic wit of his
lackeys, utterly oblivious of the consequences.

Was the fall of the Sayyids disastrous [or the empire? As
we read through the wearisome chronicles of the time, we feel
how incapable they were of establishing any kind of order, how
utterly powerless to check the minions of the court and how
profoundly and pitiably incompetent to improve the tone of the
Emperor and how short-sighted 1n dealing with party leaders and
provincial chiefs. Even Nizam-ul-mulk, the tallest tree in the
garden, was, as Sir Wolseley Haig rightly observes, mean enough

2
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to free himsell inthe South by encouraging the Marathas to
extend their ravages to the northern provinces of the empire.
1t is difficult to agree with Owen's view that judged in the light
of subsequent history, perhaps, the fall of the Sayyids wasa
misfortune. They had not the statesman’s capacily to organisc
an efficient administration with the heip of the Hindus and
Indian Musalmans and save the country [rom the ecalamity of
of Nadir Shah's invasion. They did not act like stotesnio
they were scllish and unprincipled and behaved like adventurers
in a dissolving socicty.

Nizamulmulk wes appointed Wazir, but ponding bis arrival
from the Deccan Inayatulluh Kashmiri wias appoited to olllciate
for him. Nizamulmulk reached Delbi on Sth July, 1723 but he
found the court in a deplorable condition. FHis locum tenens
did not give him power and Nizamulmulk had only his title but
without the authority which his office implied. Mubammad
Shah had rapidly deteriorated. He{ook no interest in public
business and mercly passed orders on petitions and prayers.
The tone of the court became more depraved and  (he protests
and disapproval of the Nizam availed nothing. The wrong-docrs
conld net be diverted from their vieious path. The Wazie
advised the king to pay more attention to administrative
fzmblcms. He asked him to give up the practice of larming out
ands, to stop the bribery that was rampant at the court and
to vemove the Jaziya on the Hindus so as make good the finaucial
deficiency of the state. The courtiers made [un of the Minister.
ridiculed his dress and manners. The king turned a deaf ear
to his advice and, thoroughly disgusted with the atmospliere of
the court, he left Delhi on a shooting campaign, Qamaruddin
Khan was appointed Wazir, and the Emperor was persuaded to
send secret instructions to Mubariz Khan, one ol Husain Ali
Khan's supﬁﬂrtcrs, who was governor of Haiderabad, to whom
the Nizam had shown kindness, to bar his entry into the Deccan.

In May 1724 the Nazam met Baji, Rao at Nalcha for the
third time and they exchanged fricndly grestings, They did not
disclose their real intentions to each other.

When Nizamulmulk reached Aurangabad in June 1724, he
found that Mubariz was hostile 30 him and had got together a
latge army to oppose the Wazir. Nizamulmulk proceeded to
deal with him and in the battle of Sakharkhera, 80 miles from
Aurangabad; in Berar, Mubariz Khan was defeated and killed
with two of his sons and two other sons were taken prisoners,
Sakhar Khera was renamed Fatah Khera to commemorate the
victory of Nizamulmulk. This battle marks the establishment of
Nizamulmulk’ hereditary power in the Deccan. Mubarez Khan's
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hiead was sent to the Emperor with a letler of apology in which
he said : ‘with your blessings have succeeded in bringing about
the death of this traitor;’ He sent congrarulations to the Emperor
on the victory and then marched to Haiderabad which he made
his capital. The Emperor to make the best of a bad job tried
to conciliate him by confering upon him the title of Asal Jal.
If the congratulations were ironical, the conferment of the
title was humiliating to the Emperor in the highest degree,

The administration of the Empirc was in a deplorable
condition and ministers and officers were appointed and
retnoved on the adviee of the courtiers. Nizamu}:nulk now set
up an independent state (an imperium in imperio) and his prin-
cipal S:'cncnupminn was to check the growing inflluence of the
Murathas. At Delhi there was much confusion. Qamarnddin
Khan was appointed Minister and Girdbhar Bahaduer was sent
to Mawla to check the activites of the Marthas, There was no
security of service and the highest officers felt unsafe, They were
) with kaleidoscopic rapidity and several instances can
i:lrc given of the arbitrary manner in which action was taken by
the state.

Sarbuland Khan was a victim of royal caprice. He hoped
to be minister in place of Nizamulmulk and waited [or the order
which was never reccived. He did not leave promptly [or his
new charge. In 1725 under pressure from the court faction he
was sent as Governor of Gujarat. The Marathas invaded again
and they were driven away by Sarbuland’s army. It was so
large that it was difficult to maintain it without aid from the
centre which was vefused. His cnemies at court made his victory
over the Marathas an excuse for reducing the strength of the army
and urged the Emperor to stop his subsidy. Sarbuland was
dismissed from service and imprisoned on the charge that he had
~ agreed to pay chauth and Savdeshmukhi to the Marathas, After
sometime, he was pardoned and appointed governor of Allahabad
but he was so sorely disappointed that he hesitated to go and
sent his son as his ty. He was once again appointed to the
government at Allahabad in May 1736.

Another instance of imperial tyranny is furnished by the case
of Muhammad Khan Bangash, He was an Alghan adventurer
who had carved out a small principality for himsell in the Doab
in the region of the modern Farrukhabad diseriet. In 1725 he was
appointed governor of Allahabad and found himself confronted by
a powerful league of Bundela Rajputs who dominated the whole
of Baghelkhand and the adjoining territory. He fought against
them incessantly and it wiil be tedious to give an _account of the
battles fought and the sicges undevtaken. In 1729 the Marathas
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invaded Bundelkhand and Baghelkhand and Muhammad Khan
was foreed to take shelter in the fort of Jaitpur. He was relieved
by his son Qaim Khan but it was merely a relief operation.
Muhammad Khan was still in the grip of the Marathas who,
before releasing him, extorted a promise from him that he would
never again appear in the terrvitory of Bundelkhand, He was
dismissed from Government, In 1735 he was re-appointed govers
nor of Allahabad and was dismnissed apain alter six months,  Cor-
ruption had beeome a part of man's lives at eowt. Men in the
highest offices mis-appropriated public funds with hmpunity ad
aceymulated  enovmous wealth, The morvale af (ue state had
completely gone down and there was no hope of redemption,

The inrpads of the Marathas into Mughal territory were
venewed every year from 1731 onwards, and in 1734, they cap-
tured the town of Hindaun, T]mﬁ continueel their raids and
extorted money from the people. In 1735 they sacked the town
of Sambhar, expelled the Commandant, and killed the Qazi at
the door of his house. The Emperor was powerless and ar the
instance of Jai Singlh he recognised Baji Rao as governorol
Malwa.

Baji Rao who had a large army under his command was in
scvious financial straits, EFlis troops and erveditors P:str.rctllu'm
for payment. Taking advantage of the Emperor’s imbecility
and incompetence he suggested a settlement according to
which :

1. hewas to be given Malwa and the tervitory south of the
Chambal and the cities of Allahabad, Banaras, Gaya
and Mathura.

2. he was to be accepted as the hereditary Sardeshmukhi
of the six provinees of the Deccan,

3. he was to get an annual grant of 50 lakhs of rup es.

The Emperor was completely unnerved by these exorbitant
demands and he appealed to Nizamulmulk for help. Nothing
stirs man's conscience like misfortune and the senseless monarch
prayed for an attitude of “lef by-gones be by-gones,” to save the em-
pire from ruin.

Khan Dauran and Qamaruddin were entrusted with the
command of two armies and they marched towards Ajmer,
Burhanulmulk (Saadat Khan) crossed the Ganges and reached
Bhadawar whose chieftain was besieged in his fortress by Malhar
Rao. Thr.g’;a]nus'f, treachery and folly of imperial officers again
frustrated the possibility of a concerted plan.
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Nizamulmulk also moved to the scene of action. His son
Ghaziuddin Khan was appointed governor of Gujarat and Malwa
and he was commanded to expel the Marathas from 1hese pro-
vinces. He entered Malwa and encamped at Sironj. In the
meantime Baji Rao had also returned to Malwa,

Nizamulmulk reached Bhopal and the two armies fought an
indecisive cnagement on 17th January, 1738 near Sironj. Baji
Rao [orced a convention upon the imperialists by which :

(1) the wholc of the Malwa region was to be given to the
Marathas in [ull sovercignty over the country between
the Narbada and the Chambal. .

(2)  and a subsidy of 50 lakhs of rupecs was to be given,

Thoese teyms were sufficiently disgraceful. We do not know
what the humiliated Niam (et about them, There was nothi
[oor him, and Baji Rao who in search ofnew fields of glory and
scifaggrandisement, was pleased to have an independent state in
the territory between the two rivers, with the empire on one sice
and the Maratha State on the other.

While the struggle between the Marathas and the Mughals
}-.:L;‘gning omn, news came that Nadirshah was plaming to invade
ia.,

Condition of the Empire

The Empire was fast distintegrating and the authovity of the
Mughal was defied everywhere. The Marathas gave the Nizam
much trouble and he saved himself from their attacks by inducing
them to make incursions into the Mughal territory in the north.
Baji Rao carried his raids up to Delhi and demanded Chauth from
the Emperor. The provineial governors paid nominal allegiance
to Delhi and became independent. Saadat Khan Burha n-ul-
mulk turned his province into an independent state, Bengal,
Behar and Ovissa had formed themselves into a single province
in the time of Bahadur Shah and were ruled by Aszimusshan
Jalar Khan who acted as his deputy held charge of the three
provinces till his deathin 1726. TInthe outlying parts of the
empire the authority of the Mughal had ceased to be respected.

Nadirshah’s original name was Nadir Quli. He was born
of poor parents. His father Imam Quli Beg has been variously
described as a shepherd, skinner, agriculturist and camel-driver.
Mirza Mehdi's well-guarded expressions clearly show that he
was a man of humble origin and had risen to eminenee by dint of
merit,  Mehdi’s words are ;
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‘A sharp sword owes its existenee to its temper rather than
to an iron mine whenee its raw material was taken’,

Nadir Quai Beg was a Turk and he was proud of his blood
and never sought to magnify the status of his parents,  His carly
life was full of adventure and daring acts of volbery. He was
earricd away to Tartary by the uzbegs wen kept him as o prisoner
for four years.  In Perssa the decline of the safivis brought about
a dynastic vevolution which gave MNadiv Onli an opportnily
which he coveted.  Shahi Talimasp IT wiw o week ruler, TTe was
overthvown by Malunud Khan Ghilzal wlo conguered e,
Khormsan, and Telidun and  deove e Salvis buo the wilds of
Mazandaran, The Turkish and Rusdun invasions adided 1o the
misery of the Persians who wore already much harasied and perse-
cuted by the Afghan usurpers of their country.  In these eircume
stances of misery and humiliation Persiins needed a leader who
could rescue them from such natonal degradation and bondage.
Nadir Quli was the man who came forward as the deliverer ol
his natinn.  As Ievine weites, ‘e national deliverance of Persi-
ans was the work of Nadir alone and nuturally the enthusasm
of the people for him was unbounded,”, The last king of the
Salavi dynasty Abbas ITT was & weak man, who was unable to
combat the enemics whose covetons cyes weee  fixed on iy
country.  Quli was asked (o wear the erown  and Jwe Dbe-
came king under the title of Nadiv Shah on the 26th February
[736. Hoe successfully repulsed  the actack of the Russians and
Turks, Fecaptured Herat aud Balkh and then procceded to
Qandhar which fell on 240 Muarch, 1738, Hen had sent envays
to the court of Delhi asking them to prevent the Afghan Pugitives
from crossing into India. Favourable replics weee soe but no
action was taken. Natliv moved to Kabul which came into his
hands on 20th June. Passing through the Khaiber he moved
o to Peshawar and then proceeded to Labore, Twelve miles
awayfrom the town the governor offtred resistance but he was
defeated and the next day he appeared before Nadic and offerad
gubmisgion,

It is difficult to analyse the motives of 8 [oreign invader with
recision but a few ohservations seem to be pertinent.  In all pro-
gn.b!jry‘ Muhammad. Shah's inability to close the frontier was a
mere pretext,  The Delhi Court, sunk in sloth and debauchery,
did not realise the gravity of the danger, Tt is said they ridiculed
the idea of such an invasion, The Emperor sent no satisfactory
reply to Nadir's remonstrances about the Afghan refugees and
the l“;st envoy was detained for one year without any reply and
this must have fearfully annoyed him. That Nadir was ambitsious
has never been doubted and contemporary evidence confirms the
view that he cherished the desive of following the cxample of
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Alexander the Great and Mahmud of Ghazni and hoped to
carn the title of world-conqueror. He wanted a large army to
enable him to march to the Bosphorus and for this he must find
recruits in foreign lands, He thought the conquest of Hindustan
would not only furnish a valuable recruiting eround but place
at his disposal abunant wealth to help him to findnee his expedi-
tion against the Usbegs. The fascination of India’s riches
was irressitible.  The Persian trcasury was depleted, and he
hoped that the wealth obtained [rom India would satisfy lis
financial needs.

At first the Imperial Government at Dethi and its advisers
did not attach much imporiance to the rumour about Nadir
Shah's invasion, But when he capluyred Kabul, and defeated the
Governor at Lahore, a panic was caused and there was a fee-
ling ol consternation. Even in the face of a national disaster, the
|eading noblemen could not unite and form a concerted plan to
meet the invader, Ghulam Husain describes the condirion of the
government thus:—

““The government was rotien, the Emperor was powerless.
No money was sent to maintain the administration in
Afghanistan. The Subahdar, therefore, sought his own
comfort and lived at Peshawar, entrusting the fort at
Kabul to a Qiladar with orders to control and watch
the passess leading to India,"

The frontiers had always been a source of danger to the
empire add from Akbar to the time'of Aurangzeb cfforts had to
be made to guard it. After Aurangzeb’s death the frontier was
neglected. There were no great gencrals like Mansingh to look
after the safety of the frontiers.  Ability, valour and knowledg ¢
all were wanting. No oneat Delhi knew anything about the
roads and passes in the mountainous contry. There was no
warden of the Marches like Ghazi Malik in the 14h century
who had driven back the Mongols on several occasions. The
central Government was powerless to exercise any effective suge:'—
vision over the local governors and they acted as they liked.
Their resources were wholly inadequate for meeting a grave
cmergency if it ever arose or for maintaining an efficient ad-
ministration. The troops at Kabul were not paid in time and
the pressing requests of the Subadar remained unheeded. The
Punjab was also undefended and there was nothing to check an
invader who advanced from Kabul to Lahore. The local govern-
or wrote again and again to Delhi about Nadir Shah’s approach
but no reply was received. His enemies at court mis-represented
the situation. The Emperor was weak and dissolute utterly
devaid of any principles or policy and the socicty around, deba.
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uched and depraved, was completely in the grip of dﬂgﬂnm*u‘:z
and decay. Therec was no patriotism or national [ecling wi
could rouse the officers and the citizens of the State to unite
against a common foe. Treachery was rife at court, The Turan-
is, Persinns and Hindustanis were divided among themselves,
The Delhi officers had carvicd on treasonably correspondence with
Nadir Shah, as is evident from the words which he spoke to
Muhaonmad Shah when Muyhammad Khan Bangash was inlve-
duced to him. 'Brother Mulammad; said Nadir Shaly, “You
have three faithful servants. These are Nasiv Klian, Klundauran
and Muhamanad Khan, the vest are all teaitors. They  have all
written letters to e inviting e to mvade Hindustan™

In this hour of danger Muhammad Shaly appealed to all his
nobles and jagirdars. He summoned Nizamulmulk but his ad-
vice was not listencd to owing to the jenlousy of Khan Dauran
the Wazir. Sadat Khan d la;'nd to come and he started to join
the Emperor at the end of January, 1739. Even Baji Rao
Peshwa was thought of, but the ceclesiastics of the court were
not to accepl help from an infidel.  So eritical was the situntion.
Appeal was made to the chiefs of Rajasthan but there was no res-
ponse.  Aurangzel’s policy had lacerated heartsand dried up all
sympathy. Meanwhile Nadir Shah eontinued his progresy to-
wards Delhi and reached Karnal, His intelligencers and scouts
brought him a good deal of information about the imperial army
and its strategic plan. It iz said Nadir Shah knew all about
Burhanulmulk and his movements and the activities of the court.

The command was at fivse entrustéd o Nizam-ul-mulk and
Khan Dauran but they expressed their unwillingness to lead the
army. Then Muhammad Shah led the army himsell and reach-
cd Karnal, The imperialists mustered in Jarge numbers but
they were no match to the hardy warriors [romi the northern
regions, They were badly defcated and suffered heavy losses,
As Sir Wolscley Haig writes “melee was a massacre rather than
a battle. Burhanulmulk was recognised by an acquaintance from
Nishapur and he dragged him into the howdah of his own ecle-
phant, Khan Dauran was mortally wounded and died the next
day, With his dying breath he said to the trembling courtiers
who aurgcd around him that the only way to save the throne
was to buy off the invader and make him retire.

Burhan-ul-mulk who coveted the office of Wazir now Judged
It a good opportunity to offer his mediation. He paid a visit to
Nadirshah and persuaded him tn leave Muhammad Shah on the
throne of Defhi and. accept an indemnts of twenty millions of
rupees,  Nizamulmulk was sent  to confirm  this settlement and
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on his return he was given the title of Amir-ul-umra. Burhan-
ul-mulk’s fcdouw.ms roused and he informed Nadir Shah that
twenty millions was a very insignificant amount and he could
bring out of his own house an equivalent sum although he was
only a provincial satrap, Such was the rapacity of the Turkish
bandit in Nadiv and he withdrew his acceptance of the indemnity
previously agreed upon. It was to be finally decided later.

Canses of defeat

The defeat of the Indian army was mainly due to three
causes; (1) bad generalship, (2) old fashioned weapons, (3) and
their strategy and mode of fghting. Nadiv's Soldicrs were Turks
capable of strenous fighting and enduring provations. They
were equipped with five-arms and they were trained under striet
supervision. The fire which was discharged by their swivel
guns brought about deadly destruction in the ranks of the enemy
and made it impossilile for them to return the attack,

The Indian Soldiers were not aceustomed to the use of fire-
arms. The only musketeers who could use five-arms were the
Hindus of Buxar, the Bundelas and Karnatlis but they were not
employed in the ariny of the Later Mughals. Babur had defeat-
cd the Afghans and  Rajputs on the plains of Panipat and
Khanua carly in the 16th cenury with his artillery and cavalry.
The Indian Ordnance were heavy and were inferior to those of
Persia and Turkey,

The Indian army lacked mobility,. The Persians like the
Turks of Central Asia who came with Babur, had a fine cavalry;
they rode on swift horses and could quickly move from one posi-
tion to another. Not so the Indian soldiers who were unused to
horses, and who followed the old method of hand to hand fight,
and still had faith in archery, The use of elephants was a handi-
cap rather than an advantage. They had been used in the past
Ly the Rajputs In many battles but the pesult was defeat and
destruction. Irvine vighily says that they were a sure engine of
1:;Iédcstrucﬁnn when ranged against Nadir Shahin the year.

More important than all this is the spirit which anomates
the fighting corps. The Twks were Ml of buoyancy and vigour
and ]ongﬁforrﬁsmde under & eapable leader who had given
prool of his prowess in a number of campaigns. The Indians
wére weakened by their own dissensions and were enervated by
luxury and indolence. The leaders were jealous of one another
and werc incapable of evolving'a concerted ]ialan to oppose the
encmy. Those on whom the safety of the empire depended were



26 India in the Eighteenth Century

guided by cunning and treacherya and had no scruples in resor-
ting to questionable ways to realise their selfish ends. The
Emperor’s name evoked neither respect nor enthusiasm and the
army of flatterers and sycophants avound him created such a
vicious atmosphere thar cven the biggest men were not honest
and straightforward even in conducting negotiations with the
invaders,

After the battle when Saadat Khan (Burhan-ul-mulk) was
brought before Nadir, the latter talked contemptuously about the
resources of the Hmperor.  Saadat Khan replied with charac-
teristic lack of Facts and lgures that the Bmperor had vast
resourees anc his nobles and grandecs possessed abundant wealth,
Nisumul-mulk was sent lo negoliate nscttlemont,  An agree-
ment was made that an indemnity of 50 lakhs of Rupees would
be paid-20 Lakhs at atonce and 10 lakhson veaching Lahore
and 10 lakhs at Attock and 10 at Kabul, Nadir Shali zentan
invitation to the Emperor to dinner through Nizam-ul-mulk, He
was detained in the camp and this caused much uneasiness at
Delhi. Burhan-ul-mulk also died after his returu from Nadir
Shah’s camp. He had paid before his death 23 million rupecs
and a force was sent to his nephew and  son-in-law Safdarjung
who had succeeded him (o the mesnad to pay the 20 millions he
had promised, Safdarjung paid the whole sum in cash and
valuables consisting of jewels, and articles of gold and silver.
The Emperor had already surrendered io him the keys of the
treasury of the state and placed the entive wealth of the Empire
at his disposal.

Nadir Shah entered Delhi with Muhammad Shah and took
hisscat in the Dewan-i-Khas, The Persian axmy guarded the
fort and encamped near it and also oceupicd quarters in the
city.

While the meeting was going on in the palace, there wasa
guarrel between the citizens of Delhi and the Persians, and a
rumour spread that Nadir Shah was dead.  Two Mughal officers,
with a foree of 470 men, went to the royal stables and slew the
Persians who were in charge of the elephants, They were brought
before Nadir and after a brief interrogation were put to death.
This infuriated Nadir and he ordered a gencral massacre of the
guilty inhabitants,

The chronicle writes-

“They now hastencd with drawn swords to wreak ven.
]geancn, Within the doomed areas, the houses were
ooted, all the men killed without regard for age and
all the women dragged into slavery. The destroyers
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set fire to many houses and several of their victims,
both dead and wounded, Hindus and Muhammadans
were indiscriminately  burnt together”,

The slaughter began about 9 a. m. and went on ¢l 2 p. m.
About 30,000 persons were slain. Then Muhammad Shah,
through his Wazir and the Nizam begged Nadir Shah to stop the
slaughter and the latter gave the order that it must he stopped.

One authority writes: “Many respectable Indian house-
holders slew their own wives and daughters to save them from
dishonour by the Qpazilbash soldiery and then rusbed on the
cnemy’s swords or cut their own throats, Many women drowned
themselves in the wells of their houses to cscape a shame worse
than death. DBut many more were outraged and dragged away
as captives, though according to the Persian Scoretary Nadic
afterwards ordered them to he restored to their families!

MNadiy remained in Delhi till the [5th May and during the
two months he stayed in Delhi, he proclaimed himself the lord
of Hindustan and had the Khutba rcad inhis name in all the
mosques of Delhi.  He held the durbar after the Mughal lashion
and sumoned the nobles and asked them for contributions. The

rocess of squeczing the nobles of their wealth went on and the

mperor was also asked to disgorge all his jewels, pearls and dia-
monds and valuable vessels of gold and silver, The famous dia-
mond the Koh-i-Nuor was demanded and also the peacok throne of
Shahjehan which had cost 2 crores of rupees. The well-to-do
eitizens were also foreed to pay two crorves, Anand Bam was asked
to pay 5 lakhs and a militayy guard was posted at his louse to
enforce payment. It appears that all citizens were subjected to this
levy and none was allowed exemption. Anand Ram writes:

«Helpless people, high and low, rich and poor, were com-
pelled day alter day to attend at the law court where
they were kept from dawn to sunset and often till ane
prahar of night without ascertaining the truth, the
calumnies of Mir Waris and Khwaja Rahmatullah were
believed, The lists were prepaved. The contributions
of capital totalled two crores of rupees”.

Payment was rigorously enforced. Delay led lo insult and
torture. The high officials were entrusted with the task of
collections. Some of the nobles were treated with the great
cruelty and had to suffer torture and indignity.

Nadir Shah behaved asking of Delhi. Coins were struck
in his name and he took the title of Shahanshah, Muhammad

1, Trvine, Later Mughals I, p. 369.
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Shah had to live lik a subordinate and a prisoner and his con-
dition was most degrading and pitiable,

Nadir Shah left Delhi on the 16th May. The wealth
carried by him is differently estimated by different historians,
The grand total given by Frazer is 70 crores besides 300 ele-
phants, 10,000 horses and about the same number of camels.
Anand Ram who was employed with the Wazir, gives 60 lakhs
of rupees and some thousands of gold coins and nearly one crore
of Rupees worth of geld wares, rmnrlgr 40 evores worth of jewels;
most of them unrivalled in the world.?t

Sri wolesely Flaig, in Cambridge Flistory Vol IV, gives the
following details :

“Different authorities estimated the cash alone at amounts
varying [rom eight to more than thirty miltlion sterling,
besides jowels, plate, cash, stulfs and other valuable
property. The congueror alsotookwith him, a thousand
elephants, seven thousand horses, ten thousand eamels,
a hundred cunuchs, and a hundved and thirey writers,
two hundred builders, a Jndred masons. and twa
carpenters™.?

Before the dc]iarmrc ina grand Darbar held on Ist May
he summoned the Emperor and his nobles. To the nobles he
presented robes of honour, jewelled swords and crs, horses
and other gilts. He placed with his own hands the Crown of
Delhi on Muhammad Shah’s headand two jewelled swords round
his waist.

How wretehed and degraded the Empevor was i clear [vom
the following words in which heis said to have expressed his
gratitude to the tyrant who humiliated him and tortured his
subjects ¢

tAs the generosity ol the Shahanshah made me a sccond
time master of a Crown and a throne and exalted
among the Crowned heads of the world, I hegto
offer as my tribute the provinces of my Empire west
of the river Indus, from Kashmirte Sindh, and in
addition to the Subah of Thatta and the ports subordi-
nate to it

Shades of Akbar and Alamgir what they must have felt on
hearing this declaration had better be imagined than described.

1. TIrvine, Later Mughals, Vaol. II, p. 371.
2, Cambridge History IV, p. 363.
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No greater punishment could have been devised for the imbecile
and sinful Muhammad Shah, But Nadir Shah too did not live
long to enjoy the wealth he collected in India for he was assesi-
nated afier 8 years,

Effect of Nadir's invasion of India

Muhammad Shah’s defeat and disgrace. snapped the bonds
that had kept the Empire together. The effect of bad policies
became clearly discernible and  everywhere sligu of dis-satisfac-
tion became manifest. To use Sir Wolseley Haig's words “The
Emperor and his courtiers were stupefied with the blow that had
fallen on them’. All intrigues and base designs were drowned in
the disgrace which had befallen them, For a few months no
administrative business was transacted; and Muhamad Shah sank
in his usual lethargy and inaction, and it was after nearly seven
months, that he revived his machinations to destroy the power of
the Turani party. Aecting on Nadir Shah's advice, that he should
beware of the Turanis and their leader Nizamulmulk, he wanted
to appoint Umdatul-muilk in place of Qamaruddin Khan, who
had earlier resigned his post, on the Nizam's advice to des
the influence of the Turani faction. Qamaruddin left Delhi o
join the Nizam and Umdat-ul-mulk was asked to make peace with
the latter and Qamaruddin, Thus the plot to everthrow the
'I‘w'nnis failed and the Nizam stayed to watch the trend of affairs
at Delhi,

The empire had shrunk in diamensions. The. tendency on
the part of provineial governors to become independent was on
the increase everywhere. Safdarjung, nephew and son-in-law
of Burhanulmulk, became independent in Oudh and in the six
subahs of the Deecan the Nizam excrcised defacto sowvercignty,
and by overthrowing Sarfaraz Khan by treachery, Alivardi
Khan established himself at Murshidabad on 12 May as Vieeroy
of Bengal, Behar and Orissa. Zakariya was confirmed in the
Punjab and Multan, which had been held by his father Khan
Dauran up 1o the time of the battle of Karnal.

To the north-west of the Doab now called Uttar Pradesha,
was founded a new principality by a Rohilla Afghan leader Ali
Muhammad by name, who was cmployed inthe service of the
governor of Katehar. Gradually he g:thurml a large following,
and taking advantage of the disorder that prevailed in the empire,
he incrcased his power and by g,ivini shelter to the Alghans
beecame their leader. Al Muhammad kept to himself the rev-
enues of the Jagir of ruddin Khan and when the latter
appointed Raja Harnand to audit his accounts, he took offence
and killed the Raja and became virtually independent. The tract
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aver which Ali Muhawmad exevcised his authority came to be
known as Rohilkhand.

In 1745 Mulammad Shal marched against the Ruhilla
Chieftain who was conducting himsell as an independent ruler.
The emperoy was helped I:I awal Rai, Snfdar{ung and Qaim
Khan, son of Mulammad Khan Bangash, Ali Muhammad,
seeing the odds against him, submitted and on Qamarudein
Igdhm's intervention he was pardoned and entrusted to his cus-
tody,

The Marathas wore advised Dy Raja Shalw net to moddle
in the affairs of the Bmpive, but Peshwa Baji Ran T whoe was a
man of impzrial ambitions carried  raids into the Mughal terri-
tories to the very confines of Delhi and burnt the suburbs. Hiy
occupation of Malwa wasrecognised by a treaty between him and
Nizamulmulk and it was ratificd by the Emperor, Baji Rao was
a remarkable man, He was a warrior, a born leader of man and
a statesman, For 20 years he dominated the Mavatha state and
brought about a great change in Maratha policy which became
the outward symbol of his expanding soul, He fouglt many
battles, and gave a short sheift to his encmies and levied chaath
and Sardeshmukhi upon them. Even the Mughal empire did
not escape from his ravages and the emperor was compelled to
accede to the demand of Chauth and Sardesmukhi. Wherever
his arms penetrated his enemies were worsted and a large num-
ber of centres of Maratha influence were created all over India.
Assisted by his brother Chimmnaji, who was equally brave and
warlike, he carried his conguests far and wide and turned the
small Maratha kingdom Into a powerlul state, veady to try con-
clusions with the Mughal Empire. Baji Rao’s military triomphs
made his fame roverberate H;Emughaul: the country, and thore
was no court in India where his name was not mentinned with
vespect and fear, Raghuji Bhonsle of Naﬁlpur made incursions
into Bengal, Behar and Orissa and along the Orissa Coast and
levied Chauth and Sardeshmulkhi upon the inhabitants.

Gujarat was, like Malwa and Bundelkhand, troubled by the
Marathas and difficulty was always experienced in finding
governors for this turbulent area. During the ineflicient rule of’
Jodhpur, the Delhi government did not care much about it and
found it difficult to organise the administration on account of the
interference of the Marathas,

The States of Rajputana had become quite independent.
Abhay Singh of Jodhpur was appointed as Governor of Gujarat
but he failed to manage the affairs of that province. The grim
spectre of recurring Maratha invasions caused a state of chronic
anxiety and it was found difficult to obtain help from the im-
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serin] government at Delhi. Sawai Jai Singh of Amber who

Id charge of Agra remained loyal to the last and ruled over
the provinee for 44 years. He was a friendofl Peshwa Baji Rao
and enjoyed his confidence. Through Jai Singh's mediation
many difficult problems were settled between the Empire and the
Marathas: Jai Singh was worthy of his high position. FHe was
# lrustworthy friend, a great scholar and lover of Hindi literature
and was interested in astronomical studies.

In 1740 Baji Ruo Peshwa died at the ageol42. Hewasa
rmasterful figure, who according to Sardesai, was next only to
Sivaji in military genius. He became Peshwa at the age of 19,
and for 20 years, ceaselessly waged war against his ncighbours
and made meursions™inte the Mughal tevritories right upto Delhi.
It was dueto Baji Rao Peshwa, writes a modern Maratha his-
torian that a revolution was made in the character of the
Maratha state and the political centre of gravity was shifted
from the court of Delhi to the South.! It is true much of Baji
Rao’s encrgy was wasted in kecping under control the recalei-
trant elements al home but this was inevitable, He gave a new
direction to the policy of the Maratha state and, under his ins-
pirin lcadm*ahilp, his colleagues and commanders followed him
to seek fresh fields and pastures new,

Sir Richard Temple, who is a [oreign wriler, pays arvich
tribute to Baji Rao:

“He was moved by an ardour [or suceess in national under-
takings by a patriotic conflidence in the Hindu cause
as against its old enemiecs the Muhammadans and its
new rivals the Europeans then rising above the politi-
cal horizon. He lived to see the Mamthas spread
over the Indian continent from the Avabian Sea te the
Bay of Bengal. He died as he lived in Camp under can-
vas among his men and he isremembered among the

Marathas as the fighting Peshwa, as the jncarnation of
Hindu energy.”*

Sahu Chatrapati clied in 1748, Baji Rao's relations with him
had been harmonious, Tne Maratha leaders met in a conference
at Sangala and it was decided that all official work should be
removed to Poona. The Peshawa was to have the entire exe-
cutive authority of the state, He was to be the head of the con-
federacy which consisted of Sindia, Holkar, Bhonsle and Gae-
kwad., Itwasa great change, Sardesai call it the Revolution
of Sangala.

1. Sardesai, History of the Marathas 11, p. 182,
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Muhammad Shal’s incompetence in matters of administra-
tion is revealed in o number of important transactions. He was
weak and incapable of taking a irm decision. Umdat-ul-mulk
held an important position at court, But by his indiscrect
behaviour he brought trouble on himsell  One day he was talking
about some business of the the state with the Emperor who was
tired of his interminable harangue and asked him to postpone the
discussion to another day. The chief cunuch who was present
remarked that the matter was as endless as the chater of two
old women, This gave offence to Umdat-ul-mulke who protested
but the Emperor, though he had promised to disiniss the cunuch,
disapproved  of Umadat-ul-mulk’s  insolent  behaviour whoen
he was gone, instead ol punishing the impertinent ewmeh,  Fle
permitted the latter to hive a ruflian to make away with Umadal-
ul-mulk. On January 6, 1747 the latter was stabbed to death as he
was entering the hall of audicnee.

A vevolution in Persia brought about a new situation and
created A serious danger for India. As Nadir Shal advanced
in years, he developed the habits and temper of a tyrant and he
was murdered in his own camp on June 2, 1747, Power was
usurped by Ahmad, his Chief Cammander, who helanged to the
Sadozai scction of the Abdali Tribe., Through Nadir's favour,
he had risen to high command with the help of his own tribes-
men and some Qazalbash soldicrs, captured Herat and brought
Qamdhar and Afghanistan under his sway. Treachery was rile
among men of high rank in India in those days, and in collabo-
ration with Shahnawaz Khan, governor of the Punjab, Ahmad
Shah Abdali, now Shali of Persia, [ormed a schemne of invading
India but when the time came for actual help, the governor
hung back and Abdali was left to his own resources. He crossed
the Indus with 30,000 horse and imvaded the Punjab. Altera
show of resistance Shahnawaz's foree was overpowered and he
was compelled to seek refuge in fight. On hearing of Aldali’s
advance towards Delhi, the imperialists wnder prince Ahmad
and some other redoubtable leaders marched to meet the inva-
der. . Abdali bypassed the Delhi army and reached Sarhind
which was sacked and every man who conld take part in fighting
was ]g‘:::t to the sword, The artillery, arms and ammunition of
the Delhi army were captured by the Afghans and used by them
against their opponents. By a sudden explosion which occurred
near the camp, many of the invaders were killed. But. Ahmad-
shah did not leave the field and during the night ordered his
mien to retreat to Afghanistan, The imperialists rejoiced over
this seeming victory and returned to Delhi, This was Abdali’s
first invasion, .
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At Panipat Prince Ahmad received the news that Muhame
mad Shah had died of dropsy at Dclhi on 26th  April. He was
immediately proclaimed Emperor in the camp under an umbrella
and post-hastc marched to Dethi where in the Shalamar garden,
outside the capital city, afler three days (20 April 1748), he was
crawned emperor of Hindusan,

Muhammad shah's inglorious reign had come to an end and
we may look at the Indian scenc with wondeing eyes and ask our-
selves the question: who was onsible for this decademee?
The answer s obvious. It was Aurangzeb’s policy that had
sown the seeds of decay and disintegration and created a situation-
which his succrssors were powerless to control. All over
India, 2 number of kingdoms had come into existence which exer-
citsed sway over Jarge and extensive territories. They have
been mentioned before.  The empive had become a mere shadow
of its former self and its wril was respected only overa vmg small
arca, In assessing the contribution of factors leadind to disinte-

ration, the army must begiven an important place. True,

¢ men who sat on the throne of Akbar and Aurangzed disgrac-
ed it by their unmanly conduet, imbecility and debauchery and
showed a conspicuous lack of capacity for administration or
generalship, Past history was dis-regarded and the system of
assignments was revived which produced its bad effect on the
organisation of the empire. As the monarchy declined in
character and importance, the power of the nobles incressed,
and the occupant of the throne lost touch with the army,
He wiclded no commanding influence or possessed the ability
to offer guidance to his troops, There was no line of demarca-
tion between the civil military departments, They were
combined and men who passed most of their time at cowrl were
asked to lead important campaigns. The officers were jealous of
cach other and were often swayed by party spirit. The canker
of party had ecaten into the vitals of the administration and from
its ravages neither the civil nor the military administration
was free.  High placed officers who also acted as generals and
commanders told lies, intrigued freely and made subterranen
plans to undermine the imperial authority, A highly placed
officer like Nizamulmulk encouraged the Marathas for the saftey
of his dominion in the South and a governor like Safarjung %aw:
to a foreign invader an exagegrated account of the wealth of the
Emperor and his nobles and asked him to employ coercion and
extortion to make them yeild up their hidden treasures. Even the
Saiyyid brothers had looted the treasure of the state and quarrell-
ed over its appropriation. There were governors who were so
treacherous as to encourage foreign invaders to invade their coun-
try. Treason was rampant among the high ranking officials

3
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and in the conduct of campaigns against an enemy much velian-
ee was placed on treachery, bribery and negotiations.

Aurangzeb was himsell a great gencral and commander lwut
he had done nothing to organise and strengthen the military
system of the empire. We read of no schools or seminars for
military training and the Muslim “youths [rom very carly age
developad a fondness for the pleagurey of the seraglio.  Discip
line beeame lax and Aucangzab's long wars in the Deccan [or
25 years damped the cothusiam of the nobles as well as the com-
mon people. The Puritan Emperor’s administeation had Jost its
cthos and a kind of immoral lawlessiess prevalled fa the highey
grades of socicty. Under the very eyes ef the emperor in the
capital the Prime Minister's son could molest womenas they went
to the the river in the morning to have their  bath,  Loyalty
and inteprity were at a low ebl.  There was no dvill or dis
cipline in the army andsoldiers Lehaved like a rabble. A
modern  historian rightly observes:

“In an army thus composed and thus commanded no milli-
avy sprit was to be locked for, and hoth officers nned
men, were characterised by o complete absence of
of the will to victory.*

Whit a harvest of misfortune for the possessors of the imperinl
pursﬂc? The future was dark and it was clear that no bedy
could prevent or avert the dissolution of the empire.

The Battle of Panipat (1761)

The news of the battles of Barvarighat and Sceunderabad
was received at the Poona Court with dismy and the Peshwa was
urged to prepare 4 large army under able commanders to %I!(“
against Abdali. The ablest chieftains and commanders like
Balwant Rao, Trimbak, Sadashiva Rao Bhau, the Peshiwa’s cous-
in Shumsher Bahadur, Baja Rao 1's son by his concubine Mastani
and many others who had cstablished their fame all over Mahara-
htra. e Bhau and and the Peshwa's gon Viewas Rao lso went
with a large equipage and thousands of followess, elephants
laden with silken tents, and the wives of officers and lvading
men shinining in cloth and gold. Tbrahim Garde was there with
his artillery and had under his command 9000 men trained
under the French ﬁuncrai Bussy. The numbers ol the huge
army have been variously estimated. Accordinng to one cstimate
the Marathas numbered more thana lakh of men and Abdali's
army consisted of 60,000 men of whom half were forcigners and
hall’ were non-combatants, According to My, Sardesai the Mar-

1. Cambridge History 1V, p. 367,
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atha army contained 43,000 Marathas atd about 60,000 non-
combatants, a miscellaneous horde of women, camp followers,
servants and vegabouds, Surajmal Jat joined the army on the
Chambal with his.men. The hig Maratha chicfs Sindhia, Hol-
kar, Bhonsle and the Gackwar all joined to help the' national
cause.  Abdali’s soldiers and ai!iit'.a the Wazir, Sujaudoulah,
Bangash Nawab and Nujibuddowlah . looked upon this war as
n crusade and their fanaticism was roused by the fact that the
Brahmans were the leaders of the Maratha command, Panipat
was an open plain stretching for miles together and there was no
possibility of achirving sugeess by the Gureeilla method which was
suitable for the hilly coutry in Sewth India, The-Marathas
were not used o fght a pitched battle, A council of war was
held to decide the method of fighting.  Surajmal - favoured the
Gourilla method which was the tradttional method of the Mara-
thas. Haolkar and Sindhia a'so “were of the same view but the
Bhau rejected their advice as the chatter of goat herds and'
Zamindars”. The Mararatha general felt slighted and  thore-
ugly disliked the Chilpavan pride and arvogance. | They retor-
ted by saying “If this Brahman wins, he will collect; the revenues
of Hindustan and we shall have to wash his loin cloth. It is bettér
that he should be defeated. Surajmal decided to  &lip  away
from the battlefield:

Both sides waited for two and  hall’ momths. The Mavathas
were tired. Their supplics ran shortowing to the lurgearmy. Men
and animals both died of hunger and want of lodder. Some of
the Maratha allies were half-hearted and were not in a mood to
fight. Surajmal Jat was not convicted of the neccssity of his
£artic}patim1 in the struggle.  "The population wos hostile to the

darathas lor they kiew what sulforings had been caused by their
plundering raids and exactions,

= Abdali was superior to the Marathas in gencralship. His
men wire full of cnergy and vigour and were keen to ﬁg‘?t He
too was short of money but he was Dbacked by men who who
believed in his cause and wanted it to prosper, Starvation, famine
and ep!demic deemated the Mavathas and damped their enthusi-
asm, while Abdali’s men were determined and. full of ardour,
They had better equipment and the searcity in their camp was
not so acute as in the Maratha camp, they were full of buo m:g:
and high spivit whereas the Marathas were dimntcndcd?l an
dejected. Defeat of the latter was certain. The great Napolean
was right in saying, ‘In war all is mental’,

. The baitle began at 9 a. m. and lasted till 2 p. m. ‘Abdali’s
men led the attack-in full [ury and defeated the Marathas, Ihra-
him Gardi’s artillery proved ol little avail and he was himsell
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among the slain. The greatest leaders were killed,  Viswas Rao,
the Peshwa's son, Sada Shiva Bhau, a valiant soldier were killed
and his head was cut off and carried away by his slayers. Sadas-
hiva Raowas a great soldier but his warlike qualities were marred
by his pride and arrogance, Sir Jadunath Sarkar writes about
him:—

*Thus perished Sadashiva Bhau on the grave of his repu-
tation and of the imperialistie dreams of his race, The
historian's memory gous forwurd to say 38 years later,
when at the dork gateway af Seringupatmm another
hevoie Indian Privee, after the wreek ol Iiis avmy and
cause, came to his end in resisting an alien spoiler’s
hand on his person’,

Holkar and Gaelowar showed little willingness to fight; Sin-
dhia was wounded and fled from the battle-field, Much incon-
venience was caused by the presence of women in the eamp. Bhau
did not leave them at Mathura or Bharatpur or cven at Daolhi
and this was pointed out to him by Surajmal Jat. The non-com-
batants, hungry and wernout, evercrowded the camp and exha-
usted the supplies, Thousands died of starvation.

Balaji Baji Rao the, peshwa, had hugged the illusion that
Abdali would be easily expelled.  But the [ates willed otherwise.
He started for the north and the tervible news ol defeal came as
he proceeded on his journcy and at Bhilsa he was told about the
contents of a merchant’s imtercepted letter. It contained the
following words: —

“The pearls dissolved, 25 gold mohurs have been lnst
and of silver and copper the total cannot be cast off."

The peshwa returned to Poona bwoken-hearted and exhaus-
ted, He was suffering lrom consumption; the shock aggravated
the malacy and he died on 23rd Junc 1761 in the palace which he
had built on the Parvati hill, The entire Maharashtra was
plunged in gloom.

Sir Jadunath Sarkar’s comment upon the disaster is well
worth reading: —

tAbhove all the disaster was due to the Peshwa’s mistaken

Eolit.y. If he were wise, he would have givenup all

is ambitions in Hindustan and confined himsell to the

South. Buta strange Nemesis dogged his steps and

his inordinate ambition to acquire mastery over Delhi
and Agra proved his ruin.”
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Puppet Kings

Ahmad Shah; Alamgir II; Shah Alam [I
(1748-54) (1754-59) (1759-1806)

Muhammad Shah was succeeded by his son Almed under
the title of Ahmed Shah, He was a worthless, cowardly, per-
fidious young manof 21 who was utterly unfit for the kingl
office. He conferred the title of Bahadur on the chief cunuch
Javid Khan, The latter enjoyed the king's confidence and was
very [riendly with the Queen mother,

The leadership of the court party passed into the hands of
these two persons and the result was complete mis-management
and confusion. Javid Khan was hostile to Safdarganj, the wazir,
against whom he plotted and wished (o take his life. An attempt
was made to replace the Wazir by Nasirjung; the second son of
Nizamulmulk but it ended in a finsco,

Safdar Jung, in order to safeguard his possessions nst
the Rohillas, instigated Qaim Khan 1o attack them but he
was defcated and killed by Sadullah Khan, the elder son of | Ali
Muhamad Khan. Safdar Jung marched into the Bangash country
exacted sixty lakhs of rupees and confined five brothers of Qaim
Khan in the fort of Allahabad. The territorries were entrusted
to Nawal Rai who was defeated by the Alghans as soon as the

Wazir turned his back,

In 1750 Safdarjung called in Malhar Rao Halkar, Jayappa
Sindhia and Surajmal Jat tohelp him against theB sh Alyghans
The Marathas came and drove the Afghans into the hills and
occupied Ruhilkhand. They plundered the country and killed
every man whom they could catch hold of. Their demand was
conceded and half the Bangash domain in the Doab was ceded as
the price of theirhelp. This acquisition gave the Marathns a
foothold in Hiudustan, Ahmad Khan Bangash harried the
country of oudh in the province of Allahabad. He was routed
by the Naga Sanyasis under the leadership of Rajendra Giri
Gosain  before the Allahabad fort, and Ahmad to Pﬂ?l,m:
heavy fine, He had to cede some of his territory to the Mara
whn had eome to help the Wazir,

Having heard of this disorder in the state of Delhi, Abdali
again invaded Hindustan. This was his third invasion, the
second having oceurred in 1749, The Emperor called the Wazir
to drive back the invader. He sought the help of the Marathas
and entered into a treaty with Malhar Rao Holkar and Sindhia
{April 1752) who promised to defend the empire. They were
given territory in licu of the fine imposed and were promised
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Chauth from the Punjab and Sindh. The Peshwa was 1o be
entrusted with the governarship of Ajmer and Agra and also the
faujdari of Nagar and Mathura.

Abdali had defeated the Governor of the Punjab and compell-
ed him to promisc an annual tribute of fourteen thousand rupees.
The tribute was not paid and Alhmad Shali Abdali came for the
third time and besieged the governor,  The later could  offer
very feeble resistance and  the invader coipelled lim to reeog-
nis: him as his suzerain, When  the Wagiy eane to Delli with o
large Maratha foree, he was swrprizcd to find that the Eniperor
had already ceded the Punjab and Mulian to Aldali, Fvasperat-
ed by this conduct, he azked Malhar Rao, whom lie puid a fow
lakhs to help Ghagiuddin Khan, Governor of the six provinees in
Decean in setiling his affaivs. The Wazir was deeply annoyud
at the conduct of Javid Khan who had beeome ton powerful
and done whiat he eould to reduce the power of the Wazir tn a0
nullity, The murder of the favourite cunuch (6th September
1752, brought about a breach botween the Emperar and the Wazir
and this led to & civil war which lasted for six months,  Safdar-
jung's troops were scduced, Fe was denounced as a heretic, being
a Shia, and thus a new colour was given to the civil stife. Suraj
Mal, the Jae chicltain, was also'called for help and it is said the
Jats came and plundered the capital,

Ghaziuddin's son Imaduimulk himsell browght the Mara-
thas who stoymed the emperors' camp.  The Marathas who were
laying sicge to tne Jat fortress of Decg abandoned it and marched
to Delhi where, under the instigation of Imadul-mulk, they com-
pelled the Emperor o dismiss Safdajung (1758) and Intizamn-
dowlaly, son of Qamaruddin Khan, an uncle of Imadulmulk, was
appointed Prime Minister,

On June 2, 1754 the new Wazir deposed Ahmad Shah anl
sent him to prison: Azzduddin, the accmn}’;nn of Jehandar Shah,
was placed on the thvehe nnder the - title of Alamgir I1. The
dethroned Emperor. nnd his mother were blinded altey a weok.

Alamgir IT (1754-59)

The new Emperor was 55 years of age. As he had spent all
his life in prison, he had no experience of war or administration,
By Safdarjung’s fadur he had obtained the title of Ghaziuddin

han Behadur Amir-ulumra the titles that were enjoyed by his
father. Hewasa wellrcad man, knew several languages, was a
caligraphist and a poet but norwithstanding these gifts he was
utterly unfit to be a ruler in the troubled state of Delhi, being
entirely unprinecipled, dishonest and  without a sense of prati-
tude and regard for his kinsmen,
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Imadulmulk held the wizarat but he depended upon the
support of the Marathas, Muinul-mulk, governor of the Punjab
had dicd in 1753, Abdali had permitted his infant son to occupy
the office and his wife Mughlani Begam to act as his regent.
Soon after the child Emperor died and the Begam beeame the
supreme authority in the province. She had neither ability nor
caprrience antl the eondition of the Punjab grew from bad to
warst, Ghazinddin, who was botvathed Lo the daugliter of Muin-
ul-mulk asked For the hand  of the Begam's daughtee,  His wish
way granted but he was not salislied, He wanted to seize the lady
and obtain possession of the Punjab. He sent a foree with his
officers [rom Ludhiana to Lahore to bring the Begam as a pri-
soner. Bunuchs were commissioned to arrvest the lady in the carly
hours of the morning and she was Lrought to Ludhiana, The
government of the Punjab was conferred upon Adina  Beg who
wits a traitor, utierly dovoid of any noble fecling and largely
vesponsible fov these disgracelul wransactions. But even he had
to pay 30 lakhs 1o the Wazir for this office, Such was the con-
dition of public life at Delhi,

Abdali was annoyed Lo liear all this and he embarked on
his fourth invasion. Adina Beg lled in terror to the desert tract
of Hisar and Hansi whither he thought no army would follow
him. Imadulmulk begged his mother-in-law, Muglani Begam,
to intercede for him.  Abdali at fiest scolded him but later he
pardoned him and reinstated him in his office. It was nothing
short of n disgrace that the highest officice of the cmpive
should be the gift of an Afghan adventurer from a [foreign
country.

Aldali entered the foct of Delli on January 28, 1757 and
met Alamgir IT, the hapless monareh; and the same day order
was given to plunder the city and squeeze moncy from the
prople. Terror spread throughout the capital. Many inhabi-
tants took to flight and some put an end to their lives to cscape
from  dishonour, Abdali stayed for rtcarl; a month and it was
during this period that the daughter of Prince Azzduddin, the
emperor’s elder brother (who was dead) was married to Timuy
Ahdali’s eldest son.

A foree was sent with Ghaziuddin to punish Surajmal jat
for making alliance with Salfdur Jung but the Jat chief tain's
forts were so strong that they could not be taken. To ingra-
tiate himself with the conqueror, the Wazir begged that some
troops may be sent with him into the Doab to realise trilute
[rom the chiels and Jagirdars. Safdarjung had died and Shu-
audmwlalh had suceceded to the mamad. The expedition was
not o great success and he paid only 5 lakhs in cash through
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the good offices of Sadulla Khan Ruhilla who had become
friendly to Shuja. The Jat [ortress of Ballabhagarh was taken
and the garrison was put to the sword. Another force was des-

ched to Mathura where the defenceless pilgrims were mass-
acred to exhibit the invader’s zeal for the faith. Suraj Mal Jat
wax also going to be muleted but he wasted time in negotiations
and evaded the demand with dilatory pleas.

The hot winds of the Indian summer made a longer stay
impossible,  But before Abdali lelt, he married; out of compas-
sion, a daughter and one of the two widows of Muhammad
Shah who appealed ta liim to save them rom the dishonour and
disgrace at the hands ol Najilh, He carvied the roval ladies
with the booty worth several crores,

Abdali had left hiz son Timur Shah as governor of the
Punjab but, soon after his departure, the Marathas established
their predominance again at Delhi. Raghunath Rae bombard-
ed the capital and compelled Najib to submit. The Punjab
was in the hands of Najib as Mir Munshi who received full
support {rom the Marathas Najib was besicged at Shakartal,
a place 18 miles [vom Muzaffarnagar by Dartaji Sindhia, Najib
appealed to the Muslim chiefs including Abdali for help, but as
no relief was obtainable from these quarters, he submitted. The
Marathas under Govind Pant marched into Ruhilkhand and
drove away the Alghans. But the Maratha general suffered a
defeat at Chandpur at the hands of Shujaudoulah.

Meanwhile the news came that Abdali was on his way to
India to afford succour to Najib. Shuja relurned (o his coun-
try and went to the north to resist the nvader. Such was the

aratha position in 1758. A large part of the country was
under their sway which extendedlrom the far south to the Indus.
They left Lahore in charge of Sabaji Sindhia and retired. It was
a shortsighted policy to occupy the Punjab which was difficult
to hold owing to hostile elements there, especially at a time when
Abdali's invasion was imminent.

On the 29th November, 1759 the emperor Alamgir 1T was
taken away from the ace on the pretext of visiting a hermit,
was murderved by the Wazir and his eorpse was thrown down the
river bank below the Kuila ‘of Firuzshah anda false story was
circulated that he had died of an accidental fall from the wall of
the fort. Intizam was also strangled to death. “The murder of
Alamgir II was', as Sir Jadunath Sarkar rightly observes, an
insane and absolutely profitless crime, because if I mad had
spared that meekest ol meek usurper’s hoary head, it would not
in any way have added to the number of his encmies.
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As Prince Ali Gauhar (Shah Alam) the heir apparent had
gone to Oudh to escape from the designs of the Wazir, another
prince Muhi-ul-millat the grandson of Kambakhsha, was placed
upon the throne under the title of Shahjehan II. The death of
the miserable Alamgir brought no advantage to the murderers,
There was witdespread anarchy inthe country and for the traitor
Imad, Delhi ‘ceased to be a refuge after this.

Prince Ali Gauhar heard in Behar the news of his lather’s
death afier nearly a month and he atonce proclaimed himsell
Emperor under thetitle of ShahAlam IT (22nd December, (1759),
the unfortunate manwho signed the Dewani of Dengal, Behar and
Orissa to the East India Companyand remained as an exile in
the east for more than twelve years, leaving his ancestral throne
vacant.

Abdali crossed the Indus in August 1759, entered the Punjab
and Sabaji Sindhia was driven out of Lahore. Dattaji Sindhia
was defeated and Slain in the battle of Baini-ghat, Jankoji,
nephew, carriedon thestruggle but seeingno chance of his success,

he fled to Rajputana where he hopedto join Malhar Rao Holkar,
Before this could happen, Malhar Rao was routed by Abdali’s
gcm:mI Jehan Khan at Secunderabad. Abdali called upon
uraj Mal, Jat, Chicftain of Bharvatpur, and the Rajput Rajas to
pay tribute and wait upon him but they tempnrised. He advan-
ced towards Panipat where on 14th January, 1761 was fought
the battle which decided the fate of the Marathas in Hindustan.

All these events were duly veported to Peshwa Balajl Baji
Rao at Poona with a request that a powerful army and some con-
spicuous commanders should be sent to the north, otherwise it
would be impossible to drive away Abdali and save the prestige
and power ﬂ?thc Marathas in Hindustan, Little did these men
know that the stars in thuir courses were fighting against them,

The battle of Panipat is one of the most decisive battles of
Indian history, It shattered the power of the Marathas in Nor-
then India and kept them away to the end of the reign of the
new Peshwa Madho Rao (1 ?51-?‘2}. The causes of this defeat
can be clearly analysed. In military generalship and tactics
Abdali and his men were superior to the Marathas who lacked
foresight and capacity for organisation. The members of the
confederacy had no unity of plan and action and were unwilling
to accept advice from others. The menand horsesof Abdali
who had just arrived from the cooler regions were in a most effi-
cient condition and were more than a match [or the undisciplined
rahble whicn the Marathas put into the field of battle. The
Alfghan cavalry was efficient and capable of rapid movement.
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The Marathas had lost many of their horses owing to want of
feod and fodder and tuis hnZl' substantially diminished the siren-
gth ol the army. Abdali’s aviillery was light, while the field
guns of the Marathas were heavy and could not be swiltly carried
from one place to another. Besides, the Alghans had ten thou-
sand camels, carvying two soldiers with Zamburgks which made
the finest artillery of that age in Asia. The equipment of Dur-
vani officery wag hutter than  that of the Muratlins, They were
clad in armour which they used with great efliciency. The
Mavatha officers put on light garments and the rank and file had
nothing but a lein-vlmb, wrapped vound theiy waist.

The Bhaw's plan ol battle was defective.  He did not leave
Panipnt el conld not move away with his lighting muen. He hud
some cepalile olicersbut theywere fnlevior to the Alphans, Fle did
not reccive wholchearted and eager co-operation fom the mem-
bers of the confederacy, None of the [four great leaders had a
capable or distinguished geneval who could inspire the men on
the battle field with hope and confidence. Jankoji was too young;
so was the Peshiwa’s son whe had no experience of warfare, Thore
were severz] other commanders who like Antaji had little influ-
ence with the army to be obeyed promptly without hesitation,
Malhar Holkaywas old and incapable of riding an horseback and
was thus Incapacitated I'or active participation in a fearlul battle.

It was a mistake to give up the guerilla tactics which
they had employed in the past agaimst the Mughals., A pitched
hattle was not z\_xiywnmgenus to thom. General Bhau waited for two
and a half months and we do not know to this day why he made
this delay, He aught to have engaged the Afghan army atonee.
Delay caused a drain on the supplies and the hardship was [elt
by the entive camp, Besides, he made Delhi as his base which
was quite usuless, He took no steps to sufeguarded the cetreat
of his huge army in case of defenat and the vesult of this was that
thousands were killed by the Alghans who followed them cleose
upon their heels. Baffled and broken-hearted, they could find
no place of shelter until they reached Surajmal’s tervitory.

To allow a large number of women and nen-combatants in
the camp was a hlunder and although itwas pointed out by Suraj
mal, his advice was rejected by the Bhau. Their presence caused
much anxiety and inconvenience. Not only did they cauvse drain
on the supply of food, they were sure to be turned into a helpless
and confused crowd in the moment of defeat. These ware the
the miscalculations which marred the brilliant generalship of
Sadashiva Rac Bhau, The French Captain Jean Law who visi-
ted Delhi in 1758 pointed out the chief causes of the dizaster at
Panipat. They were (a) the disorderly condition of the Indian
troops (b) Abdali's better organisation (c) the flight of Holkar
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and Sindhia (d) and the unsuitability of elephants as war-mate-
rial against swifily moving cavalry commanded by well-trained
and disciplined officers.

Myr. Sarcesai who has sympthy for the Mavathas mentions
the following cavses of Marvathas deleat:—

Dhau Sahib and Dattaji did not leave women and non-com-
hatants behind at Bharatpur or Mathura or even at Delhi. Bhau
should not have waited for more then two months. No specific
reasons were given by him [or this delay, The Maratha's stren-
gth was hiy ‘horse’.  "1he nobility and strength of his army was
duc to the horse, and in this contest we may remember the long
marches of Maratha horsemen in the pastin  the plains of nor-
then India which they harricd and plundered lor years and made
visitations which destroyed the crops and impoverished the land.
Mr. Sardesai thinks that the guerilla method was not  likely to
Lring success in an open country.,  Panipat was a wide plain and
the guerillas could not shicld themselves agains their relentless
pursucrs.’  In Mr, Desai’s opinion the battle decided nothing;
nor did it shatter the power of the Marathas. They rose again
and beeame formidablein India and challenged the British
supremacy and their struggle continued till 1818 when they were
finally vaniquished?® at Kirkee and Korygaon.

The Bricish histovians have deseribed the Batle as o disaster
Mr. Elphinstone writes ;

“Never was a defeat more complele and never was there
a calamity that diffused su much consternation.  Griel
and despondency spread  ovey the winle Maraths peo-
ple; most had to mourn relations, and all felt the
destruction of the avmy as a death ldow to their nat-
ional greatness.”

The Cambridge history of India supports this verdiet :

"“Most disastrous of all, perhaps was the fact that it dealt
a fatal blow to the one unifying influence in the
Décean, the prestige of the Peshwas. It is of course
true that the E{amt has, ‘with chatacteristic resiliency,
recovered from what would have been & crushing dis-

I. Sardesai, New History of the Marathas IT, pp. 432-53.

2, It is difficult to accept in toto Mr. Dessai’s account of the
results of the battle, His view is that the disaster decid-
ed nothing (p. 434). Hewwrites that it was like a natural
visitation, dpmtmyfng life, but leading to no decisive
political consequences. Sardesai, New History of the
Marathas. Vol, II (p. 454).
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aster to a less havdy nation.  In August 1763 they won
a brilliant victory over the Nizam at Rikshashbhavan,
The Arab and Hindustani mercenary, te an increasing
degree, replaced the free Maratha of the Peshwa and
paved the way to English interference in Maratha
affairs. Panipat in other words, was the prelude to
Assaye and Kirkee,™

The events that have been described hefore supgest one
melancholy reflection. None of those who took pavt in fighting
thought of India, Nonc was inspired by & national [ecling and
none ever thought of the unity or [reedom of the whole country,
To the Marathas Mahavashtra was India. They had hecome
very powerful but they had done nothing to develop homogenity
among the pecople. Similar was the outlook of the Rajputs. The
Jat chiel who came to fight at Panipat left the field without
taking part in the battle.

In the middle ages gatriutism was confined to a small local-
ity or state. Men like Shiv aji, Maharana Pratap, Durga Das
and Chatrasal had fought [or their own interest. So was itin
the cighteenth Century. The Rajputs, #us, Bundelas and Mara-
thas could not unite even against the effete Dellhi monarchy.

National unity, national freedom and national patriotism
were not understood in their modern connotations. Perhaps the
age was not ripe forsuch ideas. Religionwas acompelling motive
but even this had lost its force. Even among the Marathas the
feeling had died out after Shivaji. Their leaders overran the
country and plundered the inhabitants, As Mr. Keene writes;
‘the pax Marathica was based upon the principle, *Take pay or
not ruling”.

The leaders of the 18th century lacked foresight, Even from
the debacle at Panipat they did not learn a lesson. In South
India fight for supremacy was going on between the Indian
powers in  which the European trading companies were also
taking part. A revolution had already taken place in Bengal
which led to the overthrow of the Nawabi, The day of reckon-
ing was not far off when all these were going to be swallowed
up by a race coming from 5000 miles across the seas not merely
to earn the profits u% trade but to bring the whole country under
their political sway,

1. Cambridge History of India, IV, p. 425-26,



CHAPTER II

The Europetan Scttlement in India

T he Portuguese, India was known to the Western world from
times immemorial. Her crafts and arts were [amous in Europe
and were carried to the shores of the Black Sea, to the Levant or
to Egypt. Ascarly as the 3rd century B. C. the Indian labrics
were much esteemed in Rome and Pliny complains of the drain
of Roman wealth to the far off Indies, The recognised routes
along which the trade passed were the Oxus, the Euphrates and
the Red Sea. The fourth route round Africa was not yet known.
When the Turks captured Constantinople, thesituation was alte-
redd and the old routes passed into the ds ol a hostile power,
trade was seriously affected and the merchants of Venice and
Genoa keenly felt tke need of a new route to the East, The hon-
our of this discovery fell to the lot of Portugal.

It was Prince Henry the Navigator who opened a new World
to his countrymen, He started a crusade against the Moors who
were driven out of Portugal, He was fired with the passion of
discovering new countries and sent out ships cvery year at his
own cost to discover remoter parts, whercol he had both heard
enquiry of captives taken at Cepta and conceived by his own
study and reason that the Atlantic and Indian Seas had con-
course, the one yeilding passage to the other, or rather being one
continued ocean’. The Prince carried on hi:z quest for twelve
years in the teeth of great difficulties and discovered Jeruselem
and some other places. His spirit lived after his death and his
example was followed by his countrymen. In 1487 Bertholomew
Diaz discovered the famous Cape to which King John gave the
name of the ‘Cape of Good Hope'.

The Dutch were the first to break the trade monopoly of the
Portuguese, They were moved by commercial ambition no less
than by religious hatred and by their determined opposition to
the policy of Philip of Spain in Ewmope. They first reched India
in 1596 and their food supply depended upon maritime trade,
they regarded eastern trade as a national concern and did every
thing to promote it. The Dutch Company was a national organ-
isation having at its disposal enormous resources and excessively
the rights of soverignty over a large tract of land. Besides the
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spivit of freedom and adventure which animated the Dutch

mpany helped them greatly in their Indian enterprise. In
1605 they eaptured Amboyna and gradually ousted the Portugucese
from the spice islands. They laid scige to Goa in 1639 and
caplured Malacca two years later. In 1658 Ceylon came inlo
their hands and by 1664 they had suceceded in capturing most
of the Portuguese scttléments on the Malabar Coast.

The Portuguese resisted also the English advance into India
and there was an conflict between the two nations,  When
the English entered into u treaty with the Shah of Pevsia in 1622
and eapturcd Ormug, the fear of Portugnl was comsiderably
minimised. By the Treaty of Madrid in 1630 the two countrics
had to give up hostilities in the Bast. The position was much
improved by the commercial convention signed at Goa between
the English and the Portuguese in 1634 which regulated com-
mercial relations between them,  Another treaty in 1661 sccurd
Bombay for the English by the marrdage of Chbarles II with
Catherine ol Braganza and friendly relations were established
between the two countries,

The causcs of Portuguese [ailure in India may be Leicly
summed up. They adopted the wrong policy of canrying on
trade by Government officials whe were never sineere snd who
cared more for their own profits and comforts. Ever since the
Portuguese came Lo this they were hostile to the Muslims and
showed thelr aggressive veligious zeal in dealing with them,
Their desive for conversion and marpage with Indian women
degraded them, and created many encmies for them, The an-
nexation of their kingdom to Spain in 1580 scrtously affected
their position and the discovery of Brazil diverted their encrgics
to the west. Besides these causes there was the hostility of the
Protestant powers in Europe. FHolland and England were the
bitterest foes of Spain in the sixteenth century and did every-
thing in their power to destroy the Portuguese supremacy in
India,

A serious mistake made by the Portugucse was their attempt
at colonisation in a tropical country like India. This led lo
their moral and physical decline and the numerous hall-castes
who came into existence as the result of mixed marriages were
utterly devoid of wvirtue or public spivit. This degeneracy pro-
ceeded apace in the seventeenth century, Parson Terry wrote
in 1616 that the Portuguese of a mixed descent were a very low
and poor spirited people. He is confirmed by Fryer who wrote
in 1681 that they had fogotten their pristine viveue and lacked
courage. Peitro della Valle who visited Goa in 1623 speaks of
the poverty of the Portuguese and says that they lived wretched
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lives. 'Thereis ample evidence to show that the ll'm'tugunsc
were i a miserable condition and it was this that prepared the
way for the Dutch and the English. A modern writer thus sums
up the causes of Poriuguese failure in India :

“I'he primary cause of their fall was, ol couse, their [ail-
ure to maintain their power on the sea. 'The union
of the Spanish and Portuguesc involved the latter
wation in the defat of the Armada, and the (ot of the
Portuguese Hmpive in the Bast was decided by that
encounter. Just as the fate of the French in India was
decided by the batle of the Nile, Bul other causis
were at work which made degencration inevitalle
There were no permanent elements in the great faliic
erected by Da Gama and Albuguerque. 'The Portu-
gruede came (o India not as merehunts or colonists, but
as crusaders.  This led them to commit aets of cruclly
which made them detested by the inhabitants of the
country, Da Gama's followers thought nothing of
stuifing an Arab merchant’s mouth with dirt and [aste-
ning it up with a slice of pork, or cutting off the cars
of a Brahmin spy and sewingdog’s earsto his head. The
magsacre, mutilation and torture of captives was the
rule rather than the exception. The harrors of the
Inqusition were afterwards added 1o the brutalities of
[oreible conversion, and were applied even to the Nest-
orian christians. Temples: were plundered as a relig-
ious duty. The sacred tooth of the Buddha, revered
by millions in Ceylon, Burma and Siam, was pounded
in a mortar and hurled into the sea. Thus only adv-
erse winds which saved Albuquerque [rom attempting
a raid upon Medina with the object of holding up the
hody of the prophet to ransom in exchange for the
Holy Sepulchure, It is difficult even to imagine the
cifver of such an entcrprise i the Muslim world.
Itis true that after 1570 thcu'%om'tugucsc secured the
patronage of the Mughal Court...... At Goa and throu-
ghout Portuguese India corruption and scnility were
widespread, for the portugucse, too proud to earn
money honestly by rrade, were driven to make by less
honnurable means.”t

. The Duteh. Inthe beginning the Dutch and the English were
friends and their chicl aim was to dvive out the Portguese. But
soon hostilities sprang up between the two on account of the
wawering policy of the first two stwarts and the jealousies

l. Rawlinson, pp. 14-13.
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caused by commerce. The Dutch lorced the English Company
to withdraw [rom the Spice Islands and thus deprived them of
a most Iucrative trade. This rivalry developed into a fierce
struggle in the seventcenth century in the Indian water. The
Engi'xah defended Polu Run one ‘;?'thc Bnnda islands for four
years (161-20) against the attacks of the Dutch, At last a treaty
was arranged belween the two countries by which mutual resti-
tution was agreed upon. But it lasted only for twenty months
and was little regarded by the Dutch in the t Indies where
commercial warfare raged fercely and the points of conllict
multiplied with astonishing vapidity. Matters veached the elimax
when in 1628 came the news of the English at Awhoyna by the
Dutch. The cause of the tragedy was the suspicion of the Dutch
Governor of Amboyna, Nan gcuult that a conspiracy was formed
by the English against Towerson along with others. There was
no prool of the conspiracy but the Governor thought that a plot
was contrived to capture the Fort. The protests of the victims
that they were innocent were I.Lujmedndp and they were put to
death, The mansacre was the doing of a subordinate Dutch
official but fthe calculated atrocity of the deed inflamed the
wrath of the Bnglish and kindled animosities which later on led
to war between the two countries,

The Stuarts did nothing to exnct repavations from the Duteh
but Comwell took up & strong attitude and tried to protect the
interests of the English Company, The matter was referred to
Commissioners by the Treaty of {V(:Sliﬂﬂﬂi!-lﬂr in 1854 who res-
tored Polu Runto the English and recommended a sum of
£ 85000 as indemnity to the Company and a compensation
allowance [or the heirs of those wlljm ad lost their lives ut
Amboyna.

The numerous commitments of the Dutch on the continecut
of Europe brought about their failure. But the chicl cause was
the close connection of the Company with the Government,
The Company was guided by the officers of the state who had
cnough of other business on their hands to keep them occupied.
They had no time to look to the affairs of the Company and con-
sequently its interests suffered by neglect.

Holland was engaged in long and unending wars with Eng-
land and France, the effect of which was to seriously to weaken
her position. When the peace of Ryswick was made (1697},
Holland was in an exhausted state and her resources were mater-
ially reduced. Infact the French and the Duteh had disabled
themselves b ﬁghtilag against cach other and preparved the way
for the mezl and wﬁnpmmt of the East India Company of
the English. Henceforward the English Company began to draw

-
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slowly but continuously to the foremost place in Asiatic conquest
and commerce.

The Spice Islands remained in possession of the Dutch.
Though the English continued®to press their claims to Pulo Run
and established a factory at Bantam, they never made any serious
attempt to establish their influence in space the Malays Arche-
pelego till the beginning of the nineteenth century.

Ovrigin of the East India Company

We learn [rom the Anglo-saxon chronicle that the first Eng-
lishman to visit India was Sighe/m in 883 A. D, He was sent to
St. Thoma's shrine by King Alfred in persuance of, a vow that
the latter had made when London was beseiged by the Dangs.
Nearly five centuries later Sir Joln Mandeville visited the Mala-
bar Coast but it was not until the sixtecnth contury that any
serious attempt was made to explore the East Indies. The dis-
coveries made by Spain and Portugal fired the imagination of the
English and as early as 1511 a petition was presented to Hemry
VIII which says ;

“The Indies fve discovered and vast treasurcs are brought
from there everyday, Let us therefore lend our endes
vours thitherwards; and ifthe Spaniards suffer us not
to join unto them, there will be region enough for all
to cnjoy.”

But the Pope's famous award stood in the way and England
had to confine her efforts to the discovering of another route
through the Arctic Ocean. The interest in India continued to
grow and in the latter part of the sixteenth century she was
visited by another Englishman PFather Thomas Stevens who
stayed in the country and sent valuable information to his rela-
tives and {riends about India. He learned the Maratha langu-
age, it is said, and felta great admiration for it. He described
itif thus :

“Like a jewel among pebbles, like a sapphire among jewels,
is the excellence of the Maratha tounge. Like the
jasmine among blossoms, the musk among perfumes the
peacock among birds, the Zodiac among stars, is Mar-
athi among languages,”

The interest aroused in England by Steven's letters resulted
in an expedition to the Indics sent by :f::. merchants of London.
The leader of the party that was sent oul was John Newbury, a
ood Arabie Scholar who had been to the East before and with
irn were associated Rall Fitch a London merchant, William
Leeds, a jeweller, and James Story, a painter. They were well

¢
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received at Goa though they had [eard a bad treatment. They
carried a letter for the Mughal Emperor Akbar from Elizabeth,
asking for generous treatment of her subjects. They journeyed to
Aﬁ*ﬂ. amidst great difficultics and from there went to Fatehpur
Sikyi and were very muech struck by the commereial possibilities
of the country. They stayed at Sikei till September 1585, Will-
iam Leeds entered the service of the Gueat Mughal while New-
bury and Fitel lelt the comntry. Titeh reached England in April
1591, Thiy was the firat regular expedition to India [fitted out
by Lendon merchants and the information swplpl[cd by the pione-
ers of the Indian expedition prepared the way lor the foundation
of the East India Company,

Foundation of the East India Company.

It will be remembered that in the middle of the sixteenth
gentury the Cathlic reaction was in [ull Mﬂ% in Europe.
England as a Protestant country had to bear the brunt of the
opposition of Spain which was at this time the acknowledged
champion of the Counter-Reformation.  Philip II of Spain had
greal designs upon England, He fitted out the Armada to des-
troy England but it was defeated in 1588 and the country came
out of this war victorious and powerful. The English mer-
chants whose curiosity had been excited by the accounts of the
Bast Indies felt a strong desire to renew their attempls
to go to India by the Caperoute. In 1590 John Davis set out .
on an expedition but he could get no further than Medeira,
A year latter Captain Lancaster after an adventurous carcer in
the Arabian Seat urned homewards but being without charls and
maps he lost his way and rcached Trinidad. Some of (he
party were destroyed herc and the others were rescued by a
French vessel and reached home in 1594, In 1596 another [leet
was sent on by Sir Robert Dudley with a letter from Elizabeth
to the Emperor of China but it was never heard of again. It was
probably destroyed by the Portuguese.

The death of Philip 1I in 1598 made peace possible between
England and Spain and [acilitated matters. In 1599 some
London merchants presented a petition to the Privy Council
asking for permission to trade with the BEast Indies cspecially
with such ki ms anddominions as werenot subjectto the King
of spain and Portugal. The Privy Council gave careful attent
ion to this matter and it was not until December 31, 1600 that a
Charter was granted by Queen Elizabeth for the discovery of
the trade for the East Indies. Efforts were mdde to subscribe
capital and £68,323 were collected and a flect of four ships was
fitted ont with Captain James Lancaster as the leader of toc
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expedition, The Company was formed and was incorporated
by the name of ‘the Governor and Company of merchants of
London trading into the East Indies.’

Career of the Company

The [oundation of the East India Companyis a landmark
in the history of the British Empive. None of these carly
adventurers could have foreseen that one day the step which they
were taking was to place in the possession of their countymen
a wonderful Empire in the Orient, The task which they had
set to themselves was indeed full of risks but they persevered in
their attempts. The position of the lish Company was better
than that of the other companies. The Portuguese and the
Dutch Companiecs were backed by their respective Governments
whereas theEnglish Companyowed its origin to private initiative
and depended for its preper guidance upon the energy and vigour
of the meveantile classes.  James Lancaster reached Achin in
Sumatra and establised a factory at Bantam., But the real
objective was the Indian mainland and a second expedition was
sent under John Mildenhall with a letter for Akber. He went
I:g the overland route through Persia and reached Lahore in
1603, Hec was much hampered by the Portugucse in mmi;ls
trade facilitics for his country and they employed every ki
of artifice to thwart his mission. But Mildenhall did not give
way to despair and learning Persian in a  short time he began (o
coverse with the Empeoror without an interpreter. Ak bar passed
orders that the privileges asked for should be granted but we do
not find that a firman was actually granted. ng employers were
displeased and it appears that they terminated  his services, He
went to Agra where he died in 1601.

The Company planned a fresh voyage. This was more
successful. It was Icg by Willium Hawkins who reached Surat
in 1608 and was well received by the authorities. He went to
Jehangir's Court at Agra and beeame a favourite. By drinking
hard and telling the stories of his travels, hec won the favour of
the King who provided him with an Armenian wife to cook his
food, and offered him a pension of £ 3,200 a year and a mansab
if he stayed in India, and gave him the title of ‘Inglish Khan".
But soon Hawkins fell out of favour owing to the intrigues of
the nobles and the Portuguese. The viceroy of Goa told the
Emperor that he would soon lose his harbours and his tradeif
he allowed a foot-hold to the English in the country. He stayed
in India till 1612 when heleft for home in an English ship.
Hawkins' mission failed as he did not succced in gotting any
kind of firman, Butas a modern writer says he had thoroughly
explored the resources of the Mughal Empire of which he wrote

23746k
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a very able account and had investipated the possibilities of
Surat as a site of a factory.!

In 1609 Sir Henry Middleton had started for the Indies at
the head of an expedition and was asked (o go to Surat to make
effork to establish a lactory and obtain the privilige of Free
trade. He also failed in his mission and on his way to Bentam
his ship was destroyed In the Javanese. Middlcton lost heart
and it 1% said died “most of heartsore™.

The year 1612 in  which Hawkins lefl for England marks
an important stnge in the carcer of  the English Company, e
was followed by another Englislunan, Gaptain Thomas Best, who
on reaching India, was very mueh hampered in his progress by
the Portuguese, They boasted that they would force llm%inglth
sailors to yield in an hour. Best prepared fo meet them and
defeated them off Bwailly in a naval engagement. He lost three
spilors in action, while the Portuguese casualtics were very heavy
indeed, Although Best won a victory, he saw the difficultics
whicl the Cbxl?:an wag cortain o meet at the hands of the
Portugucse. ¢ felt inclined to abandon Surat altogether but
he was dissuaded [rom deing so by Thomas Aldwortl who was
left incharge of the factory along with a few others. Aldworth
went to Agra but because of Jerome Xavier he could not male
much headway at Court. He went back to Surat and maintained
the factory in spite of the heavy odds against him and declared
Surat to be ‘the only key to open all the rich and best trade of
the Indies’. Soon agencies were established at Alomadabad, Dur-
hanpur, Ajmer and Agra.

The Company’s affairs cidnotgowell forsometime at the Mu-
ghal Court. Thoroughly disgusted with them, Jehangir had turn-
ed to the Portuguese, and the English factors were illltreated by
the Muﬂal officers. There was a talk of making over Burat to
Prince Khurramwho wasnot well disposed towards the English.A
treaty was actually being negotiated with the Portugucse at Goa
with a view to expeiling the English from Surat and to driving
themcompletely outof the country. The hostilityof the Dutch who
threatened them with expulsion from the Malay Archepelego
added to their difficultics. In this awkward situation they pressed
upon the Home Government the need for sending a suitable
ambassador to the Court of Agra. James I agreed atonec and
Thomas Roe was sent as the official agent el the British Nation to
make a permanant treaty with the Mughal Emperor and to seek his
Pm'mis:iun to open factories on the coast and other places on the

ndian mainland. How careful the Company was at this time is
evidenced by the agreement inte which she entered with her own
representative,  He was his Majesty’s.ambassador to the Great
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Mughal for securing better trade facilities in his dominions. He
was asked not to engage in trade on  his own account direetly or
indircetly and was to inform the Company il any of her servants
broke the rule, He was not allowed to interfere in the work of
the local factories and to ask for an advance of more than 100.
The Company agreed to give him £ 600 per annum, half of which
was to be invested in her stock and the rest was intended (o
defray his expenses.  He was given full power to treat with the
Mughal Emperor and in the event of  failure lic was to explore
the Red Sea or any other place suitable for any commerce, Ex-
perience suggested enution and Sir Thomas Roe was warned not
to fight with Spain or any other nation that was at peace with
the English, He was privately instructed by asking ‘to  be carc-
ful of the preservation of our honour and dignity' and to do his
best to further the Company's intcrests in a manner consistent
with the instructions given to him, He was lurther asked to
remove the bad impression which the Portuguese had created
in the Indian mind aboul the English and to acquaint the people
with *our power and strength at sca, which giveth Us not only
reputation and authority awmong the greatest princes of Christen-
dom, but maketh Us even & terror o all other nations.'

With these instructions Roe sailed in February 1615 and
landed at Swally Hole towards the close of September but he was
not well received by the Mughal officer Zulfiqgar Khan who
wanted (o search him and his guards. Roc refusedto submit to
this insulting treatment and atonce procceded to Agra to acqua-
int the Emperor in person with the state of affairs. He met
Jehangir at Ajmer, travelled with him to Mandu and Ahmadabad
and remained three years at Court, endeavouring to secure fivou-
rable terms for his country. At the Imperial Court was a part
lieaded by Prinee Khurtam whe [avoured the Portuguese ang
wished to drive the Buglish away from Surat. Roe drafted a
treaty to which the Prince whose Portuguese sympathics were well
kuovwn objected and asked Jehangiv why he favoured the English
whose presents were mean and posr.  The Emperor did  not sign
the treaty and authorised the Prince to grant a firman for permit-
ting the English to trade in pzace at Surat. The Great Mughal
could not treat the kingof England as his equal and all that
could be obtained wasa few concessions and fivmans. In the
letters that Roe wrote to the Company at home, he indicated the
policy which they were to follow., He regarded Surat as.a suit.
able port but was not in favour of building a fort there or keep-
ing a militia, ‘A war and traffic are incompatible’ he wrote, and
the Dutch and the Portuguese had ruined themselves by
following this policy. He suggested that the Company should
restrice itself to trade and entirely give up the idea of fighting
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with anynation, In hisview a forward policy at sea was fraught
with great advantages and a blockade of Goa was likaly to be
very efficacious in erippling the power of the Portuguese.

Roe continued his efforts to get as much as he could. Thr-
ough the good offices of Asaf Khan, Nurjehan’s brother to whom
the English Ambassador sold a famous pearl, he obtained from
the Emperor a firman far more favourable than the one reccived
previously, By this Mree trade was allowed and the factories were
to live under their laws and religion, and the government of Surat
was ordered to protect the lives and goods of the English mer-
chants,

Roe's embassy marks a deflinite stage in the tlcw?lc:{)mrm: ol
the Bast India Company. Hencelorward they weretreated well and
trade intcrests were carcfully guarded. The most important part
of his work was the suggestion of the policy regarding the internal
affairs which was carefully followed for several years, a policy
was to be unaggressive and wholly mercantile. Roe render-
ed indeed valuable services to the Company, and he could justly
claim ‘my sincerity toward you in actions is without spol; my
neglect of private gains is without example, and my [rugality
beyond your expectation.” (1),

Raoe left for land early in 1619 leaving the Bnglish fie-
tory in the hands of Kerridge, who now become the President.
The Portuguese had not yet withdrawn from the field; they fought
a battle with the English in 1630 and steadily lost their ground
under the pressure of Duteh atiacks. Surat now became the
Company’s chicl scttlement and by 1643 the English established
themselves on the ecast coast at Masulipatam and olitained from
the local Hindu chiel to build a factory which was called St
George, 230 miles south of Masulipatam. Round this factory
F-a.c_lunllv grew up the town of Madeas where also came to dwell

ndian merchants and artisans, Up the Hoogly also a settlement
was established for purposes of trade with Bengal. At the Mugh-
al Court the Company’s position improvad through the cfforts of
Dr, Boughton, a surgeon in the East India Company's service,
who treated the Emperor and was appointed the ro Ph}rsiuian.
They were now trading [rom the Persian Gulf to the borders of
China and as the commercial operations of the Dutch and the
English covered the same field, the two often came into a conflict
with each other, The advantage in this struggle lay with the
Dutch for the English Company’s position was adversely affected
by the war between the king and the Parliament. They suffered
much at the hands of the Dutch at this time ond in the old records

1. Embassy p. 345.
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we read of the ‘intolerable injuries; cruelty, insolvency and cunn-
ing, circumventing projects of the Dutch in the East Indies. The
Dutch Company received much help from the Home government
and fully prepared itself to drive alilFDmign rivals from the field.

As has been said before; the English Company's trade was
much hampered by the attitude of the government at home.
Charles I acting acbitvarily granted leave of trade to certain
favourites, thus ereating a competition which did much harm to
the Company's intercsts A protest was made but in vain, In 1657
Cromwell wished to break the monopoly of the Company’s trade
but when they expressed their intention to retire from the Indian
field the Government paid attention to their grievences, A
chavter was granted in 16537 by which the constitution of the
Company was recoghised and it passed from its mediacval to its
modern basis.,” Peace was also made with the Dutch who agreed to
componsate the English for the massaere of Amboyna and to
accept the English position on the Indian Coast.

With the restoration in 1660 the fortunes of the Compan
Liegan to improve, Charles 1T granted them a new charter in 166
giving them right to coin money build fortifications, administer
justice, punish interlopers and make peace and war with non-
christian states. When the king married the Portuguese Princess
Catherine of Braganza, she hrought with her as dowery the town
of Bombay which afterwards grew into the capital of the Western
possessionsof the Company. Its harbour proved extremely useful
and Bombay developed into & flourshing centreol trade and
lecame the chief settlement on the western coast.

The position of England in Europe in the last quarter of the
seventecnth century greatly helped the progress of the East India
Company. Spain and Portugal had gone the the background.
England, France and Helland entered the lists for eommercial
supramacy but in the long war that followed the French and the
Dutch established their strength and prepared the way for the
rapid advancement of the English who, as Alfred Lyallsays, began
to draw slowly but to the foremost place in Asiatic conquest and
commeree.

The Company’s position may be summed up as follows.
The walue from the imports from Bengal rose and the Company
made cnormous profits. In 1685 Bombay became their chief
scat of power and in 1687 the chief Bengal agency was removed
from Hoogly to Calcutta. Madras had become the chiel seat of
the East Cgc:ast. The Company was liberally helped by Charles
IT and James IT who granted charters which greatly strenthened
its position. This encouraged the Company to assume the role
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of a sell-governing Lody, having right to coin money and
collect taxes. It employed also a local militia to defend itsell
against aggression, European or Indian. It was this changed
policy which ultimately led the promoters of triude scttlements
to a political dominion. This policy recvived support from
the weakness of the Mughal Empirc.

Stiute of Affairs in India and their effects om the Com-
pany

Although the Company’s posilion at liome had consdderably
improved, she was in serious  dilliculties in Dndin.  'The auth-
ority of the Mughal Empive wis rapidly declining, and the pro-
vineial governm s were defying the eenteal powers.  Phie Marva ha
chicf Shivaji had built up a kingdom [or himsell'in the teeth of
Mughal opposition. In 1664 he had sacked Surat where the
English factory was hravely delended by Sir George Oxenden,
the president. The Mughal armies found (hemsclves power-
less against the guerilla warfare and an  unsuceessful fight raged
Ietween the Mughals and the Marathas for twenty-five years
in the Decean.,  Aurangzeb destroyed the kingdoms of Goleunda
and Bijapur which had hitherto served as hreakwaters against
the flood tide of the Maratha conquest,  Disorder and anarchy
followed Lthe collapse of administration and the situation is thus
clearly summed up by Sir Alfved Lyall :

#“The dislocation of the native administration led to the
consolidation of the foregin settlements, since the Com-
panics were compelled for their sell-preservation to
act upon this nprurttmity o taking up a more inde-
pendent position in the country,  The relaxation of the
supreme legitimate authority loosenced its holed of the
more distant governorships, and with local irresposi-
hility came local oppression,  The merchants became
exposcd to irregular extortion and capricious ransom-
ing by subordinate officials who could give them
no valid guarantee or regular safcguard; while their
immunities and privileges even when obtained at the
capital [rom the Emperor’s ministers were ofien dis-
regarded with impunity at the sea-ports."?

The English traders were ill-treated by the Nawabs of Bengal
and Job Charnock wrote in 1678 that the kingdom was in a mis-
erable condition. The Company found it necessary to revise
its policy and impressed upon their agents in India the necessity
of establishing a civil and military force hacked by revenue

. Rise of British Domintion in Tundia p. 40.
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renources which ‘may be the foundation of a large, well guarded
English dominion in India for all time to come’. This policy
is usually associated with Sir Josia and Sir John Child who have
been erroncously described as brothers in many histories.

The pious Aurangzeb was perturbed by these developments
auwd at last agreed to make peace in 1690. He imposed his own
terms on the traders when he had brought them to their knees
and punished cffectively for their overbearing conduct, He
agreed to renew the Jeave [or trade on the condition of the pay-
ment of fine of £ 17000 provided that the Company promised to
behave themsclves for the future no morc in such a shameful
manner and Child who had suggested this policy should be dis-
missed from the Company’s service and cxpelled from India.
Sir John Child was saved [rown this disgrace by his timely death
a little eavlicr,

The English suffered a lot of humiliation but there was one
great advantage which they gained. Job Charnock had attempt-
ed twice to establish a scttlement ‘on the sitc of Calcutta but
each time he had failed. Now in 1690 he succeeded and gradu-
ally a large town grew on the site selected by him., It wasa
valuable site hesides commanding a navigable area of 600 miles.

The Company had “the power tobottle up French and Dutch
Commerce inBengal, aswellas the Moghul out-let fromthe northen
India to the sca’. It enabled the English to defend themselves
against Maratha aggression, Chamock died in 1693 and was buri-
ed in the city the site of which was chosen by him. Three years
afier the company obtained from the Mughal viceroy permission
to fortify the settlement and in 1730 Fort William became
the scat of the Presidency of Bengal a sepavate Presidency. Called
the Presidencyol Fori William afterthe reinging Emperor restorad
the privileges of the Company, Auranzeb died in 1707 and was
succgeded by Emperor Bahadur Shah who allowed the Company
to enjoy the Privilges which had been granted by his predecesses,
Efforts wore made to congolidate the position of the Company
and it looked forward to an era of progress and prosperity,

The Company had now acquired the status of a Zamindar in
the Mughal Empire by purchasing three villages in the vicinily
of Fort William, one of which 'was Kolikatta from which Clalcutta
derives its name. The Company paid revenue to the Empire
and the latter recognised its position. In 1715 the Company
sent an Embassfy to the Great Mughal for the redress of their
grievances, One of them was Mr, Hamilton, a surgeon, who
soon won the good will of the Emperor by curing him of the dang-
crous disease he was suffering from. The Mughal Court was
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a scene of corruption, profligacy and incompetence and the Embassy
a realised that any privilege which the Company could obtain
will have to be maintained by its own strength for the Mughal
Emperer? had Iost all power to enforce his deeres, The rosults of
the Embassy’s efforts were important,  "The Company got permis-
sion to purchase thirty-seven more villages in the neighbourhood
and this added 1o her strengthas atevvitorial power, She obtained
a firm foothold in Beupal and could not be easily ousted from the
place she had occupied.

The New Company ereated by the Commons

The huge prolits made by the East India Company ereated
jealousy in England and many people began o question the mon-
apoly enjoyed Dy the East Tndian merchants. The interlopers
were most emphatie in declwing that the Company’s privileges
were unlawful and its monapoly illegal. Some m-gwr:d1 that the
Company went to war unnccessarily with the Mughals which
resulted in the loss of prestige and ohjected to foreign trade which
involved the country in tremendous responsibilitics and led to the
export of bullion. Another group offered opposition to the joint
stock theory and found fault with the exelusive charter of the
(_‘l‘urnpmz{ and urged its dissolution, They criticised Sir Josia
Child's dictatorship in the affairs of the Company and pointed to
its unwholesome influence as the pround for drastic action.  Such
was the opposition offered to the policy and methods of the
Company. But Sir Josia Child, who happencd to be the chair-
man of the Board of Directors was a masterful personality; he
succecded by bribing and like means in enlisting the Taveur of
the Court and the Company’s opponents were prevented from
doing anything to injure its interests  After the revolution of
1688 the days of the Court were over and the Company had to
deal with the Parlinment, A new Company was lormed in 1698
when Montague, Chancellor of the Exchequer, in sore nred for
money, passed an Act granting a royal charter to the company,
who promised to lend a large sum to the government. As soon
as the now Company entered the field, abitter struggle ensued
betweenthe two organsations, Each wanted to ruin the other; cach
had to win the favour of the Mughal; each gave out that it alone
enjoyed the favour of the Government at home. This unedifying

1. The Embassy addressed the Mughal Emperor as ‘absolute
Monarch and prop of the Universe' to which the Governor
of Fort Willum replid inhis own wards, but’ as to smallest
particle ol sand ‘unto his forchead, at command, rubbed
on the ground’. In realitythe Emperor was a mere roif-
aineant, a tool in the hands of his ministers,
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quarrel was taken advantage of by provincial governors in India
who frequently made gain for themselves by taking bribes imparti-
ally from both. Trade was compietely disorganised by this
rivalry and ultimately when the f{:ﬁlity of running two com-
panies became clear to Parliament, an Act was passed in 1702
thrnuih Godolphin’s cfforts amalgamating the two companies.
Still the work of the United Company was hampered by the jeal-
ousy of its servants in India. The New Company sent Sir Will-
iam Norrls to the Moghul Court but the BEmperor who was
much distracted by the pratical activities of the Englith, refused
to grant a firman or privileges. It was not until 1708 that all
these differences were scttled, by Godolphin's award and an act
of Parliament was passed by which the old Company was finally
and completely amalgamated with the New Company under the
name of the United Bast India Company. It was a momentous
deeision. Tt brought about the flow otP immense capital, enterprise
and energy into the hands of a single body which could look for-
ward lo a course of great growth and expansion. The Company's
resources were considerably inereased and hencelorward it began
to acquirve tervitorial possession. Sir Willium Hunter rightly
observes :

“Hence forward there was to be no retrograde step.  Tho-
ugh they knew it not, and though the goal was far
distant the English in India had definitely entered
upon the course, which in its latter end, was to merge
into the overlordship of the peoples of Hindustan from
Cape Commorin to the Himalayas,™

It was this Company officially called, the ‘United Cormpan
of Merchants of England trading to the East Indics’ which
administercd the affairs of India, applied for the renewal ofits
charter from time to time, down to the Mutiny, and gradually
became a sovereign power and supplanted the Mughal Empire.
It was a most wonderful achievement for a trading company to
have brought a large continent under its sway by giving a short
shrift to one Indian potentate after another. The disunion of
the Indians had led to this result. In 1858 it was found that the
Company had become an anachronism and its privileges and
powers were transferred to the Crown.

Growth of settlements

The rapid decline of the Mughal Empire and the cessation
of its political authority in the provinces led the Company to
increase its mighty strength. It was now a large corporation

1. History of British India T pp. 383.-84.
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with plenty of temporal influence and was well supported in
England. But she was soon eonfronted with a new rival in the
Ostend Company started by the Austrian emperor in 1717, This
Company received a charter in December 1722 though it was
not made public till Augnst 1723, Its capital was quickly subs-
crilied and the value of the shares went up by 12 or 15 per cent.
But soon strong apposiiion was offered by the European powers
the Finglish, French and (he Dutch who enteved into n treaty nnd
dennunced the Ostond Clompany, It was a powerlul enalition
against the Ostend Company and it eontinnance hecame a ques-
tion of Ruropean politics about which nations et most strongly.
The emperor was asketl to wind up the Company nod anxious us
he was to secure the assent of the powers to the pragmatic sanes
tion by which he wanted to pass the Austrian possesions o his
daughter Maria Theresn, he suspended the privileges of the
company for seven years and entered into o treatywith Great Bri-
tain in March 1731 by which he agreed to suppress the eompany
altogether. The company had established rwo scttlements one at
parki Dalar on the Hugli and the other at Corelong near Mad.
ras. The English merchants in Bengal determinedto destroy the
settlement en the Fugli and in 1733 the Presideney ineited the
Nawab of Bengal to invade the factory. The parrison offered
a stubbarn resistance but it was overpowereed.  'The other settle-
ment Jingered a few years and it was not till 1793 that an end
was pul ta the legal existonce of the company.

Tl three Presidencies. The Dbreak-town of Imperial antho-
vity erealed a serious situation in the cityand English scttlements
were scriously affected. Hengal continued peaceful and pros-

rous under its Nawabs Murshid Quli Khant, Shujat Khan and
Alivardi Khan, Alivardi Khan (1741-50 was a capable man
who, although he knew the danger, weated the English well and
kept on friendly terms with them. The eommerce of Bengal
thrived and round the factory grew up the city of Caleutta the
population of which in 1735 was cstimated ac 1,00,000.

In Bombay the English were in a difficul! pesition. Ne-
where the effects of the weakening of the Mughal empire lelt
more than in this part of the country, The power of the house
of Shivaji had passed into the hands of the Brahman Peshwas
who established themsclves as a dynasty with large designs and
ambitions. The Maratha pirate Kasshoji Angria raided the
scas and Mughal shipping at first but later started his predatory
activities to the English ships also. Angria died in 1729 and
his sons lollowed his example. Bombay continued to suffer at
the hands of these corsaivs and tried to meet the danger boldly
by allying itsell with S8idi, the Moghul admiral, against the
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Marathas and matters did not improve until a treaty was made
with the Peshwa in 1739,

Aurangzeb, long campaigns in the Deccan had caused
disorder andanarchy. The extinction of the kingdoms of Golkunda
and Bijapur and the exhaustion of the Imperial resources In
war against the Marathas together with the constant discontent
in the army and the dislocation of finance aggravated the form
of disorderd and when Aurangzeb died in 1707, the Moghul
authority ceased o exist in Sonthern India. Asafjah Nizamul
Mulk became Subadar of the Deccan and a scramble ensued
between the Marathas and the Nizam-Both had great ambi-
tions, ‘The English kept their friendly relations with the Nizam
by sending presents regularly to the ecourt at Haiderabad and
suceceded i keeping themselxes out of these wars. A mow
ower was established in the Carnatic the tract of land bounded
y the Krishua on the north and by Tanjore on the South, The
Nawab of the Carnatic paid homage to Nizamul Mulk as the
representative of the Mughal emperor,  Madras developed pese-
fully while the native powers lought amongst themselves and
possessed the Cloromandal coast besides Madras, Fort St. David,
Caddalore and the factories at Vizgaﬁatam and Masulipatam.
They kept on [viendly terms with the Ruler of the Carnatic and
the Nizam of Haiderabad but about the year 1740 whenihe
Marathas invaded the Carnatic and slew the Nawab, Dost Ali,
the situation became serious.

Dost Ali was succeeded by his son Saldar All who was hos-
tile to Chanda Sahib a son-in-law of Dost Ali, who had estab-
lished his power at Trichnopoly with the help of the Marathas
The Nawal attacked Chands Saheb and compelled him to sure-
render after feelde resistence,  Chanda Sahely became a prisoner
of the Marathas and remained in their custody till 1741, Chanda
Sahch was a great [riend of the I'rench and his  discomfiture and
humiliation was a great loss to them.

Safdar Ali was assasinated soon afterwards and a son. who
was a mere strripling, was placed uponthe throne. He too was
murdered shortly afterwards and the Nizam appointed hisown
nominee Anwaruddin as the Nawab of the matic in 1744,
Such was the condit.on of the Carnatic when the Anglo-French
war broke out in the Deccan.

Administration of the Company, In their administration
the Company followed the example of the Dutch. Each ofthe
three presidencies had a council with one President and twelve
members. Questions of importance were discussed in the weckly
meetings and records were kept in minute books, which were
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sent to the court of Directors to ecnable them to keep watch over
the company's affairs, There were flve grades of service UJ)
apprentices (2) Writers (3) Pactor (4) Junior Merchant (5

Senior Mereluint. The salavies were small and the servants of
the company uscd to eke out their income by cngngini in private
trade, which yiclded good profits.  The salary of a writer in
1674 was £10/- w year. The company did business with the
help of the banins and entered into contracts with the artisans
ard weavers.  As LIinpe sums ol mowey aceumulated in the hands
of the company, it was lound nccessary to employ guards but
they were ot allowed to huild Tovts and 6 was :E.-_ fortification
ol these settlements that brought the teaders into eondlict with the
Indian powers.

Life in an English Factory in the 17th Century.

Very interesting accounts are given of the life lived in the
factory in the 17th century by Europoans themselves and others.
Della Valle, Herbert and Mandels are some of the travellers who
have given us a picture of factory life but fuller and better
accounts are those of Frayer and Brighton who came to Surat in
1673 and 1689 respectively.

The factory was housed in a large solid two storied buildi
with a number of rooms. Some of the rooms on the gro
floor were used as godowns and storve rooms, There was much
hurly burly in the factory andthe banias, brokers, merchants and

the ware-house-keepers all madea ‘mereBilling gate’ The brokers
plied a good trade and often took advantage of the ignorance
of the English factors of the Indian languages. The upper
storey was used [or rvcsidential purposcs., The President was
allotted a set of rooms, The faclory had a large open dining hall
and an oratory or chapel decently embellished so as to render
it both neat and solemn, without the figure of any living creature
in it, for avoiding all oceasion of offence to the Moors, who were
well pleased with the innocence of this worship.

The president’s office was one of considerable importance.
He was usnally sent [rom England and received a salary of
£500[- per annum. He lived in a style befitting his high posi-
tion. The Counsellors and factors drew [£300/- to [100/- per
annum. The surgeon and the chaplain received a salary of £ 50
and £ 100(- per annum respectively, They were all provided
with free board and lodging and allowed to engage in trade on
their account which brought them considerable profits, Fryer
ives interesting details about the trade which was carried on at
Surat. The English merchant depended largely upon his broker
who conducted his trade.
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The life inthe factory was very much like that lived ina
monastery or college or a house of some religious order. There
were all kinds of rules and regulations to guide the couduct
ol the com . Moral laxily was not permitted and Ovington
refers to a vesolution of the company which foibabe all profane
swearing and taking the name, of God in vainly cursed oaths
and all kinds of drunkenncss, intemperance, [(crnication and
uncleaniiness, A library was provided which contained’ all
manncy of improving books’. To saleguard the health of officers
af the company tea was recommended, Ovington writes that
‘the tea pot’ is seldom of the fire. The fasts and feast of
the church were strictly observed and the holidays were celebra-
ted by expedition into the country. A dizsplay of much pomp
and splendouwr accompanicd these excursions and the President
and his men tricd their best to impress the Indians by their
dignity and grandeur. Even the last rites were performed
with great dipnity and we are teld of magnificent structures and
statcly monuments in the Euvopean eemetry at Swrat. Some of
these imitated the statcliness of Mughal mausoleums. The
Indians witnessed the burying of the dead with great interest and
when Sir George Oxenden ‘ﬁ:d the streets. baleonies and tops
of houses were so full as they could stand one by another. Such
was life lived in the Suratfactory and it was by these humble men
who drank and swore and did busines in their quict fashion, were
laid the loundations of the British Indian Empire!

“Surat is now a shadow of its former glory.A busy native
population still throngs the bazars and the narow streets
with their carved w n balconics. But the Tapti has silted
up and only small vesscls can ascend the river, the maritime
trade has passed to Bombay, and swelty road is deserted, save
for occasional country cralt. The Goopi Talao where the
President used  to take the air in solemn state has long since
been drained. The mouldering castle walls frown silently upon
the placid stream which was once the scene of so many gallant
contests, and the pretention tombs, in the deserted graveyard
arc almaost the only relics of the departed greatness of the place "

The general tenour of the life of the Company's servants
continued to be the same in the 18th century also. Drinking
and gambling were common. Private trade was allowed. Slave
labour was employed and the divector’s admonitions were often
disregarded.

The Directors tried to exercise a vigilant control over their
agents in India. That they were not altogether unconcerned

1. Beginnings of Western India in 134-35,
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about the acquisition of tervitovial soveveignty is clear [rom
their despatches.  There is evidence to show that they never lost
sight ol their desire to found a well grounded sure English domi-
niogn in India for all time to come. They asked their oflicers to
be impartial and just in their dealings with the people of India.
They asked them tokeep in mind the lollowing principles in
administering justice.

“Never do an act of arbitray power to hurt anybody, Lot
your determinations be always just, not rigorous hut
mmelining to the meveiful side.  Always try  the cause
never the party. Do not let passion overcolud your
reason.”

Needless to say, these fine maxims were more honoured in
the breach than in the observance.



CHAPTER 111

Anglo French Wars
( 1740-1763 )

The French Settlemants. The British supremacy was not estab-
lished without a hard contest with the Freach, Itis necessary
therefore to trace Dbriefly the history of the French eommercial
enterprise and the ruin of their political ambitions. The frst
Trench company was formed in 1611 to colonise Madagasear, the
object heing the extension of the dominion of France but it did
not uchivve wuch suceess,  Other efforts failed for wanl of finan-
cial support. In 1642 just before his death, Cardinal Richelicu,
the masterful minister who worked for French greatness at
hnme and abread, founded the society de L Orient with exclu-
sive privileges to teade with the East, But even  this did not do
much. A scrious attempt was made in 1664 by Colbert, Chiel

Minister under Louis XIV.

In 1668 a French faclorywas established at Surat and in 1669
another at Musulipatam, A few years later in 1674 the French
agent Francis Martin acquired the village of Pondichery cighty-
five miles South of Madras which afterwards grew into a large city
with 70,000 inhalitants and became the capital of all the French
posstasions in India, In Bengal Chandranagar was first occupied
about 1673 and a factory was built there in 1690-29 on the Hugli
on a piece of land granted by the Nawab., The war between
Holland and France inEurope reacted adverscly on the fortunes of
the East India Company. French occupied St. Thome but
next year the Duteh drove them out of Trincomali and in 1674
capturcd 5t. Thome. Pondichery was captured after a short siege
in 1693 and was not restored until after the Treaty of Ryswick,
The French prestige declined and the factories at  Surat, Bantam
and Masulipatam were deserted,

The company remained in this condition [or nearly twelve
or thirteen years. A fresh impetus was given to its activities
when John Law, the famous Scottish financier, started his sche-
mes in France. The company was absorbed into the larger under-
taking and when Law's system came down with a crash, the
Company survived and was reconstituted as the “Perpetual’
Company of the Indies” and was allowed to enjoy the mono-
poly of the tobacco trade. The position of the pany im-
proved; its dividend increased a number of places came into

5
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its possession, Tn 1725 Mahe on the Malabar coast was acquired
and in 1789 Karikal on the Coromandel Coast, When Dupleix
who was a man of great ability, ujmrg&dand ambition succecded
Dumas in [74]1 as Governor of Pondichery with complete civil
and military authority the history ot the French EKast India
Company cntered on a new cpoch,

Pasition of the tewe Companies. IL was incvitable (hat the two
companics should come into conflict with cach other, But before
describing the actual steuggle between them it will be well o exa-
mine their relative positions, The character of the people and (he
constitution of the Governments ol motler eoimtries wore veflected
in the ergnization and working of the two comprnies, "They work-
eil on different principles and their agents were inspired by dille-
vent motives. The contrast between their positions has been
described with admiralle clavity and precision by Siv Alfred
Lyall (1)

#In France the East India Companywere elosely connected
with the Government; they formed monopolies, recei-
ved treasure grants and subsidics, dealt largely in loans
and lotteries, and being usually decp in the State's debt,
were consequently at the mercy of the Grown. From
the year 1723 their Dirvectors had been appointed by
the King, whose officers exercised such constant control
over the management that as the Company declared
afterwards, the interference of the Government was the
cause of all their misfortuncs, From 1744 they were
constantly borrowing large sums on the sceurity of their
privileges or revenue farms; it was from such revenucs
as these that their dividends were paid, and their stock
artificially maintained, The English Company, on the
other hand, so far from being in debt to their
Government, had the public treasury with large
loans and contributions which amounted in 1750 to
f{_‘ 4,200,000, They were an independent and  powee-
ul corporation, trusting not to the official favour but
the parliamentary influence in transacting business
with the Crown; and as they were lefi to manage their
own affairs, the greater responsbility thrown upon their
chicfs produced in the long run a body of sound
and experienced administrators, guided by long tradition
well-versed in foreign trade, and backed by the over-
flowing capital of a great mercantile community.™

It is clear then that the French Company depended largely
upon officia] help and its Directors and Inspectors wete

1. The Risc of British Dominion in India, ppe 76-77.
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nominated by the Crown, For some time the system worked well
but afeerwards the benumbing influence of Government crushed
all initiative and enterprise and the real interests of the com-
pany ceased to thrive. Pondichery had made much progress
under  Francis Martin  later under Lenior and Dumas. But
Chandranagar was in a neglected state until Dupleix arrival lie did
wuch to further the Company’s interest and a study of records
reveals the faet that during the peaceful mindstry of Cardinal
Fleury the Company's prosperity increased considerably and the
Indian trade viclded substantial profits,. The English Company
was, lhiowever, in a more advantageous position ans though some
writers have said that at the beginning of the war the means and
resourvces of the two were equal, it cannot be said that in
several respects the Englishh Company was superior to the French,

The Scene of Conflict, The scene of conflict between the two
Companies was to be the Carnatic which wes a part o' Asaf Jal's
kingdom in the Deccan,  The Nizam was an imperial officer who
had alter NadirShal's invasion of Hindustan cons olidated his pos-
sessions in theDeccan including the Carnatic® which t:t}l\tiuungcfn
exist as a subordinate rulership. The disorders consequent upon a
disputed succession after Sadat Ullah's death were put down hy
the Nizam but they ledto theweakening of thelocal authority in the
country round the English and French settlements. It was here
that the two natious enteved upon a struggle for power which
uIItiur]nltt.]‘J}' resulted in the expulsion of one of the combatants from
the held.

In the middle of the 18th Century there were three tracts of
the Karnatik, 1. the east coast tevritory between the mouths of
the Krishna gnd the Kaveri in which Aveol was situated 2. the
east coast territory south of the Kaveri in which Trichinopaly
was situated 3. and thar }:&rt af the Karnatik which rested on

tha Decean plateau above the Eastern Ghats,

The First Anglo-French War 1744-48. The war of Austrian
succession in Europe led to open conflict between the two nations.
Early in 1740 La Bourdonnais, who was the Governor of the Isles
of France and Bourbon, formed the attacking the English ship
in India. But the French Government. desired neutrality in
seas and did not sanction the ewpedition. When the war was
declared, La Bourdonnais was asked to take the offensive but he
could not be ready till 1746, Dupleix and La Bourdonnais
planned a joint attack upon Madras and the latte reached Pondi-
chery in the beginning of July 1746 after defeating the English
Commander Peyton who could offer no resistance to Dupleix
and La Bourdonnais but they were soon overcome and the
latter way persuaded in  September to set sail for Madras and
capture the town. Aftera short sicge the English surrendered
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and amon;i' the prisoners captured was Robert Clive, a young
clerk in the Company's service destined to rise afterwards to
a disposition of prominence in Indian politics. Having seized
Madras, La Bourdonnais s ted that the English should be
allowedto ransom their settelement but Dupleix strongly oppos-
cd the proposal, Despite Dupleix’s opposition La Bourdonnais
at last s'}gnutl 4 convention agreeing to release the settelment for
a sum of £ 400,000, This led Lo a bitter guarrel Dhetween the
two and we come across the [ollowing entry in Anand Ranga
Fillai’s diary
The wiys of Eoropeuns who used always to act noundson
have appurently now  become like those of pative
Muhaminadans'”,

La Bowdannais refused to recognize Dupleix’s authority
and openly {louted his orders. Dupleix retalinted by deécluring
him a rebel and by asking the army officers not to obey his
orders. Luckily owing to lad wnatgw La Bourdannais was
driven back to the Isles and his ships were destroyed, Dupleix
seized Madras and organized a large foree Lo vepel the attacks
of the Nawah and the English Company. When the Nawab
laid seige to the town, his lorces were driven back and the
prestige of the French army way established in the Carnatie, This
was not all,  With Madvas seeuwre in his hands, Dupleix declaved
the agreement entered into by La Bourdannais with the English
Company as null and void and carried the English governor and
soldicrs as prisoners to Pondichery whore they adorned a stately

vocession  lield in lonour of the victerious governor., Then

upliex sont a foree Lo attack Fort St. David but it was repulsed
by Stringer Lawrence, one of the most capable and patriotie
officers in the mmpa.rg’s service.  In the meantime, an English
squadron appeared and laid scige to Pondichery. But the place
was so bravely defended that the English had to withdraw with
heavy loss. The place of Aix La Chapplein 1748 brought the
war of the Austrian Succession to a close. The news reached
India in 1749 and peace was made. Madras was restored to the
English in exchange for Louis bourg in North Amevica which was
vestored to the French. The result of the war was the increase
of French prestige and the encouragement to Dupleix's Lold
and audacious designs. He began to take interest in the politics
of the Indian courts and slowly to develop theidea of founding a
French empire on Indian soil.

La Bourdonmais on his return to France was accused of
thwarting the designs of Dupleix and of doing a grave injury to
French interest in India. He was thrown into the Bastille though

1. Vol. II, p. 359.
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he was released after three years.  His quarrel with Dupleix was
much magnified and when public opinion ranged itsell on the
side of the Governor-General, his position became much stronger
and he began to plan excursions into the dangerous region of
Indian politics.

Second Anglo-Fremeh War—Dupleix clearly saw the advantage
of Lis improved position. Ie was litle interested in trade and
cared less for s profits.  He had an inborn eapacity for diplo-
macy and intrigne and was not unwilling to take part in the
disputes ol the Indian princes. He loved pomp and power and
[elt convineed that by confining themselves merely to trade, the
Fremeh will not be able to outstrip their rivals in the race for
sopremacy. The last war had changed tlie character and com-
plexion of the rivalry between the two nations. Each  had
developed an eagerncess, not shown hefore, for war and intrigue.
Each maintained anarmy and sought scope for its employment
in the strageles between the chiefs and princes who were tryi
to profit by the confusion that had heen camsed by the rapi
decline of the Mughal empire. Around them were Nawabs
and Rnjas who were assecting their claim to territories over
which they had no control and unscrupulous adventurers, Hindu
and Muslim, who wished (o carve out principalities for them-
selves.  The temptation to offor succour (o such men was great
indeed, and the TEnglish were the frst to yield to it oy
cipoused the cause of a prinee who had been expelled [rom the
theeme af Tanjore by his brather.  'Though the expedition did
not vesult in much gain lo the English, it was treated as a prece-
dent by Dupleix for interfering in the affaivs of Indian potentates.
The disputed succession to one of the most important principali-
tics in South India furnished an oceasion for such interference.

Agal Jah Nizam-ul-Mulk diod in June 1748 at the ripe old
age of 104, Fle had a number of sons. Inthe absence of his
eldest son Ghazivddin whe lived at Delhi, the throne was claimed
by his second son Nasir Jung who happened to be present at
Aurangabad at the time of his father's Ig:.mtl . But his claim
was contested by Muzaffar Jung, a grandson of the Nizam by a
daughter, who gave out that his grandfather had nominated him
to the throne by a will. The death of the aged Nizam who had
maintained some semblance of order in South India plunged the
whole country into confusion and out of the intrigues, jealousies
and rivalries that accompanied the disputed succession arose the
struﬁglu which is known in history as the war of the Carnatic.
Dupleix welcomed this epportunity of increasing his power. He
promptly offered help to Muzaffar Jung in the hope of ereating
a strong French party at the Nizam's court. At the same time
he extended his help to Chanda Saheb, a scion of the superseded
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family of Nawabs in the Carnatic who was a competitor for
the throne with Anwaruddin, He had been captured by the
Marathas but he was released in 1748 and Dupleix claimed that
his releasc was due to his good offices. Chanda Saheh made
comnmion cause with Muzaffar Jung and helped him in vaising
men and money. Both made a combined attack on Anwaruddin,
the Nawab of the Carnatic, who was anold man of 107, with
the help of French troops, and  defeated and killed him in the
battle of Amber. His brother and clder son were taken priso-
ners and Jis second son Mulwmanad Al ed (o Urichinopoly of
which place he had been appoinied govirnor Ly his I'S'I.I?IF(‘I‘
His cause was espoused by the English,

After the battle of Amber, Carnatic passed into the hands ol
Chanda Saheb and he vewarded the French by granting them
the villages of Villiyanalleur, Valudavur and the scaport of
Masulipatam and the village of Babur was ceded by Muzaflar
Jung who now claimed the Subahdarship of the Deccan, Dupleix
urged upon his, allies the necessity of making a concentrated
attack upon Trichinopoly but they wasted time against Tanjove
-where the Raja held them back and reduced them to inaction
lor thvee months. The English encouraged the Raja in his at-
tempts to beat them off. The French had informed llﬁm that he
could receive help  from Nasir rh,mgj, the rightful claimant (o
the Mizamship. They sent a force to help Muhammad Ali
and warncd ?rnair,}u&g of the danger which was likely to arisc
[rom the success of Muzaffar Jung and Chanda Saheb. Nasir
Jung marched into the Carnatic at the head of a huge army
assisted by a British contingent of 600 men under Major Law-
rence. Chanda Saheb and his allics atonee raised the siege of
Tanjore and fell back upon Pondichory, MNasir Jang continued
his advance and he was joined by a British force. Disheartened
by the conduct of the French, Muzafar Jung surrendered to
Nasiri]'ang and was made a prisoner by him. Dupleix faced
the crisis with great ability and resourcefulness, His officers
captured Jinji and Musultgntam and when Nasir Jang marched
from Arcot where he had been staying after his victory, his
progress was impeded by the rains and he was defeated owing
to the treachery of his Pathan feudatories whom Dupleix had
seduced by intrigue. In a skirmish that ensued Nasir Jang was
killed and Muzaffar Jang was proclaimed Subchdar of the
Deccan at Pondichery in December 1750, Dupleix’s prestige
rose very high, he received from the new Nizam the towns of
Diri and Masulipatam and large sums of moncy. He rewarded
the trovps lavishly and gave the company a sum of £50,000.
Dupleix himsell received £2,00,000 and a Jagir consisting of the
village Valdavur, yielding an income of 10000 a year. The
new Nizam acknowledged Dupleix as the suzerain of South India
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though the new title conferred upon him did not give him any
direct administrative control over the territories of which he
was declarved the overlord. Even in the Carnatic Chanda Saheb
enjoyed the Nawabship until his death,

Muzaffar Jang now started from Pondichery his Capital in
January 1751, escorted by the celebrated French Goneral Bussy at
the head of a French force, but scarcely had the march begun
when the dissatisficd Pathan chiefs of Cuddapah, Kurnool and
Savanur ercated trouble and in the confusion that followed
Muzaffar Jang and some of his chicf supporters were killed, But
Bussy acted with coolness and courage. He set aside Muzaffar
Jang's infant sons on the ground that it was Impossible fora
minor to be at the head of the povernment of the Deccan at such
# time and placed upon the throne Salabat Jang, the thivd son of
the late Asaf Jah. He was escorted to Haiderabad and Bussy
remained there for seven years maintaining by his skill and tact
the ascendency of the Trench in their privileges and conferred
upoun Bussy the rank of a Mughal nobleman.

While all this was going on, the English had on the whole
shown firmness in supporting the cause of Muhammad. Ali. They
saw clearly that their position in South India depended upon the
salcty of Muhammad Ali and, therefore, they decided to stand by
him through thick and thin. To engage in war at this time was
difficult for England and France were at peace and the English
and French troops in India could not fight only as helpers of the
Indian provinees. The show of peace could not be maintained
for long and the Carnatic was soon plunged into a Jong and
tedious war which produced scrious consequences, Tlf;%.ngna
of Tanjore and Mysore were drawninto it and the Marathas
were 1ot slow to take advantage of the situation that had arisen.

Chanda Saheh marched against Trichinopoly and in colla-
horation with his allies laid siege to it. The town wasaboul
to fall when a diversion was suggested by Robert Clive, a young
subaltern of 26 in the English Company's service. A hold attempt
was made in 175] to capture Arcot, the capital of the Carnatic,
in the hope that Chanda Sahch, on hearing of the news about
his capital, would send a part of his army to its relief. The

lan was approved by the Governor and Clive advanced at the

cad of & considerable foree and captured: Arcot without a blow.
Chanda Saheb despatched nearly half of his army under his son
Reza Saheh for the defence of Arcot.  For flty.threc days Clive
Imruimll;{lwithstmd the seige in which the Indian and Ewopean
troops displayed conspicuous valour. The scige of Arcot isa
mamorable episnde in Indian history. It greatly added to th
fams of Clive as a general and relieved a dangerous situation.
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Major Lawrence who had just returned from England
marched to Trichinopoly along with Clive and laid seige to the
fort. After the defeat of the French at Arveot the initiative had
passed tothe English and they were encouraged to deal effectively
with their opponents.  Dupleix advised the French General Law,
nephew of the famous speculator, to check the propress of the
English troops but he was forced to surrender with all his men
{(June 1752). Chanda Salich who had relied far too much upon
the gencrosity of his enemies also surrendered to the general of
the Raja of Tanjore who had lim treacherously lcheaded. His
death ig a blot upon e fair name of the English for thiey did not
exert themselves to save lim, These veverses of the Frengh ol
their allics lowered their prestige and left Mulannoad Al une
disputed master of the Carnatic with the English as the only
controlling authority: Dupleix whe  was always coual to his
task in moments of difficulty and depression, tried to im-

rove the situation but all his plans were [oiled by Lawrence.
R‘hm was much stubborn fighting and the English gained one
victery alter another. By the end of 1752 the Irench lost all
their possessions except Jinji and Pondichery. So heavy were the
losses that Bussy urged the Governor-General to make peace and
himself succeeded later in re-establishing his influence ar the
Court of Haiderabad with difficulty and secwredin 1753 the
Northern Sirkars, the districts South of Orissa, comprising a
large tract of land extending over ncarly 600 miles along the
coast, This was not a complete transfor Lut merely an assign-
ment for the maintenance of troops which werae to fight for the
Nizam. The French attempted to seize Trichinopoly ugain by a
surprise attack but in vain. Trichinopoly was saved (November
1753) and a great danger to its safety was averted.

Both sides had grown tived of the war and negotiations for
peace began, The French and the English Commissioners met
at Sadras (January 1754), a Dutch settlement between Madras
and Pondichery to discuss the terms but no agreement could be
reached. The English demanded that Muliammad Ali should
be recognized as the Nawab of the Carnatic, while the Irench
insisted that Salabat Jang should be acknowledged as the Nizam
and overlord of the Deccan, Dupleix  produced jfirmans from
Salabat Jang and the Emperor himsell bestowing upon him the
Nawabship of the Carnatic. The English checked the validity
of the documents and produced firmans in favour of Muhammad
i‘_‘k]i. No scttlement could be reached and the conferencé ended in
ailure, 5

These arrangements, however, did not disturh the move-
ment of the forces against Trichinopaly, The Frenelt could not be
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casily driven off nor could the English take Trichinopely by storm.
During these operations two distinguished soldiers came to the
[ront—onewas Haider Aliwho fought atthe head of the Mysorean
Auxiliary force and the other was Yusul Khan, a brave and
dauntless Hindur convert who led the Indian sepoys in the service
of the English and who afterwards gave Muliammad Ali grea
Lelp in consolidating his authority.

While the affairs were in such o state, news eame (Auguost
I?frr}]I that orders hind  been dssued Toe Dupleix’s recall and
Godeliwn Drad been appointed governer in his place.  Dupleix
returned 1o Franee and died a broken wd disappointed man
after a protracted teial which impoverished him in 1764

Soon alter his arvival Godehen storted negotiations with
the Inglish and the treaty of Pondichory was signed in January
1755. It was a provisional treaty the validity o which depended
on the sunction of the companics at home,  Both partics venoun-
ced all their titles and dignitics and apreed not to interfere in
the quarrels of Indian Princes. The Lnglish  were to have
Madras, Tort St. David and Devicotta and the TFrench, Ponei-
chery and a piece of turvitory equal to that of the English,
It was further providedthat the English should be allowed
to possess Masulipatam or Dixi in the Nosthern Sirkars of pavis
of which they were already in occupation,

The trealy waz unfavowable to the French; it ruined thejr
Iopes in the Carnatie and Dupleix's protest that Godeheu *had
signed the dishonowr of the nation® was not wholly unjnstified.
The IFrench historian Cultru, who has corrected many errors
regarding Frencly history, olserves that Godeheu was wrong in
bringing the war toan end, There isno veason to think that
Godeheu was actuated by motives of jealousy or hatred towards
Dupleix. Mndern research has shown that the treaty was a
wise step, ‘The French troops sent [rom home were worthless
and those in India were undisciplined and were demanding
arrcars of pay. The Pondichery Councll had informed the
Dircetors at home that peace was a prudent measure becausc
with treasury empty and their troops *almoest without allics and
in sore straits for gold' more unable to carry on the strug-
gle. The military strength of the English was superior to that
of the French who possessed only 1,150 troops of a miscellancous
character. Leading men like Admirals Watson and FPeacock
thought that the peace was highly disadvantageous to them and
srobbed them of an assured success’, Godeheu knew his position
well and although he pitelied his demands too high in the begin-
ning, he relaxed them afterwards whon he leamnt of the possible
cambination of Watson's fleet with the Marathas.
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It is unjust to blame Godcheu for what happencd to the
French settlements in India. The treaty signed hy him meant
no humiliation for the Freneh. They were promised territories
which yiclded a far larger income than those assigned to the
English. Again, the peace was subject to the sanction of the
autheritics at home and it could not be enforced owing to the
outhreak of the Seven Years' War which upset all arrangements
in India, Tt wasthe outbreak ofthe war and not Godeheu's
treaty which destroyed the French hopes ol building up an Indian
Empire. A modern writer rightly observes:

“The plain truth is that the schemes of Dupleix, hold,
ingenious, and frreaching as they were el hroken
down. It was Godeheu's task to save what he could
from the wreck. He succeeded to a grester extent
than might have been expected, and afforded his
countrymen moppurtuuity to recupcratc—an oppor-
tunity of which they were unable to avail themselves
to the full hecause a Euwropean war occurred Delore
they had consolidated their strength,'

Dupleix’s policy examined.

All writers speak highly of Dupleix’s abilitics, courage and
patriotism, In the earlier stages, he thought more of personal
gain but Jater he was actuated by honourable motives. His
loyalty to his country has never been questioned. His mistake
lay in the methods by which he sought to promote the glory
and honour of his country. His love of pomp and power aroused
the jealousy of the English and his assumption of the Nawabship
of the Carnatic was a blunder which created great difficultics
for him, It has been said that Dupleix was the first to conceive
ofan Indian Empire but this is not quite true. According to
Dodwell, a modern writer, he had no conception of empire
during his governorship of Chandranagar and had no political
policy hefore 1752, But it is clear from his actions that he
desired carlicr to build up French influence and power at Indian
courts by what a modern writer calls ‘a calculated interference
in native politics’. His initial successes weve admirvable but the
policy of war injurcd the trade interests of the Company and his
entanglement led to great cmbarrassment.  Dupleix’s hope that
territories would yield a revenue which would compensate them
for the loss of profits of trade was not realised. His great diffi-
culty was finance. In five years he had spent 30 lakhs of the
Company's money and a considerable proportion of these funds
were ahsorbed b')I"T him, Little financial help could be obtained
[rom France. 1¢ French ministers were not in a position to
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subsidisc & commercial company that had embarked on a
policy of war and political adventure. In 1754 the company’s
finances were at a low cbh; their affairs were under investigation
and it ‘was widely held that conquest and commerce could not

hand in hand. This was contrary to Dupleix’s ideas for he
believed that a fxed vevenue from territories would be a great
advantage. Dupleix incurred enormous expenditure in lurther-
ing his awn scheme and wrote to his masters that he had spent
Iiis own private lortune in the company's service but the latter
answered Dby saying that he had acquired revenues without
their permission and had squandered them on wars which they
had not sanctioned, Whatever the difficultivs created by Dup-
leix’s policy, it cannot be denied that he spent large sums on
behall of the Company and the latter ought to have gratefully
acknowledged his  help by pramting him a decent pension.
One thing must be said in defence of the company’s policy.
Dupleix’s over-confidence and his uneompromising spiril created
opposition to his policy and his desire to conceal his plans from
his masters made them distrustful of his designs. In his dis-
patches he never mentions Clive's siege of Arcot and of Law's
surrender at Trichinopoly, The Company as well as the Govern-
ment of France did not extend to him tleir full eo-operation,
They couldnot sacrifice their trade interests elsewhere to Dupleix’s
ambition and did not want to risk them by provoking English
opposition. They had vealised that it was a mistake Lo allow a
cormmereial cmnpauﬁ to acquive territory and puot forward many
arguments against Dupleix’s policy. The supremacy which he
had cstablished was based on weak [oundations and could not
last long, Sir Alfved Lyall rightly says:

“The whole fabric of territorial predominance  which
Dupleix had been so industriously building up was
lonsely and hastily cemented; it depended upon the
superiority of a few mereenary troops, the perilous
[vicndship of Eastern princes, and the personal quali-
tics of those in command on the spot. It was thus
exposed to all the winds of fortune and had no sure
[oundation."?

Dupleix's methods of administration were unsound. He did
not always distinguish between private and public interests and
the latter were often sacrificed to the former, His acceptance
of presents led to corruption and lowered the morale of his officers.
Besides, his wars proved unprofitable; they never paid their way
and much of the money wasspent on them had to he drawn
ltom the Company's [unds. The Carnatic was a poor province

I. Rise of British Dominion in India, p, 105,
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lacking in vesources and could not stand the strain of a long
internecine war, Above all, Dupleix failed to vealise that the
supremacy ol his country could not be cstablished without break-
ing the power of the English atsea. The Freneh navy in 1754
was weak and incapable of vesisting the English, and the true
cause of the failure of the French in India, is to be found in the
naval disasters of the Seven Years' War,

Dupleix has had a large number of detractors and achuivers,
Ciolonel Mallcson deseribies him as a geeat administrator with a
wonderful power of ovganization and Dlames the French Govern-
ment for not giving lum the help which he so riehly doserviad.
Thorntore says he was vain e ambitiows and Vincent Smith
who is move hostile writey that e was devoid of moral scruples
in many matters and accuses him oflack of military talent and
personal valour.  Another with all the weight of his authorit
is of opinion that his bent was in the divection of intrigne an
that he was an adventurer and anopportunist, All these are
exaggerated cstimates.  Dupleix was a man of splendid gilts, G-
reaching vision and an uncfamtcd spirit that never quailed be-
fore danger but he was hasty and lacked a calm judgment. His
failure was duc not sn much to peorsonal delects ns to causes that
were largely beyond his control.  Mr. Roberts is vight in sayinge

“But in spitc of his final failure, Dupleix is a siriking
and brilliant fgure in Indian History, DBut even if
we give up the old uneritical estimate, we need not
deny his veal claims to greatness. His politieal con-
ceptions were daving and imaginative, Fﬁ'. raised the
prestige of France in the East for some years to an
amazing height; e won a reputation among Indian
princes and leaders that has never been surpassed, and
he aroused a dread in his English contemporaries
which is atonce 2 tribute to his personal power and a
testimony to their sagoeity,” ?

L, History of British India, pp. 118-19,

Colonel Malleson's view of Dupleix's characier will be

found interesting:

+*These four French names (Duplcix, La Bourdonnais, Bussy,
and Lally) shine out as bright lights among 4 crowd of
flickering satellites. It is they, or rather for he stands
out far ahove the others—it is Dupleix, the lustre of
whose great name reflects the struggles of his country-
men for empire in the cast. He did it all. He was
imsupported except by Bussy, Heit was who ransed
the fiame of the French nation to resound in the palaces
of Delhi, who carved onta policy which his vivals
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Bussy in the Decean,

Alter the murder of Nasiv Jang in 1750 Muzallar Jang was
proclaimed Nizam and was escorted to Haiderabad by a French
contingent headed by Bussy. Muzaffar Jung was killed in an
encounter with the PathanNawabs and his successor Salabut jang
owed his clevation to the Mamad lavgely to Freneh help. The
Nizam confirmed the grants and privileges enjoyed by the French
and Mrome 1751 onwards Bussy and ulﬁur Trench soldiers werc
lavishly rewarded by him. In 1752 the Nawabship of the Car-
natic was grauted to  Dupleix who asswmed it with great pom
and munificence. The various concessions made to the I rcm.‘]I:
were apparently of great importance but in fact they were
imgignificant. The cost of the maintenance of the contingent at
Haidevabad was almost the same as the income [rom the Nor-
thern Sirkars, ‘These concessions (o the French aroused jealousy
at the Nizam's court and a hostile party was formed, But French
influgnce was strengthened by a number of causes.

The Marathas like the English did not like the French in-
fluence at the Nizam’s court. Under their Peshwa Balaji Baji
Rao they invaded the Deccan and marched to  Aurangabad to
support the claims of Ghaziuddin, the cldest sonof the Nizam-
ul-Mulk, who had so far remained in Delhi and kept himsclf
alool from the war ol succession. Balaji invited the English at
Bombay and Madras to help him  but no effective assistance was
received from either place.

The Marathas advanced into the Nizam's country atthe
head ol a strong force.  So great was the danger that Bussy in-
tended to retive to Masulipatam with SnInImtrﬁzng but the death
of Ghaziuddin by poison at Aurangabad (October 1752) rid the
French ofone ol their enemies. Bussy now turned towards the
Marathas. Although he could not defeat them, he was able to
cheek their progress and made peace with them. Thus was the
crisis averted and Salabat Jang was maintained in his throne
with I'rench help.  The district of Kondavid near Masulipatam
was given to Bussy by the Nizam to show his gratitude for the
services rendered and French influence remained supreme at his
court.

seized and followed. He did nolsucesed, becauss he
was not properly supported at home, because he was
alone among his. countrymenin India.”
History of the French in India, p. 583.
Again it is the same writer who says: ‘It was Dupleix who
made rencly Indin, it was France who lost it',
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But & new danger threatened the French. A new party
arose at the Nizam's Court headed by Lashkar Khan, the Minis-
ter who was hostile to French interests. The cost of the French
mmin:gmt was # great drain on the finances and the French were
accused of squandering the Nizam’s wealth, Bussy had returned
to Masulipatain owing to illness and during his absence Lashkar
Khan succeeded in fomenting ill-feeling against the Vrench and
corresponded with the l’.n%lish to find ways and mewns ol avers
throwing the influence of Bussy at his cowrt.

Dupleix wlho saw the danger clearvly advised Bussy (o return
1o Haiderabad immediately (1753) and  resune his dutics.  The
Nizam was ton feeble to resist Bussy and the latter re-established
his influence and secured fram the Nizam the districts of Guntur,
Rajumundry, Ellore and Chicacole permanently lor the mainten-
ance ol French troops. He almost compelled the Nizam to keep
a body guard of French soidicrs and not to interfere in the affairs

of the Carnatic (1753).

Thus was French authority established in the Sivlkars but the
course ol the Carnatic war and the treaty  of Pondichery weak-
ened Bussy’s position and ereated an unfaveurable impression
about the I'rench.  In 1735 he got another opportunity of main-
taining French influence in the Deccan.  Salabat Jang demanded
arvears of tribute from Mysore asthe representative of the Mughal
Emperor and marched into the eountry which was at that time
invaced by the Marathas., The Mysoreans were the allies of the
French and Bussy lound himsell inan awkward predicament.
But by histact and skill he brought about peace hetween the
Nizam and the Marathas and secured satisfaction ol the Nizam’s
claims against Mysore (1755). The anti-French party, mean-
while, [ully worked against the French general ynder the leader-
ship of Shah Nawaz Khan the new minister, who poisoned the
ears of Salabat Jang against Bussy and by bringing chavges of
treason against himbrought about his dismmssal in 1756, He retur-
ned to Haiderabad and made military preparations ro defend
himsell against attack and entrenched himself in a fortificd place,
The Nizam appealed (o the English for help but they could do
nothing for just at this time Calcutta had fallen and the new
situation in Bengal demanded their lullest and most urgent atten-
tion. Once aggin Bussy was able to give a short thrift to his
cnemies and re-established his influence at the Nizam’s court in
August 1756,

When the Seven Years’ War broke out, Bussy was busy in
the Northern Sirkars in consolidating his position. He seized
the English factories on the coast and reduced to submission the
refractory and lawless Zamindavs, chiel of whom was the Raja
of Bobbili,. whose fortress was taken by assault, Bussy’s power
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received & fresh accession ol strength and it is said that he was
asked by Sivajudowlali to march into Bengal to help him against
the English,

The cnemies of Bussy again intvigned against him and this
time a conspiracy was formed by the minister to expel the
French and place upon the throne Nizam Ali, one of the Nizam's
i'mmget' brothers, Bussy proceeded to deal with the ecisis in
708 and tried to vestore Salabat Jang®s authorvity but In the
confusion that followed, the minister, ﬁc arch leader of the con-
spivacy was killed, and Nizam Ali who was a craven-licarted
fellow took to flight.

Thus did Bussy again triumph over lis cnemies and establish
order at Haiderabad.  Soon after he was ve-called by Count de
Lally to Pondichery and asked to assume the command of the
French troops. Clive who watched these developments with
anxiety sent Colonel Forde who defeated the French at Condore
in December 1758 and captured Masulipatam a few months
later, The French influence at the Nizam’s court was destroyed
and Salabat Jang, overwhelmed by the success of the English
ceded to them Masulipatam with a strip of land cighty miles
long and twenty miles wide to the British and declared his inten-
tion not to seek French help in future.

The closing days of Bussy's life were full of sadness and
sorrow, He was taken prisoncr by 8ir Eyre Coote in 1760 and
was sent 1o England. He was released there and allowed to go
to France wherc he was confronted with serious charges, Alter
a trial of two years he was condemned to death although the
charges were not proved against him.

Bussy was a man of remarkable abilities, tact and courage,
He was a diplomat to his fingertips and by his skill and patience
maintained French influence at the Court of the Nizam. He was
a brave soldier. Had he been allowed to take part in the Carn-
atic wars he might have been of great use to Dupleix. But the
power which he had built up in the Deccan rested on weak foun-
dations and disappeared soon after his departure. Bussy's con-
tribution to the administration of Indian tervitories by loveigners
consists in the method of Indian rulers. His example was after-
wards followed by Clive in Bengal. Dodwell writes :

*Clive’s relations with Jafar Ali were just the same as Bussy's
with Salabat Jang ..............Less smooth and debon-
naire, his (Clive's) lorceful character and more secure
position enabled him to obtain an cven greater ascen-
dency than Bussy had been able to accomplish............
but apart from these differences in character and
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pusition, Clive had o encounter the same problems as
Bussy and cnummul?r adopted the solution which the
latter hnd devised.'"t

The Third Anglo-French Conflict (1758-63)

Dupleix bud left in 1754 and after his duparture  important
events had taken place in Indin. The Nawabi was overtlirown
in Bengal and the Faglish had established  their supremaey by the
hattle ol Plassey in 1757,  Inthe Carnatie the English and the
French had enjoyed peace for [our years (1754-58). But when the
Seven Years' War hroke out in Furope, the French Government
rosolved Lo attuck e Boglish settlovents in Indise el Tor is
purpose they sent out i loree under Comte de Lally, an obstinate
and lieadstrong soldicr, who landed in Tndia in April 1758. The
ohject which the French Government had in view was two-lold -
‘(Jljjl the restoration ol their finances, (2) and the establishment of
heir commercial monopoly by the total expulsion of the English
from India. They warned him against following the methods of
Dupleix and Bussy, who, it was now Delieved, had done a great
injury to national interests, Lally was clearly instructed not to
strive for tervitorial aggrandisenient but to attack the English
settlements on the eoast sl deprive them ol their commereial

property.

Lally was a_brave soldier who was passionately devoted to
the interests of France. But he was quite unfit for the task that
was entrusted to him, He was a mun of violent and irascible
temper, ‘a stilf-necked marvtinet’, who burst out inte lury at the
slightest opposition.  Himsell incorruptible and conscientious, lic
djg not lmow how to behave towards his  subordinates, and treat-
ed them with great harshness, His hot temper and habitual
threats created many enemics for him both nside and outside
his camp.  Fle utterly failed to win the confidence of his French
subordinates and Indian allics and his hasty and rash attempts
to relorm the company’s administration made him unpopular
with the corrupt men of his time. According to Dodwell an
impossible task was confided to a man possessed of energy and
talent, but lacking all sense of statesmanship.

If the French expeditionary force had arvived in India early
in 1756, it might have securcd a great advantage over the Eng-
lish, for by June they had been driven out of the Caleutta and
their affairs in Bengal were in a highly critical condition. After
the Dengal revolution, any attempt by the French to estab-
lish their power would have bren disastrous to the English, But

1. Dodwell-Dupleix and GClive, p. 102.
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Lally arrived too late. By April 1758 when he reached India,
the Nawabi had been overthrown, the English had become the
masters of Bengal and Clive was free to send men and money
to South [ndia against the French.

Soon alter landing on the sea~coast Lally marched against
Fort St. David which he captured without much opposition.
Then he turned towards Madras but dissensions in his own camp
prevented him [rom taking immediate action. Besides being
short of money and supplics, he was much hampered by the un-
willingness of the Frenelh Adiniral D'Ache to co-operate with
him. He made an attempt to obtain money from the Raja of
Tanjore but the latter offercd rvesistance and the expedition prov-
ed fruitless, Bussy was also called from Haiderabad despite
his encreatics to be allowed to remain there and thus an irve-
parable blow was glven to Freneh  influcnce at the Nizam’s
court.  Little did Lally realise that Bussy's recall was a blunder
of the first magnitude for it meant the substitution of English [or
I'rench influence in the Deccan.  Bussy obeyed the order fearing
the consequence of insubordination,

Lally's desive was to scize the Lnglish settlements one by
one and L.*. prepared to attack Madras, The siege began in
December 1758 but before this was done  Clive had sent from
Calcutta Colonel Forde to drive the French out of the Neorthern
Sirkars, He won a great victory over them at Condore and
aeverely damaged Lheir influence at the Nizam's court,

A fow days before the battle began the siege of Madras,
But the place was well fortified and the lack of sﬁpdplics from
Pondichery where Lally was heartily hated greatly added to his
difficulties. But Lally persevercd in the sicge till February
1759 when an English feet appeared on the coast. The sicge
was raised and Lally beat a hasty vetreat to the astonishment
of the Indian powers. The defence of Madras was ably condue-
ted by Lawrence, the British Commander, and Pigot, the Gover-
nor, who had stocked it with ample provisions. live’s diversion
was also of geeat use for Colonel Forde had dealt a deadly blow
to the encmy's preitige in the Sirkars, The English now captur-
ed Masulipatam after a feeble resistance and this was followed
a treaty between them and the Nizam containing provisions
highly favourable to the English.

Lally’s situation was desperate. Admiral D'Ache  had
returned to the Coromandel coast after fighting an unsuccessful

action with the British flect, The council at Pondchery did not
support Lally and he fretted and fumed over what he regarded

as rank sedition and disloyalty, His troops became demoralised
6
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and in desperation thought of opening terms with the enemiy.
There was no hope of getting any help Ivom Franee; the troops
clamoured for pay and the shilty expedients to which the haughty
General resorted in impotent rage and despair proved wholly
unavatling,

It was at this time that Colonel Coote (alterwards Sir Eyre
Coote) inllicted a crushing deleat upon the French at Wiandewash
and captured the fort by assault in 1760, Bussy wus taken
prisoner and the French losses were heavy indeed.  Lally, beal-
en and baflled, had to [all back upon Pondichery.

Secing that the chances ol success wore extremely remote,
Lally turned to Haider Ali o' Mysore [or help. He had already
stavied nepotiations with Basalat Jung, oue of the Nizun's
brothers and the Maratha leader, uwrat! Rao Dbut to no puy
pose. The ambitious Haider whe wanted Madura and Tinnevelly
entered into alliance with the French and lent them the aid ol his
troops. But on realising that the contest was an unequal onr,
his forces withdrew leaving his allies to theiv fate. The English
had laid siege to Pondichery which was entirely without sup-
Elic-s and a strong garrison, Still it held out till January 1761

ut when Coote opened fire on the delenders, surrender became
inevitable,

The fall of Pondichery was followed by the reduction ol
Jinji and Mahe on the Malabar coast, The [ortifications were
dismantled and the lown was nol restored to the French until the
Peace of Paris (1763). Lally was sent a prisuncr to France where
he was confronted with charges of treason by his ungreatful
countrymen who ordered him to be beheaded in 1766,

As Mr. Roberts rightly says the fall of Pondichery sounded the
deathknell of French inIndia, The French lost all their possessions.
The ascendancy of the English was completely established both
in Bengal and in South India. Muhammad Al was recognized
as Nawalb of the Carnatic; the Nizam was freed from French
influence and rhe Northern Sirkars were secured for the English.
These acquisitions weve afterwards ratified by an imperial
decree.

The last attempt of the French to ve-cstablish their  ascens
dency was made when war broke out between the two nations in
1778, The French Admiral Suffrein set our with a fleet and
engaged the Inglish in a fow contests on the Coromandel Coast
but without any lasting suceess, The last struggle for supremac
of the French was cnded by the Treaty of Versailles in [783.
Henceforward we shall see the French making similar attempts
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during the revolutionayy and Napoleanic wars and these will be
deseribed in a later chapter,

Causes of French Failure,

In analysing the causes of French failure in Indin we must
lay sullicicut stress not merely on the fll-luck or incapacity of
individuals but on the wider combination of cireumstances that
decided against France her great contest with England, The
English Company was commercially a superior body and its
finances wove well-organized, A good business is the essential
condition of the success of 8 company but we find startling dis.
closures made by Abbe Moreliet's serutiny into the French s
pany's accounts. The value of the sale ol Indian goods in France
from 1736 to 1756 was about 11,450,000 while that of the
English Company amounted to 41,200,000, According to the
same authority between 1725 and 1769 the Company had lost
capital amounting lo 169 millions of Francs and the advance
made to the Company by Government during this period mount-
ed to the figure ol 376 millions. The wars of the Company . cost
a great deal and brought about the exhaustion of its resources,
well and never lost Si%lht of the fact thatit was primarily a
commercial concern and therefore could not afford to lose its
profits, Thus we find that even during the war the value of
their exports inereased while the trade of the French Company
rapidly declined. Dupleix did not take much interest in trade
and preferred a carcer of military conquest to commerce. This
was g mistake [or France was entangled in many disputes in
Europe and it was not possible ta maintain an eastern Empive, if
acquired,

The organization of the English Company was superiot to
the Frency, The lormer was managed by a private body of
Directors, with resources so considerable chat it lent Jarge sums
to Government and exercised not a little influence on public
affairs, The French Company on the one hand dep for
support on the State and its misfortunes were not a little due to
the incompetent ministers of Louis XV. The lack of proper
managemaent, the constant interference in its affuivs by rapacious
officers who cared much for personal gain, and the sacrifice of
colonial and mercantile interests to the love of military glory and
reknown in Europe made the Company weak and helpless a.gainst
the English. It was merely a department of the State and the
proprietors took no interest in its affairs beyond taking interest
on their capital which was guaranteed to them by the State, There
was no encouragement to individual initiative or enterprise in
matters of foreign trade and the result was that when official
help ceased or became tardy, the interests of the company
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woelully suffered. The Company’s operations were much
hampered by lack of funds and it was impossible for the State
to grant permanent subsidies to enable it to carry on its work,
The English Company was fully supported Dby the whole nation
which took a keen interest in its affairs and (he English minis-
ters, agents of a [ree Parliament, controlled by the national
will were far more capable, prudent and [ar-sighted than the irres-
ponsible officials of rance who wure mostly chosen {rom the
ranks of courtiers,

In Great Britain, Hollaud and  other eonntrics ft was private
enterprise that developed loveign tade awd  promoted large
undertakings but in ll-'rmm-:: nothing was done by the people,
There was no trading class in France as in Ingland and the
Dutch countrvies, The agents of the I'vench Company borrowed
money on personal credit and ultimately it was its insolvency
which ruined it.

Again, the leaders of the Dnglish Company in  India
were far abler, more pativiotic and united than those of the
French Company. Dupleix and Bussy, although able and
encrgelic, were far infurior to men like Lawrence and Clive and
were incapable of taking a long view of things, The English
acted as, a unit and never allowed private differences o injure
national intcrests whereas the French officials quarrelled among
themselves and their mutual bickerings .and jealousies not only
hampered their military operations but also dislocated the
administration and destroyed the chances of success against the
English. Dupleix and Lally were not well served by their
subordinates but Glive received [ull support from the civil autho-
ritics. Saunders and Pigot gave the fullest co-operation to Clive,
Lawrence and Coote have contributed a great deal to the success
which they achieved. The qualities of leadership, resource-
fulness, intrepidity and organization were more conspicuous
among the English officers than among the French.

“The military strength of the English was superior to that of
the French., Their troops were better trained, equipped and dis-
ciplined and were strong on the mainland and most of the battles
fought on land were victories for the English. As Sir Alfred
Lyall rightly observes, the two cssential conditions of success
whether commercial or military in India were (1) the cstablish-
ment of strong points dappui on the coast and (2) the maintenance
of a naval force that could keep communications with Europe.
The French lacked both. They had been beaten on the sea
and their naval power had suffered heavy blows. The English,
on the conirary, K;d cstablished their naval superiority on the
seas and this favourably rveacted on their Indian plans, The
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important part played by sca power in the struggles between the
two natioms has been ably discussed by Mahan in his valuable
work on sea power but we must remember that it is only one
ol the factors that decided the ultimate issue.

The acquisition of Bengal was of great importance to the
English, It placed at their disposal the resources of a large,
wull populated and wealthy province. It gave them the sinews
of war and a firin hase of operations on the Indian mainland,
With Bengal in their possession they could casily march into
the interior of the country and bring under their contral move
extensive territorics. The services rendered by Clive greatly
advanced the Company's interests and established their prestige
in the country,

Besides these causes the moral eonditions thar existed in
France had not a little to do with the failure of the French
Company. ‘The new movement of thought which had begun in
France did not lavour colonial enterprise and condemned the
subordination of civil to ccclesiastical interests.  In Bnpland the
spirit af tolerance and the progressive outlook of the people
created a temper which well accorded with the ambition to estab-
lish political power abroad. The liberal principles of the 18th
century which influenced English society helped the growth of
commerce and made them indifferent to religious questions.

From 1763 onwards the decline of the French was very rapid:
They were defeated on all the seas und their position in India
grew weuker and weaker, A distingnished writer observes

“By 1763 the French dominion in India was completely sup-
ressed, and by 1770 their company became bankrupt.
This left the English East India Company master of
the ficld, and laid the foundation of the British empire in
India, The epoch is oneof pre-eminentimportance inthe
history of the rize of our J;miuinn ; for thence forward
the contest for ascendancy is between the English and
the native powers only—a contest of whichthe issue was
in reality so far from being doubtluyl, invisible, or amaz-
ing, that it could Le and was alveady forcseen and
deliberately foretold.™ :

|. Lyall, Rise of British Dominion in India, p. 122.



CHAPTER IV

Revolution in Bengal

Murshid Quoli Khan as Governor of Bengal

So [far we have liad to deal with the stroggle of the Enrapean
powers [or supremacy in the South, into which the Indian States
were dragged against their will, A passing relurence wis made
in the last chapter to the affairs of Bengal which exercised a pro-
found influence on the fortunes of the English Clompany. Each
of the three European nations, the English, the French and the
Dutch had established their scttlements in Bengal and originally
their chject was the develapment of their trade. Their chiel
centres were upon the banks of the Hugli. The English had estab-
lished themselves at Calcutta, the French at Chandernapgar, and
the Duteh at Chinsurall, Duving the swarg that had  broken out
in the South between the rival nations, the English and the
French settlements in Bengal had lived on terns of peace and kept
themselves aloof from internecine strife.  The Mughal Subahdar
of Bengal was a strict man, he kept them under enntiol with the
result that they confined themselves (o trade and «did nor meddle
with politics and war., The situation snon changed and gradually
the English acquired political power. How this was done will
be described at some length,

Bengal was originally a province of the Mughal Ewmpirve and
was governed by a Subahdar who represented the Imperial auth-
ority. In 1701 a Brahman convert to Islam named Murshid Quli
Khan was n}:goimud Dewan of the Empire in Bengal, Owing to
a quarre]l with the Viceroy, he transferred himsell 1o Muksalad
to which in 1704 he gave the name of Murshidabad. He was a
powerful man and his growing influence enabled him to exact
from the English a sum ol Rs. 25,000 in lieu of the permission
which he granted them to estahlish a factory at Qasimbazar. In
1713 he became Governor of the Province and repeated his exac-
tions. The English had to cscape from the vexatious demands
by obtaining a firman from Delhi which legalised their position
and gave them a status which the Dutch and the French did not
possess. Murshid Quli Khan was a strong ruler. He kept
order within his realm as long as he lived by suppressing the
refraclory elements. It was during his time rKal the house of
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Jagat Seth, which played an important part in the overthrow of
the Nawab, rosc into prominence. The family owed its origin to
a Jain merchant named Manik Chand who died in 1732, who
was succeeded during his lifetime in business by his nephew
Fateh Chand who was appointed Imperial Banker and given
the title of Jagat Seth.  After his death, his inheritance devolved
upon his grandsons Mehtal) Rai and Mahargja Swarup Chand
who influenced not a little the course of Bengal politier during
the Nawahi regime,

Alivardi Khan

Murshid Quli Khan died in 1725 and was succeeded by his
soit-in-law-Shuja Khan, a Persian nohleman, who had entered
his service.  Among the latters favourites were two brothers Haji
Ahamad and Alivardi Khan, who were employed by him to d]u
certain menial offices.  In 1729 Alivardi Khan was put in charge
nf the fromtier province of Bihar., Gradually he became so power-
ful that alter Shuju Khan's deathin 1739 he overpowered his son
Sprfaraz IKhan and himsell beeame the Nawab of Bengal. Bul
he was not allowed to live in peace. The Marathas invaded
Bengal and Alivardi Khan purchased peace by ceding to them
Orissn and by promising to pay twelve lakhs of rupees annually to
liguidate all their claims, He was confirmed in his VECCI':EB.“}'
by the Mughal Emperor through the good offices of the Wazir
who was to receive 52 lakhs a year, Alivardi Khan was very
fonel of his grandson (by a daughter) Mirza Muhammacd better
known in history as Sirajudowlah who was getting impatient
to succeed to the Masnad, According to the author of the Sair-
ul-matakkarin e was a profligate and capricious young man but
Alivardi Khan condoned all his faults and in 1752 publicly
declared him as heiv.  In ovder to secure his heir’s position, the
old Nawal attached to him a strong court party consisting of
Mir Jafar, his brother-in-law who was Bakhshi (Pay Master) of
the forees, Rai Durlabh Dewan, who held a command in the
army and the Seths who wielded enormous influence by reason
of their wealth. Having done this, Alivardi Khan died i 1756
at the ripe old age of 82 and his character has been well des-
eribed by Orme:

¢His public character is sufficiently delincated by his ac-
tinns, his private lile was very different from the usual
manners of a Muhammedan prince, lov he was always
extremely temperate, had no pleasures, kept no sera-
glio and always lived the husband ol one wife.”

The relations between the Nawab and the English were not
quite cordial in the time of Alivardi Khan, During the Maratha
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invasion he had allowed them to fortify their settlements and
they had built the Great ditch for the salety of Calcutta. But
he was strongly opposed to attempt at independence antl
refused to allow them to take shelter Lehind the royal firman
when they did any thing which was likely to interfere with his
authority. He did not grant them  permission to build {oris and
said *you are merchants, what need have you of o lortress, Buing
under my protection, you have no enemics Lo [ear.’

He was well aware of what had happened in South India
and was determined not to allow the Toveignes toomeddle in the
affalvs ol Bengal, He did not want lo drive them ot ol Tndia
although he had a presentiment of the coming danger. He used to
comparc the Europeans to a hive of bees, of whase honey you
might reap the benefit, but that if you disturbed the hive they
would sting you to death. The British complained that they were
not alInwc(i’ to enjoy the privileges granted by Farrukhsiyer's
Jirman of 1717 to which the Nawab replied that they abused
their position and inflicted injury to the interests of the country
and the Government, Captain Rennie who wrote before the
disaster of Fort William weites that the English took under their
protections Indians who were neither their servants nor moer-
chants and gave them dastals or passes to trade  [free of customs
and this caused & serious loss to the Nawaly's revenue. Besides,
they levied large duties om goods brought inte their avea Tfrom
the very people who allowed them free trade and imposed a
number of taxes on them which caused much discontent, Thus
it is clear that there were causes of friction Dbetwoen the Nawal
a;::l the English even under Alivardi Khan and Hill rightly
observes:

“It is evident thatall the materials for a quarrel were
ready long before the accession of Sirajudowlah™.

Causes of quarrel with Sirajudowlah

Alivard] Khan's death at sucha eritical moment aggravated
the situation. Iis suceessor Sirajudowlal was a man of perverse
ideas and his character was vitiated as much by the indulgence
of his own appetites as by the overgenerous treatment of his
doting grandfather, From the very beginning he disliked the
English and ill-treated the Hindus and the Seths who constituted
an influential section of his subjects. The Hindus in turn did
not like the Nawal'’s ways and heartily desired the overthrow
of his Government, Thus the fall of the Nawabi in Bengal was
due not merely to the audacity and intrigues of the [oreign
traders but to the treachery of the Nawab’s own officers and the
sudden discontent of the Hindus who conspired with the English
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tn bring about his ruin. The causes of antipathy between the
Nawaly and the English may be briefly summarised. At the
time of the Nawab’s acccssion, the English had made no presents,
and although the French and the Dutch alse had done nothin
of the kind, he was incenscd hittcrly'u%sﬁmt the English a
resented their mrngance. Fearing  trouble, when the French
fortificd thelr factories, the Nawab asked them not to do so. The
Freneh obeyed but the English veturned the insolent answer
that they apprehended a vepetition of what lad happened in
the Carnatic.  Sirajudowlah was furious and h: wrote:

¢ swear by the Great God and the prophets that unlcss
the English consent to fll up their ditches, raze their
fortifications, and trade upon the same termsas they
did in the time of Nawab Jafor Khan, I will not
hear anything on their hehalf and will expel them
totally out of my countey.™

Besicles, the English claimed that they were not te pay any
duty according to the privileges granted to them hy the firman
of 1717—a view which the Nawab refused to accept. Again
it was said that the English gave shelter to the Nawah's subjects
and refused to surrender them when their extradition was deman-
ded. There was good reason why Sirajudowlah should seck to
attack the English. Their scitlement was rich and prosperous
and their pelations with the Hindu banking honses as well as
the mevehants were ol a {riendly nature, ?r he sueccceded in
driving the English out of Bengal, it will be easier for him to
make short work of the other Europeans and vid the couniry
of the danger which might at any moment develop into a serious

menace to jtssafety and independence.

In view of the facts stated above it is not possible 1o aceept
Hill's view:

“He had a show of reason in all the pretexts he alleged
for his attack but his folly was when he resorted to
violent means for reducing to submission the Byitish
who had been useful,”

War with the Nawab

The Nawab began his attack by scizing the factory of Qasim
Bazar and then advanced upon Caloutta at the head of an army
ol 50,000 men. The English were taken eompletely by surprize
and appcaled to the French and the Dutch for help, but in vain.
The Muslim army was strong, it had BEuropean gunners and a
French commander who began their onset in great fury, The
fort was besicged and within the gates were heard the wails and
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lamentations of women. A council of war was held and
it was decided tosend acvoss the water men, women and children
in hoats for salety. Many other men jumped into these boatls
and rowed to the ships which were to curry the fugitives.
Among those who left thie factory in this disereditable manner
were Mr. Drake, the Governor, Mr, Mighen, the Commander
ol the garrisun, Captain Grave and a [ew other men,  The party
landed at Falta lower down the viver. The gavrison that re-
wained belind elected Holwell as Governor, and offered resistance
to the besiegers.  They held ont for sometime but in the end
surventleree. Their  elfeets formed paet of the ooty that was
sprivel Dy the Nowals's soldiovs,

What [ollowed is known. It is said 146 prisoners were
thrown into & small dungeon  ealleed alterwards (he Black Hole.
It was u small voom 18 18 (v, in which 146 men, women and
children were huddled together in the month of June. Hol-
well was among them. The heat of June was terrible and
next morning when the doors were opened only twenty-three
pursons were found  alive.  This s the account of Holwell who
was one al' the survivors,

The Black Hole incident

The tragedy of the Black Hole has been  attributed to the
Nawah inmost of the history books written by Anglo-Indian
writers who have pointed the horrars of that day in most lurid
light, Seme madern weilers whose rescarches  deserve to e
respected assert thal the story of the Black Hole is a myth and
that the Nawab had no knowledge of the eruelty that was shown
to the prisoncrs by his officers. A full neeount ol this episntle
will be given in an appendix to this chapter,

Recapture of Calcutta

When the news of the capture of Calcutta reached Madvas,
. the English were Jurious with indignation. It was decided to
send an expedition to Bengal atonce under the command of
Clive who had just returned from England and was to be assisted
by a squadron under Watson and Pocock,

Orme, the historian, writes that he urged upon the council
the view that the recapturc of Caleutta was a necessity and that
a weak expedition will not only fail to rc-cstablish British
R{mﬁgc. it will also weaken Madras. An advance guard under

ajor Kilpatrick was sent and it reached Fulta at the end of
July, Clive and Watson sailed on the [6th QOctober with a
force of 900 Europran and 1,500 Indinn soldiers and veached
Calcutta after a long voyage in December.  On the 2nd January
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Calentta was reconquered and an attack on Hugli a few days
later was equally successful, Sirajudowlah brought his arm
to fight agamst the English lut he was defeated.  On the (8
January Clive opened negotiations and sent a letter to the Nawah
in which he wrote:

“We: are come to demnned  satisfaction [oe the injuries
done us by the Nawalh not to entrent his favour
and with o forer whicl we think sulficient to windicate
our claim®™,

On the 9th Pebruary an offensive and defensive alliance
was concluded hetween the Nawab and the English. The Nawals
vestored (he Boglish to their former position  and granted them
the privilege ol coining monvy and fortifying their scttlement
and agreed to have an Inglish agent at Murshidabad., Their
teeaty has been regardod as neither hovouwrable nor sincere be-
cause it didd not provide enmpensation  [or the sufferers of Black
Hole orany guarantee for the Mulfilment of the Nawab’s pro-
mises,

Capture of Chandernagar

Thougl a treaty was made with the Nawah, Clive found him-
self in a difficult position.  Indeed, the chief reason why he con-
cludiel this treary wax the lcar of the French, Delay might have
beew [atal for Sirajudowlal had unmistakable French leani
angd way likely o ally with them in ovder to erush the Ei;hﬁ’
Busiclos, he was not a little hampered by Watsonwho was a King's
ollicer and had contempt for the Company's servants.  He under-
stood nothing of civil matters and on occasions threatened to use
force against Cllive.  Besides, the wide powers given him by the
Madras authorities mads  him [uvther olmoxious to  the Council
of Fort William and to men like Holwell, He was called back
to Macleas but he refused o go, saying that it would be most
unwise to leave Caleutta at such a critical moment. The [car of
a I'rench attack was well grounded. Bussy was in  the Northern
Sirkars, within 100 miles from Calcutta and he was an ambitious
and adroit soldier, To avertthis danger, Clive and Watson
turned their attention to  Chandernagar and with diffieully
obtained an ‘ambiguons’ letter rom the Nawab purporting to
grant them permission to advance upon the Frenchi settlement.
An assanlt was ordered  hoth by land and water and Chander-
nagar was captured (March 1957), The Nawab's attitude was
atenee changed by the victory and Clive began to receive [rom
him as many as ten letters a day. The Nawab was influenced
liy one other consideration.  Ahmad Shah Durrani, the Afghan
chief, had sacked Delhi in January 1757 and it was rumoured
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that e was intending to invade Bengal and lor this reason, as
some modern writers say, the Nawab [elt inclined to purchase
English help by throwing the French over?

The capture of Chandeynagar was a great advantage to the
English, Tt seviously impaived the prestige of the French and
deprived 1he French dglands of Bouwrbon and Mapeitines of their
supplies of grain {rom Bengal. It led ultimutely to the weaken-
ing of the French fleats which might have otheewise enahled
Ladly to maintain his position i South Tndia,

Conspiring to dethrone Siraj-ud-Dowlah

The Nawab soon  vealised it Lo had made o mistake in
sacrilicing the French.  Clive also felt that war with the NawaD
was anly n question of Ume and leaved & possible juncture be-
tween Ium and the French.  The Nawab opened  correspondence
with Bussy asking him to come to his aid and this added to Clive's
anxicty. His returnto Madras without making Caleutta safc
was impossible and the position ol the English would have beeu
jeopardised. If he had declared war upon the Nawab, he might
have succeeded in defeating his rickety troops but he preferred
another eourse.  Fe vesorted Lo imtrigne in oeder  to achicve his
end, He became reckless of his methods and ‘o lavd dishonesty
entered ineo his chavacter’.®  He wrole to Opme Wiat he intenced
to employ ‘tricks, chicanery, intrigue and the Lord  knows what
in order to gain his abjeet’.  We are tald:

“Rithics disappear from his conduct; we see him  immersed
i1t a scheme ol thing: which may well strike us, as it
evidently struck him, as fantastically unreal, a worlid
of fancy whence all moral distinctions had  vanished "™

Luckily [or Clive, at this time a conspiracy was on [oot at
the Nawab's cout to dethrone him and 1o place Mir Jafar,
brother-in-law of Alivardi Khay, on the Masnag. The disloyal
officers of the Nawab approached Clive and laid barve their
intentions to him. Clive readily listened to their overtures for he
knew that without the destruction of the Nawabhi there would be
no salety for the English. Thus he had no qualms of conscicnce
in joining in a plot designed to overthrow the Nawab with whom
he had rvecently signed a treaty of friendship. The Hindu Banker
Jagat Seth, whom Sirajudowlah had treated shabbily and threa-

1. Thompson & Garrett, Fulfilment of British Rule in
India, p. 88.

2. Thompson and Garrett, p. 89
3. Ihid. p. 89
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tened with - circumeision  started negotiations with Clive through
a certain Sikh merchant called Amin Chand (Omi- '.‘.Jhand{ who
was utterly unscrupulous and selfish, There was much ill-feel-
ing against the Nawab. He had superseded his Dewan Rai
Durlabh by a low favourite and thveatened Mir Jafar with ruin,
His cruel and capricious behaviour had alienated the court and
the camp alike, The conspirators knew the difficulties of the
Nawaly they knew Jie wis not going to receive any help from the
Yrencly, and, therefory, they desived to uproot his power with the
help of Clive.  As Mr. Roberts says one false step led almost
inevitably to others. Amin C who acted as an agent in
their nefarious intrigue wanted a commission of 5 per cent. for
Limsell on the money to be found in the Nawab's treasury and
nsum of 20 lakhs and  threatened to divulge the whole plat in
casc his demand was not conceded. It was perhaps necessary to
puy the hush moncy becausc the plot was not ripe and so Clive
resorted o the expedicney of a double treaty with Mir Jafar, His
argument was that in a situation of the kind in which they were
placed moval consicerations must be sct aside. Two agreements
were drawn up—one on white paper which was genuine and one
on red paper which was fAetitious. In the fetitious document
was embodied the clause about paying commission to Amin
Chane. Both were to be signed by Clive, Watson and the Select
Committee,  Wason relused to sign and his signatures were
forged by Glive, The ham agreement was shown to Amin Chand
and he was satisfied. Clive himsell says: “It was sent to
Admiral Watson, who objected to the signing of it; but to the best
ol his remembrance gave the gentleman who carried it leave to
sign his name upon it. That his Lordship never made any
sccret ol ity he thinks it warrantable insuch a case, and would
doit again a hundred times. He had no interested motive in
doing it, and did it with a design of disappointing the expecta-
tions of a rapacious man,’

Clive's conduct was undoubtedly dishonourable and even
the situation which the greed and selfishness of the parties had
created alforded no justification for it.

A truahir was made withMir Jafar. In the cvent of getting the
Nawabship he promised to confirm all the privileges enjoyed by
the English, to surrender all French fugitives and factories to
make good all English losses, to geant them permission to fortify
their factorics at Dacca and Qasimbazar and to recognize their
supreme authority at Caleutta, He alio promised to grant
to the English the districts known as the 24 Parganas, to
guarantee the Company a million sterling lor the loss of Caleutta

1. FEvidence of Clive before the Parlinmentary Committee.
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and to pay . lull a million to the Buropean inhabitants, By a
Parther stipulation large swms ol money were 10 be paid to the
officers of the army and the navy and the members of the Coun-
cil. Thus did the traitor Mir Jalar sign his own humiliation aud
disgrace and became a  willing mstrwment in the hauds of Clive
and his [viends for the Durthevanee ol their plans,

Battle of Plasscy June 23, 1747

Alter this treaty, Clive wrote a0 letter Lo the Niwal) sumtning
up the company’s wrongs aud charging him with the violaiion
of the traaty ol 9th Felwowey. A menddon wis also mnde: of his
inreignes with the Freneh, Without waiting  For i answer, Te
sparclied from Caleutts at the head ol 3,000 meni of whom 800
were Buropeans.?  He crossed the Bhagivathi and haltedin a
mango-grove at Plassey, (Palasi), 23 miles south of Murshidalad
where the Nawab was already encamped with an army of 50,000
men. What mude Clive anxious was Mir Jalar's attitude for he
was slill wavering, and it was suspected thut he would stand
asidc and await the issue ol the bhattle. It was impossible to
withdraw and on the 23rd of June was fought the historic Battle
ol Plassey in which the Nawab’s troops were completely defeut-
cd. What else could he the result? A large part of the Nawal's
army was commanded by Mir Jafar who had conspived (o bring
about his overthrow, This part remained inaclive under their
commander’s instructions. He did not help the English cither
and only moved when the issue of the battle was no longer In
doubt. The attack was  launched by the Nawab's army in the
morning to which the English suitably veplied and in the after-
noon the Nawab's camp was scattered. The only fighting worth
the name was done by o contingent ader  Mir Madan and (he
forty or filty brave Trenchmen who had come to the Nawul's
help. There was general vouwt; the Nawalb's army dispersed and he
himself fled from the ficld of battle. By 5s'clock the *betrayed
army' was turned into a routed rabble. The English losses
amaounted to 23 killed and 49 wounded. On the ather side the
number of men killed and wounded was about 500. English
historians have called the Battle of Plassey a rout but what else
could it be when the chiel paymaster of the forces was acting the

art of a traitor, unmoved either by loyalty to self or by the
Eigh{:r feeling of patriorism.

From the military point ol view the battle of Plassey was
insignificant. It added nothing to the military reputation of

1. Clive wrote : “The rains being daily increasing, and
it is taking a great deal of time to receive your answer,
I thevefore, find it necessary to wait on you imme-
diately™.
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Clive who had a small army and wanted to make a night attack.
The order was given by another commander and it appears that
the battle actually fought did not correspond with any design
formed by Clive.  Sir Alfred Lyall goes so far as to assert that
it van hardly be culled a Dattle,  Still Glive look his place i the
Irish Peerage as Bavon Clive of Plasscy.

The vesults ol the battle were deeisive, Next duy, Mir Jalur
witk saluted as Nawal and was enthroned at Murshidabad Dy his
allies, The treasury of the Nawal was rifled but it was found
to contain not more than one and a half million sterling, although
it was expected to yield much more. The Company obtained
the Zamindari of the 24 Pavganas yiclding rents estimated at
£1,50,000. Clive received 2,534,000 and the other servants of the
Company were bandsomely rewarded.  Altogether, the Company
and its men veeeived theee million sterling.  Almost  everyone
shared in the loot, It has been vightly s;r.icg

‘T engineer a revolution has been revealed as the most
aning game in the world, A gold-lust unequalled since the

ysteria that took hold of the Spaniarvds of Cortes and Dizarro’s
age [illed the English mind. Bongal in particular was not 1o
know peace again until it had been bled white.!

Amin Chand was told that he was to get nothing. Scratan told
Lim in the language of Hindustan, *“Omi Chand the red papor
is & trick; you are to have nothing. These words overpowercd
hitn like o blast ol sulphur; hie sunk back [ainting, and would have
fullen 1o the ground, had not one of his attendants caught arms.”

Such was the rvapacity of the company's officers. When
they found that the Nawab’s treasure was not sufficient to dis-
charge lis debts, they asked him to surrender his gnards and
pay the balance that was left by instalments.

These justifications of their transaction pwt forward in Cam-
Lridge History dees not carry conviction,

“The sordid transactions detract from the glory of Clive's
achicvements, DBut in this matter Clive and his companions
were but following the example of Dupleix and Bussy and were
only doing what their contempories generally did *

2. Thompson and Garrett, pp. 91-92,

1, Cambridge History of India, Vol, II, p, 151,

Sirajudowlah was not discovered il some days aler i
flight. He was taken to the ncighbourhood of Rajmahal and
brought to Murshidabad late at night. If he had cscaped inta
Bihar, Mir Jafar would have found it difficult to continue the
Nawabi,
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The only redeeming feature in Clive's character is that he
framkly confessed his crime and never disguised it.

Sirajudowlah met witha cruel fate, He was captured and
put to dewth by Miran, Mir Jafar’s son, witheut Lis father's
knowledge., His hody was thrown on the back ol an clephant
and paraded through the streets of Murshidalsd,

Reflections on the Battle of Plassey

The Hattle of Plassey which has heen desevibed as & voul
Ly Anglo-Incian writers was mainly won Dy teeachery wnl re-
{leets little eredit upon those who took pare in {t,  But its results
were important. It inereased the prestige of the English and
improved their pesition in India by planting their [vot [firmly
in a province which was the richest in Hindustan, The popu-
lar imagination was impressed by the victory of the English and
although there was no occupation of Dengal by them, it it un-
deniable that they acquired a great influence in the administra-
tion. They did not aim at lerritorial sovercignty as yet, but
they found it possible to maintain on the Masnad n[y Murshidabad
a]@iﬁmh‘whu was powcerless to uproot their factorics. They
secured real power and their resources multiplied to such an
extent that they could hope (o defeat all attempts of Lally
and his colleagues to drive them out of South India, The Pro-
vince of Bengal comprised in those days territories now included
in the Provinces of Bengal and Bihar and Orrissa and the do-
minant influence which the English acquired in the Govern-
ment opened great possibilitics of extending  their power north-
westwards, It was likely to be the means of pushing into the
interior of the country and extending the sphere of their autho-
rity beyond the Ganges to the borders of Oudh, As Sir Alfred
+ Lyall rightly says, to advance into Bengal was to penctrate India
by its sofl and unprotected side? Anyone who acquired it was
bound to command the entive Gangetic Delta which has been
the chief reservoir of strength to the successive dynasties that have
held sway over the Indian Continent,

The battle benefited Clive immensely. It brought him [ame
and riches. The receipt of the latter was. defended by him in
words that do little eredit to his intelligence or to his sense of
public probi When eross-cxamined by a Select Parliamentary
Commuittee Clive said:

“Am I not rather deserving of praise for the moderation
which marked my proccedings! Consider the situation
in which the victory at Plassey had placed me! A

1. Rise of British Dominion in India, p. 139,
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great province was dependant on my pleasure; an
opulent city lay at my merey; its richest bankers bid
against each other for my smiles; T walked through
vitults which were thrown open to me alone; piled on
cither hand withgold and jewels! Mr. Chairman, at this
moment I stand astonished at my own moderation!”

This exaggerated estimate ol Lis own Importance is no
defence of his questionable mothods, Whatever the view that
we might take ol his conduet, he was vegarded by his contempo-
raries as a great benefactor of his country, and posterity has
shown its F‘ﬂ.tcfulmrss to him by recognizing him as the military
founder of the British Emipire in India.

Mir Jafar's Government

Mir Jalur was a puppet in the hands of the English. TL:H
used him as they liked fov their own purposes. Sinee he h
been elevated to the Masnpd by the English and the Hindu
bankers he was despised Dy the nobles ofhis court. In a fit
of unguarded generosity he had made lavish promises of money
to the Company's scrvants who now pestered him with their
extortionate demands. There was little money in the treasury
and the Nawah was unable to meet his liabilities, He had to
sell his jewels and assign districts to satisfy his greedy helpers,
He had hoped that his presents to Clive and other officors of the
Company would lead them to velax their demands on its behall
but he was svon disillusioned when they insisted on a full pay-
ment of the sum that he promised. Differences soon arose
between the English and the Nawab. The latter wanted to get
rid of some of his leading officials like Rai Durlabh, the Dewan
and Raja Ram Narayan, the %my Governor of Bihar, both of
whom were well disposed towards the Erﬁlish. He displayed much
harshness in his dealings with the Hindu Zamindars who broke
out into rebellion Wlll'.GEWﬂS suppressed with dificulty, Good
government departed from Bengal. The English officers began to
care more for their personal interests than for the welfare of the
people. They also abused the trade privileges with the result that
everywhere there was anarchy and confusion.

Clive was fully aware of the Nawab's weakness and skillfully
utilised his opportunity to advance the English interests. He
acted as the mediator between the Nawab and his officials and
protected the latter against the former’s highhandedness. He
took up the cause of thote who were want u;:,!ﬁ oppressed and
by constant interference acquired a great influcnce over the
Nawab. Nothing could be done without his consent and under
the stress of this pressure Mir Jafar lost all power of imitiative

7
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and independence. The anomaly of Cllive's position was seen by
the Company when they appointed him in the middle of 1758
Governor of Fort William, He was now mueh stronger than
before, and his new stetus enabled him effeetively to exert his
influence on the Nawal who was suspected of carrying on sceret
correspondence with the French,

Prince Ali Gauhar's invasion

In February 1759 Prince Al Gauhar beteer knowi by Lis
title of Shali Alam  invaded Bengal with the liclp of Shuja-
udowiah, the Nawab Vizier of Oudl, "Uhe estensible  reason
given out by the prince for this move was that he lhad been
%iw:n those provinces by the Empever himsell, He attacked

atna with a large army and a number of disconiented Eevsunﬂ
among the Zamindars joined himm, Raja Ram Narayan bravely
defended himself and drove the prinee back, Later Brivish
re-inforcements came [rom Bengal; the prince had (o turn Dack
and the Zamindars were reduced to submission,

Clive gets a Jagir

Clive had received the title of Omarali rom the Mughal
Emperor, through the help of Mir Jafar. But unlike others
who enjoyed a similar title, he had no_Jagir, A Mughal noble
without agagir was an incongruity which, Clive thought, must
be removed. The hint was taken by Mir Jalar atonce and he
antcd him a Jagir partly out of fear and partly out ol grate-
ulness for his service in driving away the Mughal Prince.  The
Jagir consisted of the quit-rent of the 24 Parganas which the
Nawab had rescrved for himself. This was now to he paid to
Clive and amounted to £ 30,000 a year. By accepting the Jagir
Clive became atonce the servant and I;nnd?urd ol the Company,
& position which cven the Directors regarded as ‘legal but
highly improper’. The company disapproved of the step aud
expressed the view that he ought not to have accepted the Jagir
particularly when he knew that the Nawab was in a state ol
bankruptey.

There is no doulbst that it was Clive who reduced the Nawalys
authority to a shadow and dealt & sevious blow to the cause of
good governmentin Bengal. A modern writer comments on
Clive’s conduct thus;

“Qlive, therefore, by crippling the resourees of Mir Jalar
at the beginning of his administration, cannot be
exonerated from some share of the blame for the
notorious nisgovernment in Bengal that Tollowed.
Full allowances must be made on  the score of the
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low public morality curent at  the e  in all
matters of finance, ¥1 was the rule and not the cxcep-
tion lor statesmen in the eighteenth century to make
large personal profits out of their official positions.”?

Clive and the Dutch

Mir Jafar had become Nawab  with the help of the English
Bt B vestnted i constant inteelerence. He wanted to shake
oll their tuteloge and  entered into correspondence with the Dutel
at Chinsural and asked foe their help, Besides, theDuteh ton had
all this time Inoked with cnvious eyes upon the progress ol the
Inglish, and their trade intereses too had sutfered to a Targe extent
ar the hands of Clive. They wrole to Batavia [ov help and a fleet
ol several ships was sent.  Bince the two nations were at peace in
Europe, they could not fight in India but Clive ‘took the law
into his own hands’ and attacked and defeated the Dutch with
the help of Forde in November 1759, The Dutch acknowledged
themselves to be the aggressors and agreed to make good the
English losses. Trom this time the Dutch confined themselves
to trade and did not meddle in politics. Clive's ill-health com-
pelled him to leave for England in Februavy 1760.

Clive's achievements

Clive had [ought a great rvevolution in Bengal. He had
vivtually turned the English Ivam a body of merchants into the
possussors of politieal power, The Nawal was 4 mere lool jn their
hands; the French and the Dutch had their political ambitions
{frustrated and their strength considerably reduced.  The finan-
cial resources of the linglish Company had increased beyond all
expectation,  Their position in Bengal helped them to maintain
their power against their European rvivals in the Decean.

All this was the work of Glive. By his warlike skill, diﬁl: -
macy and state evalt he had succeeded both inBengal and the Dee-
can in revolutionising the Company’s position. On his capacily
[or finesse, his craltiness, his preed and his ready and unabashed
resort to questionable methods it is no longer necessary to dwell.
Enough has been said about them, There iz little doult that
lie lacked the higher qualities of statesmanship but no one can
deny his claim to be called the founder of British dominion in
India,

I. Roberts, History of British India, p. 147.



CHAPTER V

Corruption in Bengal and the Second

Governorship of Clive
(1765-67)

Misgovernment

After Clive's departure all the forces ol disorder hegan to
work in Bengal and thus followed an era of corruption and
misgovernment wholly discreditable to the English. The Com-
pany's affairs were managed by incapable and inexperienced
men who made confusion worse confounded. Its position was
anomalous to a degree; it was defaclo master of gal but it
shrank from acting as ruler de jure, Its officers enjoyed [avour
without responsibility and the evils of divided anthority soon led
to frightful misgovernment. Both the Company and the Nawab
were in need of money. The former had to satisfy their masters
at home by sending money; the latter was much troubled by the
demands of his troops, and needed funds to raise an army to
repel the threatened Maratha invasion. The Company's servants
of all classes tried to monopolise the interior trade of the three
provinces. DBy combining politics with trade they created much
confusion. Sir Alfered Lyall rightly observes.!

By investing themselves with political attvilutes without
discarding their commercial character, they produced
an almsot unprecedented conjunction which engendered
intolerable abuse and confusion in Bengal”,

Holwell who succeeded Clive was unable to check the mal-
practices of the Company’s officers. The chiel desire of the
Governor as well as ol his colleagues was to grasp all they could
and ‘to wse Mir Jafar as a golden sack into which they could dip
their hands at pleasure’. eir salaries being low, :hYc'y tried to
take out their income by tuking perquisites and alfar in one foirm
or another and the Divectors connived at their wrongs. Some of
the blame for the disorder that became rife in Bengal must rest

upon the people in London whose greed blinded them as to the
real condition of India.

1. Rise of the British Dominion, p. 143.
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Holwell was succeeded after a few months by Vansittart who
wasg a well-meaning man but whose sense of fairness was ‘ham-
sirung by weakness’. The Company had no money; the Direct-
tors who had an exaggerated notion of the wealth of Bengal asked
their agents to help the Presidency of Madras and Bombay.
The: Nawal was weak and helpless and his authority was paraly-
sed by the rapacity of the Company's servants.  His treasury was
empty; his revenue had declined; his linbilitics had increased to
a considerable extent.  He was [urther troubled by forcign com-
plications. Another invasion of Shah Alam was repulsed by
a British lorce stationed in Bilar but the commander complain-
cd that Mir Jafar and his son did not fully co-operate with
him. Miv Jafar was old and incompetent, unable to act with
firmness and vigour. His son having been killed by a stroke of
lightning, an intrigue was set on foot to make his son-in-law Mir
Kasim Nawal of Bengal and it was supported by Holwell and
others, The Bengal Council compelled the Nawab to abdicate
and placed on the Mamad Mir Qasim in his stead., Some mem-
bers protested against this action on the ground that Mir Jafar
was a friend of the English and they were bound to protect his
interests.  But Holwell and Vansittart had already planned a
second revolution and they succeeded in accomplishing it.

Treaty with Mir Qasim, September 27, 1760

A treaty was made with Mir Qasim by which firm [friendship
was to be established between himand the English, and European
soldicrs and Telangas! were to ageist the Nawab in the manage-
ment of his affairs. The Nawab assigned to the Company the
Zamindari rights of rovenue of Burdwan, and Midnapur, and
Chittagong and Sanads were granted for the purpose! The Com-
pany was to reccive the profits aceruing from these Jands and was
no longer to depend 'I.:EJIL the Nawab’s uncertain promises. It
was further provided that the tenants of the Sarkar (Government)
shall not settle in the lands of the English and vie sersa, Mir
Qasim also agreed to pay the debes of his predecessors,

The gains made by the Company’s servants were enormons.
The members of the Couneil received for themselves £ 2,00,000

I. Telangas were soldiers from Madras.

2. These new provinees must not be confused with the 24 Par-
ganas already ceded in 1757; the latter were directly admin-
istered by the Company, which paid a fixed sum annually
as compensation for land revenue; the new provinces were
not directly administered, but their Zamindars or revenue
collectors paid the revenue to the Company.
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and Vansittart the Governor, whose standavd of public mora-
lity was higher than that of others, received £ 50,000, a consider-
able addition to the allowance of £ 18,000 a year which lie was
guetting from the Company.

A mere change of Nawabs was no solution of (he problem
which nnnl‘mmﬂ]g Bengal. Nothing was done to remove the
canses ol condlict between the Company and  1he Nawab,  "Theic
interests were bonnd to clash and lead 1o trouble in fture.  This
did not matter much to the authers of (e ew vevolution whao
scem to have taken good care (o lix their shuees Delinchand,

Mir Qasim strengthens himself

Hastings looked upon him as ‘4 man of understanding’, ol
an uncommoén talent for business, and great application and
perseverance, joined to n thriftiness which how little so ever
it might cnnoble his own character was o quality most essen-
tially nccessary in a man who had to restore an impoverished
state, and clear off debts whiel had heen accumulaing T threes
years before. He was amxious to establish order in Hengal and
remove the abuses [rom the Government. One ol his carliest
acts was to remove Ram Narayan, the Governor ol Patpa, whom
Clive had retained in spite of the vepreated requests of Mir Jalar
to maintain the balance of power. Ram Narayan's chicf fault
was that he did not paythe revenue to the Nawab and was
guilty ol insubordination. Knowing the Nawab’s intentions,
he won over Sir Fyre Coote, the victor o Wandiwash and with
his help defied the Nawal's authority, The Nawah reporied
the matter o Vansittart and the Inlter disapproved of Con ey
interfprence in the Mawalb's affairs and mcnilng him [rom Belior,
Mir Qasim was now left [ree to deal with Ram Narayan, His
accounts were examined and when they were found unsitis-
factory, his property was eonfiscated and hio was taken in custody,
His offer to pay all the arrcars was rejected by the Nawnﬂ.
The punishment meied out to the victim of Mir Qasim™ vindic-
tive fury was much too severe and no words are too Strong to
condemn the weakness of the Governor who Detrayed a man
whom the English had repeatedly pledged to protect.

Mir Qasim then turned to internal order, He tried to put
down the Bhojpuri Zamindars who created disturbance in the
cotmtry and some of whom committed dacoity without fear of
punishment. Sewveyal forts belonging to these Zamindars were
taken and they were chased out of their districts. The property
of those whp fled away was confiscated and tahsildars were
appointed in the various parganas to look afier the administra-
tion. The Nawab adopted a ruthless policy in punishing all these
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who resisted hiz authority and sided the yebels, Hundreds of
spies were employed (o trace out the culprits many of whom
were sentenced to  death after ‘mock trials’, He organized
his troops also and cmployed foreign soldicrs of whom ten ave
warthy of mention. One was Grenory, an Armenian and Samru,
a Gertnan adventurer who was responsible for many shady tran-
sarctions,

‘I'hus by a policy of terrov, the Nawaly had fully cstablished
his authority., “The author of the Sair-ul-Mutakharin writes:

“There was no man. in his court, however considerable,
whi dares speak a wrong word, or who, lives near
or far, eould slecp in his bed easy and in peace of
mind,”

The [rontiers were not neglected.  He inspecied the famous
forts personally and appointcd his own officers o look after
them. Samru was posted at Buxar with a lavge foree with which
he made short work of six hundred Bhojpuria  robbers, an act
which afterwards encowraged him to perpetrate  the massacre ol
Paina,

Behar was now lully inthe grip of Mir Qasim, He had
put down the elements ol lawlessness and showed & wonderful
energy in sctiling the adminisiration. He transferred the
capital from Murshidabad to  Maonghyr, away [rom British
inlluenee, [t was elear that he was determined to aet like a
strong man, come what might. A collision with the English
was only a question of time.

The Nawal's quarrel with the English

There were many points of dispute between the Nawaly and
the English and they assumed a serious shape when Ellis was
placed in charge of the factory at Patna, Hastings promised
to support the Nawab against Ellis but this personal quarrel
wae not so important as the larger question of the regulation
ol the inland trade. The Nawab wanted to put the latter on a
satisfactory basis. Under the firmans of Farrukh Siyer, the
Clompany had been permitted to carry on its export trade free
of duty. Aflter 1758 its servants claimed the privilege on their
private trade which they carricd on in the province. They
wanted to trade freely in such articles as salt, betel and tobacco,
After the Battle {:F‘{’lms:h there was no clause about such
exemption in the treaty but a Sanad was granted by Mir Jafar
allowing the English to engage themselves in trade of any kind.
Surcly this did not mean exemption from transit duties on
inland trade, The vesult was that the Nawab found himself
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between two fires, On the one hand the Company demanded
heavy sums from him which he could not afford to pay, on the
other Company’s servants by claiming an unauthorised exemp-
tion ereated conlusion, defrauded him of his revenue and did
incaleulable injury to his subjects, The Indian agents (gumia-
shtasy of the English traders used the Company's dasfaks
(permits) [raudulently to escape from transit duties and did a
congiclerable harm to the Indian merchants and reolr.  Sonme-
times only English flags were used to show that the goods be-
Inngad 1o the Compuny's sevvants. The dasteks were openly
bought and sold by Indinn merehants which meant (e vight of
buying and selling the right of free (rade in the nune ol the
Company's servants. Hastings whio was a member of the Couneil,
was right in B.a'_i"il‘lg that the privileges elaimed by the Company
and allowed by the Government, were oviginally designed by
both for goods brought into the eountry or purchased in it for
exportation anc that the possession of power could not create
a right which had mever Leen conceded. Surcly as  some
modern writers say no Indian ruler would, or could have
granted [orcigners love to wreck his whole systemn by a8 mono-
poly of duty-free trade along every road and river of his kingdom,
That the evil was scrious is clear from what Hastings weote to
Vansittart:

“Were I to suppose myselfin the place of the Nawab 1
should not be at a loss in what manner to protect my
own subjects or scrvants from insults; but whilst the
principle prevails, that no point (however little hene-
ficial to oursclves) is 1o be givenup to the Nawal,
and that to authority of ouwr own, I should hardly
venture to propose to any other besides yonrself to
restrain the power of our Gomagias to the immediate
concerns of the Company, to which we ourselves are
limited by the firman, and our treaty with the
Nawab. "1

Mir Qasim complained of these matters to the Council at
Calcutta but the only persons who supported him were Vansittart
and Hastings and they were outvoted. The wmajority of the
Council defended their action on these grounds.

Firstly, that they had reccived these privileges from the
Emperor in 1717 and cited the firman as theirv authority; second-
ly, that the treaties with Sirajudowlah and Mir Jafar had rati-
fied these privileges, thirdly, that they had enjoyed the privileges
for four years,

1. Gleig's Life ol IHastings I, p. 107.
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These {limsy unds did not satisfy the Nawabh and the
conflusion continued to incvease.  His officers obstructed the trade
of the English, and the agents of the latter denied the Nawab's
authority and robbed his subjects. When WVansittart tried to
compare the differcnces in an amicable manner, lis motive was
impugned and he was charged with the betrayal of English
interests, The greed ol the members of the Cowmeil overbore
their bitter judgment and they decided in futuve o duty of 2
per cent, should be levied against the sitk trade and that the
Nawab should have no control over the English agents, This
was clearly a highhanded act and drove the Nawab into despair
and they turned a deal car to the Nawab's protest. Havi
failed to get justice at the hands of the Council in great wrat!
the Nawah abolished all dutics whatsoever. This was regarded
as highly detrimental to the Company’s interests and it was
agrecd that e as Subahdar of Bengal had no right to take such
a step without the permission from the Mughal Emperor. The
Council charged the Nawal with breach of treaty and threatened
him with war. Inthe meantime Ellis, who was a man of hasty
and violent temper, attacked the city of Patna and captured it
(June 1763). But the Nawab's forces soon dislodged the English,
recovered the town and made 200 European  prisoners.

What wero Mir Qasim’s real intentions 7 From the begin-
ning he had langed to free himself [rom the control of the English
and was not satisficd with the position in which the Government
ol Bengal had been placed by lus father-in-law. The question of
inland trade hastened the our of reckoning.  Arpuments and
protests had availed naught and he felt that & war alone could
indicate is power and position, He began to trganize his
resources for the coming struggle. He practised severe cconomy
in his house-hold, abalished superiluous posts and dismissed every
Enplish offfeer in his scyvice. He collected an army of his awn
and opened connections with the Nawab Vizir of Oudh, He
increased his ammunition, cast new guns and prepared for
war,

The Council on coming to know of these developments dec-
lared hostilitics against him and deposed him from the Nawab-
ship and proclaimed Mir Jafar again Nawab in his stead?
Mir Qasim had at his command an army of 20,000 men and
justifiably felt eager to try conclusions with the English, He

I. Mir Jafar was again saddled with heavy liabilities. He
promised to pay to the Company £3,060, to members of
Council £5,30,000 and to the army and the navy
£2,50,000. He was in a state of deepdistress and anxiety
and waited for Clive but died hefore his arrival,
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capturcd Qasim Bazar but soon after the British troops marched
from Chaleutta and in two battles at Coheria hndlbdayanaia
overpowered the Nawab's army.  In despair he put to death his
Armenian  Commanderin-Chiel Courgin Khan and ordered all
the European prisoners in Patna to be massacred by Samru, an
infamous soldier in his service,

Mir Quuiim who was now a relwl against the Government of
Bengal was in a difficnlt  position.  His eruel treatment had
alirnated from him his leading officers. Foe Tad  confiseated  thejy
property and thrown e inte prison on e slightest pretexts,

During three years  many peaple had snllered serionsly
Iiis hands  Ram Naroyau, l{fgi}::tl[nhim und some othiees were
drowned into the Ganges with bags of sand tedto theie necks and
the Seths were executed by Samru.  The Nawaly had made him-
soll thavoughly unpopular; there wis no sympathy for him any-
where.  His only support was the marcenary army aned when this
was dispensed with hig ruin heeame nevitable,

In despaiv Mir Qasim Hed 1o Oudh to seck the help ol the
Nawaly Vizier. The latter welcomed the fugitive [or selfish
veasons and promised support. The combined forces of Shah
Alam, Shjaudowlah and  Mir Qasim had advanced npon Prtna
which was oceupicd by the English.  They pushed inte Beliar
and fought several indecisive engagements, There was a mutiny
in the Dritish army  which was quickly suppressed by Major
Munro who brought the deserters to book and inflicted a crushing
defeat upon the enemy at Buxar  (Qctoher 1764). This was the
higgest battle the English had fought so far, They lost 847 men
wiile the enemy had 2,000 killed and (honsands deowned in the
river, The Nawab Vizier's territory was invaded next and the
British troops met with no resistance. Allalabad and Chunar
casily lell into their hands.

The Vizier had badly treated Mir Qpsim, He was more
anxious to get his wealth than to save him from  the English. Tt
is said he was tortured by the Vizier's orders and made to sit in
a kettle Tull of boiling water and pressed o disgorge his
jewels and treasuree.r Mir Qasim was said to have exclaimed in
anguish ‘what does the Nawaly Vizier want from me now,
He has seized whatever T possessed.  IT his object is to kill me,
I am veady in the name of God  Ifhe likes ta spare my life, he
may, so that I may go whevever 1 like,’

Just before the battle, he was allowed to go. It is said the

Nawab escaped on a lame elephant planning coalition against
the English which never came into being.

. Imad-us-Saadat, p. 93,
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Result of the baitle of Buxar. The Batile of Buxar jsin a way
mote important than the Battle of Plassey. The Company ceased
to Dbea mere trading body and beeame the moest formicahle
commarcial republic known in the world since the demolition of
Carthage.! It was a battle which was fought on hoth sides
with energy and vigowr and decided important sues, Tt was
not merely the Nawab o Bengal but  the Bwmperor and his
Visier who were beatens Theie prestige received o severe blow
and the emtry was bnpressisd by the supoviovity of the DBritish
arins,  Sir Alfvpd Lyall suns np the resulis of the banle in these
wiorcls®

#WIhe suceess of the English rought  the Emperor into their
cam]ih intimidated the Vizier, cavvied the armed forees
of the Company across the Ganges to Benares and
Allahabad and acquired for them a new, advane-
ad and ecommancding position in relation to the prin-
cipalitics tortli-west of Bengal, with whom now they
found themselves for the first time in contact. By
this war the English were lrought out upon a s-ene
of fresh operations that grew rapidly wider,”

By this time novihern India had  passed (heough great chan-
ges.  The Afghans had engaged the Mavatlas in Battle at
Panipat in 1761 and completely defeared them. While rhe
Alghan guns thundered at the historie filld of Panipat, the English
were rapidly advancing towards political supremacy in Bengal
and the Battle of Buxar vaized 1lom to o position which they had
not possessed before,

Mir ‘{nfm' died in February 1765 and the Bengal Council
raised to the Masnad his second son whowas a mers puppet in the
hands of the Company. The rveal power was wst:',dpc in the
Nawab's Naib (Deputy) Muhammad Raza Khan who was appoin-
teid at the suggestion of the linglish, The Company wrung a
unmber of concessions from the new Nawab and received valu-
able presents [rom him as they had done before,  The Governor
and his ecolleagues alone  veceived £ 1,39,357. There was gene-
ral corruption and the Crompany’s sevvants, high and low. were
all bent upon malking their fortunes.

Clive returns to India, May 1765

It was at this time that Clive returned to India as Governor
of Bengal for the second time. His wealth which he had carried
from India had enabled him (o obtain an Irish Prerage and a

1. Charles Caraccioli, Life: of Qlive T, p. 106.
2. Rise of British Dominion in India, pp-147-48.
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seat in Parliament, He had acquired some influence at the
India House also but the Directors were not in agreement withhis
views. When the news of the corruption and disorder in Bengal
reached England, Clive was asked to go our to India in order to
set matters right. Fis experience of Indian affairs and his
distinguished services entitled him to be entrusted with such an
impaortant task, Hewas nppointed Governor and the duties of
the head of the British army were also assigned to lim, His
Jagir was allowed to him for ten years or till his death, if he
dicd belore the expivy ol that peviod. He was to work witly &
Council but il this was 1wl possible, I was authorised 10 forn
o Scleet Comumittee of fouwr with himsell as President o cliseuss
and decide the matters that eame up before the Government.

On coming to India Qlive found that in their external relu-
tions the Company had been suceessful in humbling the Mughal
Einperor as well as the Nawab  Vizier of Oudh,  They had both
been defeated in battle and made to feel the superiority of British
avms,  Bul the mternal alffaivs of the Company were in a deplo-
rable condition, Much has Leen said about the greed and cor-
ruption of the servants of the Company. They had vielated not
merely the rules and regulstions laid down by their masters but
ull eanons of decency which gnvern the conduct of men in a eivi-
lized state. They had made and re-made Nawabs in Dengal and
at the time of cach succession :hcg' had heartily muleted their

otege.  Their policy of war had brought them some advantage
yut it had also increased their risks and responsibilities. It was
clearly disapproved by the Divectors wlho were  more anxious for
trade than for political power. Things were insucha deplor-
able state when Clive assumed the governorship off Bengal, What
was needed was & clear  definition of the Company's policy aund
drastie reform.

CLIVE'S SECOND GOVERNORSHIP OF BENGAL

The New Nawahb

Mir Jafar had died in February last and the Council had
recognized his  son Najibudowlah as his successor, on the condi-
tion that he will ageee to have a vepresentative of the Company
to look after the administration. Obwviously the interition was to
reduce the Nawab’s authority to a nullity. Nand Kumar was
removed and Muhammad a Khan was appointed Naib
as the Gompany's nominee to carry on the government, The
usual gifts were exacted by the members of the Council who
carcd nothing lor the instructions which had been issued  from
time to time by the Court of Directors,
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Foreign relations of the Company

On his arrival in India Clive found that theMughal Emperor
Shalh Alam and the Nawab Vizier of Oudh were supplinags foy
the favour of the Company, They had been defeated in battle
recently and their prestige had received a severe blow. The whole
ol Oudh was well within the grasp of the Company but Clive
decided to confine them to Bengal, Behar and Orissa,  He shrank
from assuming the direct control of Oudh which the English could
have taken by right of conquest hut Clive decided to reinsiate
the Nawab Vigier in his kingdom and restored his territories to
him on the ground that it was not sound policy to increasc the
torritorvies under the rule of the Company. Consequently lie
went to Allahabad and entered into a weaty with the Nawab
Vizier and the Emperor in August 1765. By this trealy an
offensive and defensive alliance was concluded with the Nawab
and the Lnglish agreed to supply him with troops on payment of
money whenever he (elt the need for them, The Nawab was (o
pay a war indemnity of 50 lakhs ol rupees to the Company and
he was to make over the districts of Kara and Allahabad to the
Emperor. The Zamindari of Benares was guaranteed to the rul-
ing family but the Raja was to be a feudatory of Oudh. The
Nawab wys further asked to promise that he would give no
trouble to Mir Qasim and Samru.

Clive entered into a treaty with the Boperor also. The
latter was a fugitive and possessed nothing more than his title.
As has been said belore, the districts of Allahabad and Kara
were given to him and he was guarvanteed o pension of 26 lakhs
a year by the Company, from the revenue of Bengal, Bchar and
Orissa. In return the Emperor granted to the Company the
Dewani of Bengal, i. ¢. the right of collecting the revenue.

The acquisition of the Dewani by the English made a great
change in their status, The Dewan’s function was to collect the
revenuc and to cxercise a cectain amount of civil jurisdiction
which nwmplied responsibility for good government. But Clive
was not ready [or such a step and, therefore, the divect collection
of the revemies and the eivil jurisdiction were entrusted to two
Indian officers Muhammad Raza Khan for Bengal and Raja Shitab
Rai for Behar both acting as Naib Dewans. Tlhieir h:a& uarters
were at Murshidabad and Patna respectively. While the Dewani
was thus assigned the Nizeomat, i. e., the contrel of military and
criminal justice was left in the hands of the Nawab, who wasto
be given a fixed sum for carrying out these duties. The real
military authority was in the hands of the Company and even in
the matter of administration the Nawab was powerless. The
Company possessed the power of the sword as well as the purse,
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Asg the Nawaly was a minor, a Naib Nazim or deputy wis alsy
ippointed to assist him and he was to  be a nominee ol the Com-
pany, His position was dubious; hie wag to worle with the Nawal
but he was appointed by the Company and was responsible to it
The office was held by Muhammad Raza Kl unil 1772,

The Dewani marks the beginning ol the territorial sovercigy
of the Eoglish.,  Clive saw clearly that the time had come when
this ides of vuling withowl responsibility moust e disearded,  He
wrate [ons Madeas, “we must heeome Noabobs in fuet, 30 ool in
name, perhaps totally so, without disguise’. The Company's
sevvants wers to colleet the vevenue and che Nawab was oo e
piticd 53 lukhs of rupees & year,  Tluw Glive gave the Gowpany
a stable or legitimate position.  So [ the Euglish had acted only
as intriguers and wire-pullers; now they had to take charge of
the machinery of govermment and it was their duty to sce that
this responsibility wis pm?c:rly carried out, The Emperor was i

uppet but his name sll carried muel prestige with it.  The
nehian prinees still bowed to his authority and sought his firman
to confirm their title and position. The Europeans in Bengal
could not eusily challenge the position of a forergmer conlirmed

by an imperial firman.

It is impossible to questions the wisdmn ol Glive’s  arrange-
ments, He put g limit to the ambitions of lhe Company and
defineed its policy in clear terms,  He said

"My resolution, however, was and my hopes will be, to con-
fine our assistnnce, our congquesl and  our possessions
to Bengal, DBelar and Opizgsa.  To go Mfuether is inoay
-:}g:i'ninn a scheme so extravagantly ambitious and absurd,
that ne Governor and Council in their senses can adopl
it, unless the whole system of the Company's interest
be fivst entively new and pemodelled.”

It was [or this veason that he disapproved of conquest and
strengthencd Oudh as a friendly State between Bengal and Hin-
dustan proper. There were some contemporary critics who pointed
out the lutility ol coming to termswith a titular sovercignand ad-
vised a move towards Delhi, bul such o sfep would have aroused
the jealousy of the Indian powers, the Mavathas, Muslims and
Rajputs. A Buropean writer obscrved in 1770 that there was in
India the possibility of immense regions being reduced by a hand.-
ful ol regular troops and that the troops in the Company's service
were sullicient not only to conguer all India but, with proper
policy, to maintain it for ages asan appendage fothe British

n. Clive's view was different and thercfore he refrained
from the Delhi move which way likely to prove dangerous, His
action produced the following results
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The Dewani formally recognized the English position in
Bengal, although it did not cleavly define it. The administration
was conducted by Indians under the Company's control and this
made improvement difficult.

The Emperor now resided at Allahabad where he was in
¢lose touch with the English and leeame their puppet.  ‘Thoy
could easily obtain any kind of firman [rom him.

The Nawal Viziee Decame practically o dependent of the
Company, He was an ally of the British, and Oudh acted as o
buffer State against the Marathas who were vapidly advancingin
Northern India.

The avvangement brovght abundant wealth o the Company.
The income from (e revenues of Bengal, Dehor and Orissa was
estimunted at £ 30,00,000 per anmuon.  There were some in Eng-
land like Pitt who suggested that the CGrown should take up the
government which the Company had assumed in Bengal but this
view was not sharcd by many.

Such was Clive's Dual System.  Iis one great advantage was
that it gave the English control over the Nawab which was much
needed at the time, and it also ‘promised some protection against
the complaints of the lorcign powers and the donands of the
home government”.

Clive now turned his attemtion (o the reform of the Gom-
pany’s civil service.,  Fle spoke of it as the Augean stable which
must be cleaned by drastic methnds,  Calentra was to him now
‘One of the most wicked places in the Universe, Corruption,
Licentiousness and a want of Principle seem to have possessed
the minds of all the Civil Servants, by [requent bad Examples
they lave grown callous, Rapacious and Luxurious bDeyend Con-
ception, and the Incapacity and Iniquity of some and the Youth
ol'others. The capital lotters show the intensity of Clive's fecl«
ing. He was struck by the scene’ which, he thought, was ‘shock-
ing to human natwee' and he dwelt with indignation upon ‘the
unreasonable desive of many to acquive in an  Instant, what only
a few can, or ought to possess.’ He condemned their rapacity
and *luxury’ and said ;

*Alas, how is the English name sunk! T could not avoid
paying the tribute of a lew tears to the departed and
lost fame of the British nation.’

The first thing he did was to force the Company’s scrvants
to enter into covenants by which they were forbidden to accept

1. Cambridge History of India VI, p. 176.
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presents and Lo engage iy privale trade the twa evils in the
Company’s establishment which cried for redress, He (ried to
carry out his veforms with the help of the Sclect Committee
which [ully supported him in enforcing his orders.  There was
muech opposition from the Bengal eivilians who veminded him ol
his own corraption and aptributed his zeal for reform (o his
anxicty about himself,  All kinds of chaypes wore levelled against
him but he remained firm.  He made a4 new rule that appoine
ments in the Bengal service were not the monopoly of Bengal offi-
cinls, nnd to certain vacancies he appointed men from  Madees,
He was in fvour of increasing  the salavies of the Compony's
servants but hie could not persunde the Dircetors to aceept lis
Empus:ﬂ. With i view (o enabling them to cke outtheir income,
¢ granted o monopoly of the sult trade to_the superior servants
af the Company in praduated shaves. The Governor was (o
receive £ 17,500 per annum, acolonel in the army or & member of
Council £ 7,000, and the officers in the lower grades smalier
amounts according to their rank. The Directors did nol agree
to this plan and alterwards stmn%}y censureed Clive for it. Two
gm‘s alter the system adopted by him was abolished by the

irectors and they replaced it by commissions on the revenucs
af the Provinee which added to the Governor's salary an addi-
tional income of about £ 18,000 & year, The incomes of lesser
officers wore increased in similar proportion. The reforms of
Clive in the Civil Service of the Company may be thus summed
up—aholition of private trade, exeept insalt, tohacco, opium
and betel lealand the total prohibition. of members of Council
from actiug as agents in the Muffasil,

Clive's ‘Socicty of trade” for the henefit ol Civil Servands
was abolished in 1768 Ly the Directors and he was censured
for it.

Clive's military reforms deserve to be noticed,  "The military
estalilishment of Bengul consisted of (he Company's tr and
the Nawab’s (roops were not allowed by treaty to increase beyond
12,000 eavalry and 12,000 infantry. The Company's troops
consisted of Sepoys (18,000) and 2,500 European (ool soldicrs.
Thus the defence of Bengal depended upon these two. To
strengthen it further the policy of unification was adopted.
Clive’s reforms were dirccted towards reducing the Nawab's
troops and increasing those of the Company. The Nawab could
not resist Clive's will and had to agree.

The more odious task was to reduce the double bialts which
the Company’s troops had been getting since the days of Mir
Jafar. 'E:fﬁ was given only when the troops were on active ser-
vice. Mir Qasim had continued the practice and had assigned

AT
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to the Company certain districts from the income of which this
allowance was paich.  When the bhurden of payment fell upon
the Company, Directors asked Qhlive to reduce it o single bhatia.
The military officers resented the charge and many of them (near-
lj)r 200) resigned in o single day and combined to resist the reform,
T'his happened at Monghyr and Patna but Clive cooly faced the
situntion,  He acevpted the resignations of officers and brought
fresh men from Madeos in their places. He continued  his method
of pussuasion and threats and put down the mutiny in a fort-
night. He won the goodwill of common soldicrs by adding a
little o (heir income and attached them (o himsell. The army
was organized and steps were taken to ereate a fund out ol which
help was given to disabled officers and (he dependants of thosc
had died in active service.

Clive lelt India in Februavy 1767.  Anglo-Indian historians
have bestowed high praise upon him for his great qualities, He
had insight inte politics and a varve capacty for compelling
obedience of his subordinates. He was a born leader of men
and never lost his head even  in the midst of the greatest danger.
His chicl strength lay in the possession of a fiem will and clear-
ness of vision  which we do not find among other officers of the
Company, In tmesof erisis he shone brilliantly—and steadily
put down those who opposed him or thwarted his plans. He
showed jgreat valour on severnl occasions and won [ame as a mili-
tnry leader of undoubted talents. His practicul sagacity, his states-
manship and devotion o the interests of his country rnanilested
themselves in the Counells of the Company. He had a rare grasp
of administrative problems and  approached them with a high
sense of duty which took no account of risks and which spurned
all opposition.  While all this is true, it cannot De denied  that
he suffered [rom the bluntness of the moral sense. He had done
many questionable things in Bengal for which others were severc-
ly condemned., He had gome so far as to commit forgery
although his motive was to advance the interests of the Company.
Some of his acts were wholly indefensible; they did not commend
themselves even to his contemporaries, While it is not possible
to agree with Malleson who secs nothing but honour and integ-
rity in Clive’s character, we cannot endorse Mill's judgment
that Clive was & man ‘to whom deception, when it suited his
surpose, never cost a pang’.  When we think of his heroism and

is audacity in political crises, his courage in dealing with his re-
bellious subordinates and the intense feeling with which he tack-
led the question of refortus we cannot resist Macaulay's verdict
that he was a man truly great either in arms o in Council'.
He did much lor his country and his services will always be
remembered with gratitude by his countrymen.

a
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Clive had made many enemies by his drastic reforms.  Jeal-
ousy, spite and hatred all combined to do him harm. The fatal
influence of the riches brought [rom India was freely commented
upon and the retired servants of the Company came to be known
as ‘Nabobs'. A Scleet Committee was appointed o examine
him on his Indian policy and his earlice acts wore strnngh{ eriti-
cised, In May 1773 Colonel Burgoyne moved three resolutions
which contained a denunciation of Clive's conduct in Hengal
and charged him with abusing his authority and spoiling the
fair name of his nation, Clive delended  hiwsell" with  vigour
and alter a protracted debate the Flouse passed o vesolution ‘Uhat
Robert Clive at the same time renderedd  great and  meritorious
services to his country'.

Though Clive's services were appreciated, his spirit was
mortified by the humiliation he had sulfered. The thought that
his fair name was tarnished Painﬁ.ﬂly stung him and  filled him
with grief. Alrcady in the grip of a serious disease, he died by
his own hand in a moment of greal distress on November 2, 1774,
He was at the time of his death 50 years of age.



CHAPTER VI

Misgovernment in Bengal (1767-72)

Verelst (1767-68); Cartier (1769-72)

Aller Glive's departure  there was complete  confusion  in
Bengal. The dual government Lud produced  disastrous results.
In every country, more particularly in India, it is ni:rmlutcl}r
neeessary thal the executive government must be one and hdivi-
gible so that the various parts of the governmental machinery
may lunetion properly but this was not so in Bengal. Authority
was divided between the Nawab and the Company. There was
no discipline and little regard for the public weal, The Nawal
held the Nizamat, i. e. the magistracy, the police and criminal
justice; while the Comipany posscssed the power of the purse.
Clonflict in such circumslances was inevitable, for there was no
commeon superior, armed with [ull power to decide their disputes,
The Nawal's power was limited, his decrces were [vequently
disobeyed and his officers were treated with scant regard by the
Company's servauts.  He was actually a stipendiary servant of
the Company snd (he Dewand was a mere  fictton  invented for
the benefit of the Company and its servants.  The latter suppor-
ted the Zumindari in oppressing the people. The condition of
the people became worse I.hﬂ.nniufurn. n Alivardi Khan's time
the vevenue paid  into the treusury was less, but the Zamindars,
Sarrals and merchants were rich and gave money to the Nawab
whenever e needed it.

The Mafgurari was settled with the Zomindars on moderate
terms,  They had an interest in their districts and by proper
management tried to advance the interests of the oy, ?f the
rents didnot come intime, they borrowed money from the
Barrafs to pay their revenue. Even the nofs could get money
from them to improve their cultivation and the country flour-
ished in spite of the despotic governiment, But the conditions had
now changed. The English under the Dewani tried to get as
much yevenue as possible to make remittances howe and to meet
the expenses of the administration in the country. The Amils
were sent into the country and paid the fixed sum that was
settled with them. This was a disastrous system. They had no -
natural interest in the welfare of the people as they were appoin-
ted annually; they tried to collect the stipulated sum by all
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measures. The 750t was rack-rented and oppressed so as to enable
the Amils to make their payment. Besides, they enjoyed absolute
power; there was none to check or supervise their work. The
ryol's condition is thus deseribed in a contemporary record :

“There is no likelihood of complaints till e poor ryol is
really driven to the necessity by having more demanded
by him than he can aizvly pay. Much these poor
wretches will bear rather than quit their habitations
to come liere to complain, especially when it Is to be
considered (hat it must always e attended with loss
ol time, visk ol obtaining rvedvess, amd cortainty ol
being very ill used should the Amil's influence be
sufficient payment for the poor Man's nhlainingi Jjustice
or even access to those able to grant it to him."

The farming system was entirely unsatisfactory and resulted
in much suffering to the cultivators. In 1769 supervisors of
revenue were appointed whe were subordinate to the Resident.
The instructions issued to them breathed a spirit of sympathy
for the poar, but they were more hongured in the breach than
inthe observance, and the supervisors too  became exacting and
oppressive,

Equally bad was the condition of wrade under the dual
system. ¢ inland trade of the country had led to great
evils, the effects of which were felt by the weavers and many-
facturers of Dengal. The Banias am{Y goomashtas of the English
frecely oppressed the people; they fined, imprisoncd and flogged
the weavers with the result that their number was considerably
reduced, The prices of their goods were fixed by the goomash-
tas who often put them 15 per cent, and sometimes even 40 per
cent: lower than the market rate.

All this rogucry was practiced unchecked by the Company’s
agents who prosecuted a weaver when he tried to scll his goods
to French or Dutch goomashias at the proper price. Neither Reza
Khan nor his officials could check their extortions. Verelst who
was Governor at this time drew up a memorandum in which he
pointed out the abuses of the system to the Directors, There was
no public spirit among the Company’s servants; they cared only
for loaves and fishes and tried to get rich as quickly as possible.

““Hence the dominions in Asia, like the distant Roman
provinees, during the decline of the empire, have been

1, Secret Com. Cons. India Office Records, Range A9
Ramsay Muir, Making of British India, p. 94.
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abandoned, as lawflul prey, to cvery speciesof pecu-
lation; in so much that many of the servants of the
Company after exhibition of such scenes of barbarity
a5 can scarcely be paralleled in the history of an
chuntry, have returned lo England loaded wit
wealth; where in trenching themselves on borough or
Enst India stock influence, they hawve set justice at
tdefiance or and assumed a look of oppressed inmo-
cenge,™
The need lor changing the system was strongly emphasised:
“The different interests of the Company, as sovercigns of
Bengal and at the same time as monopolizers of all
the trade and commerce of those countries, operate
in dircet opposition, antd are mutually destructive of
cach other; so that without a new system the progress
must be from bad to worse. The Company, if left
to pursuc its present system will ruin itself; the pos-
sessions in Bengal will he begparved, and the kingdom
deprived of the adwvantages of those possessions which
might be the means of greatly relieving the circum-
stances of the nations, and of raising it to a state of
prosperity and power almost beyond example.™
Bengal was denuded of its wealth, Bullion was exported
to China and other countries and the total amount drained
out of the country was estimated at five million sterling, The
coing became searce and trade suffered seriously.
The Famine of 1770. Verelst was succeeded by Cartier (1769
71) who was eonfronted with the same evils as his predecessor.
His difficulties were greatly increased by the dreadful famine
which occurred in Bengal and swept away nearly onc-third of
the population of the provinee. Not g drap of rain Fell for six
months inmost of the districts and food and fodder became
impossible to obtain. More than filty persons died of hunger
daily in the strects of Patna and misery of the lower classes of rhe
population begzared all deseviption. In the wake of famine
came pestilence and smallpox and other ravages took a dreadful
toll of human life in many of the great cities and villages, The
streets of Murshidabad were strewn with corpses and in
the countryside men and cattle perished in large numbers.

Mubammad Reza Ehan wrote in 1770:

" “The tanks and springs are dried up, and water grows
daily morve difficult to be procured. Added to these
ealamities, frequent and dreadful fires have happened

1. William Boats; Consideration on Indian Afairs
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t]:urm:g]mut the country, impoverished whole [amilics
and destroyed thousands of lives............ I know not
what the divine will has ordained shall befall this
country, The calamity is past the ingenuity of man,
The Almighty alone can deliver us from such dis-

tress. "

. Such was the condition of Bengal in 1770 but the Inglish
and Indien officials  continued to moake money [ theinselves,
Corruptinn flourished nuchecked and the ot aued the Zamindar
were erushed alike under the weight of heavy private end publie
demand. The (Ium}muy’s supreminey  had proved o curse (o
the people. The abuse of trade had rpined 1he sille udusery
of Bengal, The Governor was unable o do anything, The
task was beyond his capneity. The Company was on the verpe
ol bankruptey and it was its financial collapse which compelled
the attention af the Dircctors towards its aftairs.  They appoin-
ted Warren Hastings, one of the Madras officials as  Governor
of Bengal in 1772, With his advent began a new year in the
history of the Govermment of Bengal, and the ::ﬂ}r:;r:,: of Ju
East India Company.

External Relation

The frienclship with the Nawab Vizier of Oudh and  the
prossession of the Bmperor's pevson had strengthencd the position
of the English. The Marathas had rcapidly recovered from the
shoek of Panipat.  The Dhonsala had raided Orissn and  deman-
ded Chauth from the Tnglisl, The Peshwa wanted (o extalilish
Mavatha power by restoring the Mughal Emperor o his throme
and rule in his name. In 1771 Mahadji Sindhia was deputed
to cscort the Emperor to Delhi.  The latter veadily ag‘rc:r:;]l and
left Allahabad where he had  been staying since the treeaty
shich he had made with Clive in 1765.



CHAPTER VII

Wars in South India—Haider Ali of Mysore

The Carnatie

The defeat of the Fremeh in 1760 and the capture of Pondi-
chery had established the power of the Englizsh in the Carnatic
and placed uwponthe throne Muhammad Ali who was a puppet
in their hands, There were few princes in South India so weak
and Limid as Muhammad Ali, His army was disorganized and
his finances were ina wreiched condition, He was heavily
indebted and was not in a position to pay off his debts, The
administration was in a state of disorder and his own officers
were disloyal, greedy and rebellious. Loans were raised by the
Government at Macdras at usurious rates of interest and the Eng-
lish creditors of the Nawab pestered him with their demands
and exercised an inhealthy influence over the Madras Council,
As the Bnglish had spent a great deal of money inplacing him
upon the ihrone of the Carnatic, the Government of Madras
demanded 50 lakhs from the MNawal but he had no money to
meet his obligations. He suggested to the English the spoliation
of the Raja of Tanjore, ane of his feudatories and 24 |akhs were
extorted Irom the unfortunate yuler in four instalments. In 1763
the Peace of Paris was made and the possessions of the French
were restored to them on the condition that Muhammad Ali will
be recognized by both parties as Nawal of the Carnatic and
Salabat Jang as Nizam of Haiderabad. But the latter had been
killed several months before by his brother Nizam Ali, whobrought
about his murder, on hearing that his right to the Nizamat had
Lieen recognized by the English and the French,

Muhammad Ali eantinued to rule the Carnatic and althnu'it
he had transferred neither the Dewani nor the Nizamat to
English, he was a nonentity and they had all real power in their
hands. He assigned to them several districts in lieu of the heavy
cdebts he had incurred but they shrank from taking over the
direct administration of his territorvics.

The Northern Sirkars

It will be recalled that the Northern Sirkars had been
secured by the French and had furnished the sinews of war to
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Bussy who had resided there for severul years. They were
wrested from the French by Colonel Forde in 1759 but they
remained in an unsettled condition. In 1765 by the Treaty ol
Allahabad Clive obtained them [or the English lvom the Mughal
Emperor. Salabat Jang had been murdered hy this time and
the new Nizam stmnfly disapproved of the transaction.  He des-
patched his army to destroy the English contingent that was sent
to occupy them. The Madras Council, weak in i personnel,
at this time, and guided by a man not particularly bold and
courageous ohtered into negotintions with (e Nizam and con-
cluded @ trewty by which the Company wis to lold the Sivkus
but only as a tributary ol the Nizam., They were (o pay seven
lakhs of rupees a year. The Sirkar ol Guniur was excluded
from the treaty and Basalat Jang, onc ol the wothers of the
Nizam was allowed to vetain it as his jagir.  Further, the
Madras Government aErct:d to supply the Nizam with two bat-
talions of infantry and six ficld pieces, which he intended to
cmploy against Haider Ali of Mysore.

Rise of Haider Ali

The rise olFlaider Ali from a goldicr to the ruler of a king-
dom is one of the most interesting facts of modern listory,
Mysore was originally a provinee of the Hindu empire of Vija-
nagar, When the E;tmr broke up in 1565, it became indepens
dent under # Hindu dynasty called Wodeyar about 1650. In
1704 Aurangzeb recognized the family of Wodeyar and it
appears that the rulers of Mysorve efficiently administered their
territorics until the middle of the 18th century when they lost
their power and became the territories of the Nizam who was in
his turn a vassal of the Mughal Empire,  The Marathas carcied
their invoads into the country and demanded opportunity for a

litical or military adventurer to establish his influence in the
ingdom of Mysore,

Such an adventurer was Haider Ali, the famous Musalman
warrior and inveterate loe of the English who rose to power in
the 18th century by sheer dint of merit. Biographers have
assigned to him a lofty pedigree; they have based 'his descent
from the Lodis, the Ad!’}] Shahs of ‘:ri:‘japur and kings of Persia,
But there is little evidence to support either view. There is no
doubt that he came from a foreign Mohammedan family which
had migrated to the south from its original home he was born
in 1722. His father was an officer in the Mysore army and 30
was his brother. The State of Mysore was under the influence
of two capable men—Devaraj, the Delawai (Chiel Army Officer)
and Nanraj, the minister. Haider’s intrepidity and courage
attracted the attention of the latter who allowed him to keep a
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small force and entrusted him in 1789 with the charge of the
fortress of Devanhalli which was on the frontier of the kingdom,
Haider discharged his duties well, and the (requent attacks of the
Marathas and the Nizam, gave him an opportunity of incrcasing
his power. He took part in the Anglo-French war with the
minister and was greatly impeessed by the discipline of the
Luropean troops.  In 1755 he became the faujdar of Dindigal
where he organized a large aemy in which he ewployed Euro-
peans and stoved ammunition for his encounter with the Muratha,
Soon alley, he entered Serangupatom nned received from  the
helpless Raja the title Fateh-Haider Bahadur, Nanraj was got
rid of, and he himself became rvegent,  His help was sought by
the French but lis own teonbles and anxietics prevented him
from complying with their vequest, He was hinsell in trouble
for two years but regained  his lost influenece in 1763 and dealt
dmsriml‘{ with lis enemies. Khande Rao, the Brahman minis-
ter, who had acquived great power was shut inan iron cage
like an ‘inauspicions crow® and sent off o Bangalove, He ocen-
pied himsell in restoring the fortunes of the State of Mysore, in
putting down sedition and erime, and in removing dishonest and
incompetent civil servants.  Fe collected troops, improved the
administration of justice, and by his kindness won the hearts of
all, Having done this, he crabarked upon a cwreer of conguest
and in 1763 eaptured Bednore, now a small village in the west-
ern part of the Mysove State,  He celebrated this  conguest with
great magnificance for ffrcen days; lestivitics wore held ona
lavish seale and ricuqr of money was distributed among the poor,
ihe religious and the musicians.  The brave soldiers with whose
help the conquest had  been accomplished were not  ignored
muP were given a share in the booty seized by them. To the
town of Bednore was given the name of Haidernagar and it was
entrusted to one of his own servants, In Kanara Haider took
advantage of’ a disputed succession and annexed it 1o Mysore.
Malawar, Baramahal, Coimbatore, and other districts followed
suit and it was the fear of the Marathas that interrnpted his
cavcer of congquest.  He now assumed the title of Haider Ali
Khan Bahadur and practically became the ruler of Mysore, the
Raja being relegated to the background.

The First Mysore War 1767-1769

The rise of Haider Ali filled the Mavathas with fear and
alarm particularly because he had at thistime at his beck and
call an army consisting of 20,000 horse and 40,000 foot. Haider
was defeated and next year the Marathas came again and in-
flicted a fresh defeat upon their enemy who suffered a loss of
10,000 moen. He escaped from  this dangerous situation by
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promising to return all the tervitories he had taken and to pay an
indemnity of 32 lakhs of rupees. To recompense himsell [or lru:ac
losses he returned to Malabar where the defeated the Nairs, and
planted his flag on the wall of Calicut, But he was soon called
hackto defend hiy own country against the combined attack of the
Nizam and the Marathas, The English had also offered 10 help
the Nizam for they were bound to do so by tlie treaty of 1766.
Colonel Smith was sent with an army to help him and the Mara-
thas were the first to appear in the ficld. Hudder was frighten-
e and he heibed them to vetive.

Colonel Smith nowe fovmed that e Nizaome wig also gegoting-
ing with Hadeler and  eonteruplating a joint attack on e British
force.  He was made 10 withdraw by o payment of iwenty lakhs
of rupees and a promise of six lakhs as yearly tribute, The
Nizam, the Mavathas, and Haider had now a large army at their
dispsal which was numevically fae superioe to the British loree
under Colonel Smith, Yet the latter twice defeated the com-
bined army and caplured sisty-four ficld picees.  Hatder's son
Tippu advanced against Madras and plandered the country.
In the meantime an expeditionary foree wns  sent into the
Nizam's tervitorics, and on heaving (e news, he disorted Haider
and hastened to save his capital,

According to English writers the Nizam way guilly of ‘mons-
trous perfidy’ and he ought to have been completely humbled,
But the teems of the treaty made with him were Iu’gﬁl derogu-
tory to the honour and prestige of the Company.  The Company
agreed to pay tribute for the Novthern Sivkavs and defereed tak-
ing possession of Gontue L the death of the Nizam's Drotluer,
Haider Ali was mentioned in the treanly as TTadder-Nuik, a rebel
and wsurper and the Bnglish undertook to wrest Karanatik and
Balaghat from him, and withheld from  the Nizam on payment
of scven lakhs & year,  They further agreed to pay chouth to the
Mavathas, The Court ol Direclors disapproved the (reaty, and
censured the conduct of those who had negotiated it.  During
this *eisgraceful decade’, writes an Anglo-Tndian historinn, ‘the
Madras Presidency was sunk in peculation, profligancy as deeply
as that of Bengal with the additional viee of poltroonery.’

Haider who now became fully aware of the intentions of the
English, decided to go to war with them. He lelt that he must
fight for his wery cxistence, The British had seized some of his
forts and destroyed a part of his fleet.  But he quickly recovered
from his losses.  Colonel Smith eaptured several ol his [ortresses,
and Haider, afraid of the Marathns, offered to make peace and
cede Baramahal together with lakhs of rupees. But the Presi-
dent demanded impossible terms, In despair Haider prepared



Wars in South India 123

for a decisive conflict with the English and with amazing energy
vecovered all the fortresses yet lost.  He exacted four lakhs from
the Raja of Tanjore and then advanced towards Madras, and
appeared before its walls. The Couneil offered to make peace
but all that Haider agreed to was a truce for twelve days. Clolonel
Smith was decoyed from Madras. Haider who suddenly reachod
St Thome called npon the Mudims  Council to make prace with
Iim. A rteeaty wos made (3rd April, 1769) by which mutual
restitution of conguest was agreed upon. Tt wasto be an offen-
sive and defensive  allinnee and  the Company pledged itsell
to support  Haider against any of the enemies in the Decean.
"I English lost all the provinees which they had scized and pro-
mised 1o lend a contingent in the event of attack,

Having concludetl this treaty withh the English, Flaider Al
ceased o pay the stipubited sum to the Marathas and invaded
their tereitory,  The Peshwa eolleated o large army at Poona
and quickly reducetl many of his lorts,  Haider was deiven ina
very awkward position and with diffieulty retreated 1o Seringapa-
tam. The Marathas followed elpse upon his heels and laid  sicge
to his capital. [Taider asked the Madras Council to send him help
but it refused to earry out the obligation imposed upon by the
treaty, and Ielt him to his fte.  The Mavathas pressed harel and
Haider hadl to purchase peace by paying them thirty-six lakhs
of rupeey and by agrecing to pay an annual tribae of fourtem
lakhs, e was compelled to yield o portion of his territories
which consideralily vedueed e size of his kingdom. This was
a sevious breach of fuith and Haider was deeply enraged with the
English. He nursed a desire [or revenge which he exacted alter
a pariod of ten years.

The affairs of the Carnatic

Mohammad Ali as has been said hefore was & weak ruler,
and like the Nawabs of Bengal entively dependent upon the Eng-
lish. He was not sutisfied with the treatment that was meted out
to him, and always complained of injustice and highhandedness,
He appealed to the King of England and the latter sent his
representatives to enguire into the truth of his allegations. En-
couraged by the King's response to his appeal, he began to put
forward demands which it was impossible to eoncede. He press-
¢d the Madras Council to assist him in bringing to book the
Rajah ol Tanjore who was a feudatory of his, and whom he now
charged with the non-payment of tribute. Tt will be recalled
that in 1762 a treaty was made between the Nawal and the
Rajah by which the latter had agreed to pay an annual tribute
to the former, As the treaty had been arranged by the governor
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ol Madras, Mohammad Ali complained to the English that
the tribute had not been paid by the Rajah who was guilty of
contumaciousncss, Besides, it was alleged that he had intrigued
with Haider Ali against the Marathas. Mohammad Ali desired
the destruction of the Rajah and sought English help in effecting
his objeet.

The President sent an army into the country, but the inhabi-
tants ol Tanjore offercd a stubborn rvesistanee and after some
fighting peace was muce by which the Rajals ageeed to pay fifteen
laklis ol rupees,  Two yeurs hter the Mudeas Counedl was asked
again to help Molmumaed Ali, and a charge was holatered up
apainst the Rajah that he lad scevetly communicated with the
Nizam and the Marathas, The Rajnz had no. money, he had
already been hard putto it to find the amount that he had pain on
the previous occasion. The President was well aware of these Facts;
atill he chase to send a force into Tanjore which deposed the
Rajah and gave the kingdom to the Nawah. The Direclors
disappoved of this action and ovdered the restoration of the
principality to its vightful owner, The Governor was dismissed,
and his successor atonce carried out the orders of the Court of
Directors and reinstated the Rajah in his ancestral throne.

As soon as it was known that Tanjore had been made over
to the Nawaly; Benfield, a Madras civilian, put forward his de-
mands and asked for the repayment of his loans. DBenfield was
a notorious officer about whom is was openly said (hat lie had
amassed a lfortune Dby [(raudulent means and that his loans to
the Nawab were secuved by assignments on the revenues of Tan-
jore. ‘There were other ereditors among the civil servants who
useel to lend money at exhorbicant vates of intevest, The Mad-
ras Counel] lield l?;a.t the ¢laim was not established. But the
majority ol members who were wellowing in the mire of cor-
ruption decided that the matter should be reconsidered. Lord
Pigot, the Governor, opposed the proposal with all his efforts but
in vain. He suspended two of the members and an open quar-
rel ensued with other members of the Council. The recaleitrant
majority scized the Governor, threw him into prison and took
the affaws of the presidency into their own hands. The un-
fortunate man died in prison in 1771, Hastings did not move
in the matter and showed no sympathy lor a [ellow governor who
was in such difficulties. The seven members of the Council
were dismissed and fined. Thomas Rumbold was placed in
charge of the Government,

Thomas Rumbaold

The condition of Madras had grown [rom bad to worse,
Carruption was rife everywhere, and the harmonious working of
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the administration of the Government had become difficult. Soon,
fresh questions cropped up which demanded immediate attention,
The Sivkar of Guntur was in the possessionol the Nizam's lirother,
Basalat Jung who leld it from his  brother, The Madras
Government forced him to take an English eontingent in his
tervitories aned code Guntue for its maintenance. The Nizam
was greatly offended at this and when the Madras Goversunent
furthor usk® him to vomit the sum of sevn lnkls which the
English had ageecd o pay as teibute Tor Northen Sirkars, he
flew into a rage and charged the English with breach of faith.
'The matter was amicably seitled through Wamen Hastings'
intervention. He convinced the Nizam of the {riendly intentions
ol the British Govienment and declared that the Madras Govern-
ent’s action was  unauthorised.  Although  Fasti secured
the neutrality of the Nizun by deing so, thew is little doubt that
the latter began to look witl disfavour upon the British alliance
and to entertain suspicions about the sincerity ol their declared
intontions.

The Second Mysore War

It s been said before that Haider was reduced to scorc
straits by the Marathas who levied a heavy blackmeil vpon him
and deprived him of a portion of his territory, He was deeply
annoyed with the English lor their desertion ol him and longed
for revenge. The murder of the Peshwa at Poona created a
great conlusion in Maratha politics and gave Haider an oppor-
tunity of improving his position. He attacked Coorg and put
down ruthlessly the resistance offered by the native population,
Next year he suceceded in defeating the Marathas and recovered
the territory of which he had been deprived by them. The Mar-
athas, alarmed by Haider’s ageressions; made an alliance with
the Nizam and the combined armics marched towards Mysore in
1776. But Haider bribed the gencrals ol the allied army and
the cxpedition failed of its purpose.  Again he appealed to the
English for help but the Madras Council with characteristic
incompetence fatled to grasp the sitution and rurned a deaf car
to his requests, Meanwhile war broke out Dbetween France
and England and the Madras Government adopted an attitude
which drove them into a quarrel first with the Marathas and then
with Mysore. Sir Hector Munro, Commander-in-Chief of the
Madras army, frst besieged Pondichery and captured it in 1778,
Other French posscssions like Chandernagar and Karikal were
seized and the Madras Government sent word to Haider that it
was proposed to send an expedition to make a Freach port on
the Malabar coast, Haidor’s reply was that the coast was under
his sovereignty and, therefore, he was bound to protect it against
external invasion. In complete disregard of Haider's leelings,
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Male was captured (Mareh 1779). This ‘perfidy’ exasperated
Haider and he hegan to lsten to the overtuves of the Marathas,

There were other causcs which led o hostilities Detween
Haider and the Bnglish, The Maratha Government at Poorna
had promised to release him from all obligations and to allow
him to increase Dis territorics. The quarcel between the Eng-
lisht and the Nizam had [rther encouraged his hopgs.  Besides,
he complained that the English had not  obscrved  aididully the
treaty waddo with him in 1769 nor had they  rencwed i, Lastly,
he was prepaved Tor wars e hiad o well organized  aud well
tisciplined sy wmnned by Prenel ollicers and gy (o deive
the English out of India, In 1709 a Dauish missionary Swariz
waited upon Halder 1o induce him to moke  poaco with (e Brge-
lish but his mission did not succced. I'I:I.i(]lm' condemned  the

cefidy of the English and deelaved himsell their ireeconcilalide
O,

Haider lad  informed the Marathas thar he would gladly
join a conference to drive the English out of India and fovthwith
a coalition was formed consisting ol the Nizam, the Maratlus
and TIaider All. Muhammmad Ali had been asking to combat the
Mysore menace but the Madras Government had paid no heed to

his adyice,

The ‘Triple Alliance of which mention has been made before
was i serions matlee,  The Madras Govermnent was coveupt sl
ineflicient and had lopelessly bungled in dealing with Haider
Ali. Their avmy was clamnouring for pay and its Chief Comman-
der Sir Heator Munro was suffering rom pliysical and mental
deeling, At Calewts twe war had deained the resources of the
Company and the business of the Government wis mueh hnmper-
ed by the quarrel between Hastings and his  eolleagues. At
Bombay oo Lthere was similar financial bankruptey, imbecility,
incompetence and corruption. The issue of the coming way was a
foregone conclusion.

Invasion of the Carnatic

An exact idea of the incompetence of Thomas Rumbold, the
Governor of Madras, may he formed from his farewell minute,
written just on the eve of his departure in which he said that he
was leaving the country in a state of perfect tranquillity, Noth-
ing could i:H‘:mﬂr:: untrue. Haider had made grand prepara-
tions, had callected a force the like of which had never been seen
before in South India. Tt consisted of 83,000 men, a pack of
avtillery containing 100 guns made by European engincers and
his supplies were ably managed by Poornea. In mosques and
temples prayers were offeved for his suceess, The Madras Govern-
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went ridiculed the idea of invasions until inceadisdsm and
coviage rouscd it lvom  fa slomber which has no example in the
history of the world'.V In July 1730 Haider Ali invaded the
Clurnatic with a_tervilic violence and though Burke's rhetorical
outhurst gives us it highly exaggrerated picture of what happened,
thire is o doubl thad e people sulfered - much me the hands of
[ ITERTETTVS

Wilks waites s

el

¢ provident fmpression is erroneous, although  lairly
cloctueible Teone thee veenvds of Madras, that Hadder on
Liis first closeent, perpeirated the wanton nid indiscrim-
Innte destyuction ol he whole country; o measure
direetly subwversive of lus ultimaie views of permanent
conguest, He caleulated on the lapse of a long interval,
Lielens the operations of war, and the aid of a Trench
Corps, should put Tim in pesiession ol Fort St George;
aud around that centre of the British power, and its
maritime communications, he certainly drew a line of
merciless desolation, marked by the continuous blaze of
Naming towns and villages. FHe directed the indiseri-
ininate mutilation ol every human being whe should
linger near the ashes, in  disobedience of the mandate
for instant emigration, accompanied by their flocks and
hepds, thus consigning to the exclusive dominion of the
beasts of the ferest, the desert which he interpased
between himsell and his enemies, This line extended
inland from thirty to fifiy-five miles, according to
cireumstances, and from the head of the lake of Palia-
cate it the nopth, to & sowhern Hmit, within a few
miles of Pondichery, whichof course was included with-
in the scope of his immediatc protection,”?

Burke’s oratorical fancy ran riot in describing the scene :

e

(Haider Ali) drew from every quarter whatsoever his
savage ferocity could add to his new rudimnents in the
art of destruction; and compounding all the materials
of lury, havoe, and desolation intn one black cloud, he
lung for a while on the declivities of the mountains.
Whilst the authors of all these evils were idly and
stupidly gazing on this menacing meteor, which black-
encdall their horizon, it suddenly burst, and poured
down the whole of its contents upon the plains of the
Carnatic. Then ensued a scene of woe, the like of

1, Wilks, South India I, p. 256.

2,

1bid.
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which no eye had seem, no heart conecived, and which
no tangue can adequately tell. ALl the hoveors af war
belore known or heard of were mercy to that new
havoe. A storm of universal fire blasted every ficld,
eonsumed ¢ house, destroyed every temple. The
miscrable inhabitants fecing Nom their foming villages
in part were slaughteved; others with regard Lo sex, to
age, to the respeet of rank or sacrediess of funetion-
fathers torn from children, husbunds from wives, aive
loped fiwa whirlwind of caviley, ad amidst the goading
apears of deivers, and e weampling of pursuing Losses,
were swoept Into captivity inoan unkuovwn ol Diestile
land. Those who wore able o eviele this teapest,
llew (o the walled cities but escaping lrom fre, sword
and exile they [l into the jaws of lamine™

Wilks abscrves that bluck columns o smoke could Do scon
from 8t, Thomas’s Mount, only nine miles feom Madreas s the
victims of Haider's fury poured into the eapital in large num-
bers,  Sir Hector Munro, who was nearly fifty-five years ol age
and possessed neithey military aptitude nor strategical acumen,
procceded (0 Coonjevaram Lo relieve Areot which Haider had
besicged,  Colonel Baillic was despatehed from Guator with 2,813
men to join the Commander-in-Chief, Iaider Ali sent his son
Tipu to prevent this junction and Colonel Baillic informed his
chiefl that it was not possible for him to join, All that Sir Heetor
did to help Baillic was to send Colonel Fletcher with a foree of
1,100 men. Haider surrounded the British troops and defiated
Baillie in un cngagement which resulted in heavy earnage.  The
Mysorcans would have massacred the whole army had it unt
been for the interference of the French officers. Many wer
killed and wounded and vast stores and baggapge [ell into Flaider's
hands. Arcot fell in Qctober, 1780, and Munro theew his heavy
guns into the great tank of Coonjevaram and disgracefully retrea-
ted 1o Madras.

Hastings takes prompt action

Hastings behaved in this crisis with great courage aud cool-
ncss.  He saw that it was impossible for the British to carry on
two wars with such d 'ous enemies as Haider and the Mara-
thas, and therefore deci to take strong action.  He suspended
Whitehill, the officiating Governor of Madyas, and atonce sent
an expeditionary force uider the veteran Commander Sir Eyre
Coote wha had previowsly fought in the Deccan against the
French. He was entrusted with a sum of 15 lakhs of rupees for
the use of the army and Hastings raised a loan for the fivst time
to give further reliel. He weakened Haider's position by

.Hﬁr‘_n'-w—_n
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detaching (rom lim the Mavathas, Early in] 781the Raja of Berar
lud been won over and a little later a treaty was made with
Sindhia by which lie agreed 10 bring about peace between the
other Murathin chiefs'and the British.  These negotiations resul-
ted in the famous Treaty of Sallmi (May, 1782) which separated
thie Marathray from Huider Ali.

Sir Eyre Coote’s Victories

Sir Byre Coote on his arvival at Madras found the army in
t helpless condition,  Te raised their erooping spirits and mar-
ched to the reliel’ of Chingalpat as well ax Wandewash  which
was hesieged by Haider.  Wandewadt was barcly delended by
Licutenant Flint at this time.  When a Ireneh squadvon appea.
vetl off the Coromandel coast, Haider moved down to Cuddalore
which hie  would huwve capturved i the  [rench had helped  him,
Jhut the Prench Admival sailed  back to Bourbon and the English
forces could not make progress. Coote attacked the fortified
temple of Chidambaran but he was deiven back, Encouraged
by this temporary success, Hnider decided torisk a general
engagement. He attacked  the English at Porto Nove (1=t July,
1781) but after heavy fighting on both sides, he was defeated
with a loss of 1,000 men, Another nn%ngr:mcnt was fouglt on
the spot wheve Baelbe's foree was eut off, but it was indecisive
and both sides ¢laimed the victory, A thivd battle followed in
Sﬂ‘)!umhw at Shollinghur in which Haider was completely defea-
ted amne he lost 5,000 wen.

War with the Dutch

Lord Macartney had now become the Governor of Madias.
He wag wn Teish nobleman of high character and ripe experience,
Az way hud broken out between Flolland and, England Flaider
atonce negotiated their co-operation in driving the English out of
India. Lord Macariney atonce planned an attack on Negapatam,
their chiel settlement on the Corvomande!l coast, 1,600 miles
south of Madras, The Duteh were overpowered and the colony
eame into Dritish hands. Soon after Trincomali in Ceylon was
also captured. Although the British arms had triumphed in these
campaigns, the war had so licavily taxed their resources that
they felt the necessity of entering into a treaty with Muhammad
Al (1781). All the revenucs of the Carnatic were assigned to
the Company for a period of five years, reserving one-sixth
exclusively for the use of the Nawab.

Colonel Braithwaite

Colonel Braithwaite had been sent with a force of 2000 men
to proteet Tunjore from Tipu's invasion but he met with great

]
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reverses at the hands of the Mysore army which numbered 20,000
foot and had 20 gums. The English Colonel and his men [ought
bravely but they were at last overpowered. This heavy disaster
was counterbalanced by the success of Major Abingdom at
Tellichery which was besieged by Haider for eighteen months.
The Nairs of Malabar, who were subject to him, derived encou-
ragement from this unfavourable turn of fortune and rebelled
against him and even in Coorg there was an atteinpt to over-
throw his power,

Haider was greatly disappointed at (hese reverses. As he
surveyed his position after two years ol war, he was filled with
gloom and regretted the haste with which he had  declared war
upon the English. The French had deccived him, the Nizamn
had not come to his help and Hastings detached [rom him
the Marathas. War had brought him no advantage so far and
he determined to concentrate his efforts on the western  coast,
the weakest part of his dominions. But luckily for him a ray of
hope became visible when the French Admiral Suffren appearcd
on the coast in 1782 with a large fleet.

Naval Action

The French Admiral was encountered by Sir Bdward Hughes
the commander of English ships and in the course of the year
{1782) four engagements were fought. Suffren landed 2,000 men
on the coast who joined Haider but their junction did not alter
the situation. The great success of De Sufiren, howeyver, was
the capture of Trincoomalee in August 1782. Admiral Huphes
ruturned to Madras and expressed his intention o proceed to
Bombay to putin order lhis vessels which had licen shattered
by a number of hotly contested engagements. He was requested
to stay but he refused to do so. The plight of the English was
deplorable. Haider was master of the Carnatie; the French had
established their power on the seas and were cutting off the
supplies of grainto Madras. To this must be added the dis-
quicting news that Bussy was expected with large enforcements.
A British admiral came at this time with a large fleet but he
also refused to stay at Madras,

Death of Haider

It wat now clear that if Haider was to be subdued, war
must be carried into the heart of his kingdom. Colonel Hum-
berstone landed with a large force and advanced against Palghat,
cne of the strongest fortresses of Haider. He seat Tipu with a
contingent against the Colonel but he was driven back with
heavy loss. Haider decided to leave the Carnatic and to proceed
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to the west coast but he learnt that a French Oeet had landed at
Porte Nove, The French seized Cuddalore and Tipu also
gained some victorivs, The war was ahout to begin again in
the Cavnatic when Haider Ali died of cawcer on the 7ih
December, 1782, at the age of cighty-two.

Atthe suggestion ol his minister Poornea his death was con-
cealed util the amival of Tipu, His dead body was sent to
Seringapataum and was burned there.  Tipu expressed his thanks
to the mindster and all others who had managed the affairs of
the State so well dwing the intervegnum. On the 2ud Jauuary,
1783, Tipu gave audience to the chiel officers of the army and
with [eigned liumility tried to gain theiv gooadwill.

Character of Haider Ali

Haider Ali is one of the most extraordinary characters in
Indian history. He was the architeet of his own fortune, He
had risen from the position ol a common soldicr to the soveri-
cignty of a powerful kingdom,. In person he was middle-sized
and stout and his complexion was dark., He had received no
cducation but lie was a man of penctrating intellect, much prac-
tical sagacity and wonderful memory and possessed an extensive
lmuwlaggc of the science of war and politics, He could do with-
out writing, complicated arithmetical calculations with the
aceuracy of a trained accountant.  He could speak five languages
with fluency und managed his business with order and despatch.
Though fond of pomp and magnificance, he had no trace of
foolish pride or vain glory in him. His habits were simple.
When he sat down to dinner, he ate everything that was served
before him and during his marches lived on scanty fare like a
common soldier. Inhis dvesshe was fond ofred or purple
eolour, and his turban was one hundred cubits in longth, (&
did not like indolent and ease-loving persons and ‘the backs
and sides ol hisnegligent and extortionate servants were frequent-
ly softencd by stripes of the whip’? Men who talked much
did not find favour with him and in his assemblies only such
things were discussed us ‘the order and regulation of kingdoms
and empires’ or swords, muskets, jewels, horscs, elephants, or
invigorating medicines.? He was fond of horses and showed
special favour to horse dealers and gave them rich presents when
he purchased a horse. He was a shrewd judge of character and
appreciated the work of a person soldier or civilian, irrespective
of his caste and religion, His favourite minister was Poornea,

1, Mir Husain Ali Khan, History of Hyder Naik, p. 476.
2. M, M. D. L. T. History of Hyder Shah, p. 259,
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a Brahman, in whom he reposed great eonfidence and whe
managed all his affairs with ability and success. He liked hrave
men and on occasions put up patiently with their petulence aud
coarseness, He superintended the work of wvarious bran-
ches of the administration in person and attended (o the minulest
details, He employed capable men as lis ollicers, and in every
deparmment appointed a news-recorder, o nunber of Huarkaras
and a seeret writer, who kept him informed of the doings of his
officers,  Somuetinuey he went in disguise fnto e steeets to aseer-
tain the condition and grievances of the people.  Tle was o
typical despot whose orders were cirricd ont with rutliless vigour,
Like many ather men of his age, he was {ond of pleasure and
the intervals of luis leisure were enlivened by the porformances
of dancing givls. He was both generous andd mean and sone-
times inflicted the most brutal punishments on his prisoners.
He did not care much for religion and refused to take sides in
scctarian disputes. On  one oceasion when a guarrel broke out
between the Shias and Sunnis, he is reported to have said:

“If you ever again waste and destroy youwr time and that
of the Emﬁ? in such an irveverent wicked dispute, you
may rely on it, a camel bag and a nallet will be ready
for you.'

A Buropean who saw him writes:

“What religion people profess or whether they profess any
at all, thatis perfectly indeficient to him. He has
nonc himself, and leaves every one to his choice,"®

He was a great soldier. He had a large army well trained
and disciplined by PBuropean and Indian officers. He had a
European force under a Frenchman and a squadron of Hussars
under a German, He had a keen eye for young men who were
fit for military purposes and felt no dificulty in seleeting recruits.
He had an intimate Immv!cdglu of armsy and weapons of all kinds.
He was always anxious [or the welfare of his soldiers and sup-
plicd them with money, military stoves and grain for men and
cattle. He :fnul: large sums of moncey in constructing forts and
ramparts and did everything to make his military organization
strong and efficient. He had raised a battalion of orphans too
whom he had brought up at his own expense.?

I. Mir Husain Ali Khan, History of Hyder Nalk, p, 484.
2, John Wilks, South of India, Vol. I, p. 576.

2. Wilks, II, p. 577.

The total strength of Haider’s army is estimated at
1,62,500 by Mir Husain Ali Khan, See appendex
on p. 513. The French authority puts it at 1,50,000.
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Haider was master of a large kingdom which extended over
an avea of 80,000 square miles and yielded revenue amounting
to 2 crores of rupees. That he administered those cxtensive
territovies successfully is clear from Swartz's testimony:

“When I sal near Hyder naik, I particularly observed in
whitt & vegulir succession, and with what rapid des-
pateh iy allnivs proceedod one after the other.  When-
ever hie mode a pause in speaking, an account was read
to him of the district, and letters received. He heard
it, and ovdeved the answer immediately.  The writers
vty wrote the letter, read it, and Hyder affixed his
geal. Thus, in one cvening, a  grest many letters
wore expedited.  Hlyder ean neither read nor write,
hut his memory is execllent, He orders one man to
write a letter and read it to him, then he calls an-
other to read it again. Il the writer has in the least
deviated From his orders, liis head pays for it,™

Tipu's position

Tipu inherited from his father a large kingdom, a ireasure
amotmting to three croves of rupees and jewels of incalculable
value, He possissed a large army containing more than 1,00,000
men, brained and disciplined by European as well as Indian offi-
cors. Wit these resources he decided to continue the war against
the English.

War continued

War was continued by Tipu, Sir Eyre Coote had left on
account af ill-healli from Bengal where he died soon afterwards.
e was succeeded in command by General Stuart who possessed
none of the qualities of a great soldier. He was headstrong,
incompetent and unwilling to carry out orders and remained
inactive for two months, Meanwhile Bussy landed at Cudda-
lore on the 10th April, 1783, but he found on his avrival that
the foree which Tipu had lelt to co-operate with him was inade-
guate. Stuart also moved towards Cuddalore Several skirmishes
were fought between the two armics. But his blunders weakened
the English position and Bussy was about to deal a decisive blow
when the news came Uhat the Treaty of Versailles had  been sign-
ed between the English and the French. On his arrival in Mad-
ras General Stuart was taken into custody by Lord Macartney
and sent (o England,

1. Wilks, South India 11, pp. 57579,
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Meanwhile the Bombay Government had sent General
Mathews to attack Bednore whieh surrendered unconditionally,
But Tipu soon recovered it,  Then he turned to the sicge of
Mangalore which offered a strenuous registance for nine months
and did not survender wntil the garvison was yeduced to H50
men.  Another expedition under Fullerton eaptured  the fort of
Palghat and the City of Colmbatore mmld cf“""i““"'-'-l lo wlvance nn
Seringapatam. But his plan was thwarted by the Madras Gover-
nor who asked lLim to suspend all operations.  Thus was Gene-
ral Fullerton's progress avrested by the action of the Governae,

Treaty of Mangalore March 1784

Lord Macartney nﬁnnutlncgmial.iun with Tipu in spite of Tas-
tings’ instructions to the contrary, Hastings' view was that the
terms of peace should be dictated beneath the walls of Seringa-
patam as Haider had donc in the previouns war at the gates ol
Madras, Government committed a great folly in asking Fullerion
to withdraswv and in conducting these negotiations ‘fully main-
tained on this occasion their traditionary characteristic of inbeei-
lity,"

The Commissioners of Madras Government who were sent to
conclude the treaty waited upon Tipu at Mangalore. They
were admitted into his presence and treated with studied disres-

ct. They bewailed tﬁc emptiness of their treasury, the ex-
austion of their credit and the impossibility ol getting supplies
from Bengal., At last the Treaty of Mangalore was signed by
which mutual restitution of conquests was agreed wpon and
Tipu took good care to make it appear that the English were the
suppliants for peace. The treaty brought much diseredit upon
the Government of Madras and Jowered the reputation of the
Company. Tipu's haughtiness found expression in the follow-
ing announcement;

“The English Commissioners stood with their heads un-
covered and the treaty in their hands for two hours, using every
form of flattery and supplication toinduce compliance, The vakils
of Poona and Hyderabad united in the most abject entreaties

and his Majesty the Shadow of God, was at length softened into
assent,”

The Bengal Government objected to this treaty on several
grounds, The Nawab of Carnatic was not mentioned in the
treaty although it was made to sccure the peace of his domin-
ions, There was no provision to secure the Company or Muham-
mad Ali against the old claims of Mysore upon %richinupnly.

1. Marshman, History of India, Abridged edition p. 204
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Nut]ﬁniwu said about peace with the Marathas. Lastly, the
clause that the English were not to assist the cnemies of Tipu,
or make war ﬁmnhiﬂaﬂica, was contrary to their instructions
of the 14th November, 1783, As disavowal of the treaty at
this stage was bound to Iead to conlusion and embarrassment to
the Company's affuirs it was ratified and & desive was essed
that additional stipulations should be submitted to Tipu for
consideration,

Whatever suceess was achieved by the English in these GE::
ations was due to the ability, encrgy and vigour of Warren 1
tings. 'The incompetent Government of Madras weuld have
ruined. English intercsts had it not been for the timely assist-
ance rvelered by him. In fairness onc thing must be said in
lavour of the Madras Government. [t was much troubled by
the quarvels between the army officers who held their Commis-
sions from the King and the officers of the Company, The situ-
ation was rendered worse by the difference between the Madras
and Bengal Government and the absence of a common superior
who could control both and give final decisions in eritical
INOMmEenes.



CHAPTER VIII

Warren Hastings as Governor of Bengal

Early eareer of Warren Hastings

In April 1772 Cartier was succeeded by Warren Flastings
who lad already been in the servies of the Company Toe o linle
more than 20 years, Born at Chorchill in Oxfordshire an De-
cember G in 1‘;'32 hie had been educatod at Westminster  where
he showed uncommon intellectual powers.  He came out 1o Tndia
in 1750 as a writer in the Company’s service at Calewitn, His
pay in the first year amounted only to /36 but what made the
Clompany’s service attractive in spite of these low emolumoents was
the opportunity of engaging in trade on one’s own agcount. Fas-
tings lad shown husiness instinets from the wery staet and he
acquircd a good knowledge of trade and  the people among
whom he worked.  When Sirajudowlul’s army advanced upon
Caleutta, Hastings was  imprisoned at  Murshidabad but Te
was released  after a short time. Ee  owed his release
to his own tact and diplomacy and even at this carly period
of his life he became a Favourite with the Indinn aristoeraey. Alter
tic Battle of Plassey in August 1758 he was appeinicd Resideut
at Mir Jalar's court. He utilised this opportunity to his best
advantage.  He eame in contaet  with the officers of the Staite
and the leading men of the Province, and as he was acquainted
with Persian, he learnt o good deal about thelr eharieter, hubits
and ways of life. In February, 1761 he left Murshidabad to take
his scat on the Clouncil Board at Caleutta, and then he found
himsell in a different position, for the Presiding Officer Mr. Van-
sittart was opposed by all the members. Hastings was cmployetd
in important dutics and scoms to have earned a decent eompe-
tence for himself. Tn 1754 he returned to England alter the
Battle of Buxar and it is said his fortune amounted to £ 30,000,
The atmosphere of the East India House was very corrupt. The
servants of the Company called ‘Nabobs® by reason of the wealth
which they had brought from India, wiclded much influence by
and lavish bribes and gifts made their way into the Parliament,
The situation became deplorable and the Indian question attract-
cd the attention of the Ministers, the chiel of whom the Earl aof
Chatham, denounced the  bancelul effect of eiches and hocury an
the British  character and constitution.  Wlhen Parliament ook
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up the matter in 1767 a number of persons were called upon to
give cvidence, Warren Hastings was also among them and it
is said the members of the Committes who examined the witnes-
ses wore greatly impressed by his prompt, masterly and intelligent
expositions.  Hastings was in need of employment and theough
Cllive's gond offices was appointed sccond member of Couneil at
Madras, He left for India in March 1769 and during his voyage
lell in Jove with a eertain Mrs, Imhofl whom he afterwards took
for wife, At Madras he was placed in chavge of the Investment
on which depended the dividends ol the Company. In this post
Hastings pave evidence of his sagacity and  [oresight with the
result that in 1771 he was clevated to the position of Governor
ol Rengal. He knew of the difficultics and dangers that lay
# head, As his latest biographer says. In his  forticth year he
had reached the top of the 1ree, but it was here thut the danper
ol fall hecame the greatest. He left Madras in February 1772
and entered on his new dutics alter a couple of months,

The situation in Bengal

The condition of Bengal was as bad as that of the Clarnatic,
The famine of 1770 had cansed havoe in the city of Culeutta and
Bengal and Behar were practically yuined, There wasno system of
Famiite: rvelicl and the recovery had been slow indeed. Clive’s dual
system hadl led Lo great evils.  The Nawab's authority had heen
destroyed but  no proper substitute was found, The Com-
pany held the Dewani of Bengal by the Emperor’s grant and
ruled the Province jointly with the Nawab., Yet the only dis-
tricts which the Emperor held, i, ¢. Kara and Allahabad werc 2
gilt from the Company and the Nawab held his office merely by
their permission. e Company still nominally owed alle-
gianee and paid tribute to the Emperor, but he was at Delhi, in
the hands of the Marathas, the mest dangerous rivals of the
English, The tribute which the English paid him and the
revenuies of Kara and Allahabad were simply additions to the
power of the Marathas,

The recognition of these facts-—the Emperor a pawn in the
hands of the Marathas, and the Nawaly his representative, a non-
entily—meant & revolution in the position of the Company and
implicd that the burden of Government ghould be shouldered by
it. The territorics held by the British were acquired in a variety
of ways. They may be divided into three classes. The first
class were comprised of the diswicts of Burdwan, Midnapur
and Chitt aceuired in 1760 which were held Feee of revenue,
The second elass consisted of Caleutta itself and the twenty-four
Parganas obtained alter the Baitle of Plassey, In the thivd
class were included Bengal, Behar and Orissa of which the
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Company was the Dewan, i. e. had the right to collect the re-
venues and administer the finanees, Owt of the revenues thus
collected they paid 26 lakhs to the Emperor and 32 lakhs to the
Nawab of Bengal and kept the surplus to themselves,

Thedoyble government of Glivewhich estallished povwer witl-
out responsibility had broken down.  The Company aceepted no
responsibility for the administration of the Country and weaken-
ed the Nawal'’s authority by dishanding his army which they
vegarded as an unneecssary ilem ol expense,  There was no
machinery by which law and order could he enlreedamd revenue
could he propecly collected, A distinguished weiter Uhas deseribes
the effeets of the Dual Systein:

“I'he chiclvesult of the Dual System was lo let loose i
horde of minor officials to prey on the peasants. The
minister was helpless as he could not enforee his auth-
ority, and the Bnglish were largely indifferent. The
few who were sympathetic had not the necessary know-
ledge, cxpericnce or power to intervenc elfectively.
There inevitably followed a rapid inercase of interval
disorder.  Crime, dacoity, vagabondage grew by leaps
ancd hounds, The oppression of the peasants led to
deerease in cultivalion, and that 1o a loss of revenue
as peasants lelt their land and despair, Thus the
famine was not the only cause of the return of the

jungle. Incursions of bands of roving robbersand

cggars and of neighbouring hill tribes grew yearly
more serious. And in a very short time Bengal was
recluced to a pitiable state.

Speaking of this system Becher, the Resident at Mushidabad
wrotc:

&1t must give pain to an Englishman to have reason to
think, that sinee the aceession of the Company to the
Diwani, the condition of the people of this country has
heen worse than it was befove; and yet 1 am alvaid the
fact is undoubited, This one country, which flourished
under the most despotie and arbitrary government,
is verging towards its ruin, while the English have
really so great a share in the administration.”

The constitution of the government of the Company was
highly defective, The services were corrupt and young English
men exercised unlimited authority in their districts. As Hastings
said, the boys of the service were the sovereigns of the country

(1) M, Davics, Warren Hastings, p. 74,
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undey the unmeaning title of supervisors, collectors of the reve-
nue, adminisirators of justice and rulers of the people. The
Governor and Couneil had no real authority and were powerless
to administer the affairs of a large dominion. There was great
need to establish a centralised authority with wide powers,

'The Dual  Systein had no doubt worked to the vuin of the
L‘.UIJLH.I'%HIEI. Its peaple.  Dut it was not  casy to find an alterna-
tive. were were diffienlties of enforeing an English system in
s cowntry which had never known it.  Ina letter Hastings decla-
ved that the relorms needed were no more than a return to the
best usages of the Mughal vule. The dilieulty of working an
Inclian system by an English personnel without an intimate know-
ledge of Indian conditions, law and custom was enormous,

Such was the state of affairs in B with which Hastings
had to deal. Fe approached his task with patience, boldness and
v_;lﬁour with 2 mind entively lvee [rom prejudice and dogmatism.
His appreciation of Dndian conditions enabled him to aveid the
pitfalls into which a mere theovist is apt to fall, He summed
up his progeamime in these words :

(1) Toimplant the awhority ol the Company and the
sovercignty of Great Britain in the constitution of this
country.

(2) To abolish all sceret influence, and make the Govern-
ment dtsell responsible for all measures, by making
them all pass by its avowed authority,

(3) To remove all impediments which prevented the com-
plaints of the people fom reaching the ears of the
supreme administration, or cstablished an indepondent
despotism in its agents,

(4) To relieve the ryols from oppressive taxes,

(3) To introduce a regular system of justice and protection
in the couniry,

{6) Ta relieve the distress of the Company and pay off their
heavy debts here by a miform ant[v rcguf:r mode of
collecting their rents, by savings in expenses and by
foreign acquisitions of wealth.

{7) To enlarge the palitical influence of the Company with-

out enlarging the territory or dividing their military
strength.!

1. The trial of Mulammad Reza Khan and Shitab  Roy was
politieal in its nature.
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REFORMS OF HASTINGS

End of Dual System

Hastings abolished the Dual System ol Clive which had led
to serious isgoverniment and oppression of the people and in
this lu: was lully supported by the Divectors, "Uhe Company now
declaved it intontion to stand  Dorthor ns Dewan ool Thostings
dismissed the two Deputy Nawals Muolsoaomad Reen Koo ol
Shituly Roy from the Dewnnship ol the Provinees of Bengul
Behar vespectively.  They were arrested on charges ol speanlation
Bt nothiinge could Bie provved agaiust thom and ey wore Goodly
aciuitted. In place of the two Boards of Revenue ot Murshid-
abad and  Patua, he ercated o single Boned of Revenue al Cal-
cutta and removed the Treasury (Khalsa) from Murshicdabd
to Caleuttn. The Indian yevenue collectors were abolished and
their place was taken by English colleetors.  The Nawah was
deprived of the pawers of government, and was reduced (o the
position of a mere pensioner of the Company,  His allowinee
was cut down from 32 to 16 lakhs and thus a large saving was
elfected.  As the Nawal was a minoy, Hastings appointed Munni
Begam, Mir Jufar's widow as his regent in prelevence (o the
Nuwab's mother and aceepted one and o Iuldl lnkhs feotn the
lady for himself—a payment which even members of Couneil did
not consider justifiable. The appeintment, however, served
Hastings’ purpose for the relations Letween him and Munni

Hastings (o proanre evidenceand ‘labring to lightany vm-
hezelement, lrautd, or malversition which may have beon
conmmitted in the oflice of the Naily Dewin ) "This anons-
trows business® was encouraged by the Dircetors who
weate 1o Hastings,

e thnt you are too well apprised of the subtlety and
disposition of Nuncomar to yield him any post of anth-
ovity which may be turned to his own advantage or
detrimental to the Company's interest. Thongh we
have thought it necessary to intimate to you how little
we are disposed to delegate any power or inlluence to
Nuncomar yet should his inlormation and assistance
be serviceable to you in your investigation of the eon-
duct of Muhammad Reza Khan, you will yield him such
encouragement and reward as his trouble and the

: extent of his services may descrve.”

Raja Shitab Roy was a man of high chaacter, e died of a
broken heart soon alfter his release and Hastings tricd to
make amends Tor his mistake by appointing his son Kal-
yan Singh as Rai Rayan for Behar,
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Begam had always been most cordinl.  The post of Dewan or
Superintendent of the Houschold was given to Raja Gura Das,
gon of Nand Kumar, obviously asa veward for what his father
Iiael lone to procure cvidence againgt Reza Khan,

Trade Reforms

The commercial cluwacter of the English government in
Hengrad st be Borne inomind (o understand the monsures which
Hastings  devised 1o improve e tracdde: conditions,  As has heen
siid beforve, the trade of Bengal external as wall a5 internal wis
i s wiseruble condition.  In 1770 the foreign trade amounted
to not mare than £ 1L,00,000 uud the internal trade was hamper-
el by numerons tolls el waxes (hat were levied b Zamingzu'a
sl oflicinds and  the monopely that was enjoyed by the Com-
paany™ servinits,  Flustings abolished the dasiak and the trade of
Bengal was thrown open to all. Hesuppresed the custom houscs
ol Zumindars which prevented the casy passage of gouds fom one
part of the Provines to the other. The only customs houses which
wire allowed to existwere at Caleutta, Hugli, Murshidubad, Patna
and Dacea, "The oppression of the Bengal weavers by the ‘gum-
ashtas’ of the Company had led to a deeline in cotten picecgoods
trade and a deterioration ol its quality, The Directors ordered
the abslition ol the ‘gumashing’ and  replaced the old system by
a [iee competition of cantractors, Hastings was opposed (o [vee
comnpetition, thinking that it would leave too little control over
the producers but the Dirvectors were adamant and free competi-
tiooe was enforced.  The fiest effect of the measure was to raise
the cost  of investiment [or the prices were restored to a mere
noral level, A ‘Compiroller of the Investment’ was appointed in
Deeember 1773 1o ook after investment and the business trans-
actions of the Company. A uniform duty of 2§ per cent, was
to he levied on all goods except salt, betel nut and lobaces and
no discrimination was made between the Company, its European
tuerchants and Indians.  Steps were taken to encowrage forei
trade wnd Iastings negotiated commercial treaties with the
Nawab Vizier and the Raja of Benaves aned explored the possili-
lities of having trade relations with Tibet, China and Egypt.
One more important change is due to Hastings. He tried to
give the Dircetors a new outlook by telling them that they were
no longer a body of traders but masters of a large domain with
new duties and responsibilities. He declared thal revenue was
more important thay profits of trade and that investment ought
not to occupy the foremost place in their programme.

A practice had sprung up in Bengal of issuing interest notes
on the Caleutta Treasury to pay for the investment goods under
Messrs, Verelst and Cartier. By 1773 a sum of [ 95,636 was
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being paid annually as interest on this account. The Divectors
insisted on larger investments regardless of the exhaosted state ol
the country. Hastings stopped the practice of issuing notes and
paic the investinent contractors in cash. A loan of Rs, 25 lakhs
was raised to mect the cxtra burden on the treasury but by
August 1774 it was able to meet all Hahilities without any fur
ther horvnwing,

Land Revenue

The equitalile and highly developed Moglal - revenoe sysiem
Ligel Droken down in the elhwos 1ht  followed (he downlidl of the
Empire. The aceountants sl Qanungos haal disappeared and
the old village communitics had decayed.  The eultivibors were
deprived of all r}Jn:lte‘.:v:tim'. againgt extortion and oppression and
the revenue had greatly declined. Some sort of system way essen-
tial. Butthe English were woefully ignorant of this branch of
the administration as it was the most difficult to understand,

The land revenue systemn of Bengalwas in a state of confusion.
As the Company held the Dewani, it was their duty to collect the
revenues. The colleetion was entrusied to Zamindars who were
in practice heveditary and in some districts belonged to rich and
noble families. The peasants were often at the merey of the
Zamindars against whom they had no redress, The payment of
revenue depended upon the power of the Zamindar to defy. I
he was a powerful man, he rackrented the peasantry and paid
little to the Goveinment. In 1769 English ‘Supervisors' were
appointed to safeguarvd the interests of the #yof and supervise the
working of the courts of justice. But this system [ailed because
the supervisors had no direct responsibility; they were merely
asked to supervise the work of Indian oflicials, Secondly, they
were not under the Council of Calcutta which had no control
over them. Indced, it was treated with scant regard by the Coun-
cil of Revenueset up at Murshidabad, Thirdly, they were all-
owed Lo engage in private trade and this led to preat abuses,
The result was that the Company was faced with financial bank-
ruptey which was aggravated by the famine of1770. The Company
saw these evils and felt that the only way to remedy them wis to
assume direct responsibility for the administration of Bengal.
The Directors decided to take over the administration of revenue
from Indian hands and the task was entrusted to Warren Has-
tings.

When Hastings assumed charge of the administration of
Bengal, he saw clearly that the system nceded to he reformed.
The produce of land was shared hetween three parties—the State,
the Zamindar and the cultivator. A just distribution between
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these three vequived a thorough understanding of the problum
involved; un exact knowledge of the value of cvery estate and
holding; an  cfficient system of collection and asystem ol law
courts.

In May 1772 the Governor and Council reached certain deci-
sioms in regard to  the revenue and administeation which may be
simmed up as lollows:

(1} The lands were to be let out to revenue farmers for a
period of 5 years, (2) A Committee of Civeuit, consisting of
the Governor and four members of the Council, was o be appoin-
ted to visit the principal districts and form the five years’ settle-
ments.  (3) The Supervisors posted in the distriets were hence-
forth to be called Collectors (4) No  banya or agent of the Collec-
tors should be  permitted to farm any” portion of Lthe revenues,
(5) Presents to the Collectovs fonn Zamindars and from (e rpols
to the Zamindars were not allowed. (6) The Collectors and
their agents  were not allowed to advance money to the ryls.
Such were the labours which the Committee ol Circnit set Lo
themselves,  They desired  “to secure the inhabitnts the quiet
posscasion of the lands, while they held them on terms of culti-
vation’. The leases granted to the farmers were to record preci-
sely the exact claims of the ryols and all demands not included
in the lease vendered the former contractors to whom the Jands
were farmed liable (o severe penalties, The rpols were Lo be
given pattas by the farmers in which conditions of the holding
and the amount to be paid were stated clearly, A regular cstab-
lishment was provided in the EKutcheries of the distriet to keep
the charges of collection within certain limits.?

The lands were [armed to the existing Zamindars for a
period of five years with a view to give them some sincerity and
# new assessment was made after making enquirics into the pro-
ducﬂvit‘r of land in cach district. The interests of the ryots were
guarded by gpaftas which have been mentioned before. Hastin
Judged it advantageous to enter into agreements with the old
Zamindars because he thought that their entire deprivation would
be prejudicial to revenue.  As they had long been in the business,
he concluded they had aequired an ascendancy over the
minds of the ryofs and ingratiated their affcetions” He expected
solid advantages ‘from continuing the lands under the manage-
ment of those who had a natural and perpetual interest in their
prosperity.® This was the argument which Hastings put for-
ward in support of his five-year settlement.

(1) Fifth Report on East India Affairs I p. CCXVI
(2) Ibid, p. COXVII
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The problem of devising a system of collection was the next
difliculty, Hitherto the English ‘Supervisors’ provided such agency.
But they were  unjust and rapacious,  As Hastings did not dare
do away with them altogether, for fear of letting loose an army
of ficree ogponcnfs who would do their Dest to thwart all the
measures of the administration, he greatly reduced their powas
and changed their designation to that of ‘Collector’.  His policy
was to bring Government inta dircet touch with the land property
owners and abolishing ‘intermediate ageneies’,

Saoon after this scttlement, took place that change in Govern-
ment which has been  dealt with previously and which involved
the removal ol the principal offices from  Murshidibad o
Calcutea, A

Even this system did not satisfy Hastings. The Collectors
were allowed to engage in privale trade and so long as this
practice continued, they and their agents were bound o resort
to shifty ways to the detrimiment of the Company and the ryof,
In 1774 he was able to persuade the Divectors to abelish the
Collectors and to  substitute for them District Boards which
were presided over by members o Council. These Boards did
revenue work and exercised civil jurisdiction subject to the
control of the Supreme Council or its Revenue Board at
Calcutta, But cven this systéem did not yield satisfactory
results, The withdrawal of Collectors from districts checked
the growth of a sense of responsibility among the junior officers
of the Company, It reduced the number of European officers,
and deprived those who remained, of the opportunity of ﬂEl}jlir-
ing lmowledge of revenue matters. The Directors must bear
the blame for these experiments. It has been srated with truth
that so long as the stipulated revenue was paid, they did not
trouble themaelves about the method of collection.

The Company’s Sefvice

Hastings made a bold atterapt to purily the Company's
scrvice. The Collectors were at one time regarded as ‘corrupt
tyrants' and honesty was rare among them. e chiel’ caunscof
this was the permission to engage in private trade which could
not be withheld so long as the Company paid low salaries.
Suill, Hastings made a nunber of regulations to restrict private
trade and abolished the dastak whi:‘:tf’:n was a source of great
trouble. A uniform duty was also levied upon goods of all
servants of the Comipany as well as Indian merchants and this
cficcted a great improvement in the morale of the service.

This was all, It must he frankly admitted that he did not
succced in  purilying the administration. Had he done so,
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Cornwallice would not have found it so corrupt and full of abuses
in 1786, Hastings' zcal for reform knew no bounds but he was
much handicapped in his work by the attitude of the Directors.
They did not support him, Some of them wanted reform but
there were many others who were fond of patronage and were
ready to condone [aults. Hastings did not abolish the Collectors
altogether in 1772 for

siliere were amongst them so many sons, cousing, ol plever
ol Divectors and intimatcs of the members of the
Council, that it was better ro let them remain than
provoke an army of opponents against cvery act ol
administration .. :, .......They continue but their
power is vetrenched.'!

Administration of Justice

The Mugal system of justice wis suceeeded by another con-
trolled by Zamindars and officials who were often  avbitrary and
capricious. Under the Nawabi there were two main channels
of justice: The Diwan dealt with civil cases, the Nazim with
criminal cases but their juvisdiction was not clearly defined.
By 1772 these two officers were overshadowed by a numbey of
subordinate courts that had come into existence. There were
ten officers of justice with their respective courts.

1. The Nazim, as Suprcine Magistrate personully lvicd
capital offences and held his court every Sunday which was
called the Roz adalal.

2. The Diwan tricd such cases as related 1o property, but
seldom exercised that authority in person,

3. The Darogha Adalat ul Aliyn was the Deputy of the
Wazim. He tricd all cases of property excepting claims of land
and inheritance; he also took cognisance of quarrels, affrays and
abusive names,

4. The Davogha Adalat Diwani or Diputy of the Dewa,
He was the Judge of property in land,

5, The Faujdar was the oflicer of the police and decidecd
all erimes not capital,

6. The Qazi tried all cases ol inheritnnee or succession,

7. The Muhtsib was the censor of public moral and also
examined weights and measures,

. GluglI, p. 319.
10
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8. The Mufti expounded the Law.}

The Qazi was assisted by the Mufti and the Muhtsib.
The Mufti wrote the Fatwa nmi' the Qazi delivered the judgment.
After the Qazior Muhtsib disapproved of the Falwa, the case
was referred to the Nazim who sununoncd a gencral assembly
consisting of law officers and lexined men and the decision of
this body was final,

In the countryside (he court ol Zumindars dispensed @
rough and ready justice,

Hastings pointed out the deleets of the courts,  One court
encroached wpon the juvisdiction ol the other and there wis
no provision for the distribution of justice in distant parts ol the

ovince. Nominally the courts were open to, all mew
ut in reality only the rvich and vagabonds iravelled long
distance to seck their help, The Collectors and Zamindars
oppressed the people and made money [or themselves. Such
wa;s the cumbrous judicial system of Hengal helore Hastings'
reform.

The fgoverning principle of Hastings' relorm as a modern
writer remarks was Preservation and not Innovation,'t He did
not brush aside the indigenous system and never thought of re-
placing it by new principles, codes and courts. He wanted such
reforms as were in consonance with the customs, traditions and
beliefs of the people and implied no break from the past. He
sought to correct the delvcts of the Indian syslems without des-
troying them. With the help of the Committee of Civeuit, Flastings
drew up a scheme of judicial veform in August 1772, Three
main features are clearly noticeable.

1) The district was taken as the unit of the administration
and 1in'each district were established Civil and Criminal courts
called the Mufassil Dewani Adalat and Mufassil Faujdari Adalat
respectively. The matters cognisable in either courts were
clearly defined to simplify and reconcile the two types, Justice
was made possible for all. The jurisdiction of the Diwani Adalat
cxtended to causes of (a) property, real or personal, (b) inheri-
tance, marriage or caste disputes, {¢) debt contract, rent ete, But
it was laid down that the questions of succession to Zamindaris
and Talugadaris were outside the jurisdiction of these courts.

}  Forrest Selections [vom the State Papers of Hastings IT,
Appendix B,
2, Davies Administration of Warren Hastings. p. 49.
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This cxception sccured to the Government the power to make
a fresh settlement alter the expiry of five years.

The jurisdiction of the Adalat Faujdari extended to cases
of (1) murder, robbery, thelt, etc., (2) felony, lorgery, pegury,
(3) assaults, affrays, quarrels, adultery and every other breach of
the peace and trespass,  In this cowrt the Judpge had the power
to infliet corporal punishment, imprisonment, work on the roads
and fine. But capital sentences or those of confiscation could

not be exceuted without confinmation by the court of Sadar
Adalatr at Caleutta,

(2) Above theselocal courts were established at Fort William
two superior courds called the Sadar Diwani Adalat and the
Sadar Niznmat Adalat with appellate jurisdiction. The appeals
were made from  the Distriet Diwani and Faujdarvi Couvts, In
the Sadar Diwani Adalat the appeals were heard by the Presi-
dent and two councillors &ssistcx by the Diwan of the Khalsa,
the Head Qanungoe and other officers of the Kutchery. In
the absence of the President & third member of Council was
invited to assist,

In the Sadar NizamatAdalat a Deputy of the Nazim presided
known as the Darogha Adalat. Hec was assisted by the Chiefl
Qazi, the Chiel Mufti and other lewmed Maulvis and their duty
was to hoar appeuls from e District Nizamat Adalat. The
capital sentences were investigated by this court. If the deci-
sions were upheld by the appellate court, the sentences received
the Nawab’s formal warrant and were returned to the district
courts for exccution. The President and Council, however

reserved to themselves the vight of control over the decisions of
the court.

{’?If} All vexatious fues and Judge's perquisites  were abolish-
ed. The place of the latter was taken by fixed salaries which
ensurcd lhonesty and cheapness. The reforms also included
general principles for improving the practice of law. Chiel
among theso were an order for recording all procedure, in the
courts of every degree, a time-limit set to all litigation, the abo-
lition of legal ‘Chauth’ and heavy fines, the inhibition of the
creditor’s vight of jurisdiction in his own cause as in the case of
Zamindars and the encouragement of arbitration to settle cases
of disputed property.

These reforms had their effcet.  The tyranny of the Magis-
trate and the Zamindar was put an end to. The jurisdiction
of the Zamindar was limited. The head foreman of each pargana
could settle on the spot disputes arising between gots to the
valuye of Re. 10 but they waere. given no powar of imprisonment



148 India in the Bighteenth Century

or fine and complaints could be lodged against them inthe
District Courts.

A disputed question was the position of the Mayor's Court
which had been cstablished by a Charter in Lthe carly years of
the settlement to protect and contral the servants of the Company
in their dealings with one awother and against the claims ol
the native officials.  Hastings had no authority o rveform this
court and he could only do his best 1o prevent the abuse ol its
authority.

Hastigzs cansed o eompilatinn ol Dinda Civil Lasy s Toe
this purpose ten learned Pandits were invited 1o Caleuttn. They
prepared a Code in Sanskrit which was laer translated into
Persian and then into English.

In all these c:hm:qm Hastings had one questinn uppermost
in his mind, It was this : which system would conduee most Lo
the happiness and contentment ol the peopic, “It would be a
gricvance'’, he said *“to deprive the people of the protection ol
their own laws, but it would be wanton tyranny to require their
obedience (o others of which they hayve no possible means of
acquiring knowledge.”

Currency Reform. A sound and stable currcuey was introdu-
cod by Warren Hastings. A rupee coin of standard weight and
fineness was issued from the Government mint at Claleutta in
place of rupces of many dilferont values, issued at different
places and subjcet to rapid depreciation. A bank was also cstab-
lished at Calcutta.

The Army. The internal administration of the Province
being taken over, it was nccessary to reorganize the army. It
was brought more effectually under the civil authority and the
disorderly rabble called the Pargana Battalions, intended for the
unmilitary work of collecting vevenue, was disbanded and

amalgamated with the regular brigades.

Suppression of lawlessness, The evil of dual goverminent had
let loose an army ol dacoits in the country varying [rom small
partics to troops ol 400 or 500, Anxious as Hastings was for the
security of life and property he ordered that dacoits should be
hanged in their villages, their familics should be reduced to slavery
and the village should be fined. Another evil similarly dealt
with was that of the Sanyasis, whom Hastings wrongly called
‘the i?sics of Hindustan’. The Sanyasis were wandering beggers
and belonged to both the Hindu and Muslim communities. They
roamed about the country in parties of one thousand to ren
thousand and as they were [ully armed they caused much trouble
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and disorder. They ravaged the country, kidnapped children
and plundered the population and it was found extremely
diflicult to Jnmt them down because of their rapid movements
anel the roverence with  which they were regarded by the over-
eredulous and  superstitions peasantry of Bengal, Two expedi-
tions, sent against them were destroyed and their officers killed
It auother force nnder  Captain Stewart succeeded in defeating
the Sanyasis.  An allusion to the depredations of these beggarly
Landits is made in the works ol the lamous Bengali novelist,

Bankin Ghandia Clintterjee.

Mission (o Tibet. Tlustings always desired to give the Com-
poury's  tevritories well-punrded frontiers.  When  the Bhutias
invaded the State of KuchBichar, the Raja appealed to the British
for Iielp, A small foree was sent but the Bhutias fought with such
valour that Captain Jones succeeded in capturing the place alter
great dilficulties.  Nearly one hmndved of his detachment  were
killed and wounded, After o good deal of fighting the mountain-
cars were over-powered and expelled rom Kuch Behar, From this
eampaign originated the [amous mission to Tibet. A young
civilian was deputed by Warren Hastings to explore the possi-
hilities ol opening trade velations with Tibet,  Fle was asked to
gather information about the people of the country and the rviver
Bralimaputra.  The mission was a Miline and Dogle, the officer,
who was sent, hadl to return owing o the pressure of the Chinese
authorities who were alavmed at the advent of the British,

THastings and the Emperar. It has been said ina previeus chap-
ter that the Mughal Emperor had gone to Delhi under the pro-
tection of the Marathas, He had Decome a tool in their hands
and Hastings fully realised that their proximity to British ter-
ritorics was *a snare and Menacing danger’. He acted promptly
and stopped the allowance of 26 lakhs of rupees which the
Company had agreed to pay to Emperor. Further, he decided
to vestore the districts of Kara and Allahabad which the

(1) Inthe Memoivs of Warren Hastings by Gleig I, p. 305,
the Sanyasis arc deseribed as the inhabitants of the
country lying south of the hills of Tibet from Kabul
to China, They went about mostly naked [rom place
to place adding to their number by stealing healthy
children. Many of these were merchants and pil-
grims and were i;l:zl& by all castes of Hindus in great
respeet.  This infatuation prevented the adminstra-
tion from deafing with them. They werehardy,
hold amd enthusiastic to a degree surpassing

credit.
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Emperor hiad made over to the Marathas to the Nawab Vizier
of Oudh. British troops were sent immediately to .occupy these
territories,

Estimate of the Reforms

Taken together, all these constructive mensures, carried out
in the first year of Hastings” administration, amounted to i re-
volution, They laid a solidbasis for the British power in India, 30
that it was able to survive the formidable avalanche (et atlaeked
itin its carly stages. They lnid the foundation of the empive
which was to spread all over Indin in the next hundred years
and added vastly to the prestige and glovy of Bngland.,  Most
of the evils that hampered good government were removed and
new life and vigour was infused into the adminiztration. The
Dewani was turncd into a real thing and the responsibility for
orderly and methodical administration was accepted by the
Company. The army was relegated to a subordinate positionn
in spite of the efforts of Sir Robert Barker, the Commander-in-
Chief to the contrary. Clive had given the army & preponde-
rant voice in the determination of policy but Hastings followed
a different principle, the soundness of which was proved by
subsequent events. In all these disputes he behaved with the
utmost patience and added to the strength of his casc by obser-
ving lorbearance and moderation,

It is sometimes said that the reforms of Hastings were due
to the suggestions of others and little eredit is due to him for
he was merely eareying out ordevs. It is trug, the directors
had enjoined reform but their introduction required ability, tact
and insight into the mind of the Indian population, which
Hastings possessed to 2 degrec.

In every country veforms are the result of the influence of
enlightened opinion but the man who actually carries themout
deserves praisc and gratitude for his labours. Hastings worked
day and night with devotion and zeal and showed an unrival-
led knowl of the theory and practice of government. He
pointed out the defects of the existing constitution of the Com-
pany's Government and suggested changes which, il accepted,
would have stabilsed political authority and avoided coniro-
versies, vulgar and undignified, which disfigured the carcers of
some of the most remarkable men of the eighteenth century. In a
petition to the authorities at home, he pleaded for more power
but what was given was a ‘ghastly mockery of his hopes and
ambitions®. e tragic irony of the situation is well expressed
by Mr, Davies.
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“He had asked for power but what he had been given was
to prove little hetter than a worthless bauble, a high-soundin
bt eanpty title.  He had asked for increased authority, and  ha
been given a cabal to deprive him even of what little authority
he already possessed, Te wanted to win reputation and applause
Lut instead he was to win a  eriminal's reward”.? No Gner
ecomunentary eould be made uwpon the Regulating Act.™

The Rohillas and the Treaty with the Nawab Vizier

An Act which brought much  odium upon Hastings and fox
which he was vehiemently denovneed in Parlinment  was his share
in the Rehilla War. It eonstituted one ol the mest important
articles of impeachment against him and was the first among
Burke's charges, The Parliamentary erators thundered against
him for his infquitics in the Rohilla enuntry and for his destrue-
tion of “a fine, gallant and peacc-loving vace’. Itis, thercfore,
necessary to review briefly the history ol ‘the Rohillas, and of that
portion of the country whicluis called alter their name.

Rohilkhand is now a division of the state of Uttar Pra-
desh, Tt comprises  six  British  districts and many well-
populated towns and in the middle of the country lies the State
nf Rampur which is ruled over by a Muslim  Ptince who is des-
cended from the Rohillas. 'K]m nriginal name of the country
was Katehar and it formed & provinee of the empire of Delli,
It eame to b ealled Reohilkhand in the middle of the cighteenth
century when it [ell into the liands of the Rohilla Afghans,

Alter the death of Aurangzeb the anthority of the Central
Covernment declined, and the Rohilla Alfghans established them-
selves in the confusion that followed. A soldier of fortune All
Muhammad Muhammad, rose inte prominence and brought a
large portionof the conutry under his sway, Similarly, other
Afghan Chicls established themselves in the Doab. Najib Khan
who afterwards became the Prime Minister of the Mughal Empire
had already begun his distinguished career, He had a Jagir
from Ali Muhammad butso rapidlydid he increase his power that
he beeame an influential nobleman at the Mughal Court. Another
Afghan Chief Qaim Jung,® belonging to the Bangash tribe
nccupied the territory now comprisedin the Farrukbabad Distriet,
and became like All Muhammad a ruler of substance,

Thus in the middle of the cighteenth century not only
Rohilkhand but a large part of the Doab was in possession of the
Rohilla Afghans,

(1) Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 113
(2) Qaim Jung was the son of Muhammad Khan Bengal.
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The earlicst Afghan immigrants of nate who settled in
Katehar were Shah Alam and Husain Khan who entered the
sepvice of the Mughal Empive in 1673, Husain Khan return-
ed to Afghanistan after some time but he allowed his slave Daud
Khan to proceed to Tadia to cuvve out o earcer for himgelf,
Daud was an adventurer ol considerable ability and warlike
spirit and in a8 short thne gathered around himsell'a large num-
ber of followers.  Ali Muhammad who was born of Jat parents
was brought up by him as a child and converted to Islam.1

After Daud's death at the hands of the Raja of Kamayun,
Ali Muhammad suceeeded to his possessions, He sparcdyu:?u
pains to sirengthen his power and the civeumstances of the time
favoured his designs. Court of Delhi was at this time dis-
tracted by the quarrels of rival parties, and Ali Muhammad judg-
ed it o good opportunity for withholding tribute and employed
the revenue he collected in increasing his military strength, He
won over to his side Rahmat Khan who was the son of Shah
Alam. He granted him & Jagir and firmly autached him to his
interest. Alter Ali Muliammad's death, his third son succecded
him but he appointed Ralimat Khan as his protector and regent.
All the prineipal Chiels swore on the Quran that they would be
[aithful to their master’s family and defend its intevests.  But this
promisc was not kept, and the chiefs scized and divided the terri-
tory among themselves. Hafiz Rahmat took the largest share and
hieeame the head of the Rohilla Canfederacy,

Hafiz Rahmat was a man of ability and courage. He joincd
Abdali’s ranks at Panipat {I?ﬁl and the destruction ol Maratha
power made it possible for the Rohiilasto live in peace and
quict. Hafiz Rahmat governed the country well. He abolished

1. In Hamilton’s History the Hinduorigin of Ali Muhammad
is denied, the reason being that the Persian work on which
Hamilton: based his book was written by 2 man who was pat-
ronised by Faizullah Khan, son of Ali Muhammad. Naturally
he did not like the idea of assigning a Hindu origin to his master,
The Afghans considered Ali Mubammad to have been a son of
Daud. But the truc account of his ovigin is given in the Gulis-
tan-i-Rahmat which describes him as aljat who was converted
to Islam, adopted by Daud and named Ali Muhammad. Tra-
dition also supports this view. There was a common saying among

the Hindug:
dise Aise defho Prabhu ke that
Aonla ka Raja bhayo Bakauli ka Jat
Sce the glory of God, what changes spring lrom his will.
The Jat of Bakauli became the lord of Aonla.
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taxes of cvery kind a step which led to the encouwragement of
trade and comunerce. Having recovered from the disaster of
Panipat, the Marathas returned to Northern India again in 1769
and scized Etawah and certain other distvicts in the Deab,
Their depredations caused uncasiness in the minds of the English
and the ﬁnhiilna. In 1770 Najibudauiah died and was succeeded
by his son Zabita Khan who had some of the qualities of his
Tather, A year later he was expelled from Delhi by the Marathas
whio went so far as to  demand ‘Chauth’ from the English and
the Nawaly Vizier and saccceded in persuading  the Emperor to
leave Allahabad. He stayed near Favrnkhabad during the raing
and having accepted lavge gifts from the Nawab madc his entry
into Delhi on the 25th December, 1771,

The Marathas invaded Rehilkhand in 1772 and plundered
and devastated the country.  The Rohillas fatled to offer success-
ful resistance. The Nawal Vizier was also  alammed [ov the
salety of his dominions and both parties wrote to the English for
help against this danger,  Sir Robert Barvker, the English Com-
mander-in-Chiel, who met the Vizier in Januay 1772, pointed
out to the Caleutta Government  the diffieulty of the situntion in
whiely the Vizier was placed. o observed :

*To remain inactive and sce the Rohillas reduced was as
had or worse for he very justly observed that the Rohi-
llas would, to prevent a total extemmation, undoub-
tedly give up a part of their country, and would of
CONSECUCTCE ]ir.: necessitated ro join their arms with the
Marathas, Sueh a general confederacy would inevit-
ably fall on him, as their next object in view, and he
further observes that in this case he must claim the
performance.”

Negotiations for peace between the Marathas, Rohillas and
the Vizier were started but no settlement could be reached be-
causc the three partics were all utterly unserupulous and each
knewthat no trust could be placed in either of the others! At
Iast a treaty was made in June 1772 atr Shahabad by which it was
agreed that if the Marathas invaded Rohilkhand, the Nawab
Vizicr should help the invaded army, and if he became successful
in obliging the Marathas to retire cither by peace or war, he
should receive a sum of forty lakhs from the Rohillas. The treaty
was signed in the presence of Sir Robert Barker, The precise
terms of the treaty must be stated,

“The Vizer of the empire, Shujaudaulah, shall establish the
Rohilla Sirdars in their different possessions obliging the Marathas

(1) Strachey, Hastings and the Rohilla War, p, 49.
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to retire either by peace or war; this to depend on the pleas-
urc of the Vizier. Ilat this time, without cither war or peace,
the Marathas on aceount of the rains, shall crasy and vetive, and
after the expiration of the rainy scason they wounld again enter
the country of the Rohilla, their expulsion is the business of the
Vizicr. The Rohilla Sirdies in consequonce of the above, agree
to pay forly lakhs of rupees to the Vizier in the following man-
ner.  As the Marathas are now in the country of the Rohilla
Sirdars, the Vizier of the einpire shall maveh from Shalialiad, s
far as may be necessary, to enable the families of the Rohillay tw
leave the jungle and retuen to theie habitations: Ten lakhs of
rupees in specie, in pare afl the above s shall then he paid and
the remaining thirty lukhs in three years, [rom the beginning of
the year 1180 fasli.

This agreement was scaled in the presence of General Sir
Robert Barker™

Barly in 1773 the Marathas invaded Rohilkhand again and
Legan to concentrate their forces at Ramghat where the Ganges
was fordable, They demanded from Fafiz Rahmat Khan and
other Chiefs payment of the bonds fov 50 luklis which lad been
given to themn before through Safdar Jang., ‘Uhe Vizier was also
alarmed and he wrote to Hastings that 1f the Rohillas ulfilled
the terms of the ireaty and paid forty lakhs he would give hall of
the sum to the English, Il they committed a breach of the agree-
ment and if the English ]1::11:;2' him to occupy their country, he
would give thom 50 lakhs of rupees in ready money and secure
them exemption [tom paying tribute to the Emperor out of
the revenues of Bengal. The Bengal Government approved of
the first part of the suggestion but they did not commit them-
selves to any cause of action in regurd to Hafliz Rahmat Khan,
It was ultimately decided that the combined armics of the Eng-
lish, the Vizier and the Rohillas should march against (he Mara-
thas and drive them out of the country. Preparvations weve full
made but the Marathas did not risk an engagement and retived.
The revolution in Poona pelitics led their armies to withdraw
from Northern India and thus the danger was averted.

After the departure of the Marathas the Vizier who was in
need of money demanded forty lakhs from the Rohillas but, Hafiz
Rahmat Ehan on anc pretext or another evaded the demand,
His duplicity gave the Vizier hiz long desived opportunity. He
sought the help of the Bengal Government to enable him to seize
the country, destroy the power of the Rehillas and anuex it to
his dominions. The Company’s financial embarrassinents were
of a serious nature at this time and money was badly needed.
At the same time it was necessary to provide for the safety of the
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Nawal Vizicr's teyritories partly because he was an ally of the
English and partly because the Company desived to protect Ben-
gal against invasion along the western rontier.  But the thought
uppermost in - Hastings, wind was that of finance. Mr. Davics
writes

“These grim facts could never be forgotten, the country
was £0 ruined by famine and anarchy that its revenues
liad enormously diminished, the balance sheet showed
a large deficit, the public debt amounted to £ 1,500,000,
the credit of the Government was exhausted, the tre-
asury eontained only 50,000 n:}aum, the financial reme-
dies thut Hastings had applied could only take effect
slowly, and the Company was urgently demanding
remittances to relieve its own embarrassed finances at
home,  I1 ever there was o situation demanding excep-
tional action, it was surcly this; and its pressing urgency
goes a long way towards justifying Ilastings for the
means that he took to extricate his employees from their
desporate straits,™

The Caleutta Council authorised Hastings to deal with the
Vizicr as he thought best, He went to Benares where a treaty
was signed with the Nawal Vizier on the 7th September 1773.
It was an offensive nnd defensive alliance. The districts off
Kwra and Allababad were sold 1o the Nawal Vizier for & sum
of 50 lakhs of rupecs and the pension of 26 lakhs given to the
Emperor was stopped for he had gone over to the Marathas, A
briﬁadn was to be lent to the Vizier and its expenses amounting
to Rs. 2,10,000 rupces a month were to be defrayed by him.
If the Company required the help of the Vizier's troops, pay-
ment will be similarly made,

This arrangement alse formed one of the articlesof the
changes against Hastings, In his speech on Fox's India Bill in
December 1783 Burke said:

«The first potentate sold by the Company for money wasthe
Great Mogul, the descendant of Tamerlane, This high
personage, accounted amiable in his manners, respect-
ablefor gs pictyaccordingto his mode, and accomplish-
ed in all the omental literature. All this, and the title,
derived under his charter to all that we hold in India,
could not save him [rom the general sale. Money is
coined in his name; in his name justice is administered;
he is prayed for in every temple through the countrics
we possess; but he was sold, Two districts Kara and

(1) Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 124.
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Allahabad, out of his immonse grants, wore reserved
as o voyal demesne to the donor of a Kingdom, and
the right ful sovereign of so many nutions.  After with-
holding the tribute of £260,000 a yeur, which the
Compiny was, by the Charter they had veecived from
this Prinee under e most solesae obligtion 1o pay,
these  districts were sold  [orseuveely two yeirs' {Jlll'v
chase,  The deseendant o Tamerlane  ow staouds
necdl ol alumst all the conuman necesavies ol Hle ol
i this situation we doo ol evies allow hing oy Tounnl y,
e smiallest portion of wlut we owe T i jostiee.”

Hustingyy vegeed in his delonce that the Bmperor was now a
ﬁp}'l:ruhmd and thut he had made over the disvieis (o tle Marathag
whiclh was contrary to the weaty of Allahabad, Tt was not
possible to lake possession of thom for it would have aroused the
jealausy of the Nawal Vizier and weakened the allinnee with
him. Hastings was convineed of the justice of the case bt o
different view is not vuled ont by the ciremnstances in which the
tranzactinn was made,

Trther nepotiations with the Nuwaly Visior culminsted in
teeaty vegarding the expulsionof the Rehillas from theconntry and
ite annexation to Oudh. Hastings promised Lo fuenish military
aid 1o the Vigier lor 4 sum of forty lakhs and it was planned that
the eombined armics should mareh to congquer Rohilkhand,
When he was condemned lor his action he defined the ohject
of the expedition in fhese words;

sBvery circumsiance that eould possibly fnvour this enter-
prise, by an uncommon combination ol political con-
siderations and fortituons events, uperated in snpport
of the measure. Its justice ta the Vizicr, for the hreach
of treaty by the Rohilla Chicf; 2nd The honour of
the Company, pledged implicitly by General Barker,
attestation for the accomplishment of this treaty, and
which, added to their allianee with the Vizier, and
engaged usto see redress obtained for the perfidy of
the Rohillas. 3rd. The completion of the line of
defence of the Vizier's dominions by extending his
houndary on the natural bavrier J."m'mm}' by the northern
chain of hills and the Ganges, and their junction, 4th
The acquisition of [orty lakhs ol rupees to the Com-
pany, amd ol so much specic added to the exhausted
currency of their provinees, Sth The subsidy of
210,000 rupees per month, for defraying the charges of
one-third of our aviny employed with the Vizier,  Gth,
The wrgent and recent orders of the Gompany [or
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rescinding charges, and procuring means lo discharge
the heavy debt at intevest, heightened by the advice of
(heir prest clisiress at home  7th, The absence of the
Muratlus From Tindustan, which left an open field lor
enerying the proposed plani inio execution.  8il, and
lastly, 1T intensive divisons wud  disunions in their
State, which by engaging them fully at heme, would
prevend interruptions (rom their incursions, and leave
a moral cortainty of success 1o the enlerprise.”

Hastings hael no disadvantage in concluding such an alli-
anece with the Vizier hut Die kaew that the Divectors haed strictly
ordered him not to employ the Company's troops hoyond the
limits of the Vizier's tervitory, “They had alterwards permitted
hine to use Jis diseretion but (he orders had not yet arrived, Fle
was abliged (o act on his own responsibility and he had decided
te help (lie Vizier.! u

The Rolillas were asked to puy the stipulated sum of lorty
laklis bt they again evaded the demand. An Euglish force under
Colnnel Champion was sent  (March 1774) and in the thivd week
of April it entered Rolilkhand together with the army of the
Vizier. The combined armics fought on the 23rd April 1774 &
battle at  Miran Katra in the distriet of Shaljahanpur, The
Rohillas fomglu bravely Lut  they were overpowered. Hafiz
Ralmat died fighting like 8 warrlor and his body was interned
with every hopour duc to his rank and distinction. The cam-
paign resulted in much misery and ruin, about 2,000 men were
killed and many leading Chiefs were among the slain,  About
20,000 Rohillas were expelled and their country leaving aside
the portion assigned to Faizullah Khan, was anuexed to Oudh.
After the campaign the family of Hafiz Rahmat suffered a great
deal.  The appeal of the Rohilla Chicftain’s widow which
Colonel Champion forwarded to Hastings will give the reader
some idea of what happened.

“To the English gentlemen, renowned throughout Hindustan
for justice, equity, and compassioning the miserable Hafiz Rah-
mat Khan for forty years governed this couniry, and the very

ple who have suifered so much. The will of God is irresistible.
glt":is slain, and to his childven not an acreofland, but they are
cast from their habitations naked, exposcd to the winds, heats
and the burmning sand and perishing for want of cven rice and

(1) In Hastings diary written at Benaras we come acrod
the following passage ©T acquiesced in his reasous an,
cxpressed may approbation of his (Viziur's) opinion
repeating that when I agreed to engage in the Rohilla
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Allahabad, out of his immense grants, wore veservied
as a royal demesne to the donor ol a Kingdom, and
the vightful sovereign ol so  may wations,  Afler with-
lolding the tribute of £260,0000 & year, which the
Clompany wis, by the Charter ey Jiad received rom
this Prinee under the st selenoe obligaaion. te pay,
these  listriets were sold  for seaveely fwo years” piare
ehise.  The deseaulant of Tamerliow: now M.'Lutl:i in
neecd of almest wll the comumn ueeessaries ol L, aued
i hiis situation we do ot even allow him is bounty,
thie smadlest poretion of what we owe Tim dnjustiee,”

Hastings neged i s defence tha Hhe Boperar wis now i
ficurchead and that he had made over the dizvicts to the Mareathos
which was contravy (o the [realy ol Allahabid. 11 was nol
wossible to take possession of them for it would have arowused the
jealousy of the Nawalh Vigier aml weakened the allinnce with
him. Hastings was eonvinced ol the justice ol the case Il a
different view is not ruled out by the cirewmstanees in whiclt the
transaction way made,

Furvtlier negotintions with the Nawaly Vizier culminaied in
treity regarding e expulsion ol (e Rehillis Geom theeonntey and
its annexition to Oudh. Hagtings promised to [urnish military
aid to the Vizier [or a sum of forly lakhs and it was planned (hat
the combined armics should march to conguer Rohilkhand.
When he wos condemned for his action he defined the ohject
ol the expedition i these words,

sPvory civemnsiance that could possibly favour this enter-
prise, by an uncommon combination of poliical con-
siderations and fortituons cvents, uperated in snpport
of the mepsure, Its justice (o the Vizicr, for the breach
of treaty by the Rohilla Chicl; &nd ‘'The honaur of
the Company, pledged implicitly by General Barker,
attestation [or the accomplishment of this treaty, and
which, added to their alliance with the Vizier, and
cogaged us to see redress obtained for the perfidy of
the Rohillas. Zrd.  The completion of the line of
defence of the Vizier’s dominions by extending his
boundary an the natural barrier farmed by the novthern
chain of hills and the Ganges, and ‘their junction, 4th
The acquisition of forty lakhs of rupeus to the Com-
pany, and of so much specie added to the exhausted
curtency of their provinees. Sth The subsidy of
210,000 rupees per month, lor defraying the charpes of
one-third of our ariny employed with the Vizier, 6t
The wrgent and recent orders of the Company for
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resvinding charges, and proecuring means (o discharge
the heavy debt at intevest, heightened by (he advice of
their preal distress at home  7th, The absence of the
Murathas [rom Hindostan, which left an open ficld for
virrying the proposed plani into exccution.  8tl, and
lnstly, The intensive divisons aud  disunions  in their
State, which Ly engaging then folly at home, would
preevend inderruplions from  theie  incursions, and leave
o toval eortdnly ol sneeess 1o the  enterprise.”

[Tastings had no disadvantage in concluding such an alli-
ance with the Vizier bt Ie knew that the Dirvectors had strictly
ordercd him not to employ the Company’s troops beyond the
litnits of the Vizier's territory, They lhud alterwards permitted
Lt to wse his diseretion but the orders lad not yet arvived.  He
was abliged 1o act on Lis own responsibility and he had devided
to help the Vizier?

The Rohillas were asked to pay the stipulated sum of forly
laklis but they again cevaded the demand. An English loree under
Colonel Champion was sent  (March 1774) and in the thivd weck
of Apeil it entered Rohilkland together with the army ol the
Vizier, The combined wmies fought on the 28vd April 1774
battle at Miran Katra in the district of Shahjahanpur. The
Rohillas fought ravely but they were overpowered. Haliz
Rahmat died fighting like a  warrior and hix body was interncd
with every honouy due to his rank and distinction, The cam-
paign resulted in much misery  and ruin, about 2,000 men were
killed and many leading Chiefs were among the slain.  About
20,000 Rohillas were expelled and their country leaving aside
the portion assigned to Faizallah Khan, was annexed to Oudh.
After the campaign the [amily of Hafiz Rahmat suffered a great
deal, The appeal of the Rohilla Chieltain's widow which
Colonel Champion forwarded to Hastings will give the reader
some idea of what happened.

“T'o the English Eﬂ:nﬂcmcn. renowned throughout Flindustan
for justice, cquity, and compassioning the miserable Hafiz Rah-
mat Khan for forly years governed this country, and the very
people who have suffered so much, The will of God is irresistible.
He is slain, and to his childven not an acreofland, but they are
cast [rom their habitations naked, exposcd to the winds, heats
and the burning sand and perishing for want of cven rice and

1) In Hastings diary written at Benaras we come acrod
2 the fﬂlInwglﬂg passage 1 acquiesced in his reasons an,
expressed may approbation of his (Vizier's) opinion
yepeating that when I agreed to engage in the Rohilla
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water. Yesterday Iwas mistress of against hundred thousand
people, today I am in want even of a cup war of waater, and
where I commanded I ami a prisoner, Fortunc is fickle; she
raises the humble and lowers the exalted; but 1 am innecent,
and if any one is guilty it is Haliz. Butwhy should the children
be punished for the errors of their father? I am taken like a
beast in a snare without vesting place by night; or shade by day"

A treaty was made with Faizullah Khan, the eldest surviving
son of Ali Mulinmmad (Octobor 1774). It was provided that
Faizullul Ehan should be allowed to possess the territovy lopmerly
allotted to him by his father, Ali Muhammad, with the city and
district of Rampur. He was to keep in his service a force of not
more than 5,000 men and to render military aid to the Vizier
whenever necessary, He was not allowed to communicate with
any forcign power except the Vizicr and the English.  After the
treaty the allicd forces withdrew from the country and Faizullah
Khan took guiet posscssion of the districts assigned to him,

Later Hastings was displeased with the Rohilla Chief for
not giving his adequate support against Chet Singh. In
1781 he suggested to the Nawab Vizier the incorporation of
Rampur with Oudh. But the Divectors disapproved of the plan
l;'Ed liaizullah Khan was allowed to remain in power in Rohil-

and.

The result af the war was as Sir Alfred Lyall observes to
complete our defensive position towards the novth-west by substi-
tuting a suitable and submissiveally for untrustworthy neighbours

.upon an important scction of the barvier and it is certain that
the plan succceded.®

But the policy which led to the war was condemned both in
India md;f,ﬁqlmd' Trancis maligned Hastings with his usual
bitterness Burke thundered against him in Parliament and
employed all his powers of imagination, and inveetive in depic-
E’lrsg the horrors of the Rohilla war. The main charges were

g3t *

l. The British troops were hired out to the Nawab Vizier
against a people who had given no offence to the English.

2. Hastings had done it for flthy lucre.

(1) The Gulshan-i-Ralmatdescribes the hardships of Hafiz
Rahmat's family during and after the compuign.

(2) Rise of British Dominion in India, p, 19,
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The Rohillas were a peacelul people and Haliz Rahmat was a
puet renowned throughout the east for his musirical skill.t

'The earlier Anglo-Indian historians condemmed Hastings
likewise und deseribed him as “un unscrupluous schemer who had
sold also the lives and liberties of a free people lor filthy luere and
stoutl cullously by while munberless atvocitics were  perpetrted”,
Mill positively asserts that the Vieier’s intention was (o extermi-
nite the Roliillas and  thevelore ‘every  one who bove the name of
Rohille was either bulchered or found his safety in flight and
exile. Macaulay ina brilliant passage perpetrated the same crror
and magnilied the crucltics practised by the Vizier. He writes:

“Ihen the horrors of Indian war were let loose on the fair
vitlleys and cities of Rohilkhand, The whole country
was in a bluze, More than a hundred thousand people
flew froa their homes to pestilential jungles, Prefer-
ring lamine, and fever, and the haunts ol tigers, to
the tyranny ofhim to whom an English and a Chris-
tian government had, for shameful luere, sold their
substance and their blood, and the honour of their
wives and daughters.”

On this subject modern opinion has swung vound in favour
of Hastings. Sir John Strachey whe studied the whole question
with care, has reached the lollowing conelusions:

1. The policy was based on the necessity of guarding against
the reaclt of ruin to ourselves and our ally,

2. Although we were nol a party to the freaty  between
the Rohillas and the Nawab Vizier, it had been concluded with
the strenuous co-operation and adviee of our Comrmander-in-Chiel
and had been attested by his signature and approved by Govern-
supported ment.

1 This was a mistake. Burke credited him with poetic genius,
In his speech on Fox's India Bill in 1783 Burke described him as
eithe most eminent of the Rohilla Chicfs, one of the bravest men
of his time, famous throughout the East for the elegance of his
diction and the spirit of his poetical compositions, by which he
was given won the name of Hafiz.

There is no doubt that Hafiz Rahmat Khan was an educated
man with literavy attainments. He was the author of a Persian
work en the geneology of the Afghans and hiseon tells usin the
Guishan-i-Ralmat that at an early age he read the Quran and
studied many lcarned works. He possessed poctic talent also and
like other Alghans took delight in song but it was clearly an exag-
geration to say that he was a poet renowned throughout the East.
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8. It isunfair toapply to Hastings, conduct the rulesof
international law. These vules jmply veeipracity wnel apply 1o
organised states and civilised communities. The Roliillas werie
not the people to follow these rules,

4. In the opinion of Hastings the condmet of the Ruhillas
i lvenking their treaty with oneally sud in carrying on negrotine
tions with the common eneny constituted  wder provocation wwl
that these can hardly be lhmited 1o the e of actual agrossion.

5, There s nothing wnresonable in e stipulation
inaddition Lo the aemel charges ol the English Leigle 1he
Vizier should pay forty lakhs to the Eaglish on the sucoessiul
eompletion of t{:: war. It was faie that the eliswgges of the expedi-
tion should full upon the party which reaped the greater Dencfit,

It is difficult to agree with all these conclusions. It canuot
be denied that the war entailed much misery and sufferiug,
The Vizier's soldiery plundered the population and the English
soldiers also shared in the Joot. Colonel Champion, who was
not satisfied with what they hud scized encouraged their predatory
instinets. and pressed  their elaimte more money before the
Governor-General.  Hastings stornly resisted Champion’s demand
which led the latier to condepm the entive policy ol war,
As soon as Hastings learnt ol the atrocities of the Vizier, Ju: wrote
to Middleton, the British Resident in Oudh, 0 tell the Vizior
that he should not oppress the people whom he had  conguered.
His vemonstrations produced the desived effect. But on enquiry
it was found that Champion hatd greatly exaggevated the mis-
doings of the Nawab’s soldiery.

Yet the policy of the war deserves to be censwred, A dis-
passionate study of records and minutes on the subjeet dots not
completely exonerate Hastings from blame. At a certain sta
there is evidence to show, he himself wanted to get out of the
business and wished to aveid the war. He felt doubts about the
correctness of lis actions because the expedition was contrary
to the orders of the Divectors.! The Rohillas had given no

(1) Hastings wrote to Laurence Sulivan in October 1773:

I was glad to be freed from the Rohilla expedition be-
cause 1 was doubtful of the judgment which would
have been passed upon it at Imm::, where I see too
mueh stress laid upon general maxims and  too little
attention given to t]]:; circumstances which reguire an
exception to be made from them ....vee.. in 1772
Gleig 1, p. 356,
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offence to the English; they were neither more nor less turbulent
than many of the vaces and tribes that inhabited the country.
Their ri;l;hl Lo oceupy Rohilkhand has been questioned but it may
be nsked with greater renson what right the English had to
Bengal and MBehar, Their government was efficient and steady
ind thelr Chiel Hafiz Ralimat was an able leader whose capacity
for statesmunship is scknowledged even by Anglo-Indian writers
like Sir Joln Strachey and others. In 1741 the English Resident
at Rampur reported that the whole of Rohilkhand was under the
government of the Rohillas, a garden without an uncultivated
spot, Major Hanny in giving evidence before the Council in
1774 said that the country appeared to bein good cultivation.
It is in gencral oneof the best cultivated countrics Ihave ever
seen in Hindustun. Iorrest, who is no friend of the Rohillas,
writes that Hafiz Rahmat was endowed with great personal
courage and considerable powers of statesmanship

Itis unfair to say that the account given by Champion of
the cruclties of the Vizier is a pure myth. He may have exagger-
ated but he cannot be held to be guilty of deliberate falschood in
any respect. We cannot wholly dismissChampion’s statements that
the Nawal did not cease 1o over-spread  the country with families
till three days after the fate of Hafiz Rahmat. Khan was decided;
that the whole army were witnesses ol scenes that cannot be des-
eribed, That “and T have heen abliged 1o give a deaf car to the
lamentable wails of the widow and fatherless children and to shut
m eyes against & wanton display of violence and oppression of
inhumanity and cruelty."? As compared with the Rohilla
Government the State of Oudh was weak, ill-governed and deca-
dent.  Besides, the expedition was wrong in principle and it
would have been better for Hastings' reputation, if he had avoid-
edit. Bvenon the ground of expediency it does not admit of
justification and Sir Alfred Lyall obscrves:

“Nevertheless this advnnm%c was gained by an unprovoked
aggression upon the Rohillas, who sought no quarrel
with us and with whom we had been on not unfriendly
terms; nor is Warren Hastings' policy in this matter
casily justifiable even upon the elastic principle that
enjoins the governor of a distant d:pcmganc?: to prefer
above all other considerations the security of the terri-
tory entrusted to him, ™3

(1) Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 51.
(2) Cambridge, History of India, p. 223.
{3} Rise of British Dominion in India, p. 189.

1l
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Much was made of Barker’s part in the treaty. He haa
merely attested the signatures and there is no evidence to show that
+he had guarantecd the observance of the terms by the parties
Mr. Roberts vightly says that even il we assume that the General
had pledged the Bl'iti!gl lo the fulfibnent of the tweaty, sucha
drastic method was not necessary for hringing about the designed
result, The financial aspect rj: the matter caunot he ignored.
Hasti himself admitted that money was his chiel motive
and this is confirmed by the wverdict ol the majority of his
council.

The expectation in sharing the fall of a people who have
given us no cause of quarrel whatsoever, is plainly avoided to be
a motive for invading them,!

But one thing must be said in favour of Hastings. Few states-
men in the eighteenth century which in any way jeopardised the
security of their dominion. The history of Empire in the cight-
centh century furnishes scveral instances of unprovolked aggres-
.Eian and of wviolation of the rules of international law and mora-

ity.

(1) Cambridge, History of India p. 322,



CGHAPTER IX

Warren Hastings as Governor-General
(1774-806)

Parlinmentary Euquir;

It has been sadd in o peevious chinpler that the affaics of the
Lnst Indin Company since 1765 had been in a state of disorder,
The anomaly of the position occupicd by the Company in
India had long been ciear 1o those who took interest in its
affairs both in India and England, The Company was no longer
a trading concern; it had acquired posscssion of vast terriforirs-
and although they were leld from the Mughal Emperor the
need was felt for doing something ‘to reconcile our quasi-sover-
eignty in India with a proper subordination to the Crown and
Parlinment'. It was againat the English constitutional practice
toallow the Company complete [icedom of action withour any
check or control over its aflaivs. It was just and proper that
Parliament should intervenc to regulate its responsibilities. At
the same time it was wholly impogsible to take away the vights and
privileges granted by a Royal Charter, The wealthy Nabobst
who returned from Indin  with ill-gotten wealth aroused the
jealousy as well as he indignation of _ Englishmen and the
Company’s affairs attracted more and more attention, In 1766
the House of Commons appointed a Committee to enguire into
the affairs of the East India Company and a year later Parlia-
ment definitely asserted its right to control the Company's
financial policy. An Act was passed 'which laid down that
dividends should be voted by ballot only at general meetings
and the maximum dividend was fixed at 10per cant, The position,
however; continued to be unsatisfactory and in 1769 Verelst,
who was Governor of Bengal wrote: —

“Experience must convince cven the most prejudiced that to
hold vast possessions and yet to act on the lével of mere

1. These were the servants of the Company who had amassed
large fovtunes in India, They were regarded by their
countrymen as men who had fartened on the miseries of
their (ellow creatures, '
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merchants, making gain over first principal; to receive
an immense revenue without possessing an adequate
power over the people who pay it; to be really interested
in the grand and generous object—the good of the whole
and yet to pursuc & narrow and partial end, are para-
doxes not to be reconeiled and lJij;lJ.IKlL injurious to our
national character, dangerous to the best establislunent,
and hordering on inhumanity."!

In 1769 an Act was passed which required the Company (o
pay to the Exchequer annually a sum of £ 400,000 for the
year in lieu of the privilege of retnining the (eritorial acquisi-
tions. There were other provisions which were to regulate the
dividend. The question ol sovercignty was not discussed but by
this interference the State clearly asserted its rights to control
the sovercignty of Indifin territories, and to have a share inthe
gaing of the Company. Clive who knew of the financial difficult-
ies of the Company did not approve ol this measure and eondem-
ned it as a ‘political blackmail,’ Other friends of the Company
thought likewise and failed to understand why the Company
should pay such a large amount to the British Crown for lands
which it held from the Great Mughal, But the feeling against
the Company was strong and the public mind was much agita-
ted over the gigantic fortunes that were made by the ‘Indian Nab-
abs’,  As long as the Whigs were in power, the Company was
safe and the small minority which was in favour of drastic meas-
ures was helpless,  Dut when the Tories came jnto power under
the leadershup of Lord North the situation was changed. The
bankruptcy of the Company at this time aggravated the crisis and
took public opinion by surprise. My, Davies sums up the posi-
tion of the Company thusi—

“The Directors, in desperation, applied to the Bank of
England for a lean of [ 6,00,000, It was refused.
Panic-stricken and [orcsecing ruin, they and their {riends
began (rantically to unload their stock, Then, when it
‘was announced that the Company was unable to meet
its obligation to the State, the crash came. Wails and
curses went up [rom the stricken investors. Many
members of Parliament and their friends lost heavily.
Excration was poured upon the Company and crics
for vengeance were heard on every hand. All ranks
in the %tatc would benefic by the downfall of the Com-
pany.”

1. Fifth Report, East India Affairs, Vol. I, p. CCX.
2. Administration. of Warren Hastings, p. 135.
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The Company applied to the Government for help. Lord
Noril, who commanded large majorities in both Housges, had a
rc:}[: dislike for the Company and he referred the application to
arliament.

Between 1757 aed 1766 the leading seyvants of the Compan
in Bengal alone had received presents amounting to ° 21,69,66
hesides Clive's Jagir, the capitalised value of which was [ 6,00,
000, In addition to these they had recived £ 37,70,830 as
compensation [br the losses, "Truly  the administraron of the
Company was a sink of dishonesty and corvuption.

In 1772 through the Deputy Chairinun Sulivan the Directors
tricd to oblituin lease to introduce n bill for the better regulation
of their afliirs bat it was refused. In April Burgoyne moved a
resolution in the Houso ol Commons to appoint a Select Commit-
tec of 3l to unqluirc into the affairs of the East India Company.
The Company, hard-pressed for money, asked the Government
for a loan / 10,00,000, This ecreated a storm of opposition,
In Mavch they had declared a dividend of 12} per cent; in
August they had come to the Governmentas suppliants for a large
lvan. The opponents of the Company got their long desired
opportunity, The reports of the misdeeds of the Company's
servants further inflamed rescntment against it and the servants
of the Gompa:? were condemned with cqual impartiality, Lord
North proposed a Select Committer for looking into the Indian
alTairs, i Select Committee™ repori revealed a scandalous
state of affairs. Ity Chairman Burgoyne said: The mest atro-
cious abuses that ever stained the name of Government call for
vedress... ..o [M by some means sovercignty and land are
not separated [rom trade, India and Great Hritain will be
sunk and overwhelmed never to rise again. Horace Walpole
recorded the popular impression in these words :

«Such a scene of tyranny and plunder has been opened up
as makes one shudder,.... ...We are spaniards in our
lust [or gold, and Dutch in our delicacy of obtaining
it." )

Chaltham burst into indignation as he heard of the doings of -
the Company and wrote in 1773 ‘India teems with iniquities so
rank, as to smell to carth and heaven', The Directors werc
to blame. They had encouraged most of the iniquities and their
love of money had led to all kinds of vices.

Under the full blaze of Parliamentary and public wrath, the
Company made [rantic efforts to reform the abuses,  Six super-
vizsors were appointed with salaries of £ 10,000 ~ach to go to India
to reorganize the whole system. But this move waa disallowed
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by Parliament in December 1772,  In March the Company again
requested the Government . for a loan of £ 15,00,000, Burgoyne
again launched an attack in the Commons and on his motion a
resolution was adopted. *That all acquisitions made under the
influenee of a military loree, or by treaty with lorcign princes,
do of right belong tothe State.” This resolution affirmed the sover-
cignty of the British Parliament over the territorinl  possessions
acquired in the East. Two Acts were passed in 1773, By onc
of them ministers were permitted Lo grant to the Company a loan
of £ 14,00,000 to meet their obligations. The other was the
Regulating Act which made important changes not only in the
constitution of the Company but also in ity relations to the
Crown and in the Government of India, For the frst time  the
Parliament tried to give a regular shape te the Company’s
administration in India and to make it subject to the Crown and
Parliament.

The Regulating Act

The Regulating Act passed by Lord North’s  Ministry marks
the first attempt of the British Parliament to establish ellicient
Goverument in India, [t overhauled the constitution ol'the Com-
pany at home and all ohjections raised by its Mriends and Eup{)or-
ters were overruled. The Directors were henceforth to hold
office for four years and onc-fourth of their number was to retive
annually. A year’s gap was neeessary to make a rctiring]]}irf:ctur
eligible for re-election. The qualification for a vote in the Court
of Proprietors was raised {rom £ 500 to £ 1,000 and it was con-
fined to those who held their stock at least for a year.

In India the Governor of Bengal became the Governor-Gene-
ral of India for five years having full authority over the Presi-
dencies of Madras and Bombay which were [orbidden to  make
war or peace without the consent of the Governor-General and
his Council. The Governor-General was to be assisted by a
Council consisting of four members, each having equal voting
power with the Governor-General except in a case ol a tic when
the latter could exercise a casting vote. . The first Councillors
were named in the Act and were to hold office for four years and
vacancies were to  be filled up by the Court of Directors. The
scale of salaries sanctioned was fairly high, the Governor-General
was to get [ 25,000 a year and each of the Councillors £ 10,000.
The Directors were required to lay before the treasury all corres-
pondence from India relating to revenue affairs and to inform
a Secrctary of State of everything about the Council and
military administration. By this Act was established at Calcutta
a Supreme Court of Judicature which was to work independently
of the Governor-General and his Council and was to consist ol



Warren Hastings as Governor General 167

four English Judges who were to administer English law to all
British subjects. The right of appeal to the Privy Council was
ranted. Siv Elijah Impey was to act as  the Chief Justice and
Mis salary was [1xed at { 8,000 a year. The jurisdiction of the
Ciourt was very wide, It extended to all sorts of causes—Civil,

riminal, Admiralty and Eeclesinstical-and over the whele pro-
vinee of Bengal, Helwr and Orissa.  Juries consisting of Drit-
ishwers, were to be employed  in eriminal trials and the Court was
a court of veeord as well as ol jail delivery, All servants of the
Clonpany inelnding the Governor-General, the members of Coune-
cil and the Judges were [ovbidden to accepl presents or to engage
in trade, Tvade in eertain specified articles was allowed to some
of the Company's servants hut [or engaging in trade not so speci-
lied, alicense had 1o he taken. Several penalties were provided
for breach of trust and  misconduet by the Company’ - servants,
It was Tuether laid down that  the anthorities set up by the Act
will commmunicate to the Home Government the details regarding
the revenue and the adminisiration of Bengal,

The Regulating Act was a clumsy device to establish a strong
and stable government in a forgign country, Inthe India of the
cighteenth century it was necessary to cstablish a loeal authority
armed with well-defined powers, and in all cases to invest some
porson with authority te take decisions on his own rmp-nnsibiﬁtﬁ,
in emergencics, By this enactment the chief authoricy in British
India was vested in a Governor-General and his Council, The
Governor-General had no right to override the will of majority.
The result of this was so sevious that it was applied to. . . Cornw-
allis in 1786, At the meetings of the Counci cmpuim was lik-
ely to he argued and debated and no provison made for securing
unity of action and prompt despatch of business. The Governor-
General had only 2 casting vote in a case of equal division and
as we shall see he often avoided difficult situations exer-
cising it, No. better means could have been adopted by the
framers of the Act to ensurc “futile debates and Tatal delays'.
The clause giving the Governor—General powers of supervision
over the Presidencies did not work well. The subordinate govern-
ments could not make waror peace without the previous consent of
the Governor-General but there were two cxceptions to this rule.
The local government could take action on its own responsibility
when it judged the matter to be urgent and when it had obtained
special sanction from the authoritics at home.  This was probably
done with & view to enable the local povernments which had so
far acted independently to get used to the control of the Gover-

nor-General,

'The relations between the Supreme Court and the Council
ware not defined, A clash of jurisdictions was inevitable. The
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Court was given extensive authority over British subjects residing
in Bcn‘le. Behar and Orissa but its jurisdiction was not clearly
defined. The term British subject was vague; it might apply only
to Buropeans. At or it might be interpreted to apply to Europeans
and Indians both. In practiceit wasdifficult to distinguish between
an inhabitant of the country who was undor the protections
of the Company and one who was not. Again itwas not clear what
law-English or Indian-the Judges were going 1o administer. In
the hands of men, whollyi gnovant ol Indian customs and usages,
the English law was (o become an instriment o injustice to the

peaple.t
Mr. Davics rightly observes :

“The only law that the [our sclected barristers knew was
the Englich law, and all of them were equally ignorant
of Indian conditions. The way was thus -:Iynm-ly pre-
pared for a conflict between the exccution and the judi-
cial branches of the new Government,'™

The Supreme Court was empowered to take cognisance of
all cases. This was again vague, It wasnot clear whetler the
Company’s servants engaged in the collection of the revenue
were exempted from the jurisdiction of this Court, The Council
and the Court differed on this question and soon embarked upon
a most undignified controversy. The people suffered much and
Sir Alfred Lyall’s remarks are well worth quoting :

“With a prolix and costly proecedure, with strange unintel-
ligible powers resembling the attributes of some mys-
terious divinity, the Supreme Court was soon regarded
by the natives as an engine of outlandish oppression
rather than as a bulwark against executive tyranny,”?

The Company’s servants were forbidden to engage in trade
but the Directors had never realised the necessity of increasing
their salaries. Itwas not possible to prevent them from cking

1. Sir Courtney Ilbert describes the English law which the
Judges were going to administer in these words: — .

sithe unregenerate English law, insular, technieal, formless,
tempered in its application to English circumstances by
the quibbles of Judges and the obstinacy of juries, cap-
able of being an instrument of the most monstrous
injustice when administered in an atmosphere different

from that in which it had been administered."

2, Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 141.

3. Thnl:alfisc and Expansion of British Dominion in Indian, p.
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out their slender incomes in other ways so long as their salaries
were wretchedly low,

The Act provoked much hostil e comment at the time when
it was passed. Leaving aside the remarks of partisans, there is
nne conclusion which cannot be resisted. 1t was based on a
complete ignorance of Indian conditions and no person of Indian
experience except Clive was consulted in drafting it, The Minis-
tevs liad no knowledge of the country or of its needs and the
suggestion is not wholly unfounded that they were more anxious
to have a share in the patronage of India thanto establish a sound
und workable administration, The principal target of attack
was the Company and they had not the lcast hesitation in curtail-
ing or usurping its rights. Sir James Stephen says that the
drafiers of the Act did not wish to face the problem with which
they had to deal. This is not guite correct. The Aet brought
about a changein the personnel of the Governor-General’s Coun-
cil by which the actions of the Company’s servants were to be
judged, Secondly, it attempted to introduce regular principles
of law and justice in India, although they were not in consonance
with the genius of her people, and o reform the Company's
services, Thirdly, it appointed an expericnced person as Gover-
nor-General of India who had stecered the ship of State past all
rocks and shoals and laid solidly the foundations of the British
Empire in India, It may not be flattering to ouwr pride to
state these fucts hut the suceess of Hastings and his contem-
poravies is the measure of the political incapacity of our own
countrymen of the cighteenth century.

Though some eritics will strongly differ, it may be said that
the Act was on the whole an honest attempt (0o deal with a diff-
cult problem, Ttwas the first attempt to bring the Company
under the control of the British Parliament and to establish an
efficient administration,

The members of the first Council werenamed in the At itsclf.,
They were, Major General Clavering, Barwell, Colonei Monson
and Mr. Fhilip Francis. Barwell was already in Calcutta and the
other three had come from England. neral Clavering was
made also the Commander-in-Chief of the forces and senior
member of the Council with the right of succession to the post of
Governor-General in case of vacancy. The Judges of the Supreme
Court were Sir Robert Chambers; John Hyde and Stephen
Lemaistre as puisne Judges and Sir Elijah Impey, who was a
school fellow of Hastings, was appointed C]ﬂ'u'r.f Justice,

The new Councillors reached Calcutta on 19th Octoher, 1774,
the Judges having arrived two days earlier. The new constitution
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espionage of the worst kind and hegan to lend a willing ear to all
kinds of charges against him. Not only were his public acts
condemned but his personal chavacter was also impugned. All
persons  with ujriwanncs, recal or imaginary, werc casily gran-
ted interview allowed to unfold their tale of vapacity, oppres-
sion and intrigue.

Francis who dipped his pen in gall, wrote bitterly to the
Divcciors and told them that the Governor-General liad always
acted contrary to their orders and nothing short of his recall
would save the situation in India,

It is interesting to read Hastings’ account ol the work of the
majority which troubled Tim so much, In a letter to Sulivan in
1776 he wrnte ;

“The present govarnment has proceeded on principles dia-
metrically opposite to mine.

Iirst they have broken all the arrangements which 1 made
in the Nawali's family in |772 ; replaced Malomed
Reza Khan vestored the office of Naib Suba: disioissed
the Begum from her office...... vorenspublicly proclnimed
the Nawab's sovereignty, they have mnade their power
uneontrolled, and contrived o preclude ity operations
from public view, by the pretended independency gran-

ted to Mahomed Ress Khan,

Secondly, they have abolished, or rendered of no effect,
all the courts of justice, and avowed their intentinons of
restoring the col lectorships.

Thirdly, they complain against me lor overcharging the
revenue.

Fourthly, theyhave branded the suspension ol the King's tyi-
bute with the appellation of violation of public faith;
they have called the cession of Kara the sale of other's
Empcrty ; they have called the subsidy which I had

xed with the Vizier at 2,10,000 rupecs and which they
had augmented to 2,60,000 rupees and the stipulation
for the Rohilla war, the mercenary prostitution of the
company’s arms for hire....oouuuees

The Nawab's finances and resources are totally exhausted.
His troops are disaffected to a man.  They have been
permitted to oppose his authority in instances of the
most criminal disobedience, and the enly severity which
has been ever exercised towards them was in the mas-
sacre of 20,000 of his sepoys {at least Bristow computes
the loss at that amount) mutinied for their pay.'"

1. Gleig, I1, p, 30.
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Trial of Nand Kumar

'Ihe Councillors had created an atmospliere in which an
charge could be preferved against the Governor-General, Franeis
who had allowed his suspivions to tuwrn into canvictions afforded
every encouragement lo complainanis.  The most important of
them was Maharajn Nand Kumar, a  Bengali Brahman of high
rink now nearly gﬂ yeurs ol age who was lormerly employed in
the howsehold of Mir Jalar at Murshidabad, The relations be-
tween him and Hastings  were strained.  Botl hated each other.
Nund Kuwmar felt much moctiied by Mahomed Reza
EKhan's trial and vesonted  the treatment meted out to him
by Hustings, Mahomed Reza was discharged and the enquiry
was tropped by Hastings, Shitalk Roy was reinstated in office,
He accused hefore the Council the Governor —General of having
accepted & bribe of 34 lakhs from Munni Begam, the widow of
Mir Jale and Raja Gur Das, Nand Kumar's son, fov securing to
them the posts of Regent and Dewan respectively in the Nawab's
houschold. Hastings objected to  the procedure and said
that the Council could not sit in judgment on him and
had np viglit to examine Nand Kumar at the Council Board. It
would have been better to appoint a committee of enquiry to
lnok into their chavges but to permit Nand Kumar to arraign the
Governor<Gencral belore the Gouncil was cerctainly an infringe-
ment of the dignity and character of the first member of the
administration. en the majority insisted upon continuing the
proceedings, Hastings dissolved the Council and this had o be
done more than once. Mahomed Reza Khan was also appro-
ached and asked to make a charge against Hastings but he could
say nothing more than that he had presented only a Persian Cat
to the Governor-General, They paid a visit to Nand Kumar at
his house with great pomp and il Barwell is to be trusted the
Raja never had such honours paid te him. In the eyes of the
members who had clicited muchdamaging information from Nand
Kumar withoul making a scrutiny into the discrepancies in his
statements, the charge of bribe was fully made out and they
called upon the Governor-General to pay back the sums he had
received into the public treasury. Hastings refused to recognize
the Council’s right to impeach him in this manner and there can
e no doubt about the constitutional impropriety of holding a
trial of the President in such a manner, Hastings admitted that

I, The first charge of bribery was brought by the Rani of Bur-
dwan but her complaints were directed against Graham-
with whom Hastings made common cause for the purposc
of defcating the Rani's attempts., Nand Kumar was the
first who made a direct attack upon the Governor-General.
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he had received 1} lakhs from Munni Begum to whoin he paid a
visit at Murshidabad as the customary ‘entertainment allowanee’
which had been paid to the Governors in the past. Clive and
WVeralst had been paid some allowance when they were governors,
This was proved by entrics in the hook of public accounts kept
at Murshidabad, Customary or not it was undoubtedly excessive
and in all conscience unjustifiable especially when it is remems-
bered that the Nawalb’s allowance had been ent down to 16 lakhs
a year, Hastings was right in protesting against the high-handed-
ness ol his colleagues but he commitied a  ‘actical hlunder' in
not adwitting the reecipt of 1] lakhs, The veason why he did not
do so iy obvious,

As the reports of theiv proceedings became known to the
public attacks on Hastings' personal character and  intogrily
multiplied. New charges were brought against Liim and he was
painted in vivid colours as a monster of iniquity. Small faults
were magnified into grave offences and he found himsell in a
state of torment. It was at this time that he was informed of a
conspiracy between Nand Kumar, Francis, Fowller and [oseph,
an Englishinan not in  the Company's serviee, to bring a [alse
chargeagainst him. The matter reporied was to the Chiel Justice
who ordered his irial on the charge of conspiracy but before this
was done Nand Kumar was caught in a trap which his enemics
had laid for him.

A cergain Mohan Prasad had six years before hrought against
Nand Kumar a civil suit for fraud in the Mayor's Court but
having failed there, he went to the Supreme Court and prosccut-
ed him for forgery in a will! He was committed to prison
and ordered to take his wial, Thchudﬁ-t found him guilty and
he was hanged on 5th August, 1775, : evidence against him
was so meagre that even a prima fucie clase could not be estab-
lished. But itis said the Judges werc greatly annoyed at the
zeal of the prisoner's friends and . the perjury of his witnesses,
The trial was held with the help of a jury which consisted entire-
ly of Europeans. It lasted for seven days and the formalities of
law were fully complied with. The accused was defended by
Farrier, one of the ablest advocates of the Calcutta court. Before
the exccution of the sentence Nand Kumar prayed for mercy
but his petition met with no response. The request for appeal
to the King in Council was rejected on the ground that it con-
tained no specific grounds. Then Farrier made a fresh petition

1. Mohan Prasad was attorney to a bauker Balak Das whosewill
Nand Kumar had been found guilty of nttering knowing
it to be forged. This will had been made four years before.
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raying for respite but enly one jury-man agreed Lo sign it
f]ngel:‘frrcd by i!ai!uw: he rm;u:stcrl 'rlh::Tm::mhma-sg of the Cngv-unniil
to endovse his petivion but Clavering and Monsouw vefused o
interfere on the ground that 1 had  no relation whatever to the
public concerns of the country’, A piteous appeal made to
Irancis previously peodueed o efllect and he did nothing to save
e lile of the man whom  he lad instigated so much,  Perhaps
mg some Anglo-Indinn weiters suggest Francis [elt that Nand
Kumar dead would be more uselul Tor  his purposes than Naud
Kumar alive,  Before the exceution of sentence Nand Kunar
prayed for mevey lut his petition met with no response.

Thus was removed [rom the path of Hastings one of his most
fonmnidable enemies whose intrigues threatened to hlight his
eaveer in Tudla,  He heaved asigh o veliel when the trinl was
over and wrote (o his agents in Londan  “the old gentleman was
in gaol and in a fair way to be hanged"”. The Chiel Justice also
feared that his motives might be  impugned and three days after
he wrote to Alexander Elliot that he was apprchensive the majo-
rity of this Council will endeavour to assign undue motives for
the late execution. . . I would by nomeans leave my attachment
to Hastings il het he deeried or extenuated. It was founded on
riendship for a school lellow and has been confirmed by
opinion of e man?

The death of a Brahmin of high rank caused consternation
wmong the people. Thousands rushed to the Ganges to have
a dip in the sacred water to wash away the pollution caused
b}' witnessing the murder and prayed for the welfare of his soul,
The execution had a calming cifeet on aceusers and informers and
even the hostile majority of the Council was sobered down by
the suddeness of the Lilow.

The exceution of Nand Kumar like the Rohilla war formed
one of the articles of impeachment against Hastings. Burke thund-
ered in fury against him and charged him with the murder of a
pious Brahman. He was in close touch with Franeis who sup-
plicd him information about Hastings' conduct and poliey.

Speaking on Fox's India Bill he said:

#The Rajah Nuncomar was, by an insult on everything
whiclt India holds respectable and seerved, hanged in
the fuce ol all his nation, by the Judges you sent to
protect that people, hanged for a pretended crime, upon
an ex post facto Act of Parliament, in the midst of his
evidence against Mr. Hastings, 'The accuser they said

1, Davies, Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 177
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be | . The culprit, without aequittal or enquiry
triumpls on the ground of that murder—a murder not
of Noncomar only, butol all living testimony, and
even of cvidence yet unborsi, From that time nota
complaint has been heard from the Natives against
their Governors. All the prievances of India have
found a complete remedy.”

Mill and Macaulay among historians acecpied Burke's charge
and the latter went so [ar as (o assert llmtilNom: lut idiots or
biographers will doubt that Hastings and Impey had colluded 1o
bring about the judicial murder of Nand Kumar', It was belic-
ved by many that ostensibly Nand Kumar was hanged [or forgory
but in reality because e had the audacity to accuse the Governor-
General ol grave offences. There are three questions that arize out
of the trial. [First, was Nand Kumar guilty ? Second, was the
trial fairly conducted ? Third, did Hastings collude with Impey
to bring about his murder by a legal process? The answer
given by u number of modern Anglo-Indian critics is extremely in
favour of Hastings.

Forrest regards Hastings’ prosccution of Nand Kumar for
conspiracy as an act of legitimate self-defence and says that there
was possibility for his death rested not on Hastings but on the
three members of Council (Adm. [40-141). Vincent Smith who is
strongly biassed in favour of Hastings writes:

There is not the slightest foundation for Macaulay’s denuncia-
tions of the couduct of cither Hastings or Impey in connection
with the execution of Nand Kumar., The critics of Warren
Hastings may make out acase against him in rvegard to the
Rohilla war, Raja Chet Singh, orthe Begams of Oudh. The
facts of all those cases admit of divergence of opinion ':{mcnrlling
his action, but nobody who has really understood the Nan
Kumar affair can believe it possible that a judicial murder was
committed. The procedure was regular, legal, and deliberate,
and the actual trial by jury was more laborious, and exhausting,
prabably, than that of any other case on record.

Modern research regards the story of the judicial murder as
a myth. Sir James Stephen in his ‘The Story of Nuncomar and
the Impeachment of Sir Elijah Impey' which is & wholly one-
sided statement of the case defends Warren Hastings’ conduct and
holds Nand Kumar to have been fjuatly and fairly tried and
punished. Mr. Davies, arecent defender of Warren Hastings,
expresses a similar view (176-79). In a style hardly suited to the
dispassionate examination of a controversial question he writes:

1. Oxford History p. 327.
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The idea of Hastings, desperatc because his carcer and
reputation were about to fc ruined, trying to destroy his encmy
and accuser belore he was destroyed by him, framing the prose-
cution ou @ capital charge, and pevsuading his old school {riend
to save him by sending Nand Kumar to the gallows—What is this
but the veryswil of great drama ? How alluring it is! Fow
irresistible 1o the lovers of the stage ? How artistically satis-

fying M

A more balanced view is expressed by My, Roberts whose re-
scarches duserve to be treated with respect. He regards the charge
ol judicial murder ns baseless but (rankly states that the trin] was
not conducted with ahsolute fairness and it was unfortunate that
the judges themselves eross-examined, and that somewhat severely,
the prisoner's witnesses, on the alleged ground that counsel
for the prosecution was incompetent, He goesto add that the
juclicial murder may be fictitious but there was ‘certainly some-
thing equivalent to a miscarviage of justive’. The judges acted
wrongly in applying the English Law to Nand Kumar's case and
as even Sir James Stephen admits fine or imprisonment would
have been the appropriate penalty.® One mere extract will show
Mr. Roberts® lnirmindedness.

It isvery doubtful whether the Supreme Court had any
jurisdiction over natives, and there is practically no doubt at all
{though the point has been contested) that the English law mak-
ing forgery a capital erime was not operated in India till mt::&y
years alter Nand Kumar's alleged forgery had been committed.
Apart from all this, the Supreme Court authority to reprieve
and suspend the execution of any capital sentence whenever there
shall appeer in their judgment a proper occasion for mercy.*

Mr, Roberts finds it difficult to understand why the majority
of the Council didnot try to save Nand Kumar. There was
good reason why they should have petitioned the Court for his
release. 1f Nand Kumar were hanged it will be difficult to
investigate the charge against Hastings, According to Mr.
Roberts the only thing that will explain their conduct is that
they had come to regard the charges against Hastings as baseless
and were glad to be rid of Nand Kumar, The reader who has

|. Davies, Administration p. 179,

On reading Mr. Davies's Defence of Hastings one [ecls con-
vinced of the necessity of the warning which Macaulay
gives to idiots and biographers.

2. History of British India, p. 188.
3. liud., pp. 188-89.
12
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followed the history of these events will form his own judgment
about the character of Hastings as well as the members of the
Council. Both had used Nand Kumar as their tool and such
was their gratefulacss for the services rendered. Both hiad shown
their gratelulness by throwing him overboard.!

Thompson and Garrelt have examined Nand Kumar’s case
with more fervour and impartiality than other Anglo-Indian
writers. They have expressed the view that the trial was not
g0 impartial a8 Stephen and Vineent Smith assert, nor was the
British jury the best to hear such o case.  The application ol e
English law was bad enough and it was clearly unfaiv bocause
Nand Kumar's alleged guilt went back to a period four years
before the establishment of the Supreme Court.® The learned
authors write:

”Hanging was certainly a pititul end [or the men who, when

the English were suppliants and merchants deserving
precious little respect for either chavacter or courage,
was a great officer in the land, and who had beenin so
many prime affairs of State duving twenty yours."®

Another Anglo-Indian writer of repute who has made a
similar study of the whole guestion is Sir Willinm Beveridge.
His well known book *The trial of Maharaja Nand Kumar' was
‘written as a_reply to Sir James Stephen’s work on the same sub-
jeet which has .{Jccn mentioned  before.  Flis econclusions ape
entirely different. They may be bricfly stated as follows:

The charge of forgery was not established and the yeal
. proseeutor of Nuncomar was Hastings, Kanaluddin, the
F_fimglpai witness in the case, was clascly connected with
astings’ Banya Kamta Babu. 'The tvial was conducted
~unfairly and the Chiel Justice’s behaviour was bad
throughout. There is Farrier's account to show that
from the very beginning the judges had made up their
minds that the defence was false. The British jury

* which tried the case was incompetent and Impey
hanged Nand Kumar [rom covrupt motives. This is
the sum and substance of Beveridge's learncd thesis

. *Morisonand Francis did nothing, a baseness deeper than
that which Hastings showed when his private secrctary
interfered against a reprieve,”

Thompson and Gavrett, Risc and Fulfilment of British Rule
in India, pp. 138-39,
2, Thompson and Garrett, p. 138,

3. Ihid,, p. 138,
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which runs into three hundred and thirty-seven pages
ceammed with information on every conceivable aspeet
of the ease.

There is no doulst that much bias has been imported into
the discussion of this question Iy Anglo-Indian writers, Some
are apologists of Hastings, othevs are mere ervities of his nature
aited policy and move rewonable in their outbreak. An impartial
study, however, o the whole question leads to this econclusion.
The yrosccution liled 1o prove that Nund Kuminr was guilty of
forgevy. lven Sir Junes Stephen ndmits that thi-ease against
him was o weak one and the evidence was hardly suflicient 1o
catablish o prima facie ease.  That the defence was false docs hot
prove the guill o the acensed. The prineipal witess for the
prosecution Kamaluddin was o man nrwnrl]dc&.{ charagier whao,
aceording to Sir _Jumes Stephen, fconsidered Tulschood ns fair
play’,  Dlastings was interested in the prosecution. The coin-
cidence hetween Nand  Kumae's  accusation against Hastings and
his areest for Torgery is nol meeely o matter of chance, 1t is on
record that Furvier's (Nand Kumar's Counsel) attemipts to obeain
a reprieve [or Nand Kumur were [viled by Hastings’ servants.
According to the Sair-ul-Mutakharin it was the hnpression of
contemperarics thut Nand Kumur perished lor having necused
the Governor-Genoral. Geneul Clavering wrote on the 15th
September, 1775;

o veeeeenreneititl wller the death of Nand Eumar, the Gover-
norwe beliove §s well assured and that ne man whe
regards his own safety will venture to stand farth as
his accuser.”

The chavges against Hastings were still under examination and
the best way to stifle enquiry was to create trouble for Nand
Kumar. The [orgery (if committed at all) was committed several
years ago and during the interval Hastings had used Nand Kumar
as his toal for his own pwrposcs.! That the proscention was
launched after Nand Kumar had arraigied the Governor-General
is significant,

The trial began in June and the judges must have been in-
convenienced by the tropical heat but it cannot be said that the
trial was conducted fairly, Impey’s manner was bad; Hyde and
Le Maistre {two other judges) treated the deflence witnesses very

1. Hastings was accused in March;the conspiracy charge against
Nand Kumar was brought in April and on the 6th May,
Nand Kymar was arrested on a charge of ['m&ery. The
interval was very shart and when we remember that Mohan
Prasad was intouch with Hastings it secms reasonable to
believe that the two were connected.
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roughly and even Farrier was hampered in his advocacy of the
cause of his client. He was not allowed to address the jury. The
judge's questions to the wilnesses were ol ‘an inquisitional charac-
ter' and Farrier stated before the House of Commons that they
were influenced by the perjury of the defence witnesses. Impcg:f
charge to the jury was unfair, The jurors were not men of su
tance and there was not onc Indian among them. Nand Kumar's
vequest to be tricd by a jury of his peers was refused, Hnstin?'s’
contemporarics had no doubt that he had countenanced the
prosccution of Nand Kumar and some of them asked him to
rnkcd precautions for his safety, Macpherson wrote to him lrom
Madras:

“Do not employ any black; let your fair female (Mrs. Imhoff)
lriend oversee cverything you eat.,”

Hastings [cared danger and took precautions to guard his
pCrIom.

_ Impey and his colleagues tried Nand Kumar according to
English Law which was wholly unjust. It is difficult to follow
the reasoning which Impey employed to prove that the English
Law applied to Calcutta, It is true, fnrgclwm i capital offence
in England but in India it was a mere misdemeanour. There was
only one case of an Indian sentenced to death for forgery (1765)
but he was not hanged and the sentence was condemned. The
judges knew nothing about Indian customs and usages and their
action justified Hastings' [orebodings about applying an exotic
law to India. Probably Impey was convinced of g@anﬂ Kumar's
guilt but his fault consists in the haste, partiality and prejudice
with which he tried the case.

He forgot that Clive had committed forgery but Parliament
had passed a resolution eulogising his services to the country.
Martin's words may be noted:

«The offenice which had not barred an Englishman's path to
& peerage was now to doom a Hindu to the gallows".!

Impey was not.an impartial judge, Lovrd Cornwallis wrote
in 1786 two years after he left India that he might not be sent
again and all sections of the population endovsed his view. Again
in 1783 he observed that he was sorry for Hastings, but that
if they wanted somebody to hang, they might ‘tuck up' Sir

Elijah Impey without giving anybody the smallest concern.?

1. ‘The Indian Empire, 111, p. 334,

2. Impey’s character did not inspire confidence. He had a
passion for money and it is said he procured contracts in
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Such is independent testimony about the Chiel Justice who
iz eredited with a high sense of judicial fairness and integrity.

There is reason to think that the judge did not act from
corrupt motives but it is true that Hastings hcaved a sigh of
veliel at the (all of his detested enciny. He wrote to one ol his,
[riends that his honour, life and position had been saved, Al-
though some writers have interpreted these words ina different
sense, it is clear that they referred 10 Nand Kumar's case. Just be-
fore this Hastings had writtento his agents in London giving them
discretionary power to tender his resignation which was cancelled
later. The death of Nantd Kumar proved lTavourable to Hastings,
Had he nnt been guilty of the charges brought by Nand Kumar,
he would have categorically denicd them but he did not do so.
Again, il he really cared toclear his conduct, he would have
exerted his influence with Mohan Prasad, with whom he was-in
touch, to suspend the prosecution o forgery until the charges
against him had been fully investigated. It was clearly the duty
of first man in the administration to rebut the charges' brought
against him. "

The quarrel with Council continued. The majority now
tricd to unde the work of Hastings, They removed Munni Begam
from the post of guardian and appointed Raja Gur Das in her
place. Mohomed Reza Khan was restored to favour again and
was placed in charge of criminal justice. The majority spent all
their time in condamning Hastings and the administration came
to a standstill, The machinery provided to  maintain law and
order became weak and crime increased. Not satisfied with set-
ting at naught Hastings’ authority they entered into a quarrel
with the Supreme Court of which an account will be given later,
Owing to the high-handedness of the majority, the condition of
Oudh grew from bad to worse, and Hastings’ prophesies about
the treaty of Faizabad were fully proved. In September, 1776,
Monson died and this entitled him to make an effective use of
his casting vote. While affairs were in this condition, the resig-
nation of Hastings caused 2 _difficult situation. Exasperated by
the persistent opposition of his colleagues he had tendered his
resignation which was accepted and the Directors appointed Mr.

the name of his cousin Fraser who was a member of his
household. Such was the prevalent view in Calcutta at
the time. Impey was known by the name of Justice
Pulbandi (the keeping of bridges and embankments in dis-
pair). Hicky's Gazette published a number of satires on
Sir Elijah Impey giving publicity to his shady transactions.
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Wheeler to take the place of Clavering who bad in the meantime
hecome Governor-General,  Hasti atonee withdrew his resig-
nation and expressed his determination to remain in his position,
and sent orders to the officers of the Company's forecs not to obey
the General's orders.  Hastings and Barwell passed a resolution
that by uswping the place of the Governor-General Clavering
had vacated his seat as member and his post ol Commander-in-
Chigf. The matter way refoyred to the judges who doeclured that
he had naot resigned and that Hastings continued to be Governor-
General, Clavering was greatly disappointed and alter somatime
he died in September, 1777, Wheeler aveived in - December jnd
Hastings mentioned his predominance in the Council.  Sir Byre
Cook who was appointed in Clavering’s place did not support
Francis and Hastings too found him diffieult to manage.  Francis
found himsell in a minority and was powerless to do mischiel. He
had done his best to rouse public opinion in England against
Hastings and sent reports of the Company’s misgovernment to
the Directors. Meanwhile the first Maratha war broke out and
Wheeler and Francis opposed the plans of the Governor-General.
He could not afford to sit idle and gave up the prosccution of
the war, At last his patience was exhausted and  he ¢hallenged
Francis to & duel in which the latter was wounded by his adver-
sary. It was most undignified for the Governor-General of Bri-
tish tervitories in India to settle his dispute by having ve-
cowvse to a el but perhaps he had ne option,

Francis's Indian carcer was over and beaten, ballled and
crest-fallen he sailed for England in Decembar, 1780, Carvying
rage and Ditterness in his Leart and determined (o vevenge on
the man who hid frusteated all his ambitions and blasted his
hopes. Hence forward the activity ol these guards grow less and
Hastings was not much troubled by his colleagues

In England Francis fomented much ill-feeling against Hast-
ings but his inveterate hostility towavrds the Governor-General
prevented him from realising the great wish of his life.  All hix
attempts o obtain the Governor-Generalship of India (ailed.
When Lord Cornwallis died, he tricd to get it but the ministers
could not be persuaded to grant hiz wish. As Lord llrougham
rightly said they eould no more have obtained the East India
Company's consent to the appointment ol Franeis than they could
huve transported the Himalaya mountains to the Beadonhall
Street.  Tris a pity that a man ol such ability should have wasted
himsell in a [utile opposition. He never precovered [vom his dis-
appointment and bitterness evenin his retirement. The last
public act ol his life rclating to Indin was on the 25th March,
1807-when he asked a few guestions about the Vellore mutiny.
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Supreme Court and Council

It has heen said before that the jurisdiction of ths Supreme
Court was not clearly defined, It was supposcd to extend over
Fort William and subovdinate lactoss sm(? the servants of the
Company aud her servants,  These words were ambignous and
led 1o a serious dispute between the Court and Couneil, The
judges elaimed (o Dear complaints agninst the acts of the Exe-
cutive and its oflicers ad ewred uothing G any rules and
regnbations which the Counetl might make, As Alfred Lyall
very pertineutly ohserves, the eapital question of sovereignty stood
open to be  explained  thonretically aceording to the interests or
contention nfp cither side.! The Company held their lands
Ly grauts [rom the Mughal and vested with the Indian princes,
and  thevelore did aot want in all mallers to submit to the
authority of the Supreme Court. 'The judges filt that they were
appointed by the Crown and thevelore they thoupht that theiy
jurisdiction cxtended wherever the Company’s sway was exercis-
e, They refused to recognize the sovercignty of the Nawab
and claimed oy deal with all cases of Beitish subjects. The Coun-
eil deelaved that the Court had no jurisdiction over the Jand-
awners of Bengal, who were in reality the subjects of the Nawab,
The term British subject was not clearly defined; it might mean
only Buropeans or the entire prople of Bengal or anly those who
lived in Caleutta. The crux of the matter, however, was whether
the Court had any jurisdiction over the Zamindars, the revenue,
and the judicial oiTicers of the Company., Hastings held that
it was monstrous to subject Indinns to English law and procedure
and himsell granted bail to the Raja of Vishnupur who had been
conlined to prison lor some default in payment of revenue. Mill
hasdealt withthe subject at length in his history. Hesaysthat juris-
diction regacding revenue matters had only been exercised in
India by the authority that was entrusted with the collection of
revenue.  The Provincial Councils and the Courts called Dewani
Adalat examined this jurisdiction. The process was simple and
suited to the habits and sentiments of the people. The Supreme
Court began to interfere in the proceedings and defaulters were
led to think that if they sought the protection of the Supreme Court
they would be casily let off  This rendered all action by revenue
judges nugatory. Whenever any coercive process was employed
against a defaulter, he was bailed out by the Supreme Court. The
vesult of this was that the colleetion of revenue became difficult
and men who did not want to pay sought vedres: in the Supreme
Court, In 1766 Hastings tricd to find a solution of the difficulty
by suggesting the amalgamation of the Supreme Court and the
Sadar Dewani Adalat. But the majority did not agree with him
and the plan was ahandoned, The, differences between the Court

I, Davies, Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 180.
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and the Council were aggravated by the attitude which they
adopted towards the important cases that came up for decision.

THE PATNA CASE (1779)

Towards the close of 1776 Shahbaz Khan, a rich Muham-
medan in Bihar died leaving a large fortune but no legal heir.
His widow Nadira Begum claimed the property by virtuc of
will and deed of gift. But the nephiew of the deceased Dahadur
put forward his claim as the adopted son of his unele.  The
Qazis and Muftics deputed by the Council to ascertain the [aets
reported that the will and deed were {orgeries  and recommoended
a division of the property into four patts, three of which were to
be given to Bahadur, Baz and oneto the widow who was not satisficd
with the decision.  She appealed to the Supreme Court and the
appeal was admitted on the ground that the nephew was a
farmer of revenue and therefore subject to the jurisdietion of the
Court. The judges awarded the widow 3 lakhs as damages and
the Qpzis and Mufties of the Provincial Council were censured.
The question of real importance was whether a member of re-
venue courts was subject to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court.
The judgment caused a panic in Behar and nearly 39 farmers of
revenue offered to resign on the ground that they would nol be
ableto collect the revenue il they were harassed by rof and
Zamindars by carrying their complaints to the Supreme Court.

The Cossijurah Case

Kashinath Babu, a resident of Caleutta tried to recover a
large sum of money he had lent to the Raja of Cossijura, He
brought a suit in the Supreme Court and as the Raja was a Zam-
indar, the judges readily entertained it. The Council below the
Supreme Court had no jurisdiction over the Zamindars and sent
word to the Raja to payno attention to the Court’s process. The
Raja did the same and when the Sheriff went with his officials
to arrest him, he was driven away, Thercupon the Supreme
Court in great anger sent a force of sixty or seventy persons to
arrest thr.%la'u-. The Council was equally prompt and despatch-
ed a force which encountered the Sheriff and rescued the Raja
from him.

Kashinath then brought an action for trespass against the
members of the Council individually, At first they appeared in
Clourt but later all of them except Barwick withdrew. @ wrath
of the judges fell on the Company's attorney who was sent to
prison where he died shortly afterwards.

Such were the scandalous proceedings in which the Court
and the Council were cngaged in to the utter detriment of the
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interests of the Company and the reputation and prestige of the
British nation.

The manner in which the Court dealt with the Company's
servants, ruined the moral influcnee of the Executive and expos-
ed the officers of Government to feontinual persecutions by liti-
gants and irresponsible persons’2

Hastings suggesied 1o the Couneil that Impey should be
made judge of the Sadar Dewani Adalat and by this measure he
hoped to end the conflict between the Executive and the judici-
ary. It was opposed in the Couneil but he earvied it by his cast-
ing vote. To many “Impey's acceptance of this oflice scemed
inconsistent with the independence of the Chief Justice and there
is 10 doulit that ¢Impey exposed himself to a temptation to which
no judge ought to expose himsell”,  The plan was opportune but
the Directors did not approve ol it and the old practice was ves-
tored again in 1782,

To put an end to dillicultics caused by conllict of jurisdic-
tion an Act of Parliament was passed in 1781 by which it was
laid down that the Governor-General and his Councll were not
subject to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court for any act done
Ly them in tljmir public capacity. All revenue matters were
excluded [rom the purview of this Court. No one was to be sub-
Jjeet to its jurisdiction in cases ol inheritance and succession on
the ground that he was an cmployec of the Company. All cases
in which Englishmen were parties were to be tried by it ;it
was to exercise jurisdiction over the inhabitants of Calcutta,
Hindu and Muslim, but their respective laws were to be applied
in all private civil suits. When one party was Hindu or Muslim,
the law to be applied was that of the delendant.

Thus were the evils of the Regulating Act of 1773
remedied,

Impey’s conduct was sirongly eriticised in England and
in May, 1782, the House of Commons voted hisrecall io ans.
wer the chavge of having accepted an office [rom the servants
of the Company. On his return he was impeached for several
charges one of which was the execution of Nand Kumar and the
acceptance of the judgeship of the Sadar Dewani Adalat.

Impey left India in December, 1783 and reached London in

June, 1784, but he did not resign from his high office until Nov-
cmber, 1787, A few days alter his impeachment he was removed,

1. Tilth Report, 1, p. COLXXVI.



CHAPTER X

War and Reform

The First Maratha Wax (1775 82)

Affaivs at Posier, Thet sosws of the diseter ol Panipad broke
thie heart of the Peslowa Baluji Baji Rao ane hie died in Juue, 1761,
He was suceended by his son Madho Rao but as the latrer was
quite youngand inexperienced, thealluirs of the Statowere munaged
by his uncle Raghwuth Rao, better known  in history s
Raghoba. The nephew, who was o man of ability nud  chnrae-
ter, soon asserted las incdependence and tried to shake off the
Eﬂkn of his uncle. Aunoyed at thus, Raghoba und his Dewan
heklhar Ram Bapu resigned, this leaving the young prince to
choose his own afficers,  Among those whom the Peshwa appoin-
ted was Balaji, beiter known in history ay Nana Phadnoavis, so
ealled beeause he held the office of Phadnavis or Chiel Accoun-
tunt. Raghobu lele dissatisfied at the loss o power and s anger
was inflamed further by his wife Anandi Bai who had a great
ersonal distike for the Peshwas minther Gopika Bai,  The jealusy
retween these two ludics served to embitter Raghoba'’s [eolings
still more: and at the instigation of his wife he asked the Nizam
to invade Ponna, The Nizam responded to his eall and the
Peshw.t unable to cope with the encmy submitted to his uncle
and wasput under restruint. In 1763 the Nizam cspoused the
canse of Janoji Bhnsla of Berar and invaded Poona.  The Peshiwa
indiiced Holkar and Gackwar 1o nsiist his uncle,  An engagement
followed between the two enemics in which the Nizam was defen-
ted. Covdial velations were restoved hetween the unele and the
nephew but they were soon disturbed by the intrigues of Anandi
Bai.

In 1764 Muadho Rao led an expedition against Hydw Al
of Mysore who was increasing the power of his domaing but he
was obliged by the machinations of Eis uncle to make peace with
him, Again twa years later, the Peshwa marched amainst Hyder
Ali who was attacked at the same (ime by the Nizam and the
English. Hyder Al Lribed the Marathas to rctive {1767) and
persuaded the Nizam (o go over ro his side. The Peshwa's geowing
influrnce alavmed the Bombay Council and they sent Moystyn
to report onthe actual state of affairs at Poona, and to prevent
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the Peshwa (rom entering into an alliance with the Nizam and the
ruler ol Mysore,

The Marathas now erssed inle Hindostan and ravied
the Company up to the Doab, Muhadji Sindhia had by now risen
inte prominence and along with Tukoji Rao Holkar he levied
trilaere Proon the Rajputs ond Jats, Gradually his power inereased
considerably and in 1771 he induced Shah Alam the Mughsl
Ewnpuror to leave the proteetion ol the Englisho and go 0 Delhi
exenrted Iy o large Maratha nemy,

Macdhn Ran had Deen sullering Geom ill-health for sonmetine,
Tle sl alter a peolonged Hlness on MHih Novewber, 1772 at
the age of 20, Tt has been traly said that his death produced  fioe
more sevions conseguenesy than even the batle ol ’mﬁjlml. He
wiaks it i of noble character who always protected the weak
ugeainet the steong and eied 1o do justice w all. iy anxicly (o
fvee hivsell (oo the outelage of Lis onele was doe (6 the face
that Le did not approve of the corruption in Maratha politics.
Grant Duff writes of hin

WThe voot which invigovated the alveady seathed and wide -
extending tree was cut ofF from the stem and the plains
of P'anipat were not inore [atal to the Maratha Empire
than the eavly death of this excellent prince.  Although
the military wlents of Madho Rao were very con-
sitlerable, his charucter ax o soveceign is entitled to
muel greater vespeet than et of any of his predeces-
sors (p. 352).

Madho Rao was sueceeded by his younger hrother Narayan
Ran, a weak man given to n‘{iﬁ: ol ease amd pleasure
with Sakhu Rawm Bapu as minister and the Nana as the
Chiel Acemutant. But he was soon murdered and
it is probable that his death was encompassed by
Anandi Bai. Raghoba was duly invested with the
Peshwaship but he did not lind it a bed of roscs. He
was opposed by Sakha Ram Bapu and the Nana and
the disconcerting announcemen: was  soon made that
the Peshwa's widow Ganga Bai was with child, She
was removed  to a place of safety where, on [8th April,
1774, a posthumous son was born and Raghoba’s hopes
were destroyed by an unkind [ate. The twelve leaders

1. Tukoji Holkar was a gencral of Malhar Rao Holkar who
had f:llicdu.t Alampur, on May 20, 1 766. He was succeed-
ed by his saintly daoghter-in-law Ahalya Bai. The linc
of '[-i:;]kurs was thus weakened and Sindhia beeame the
strongest Maratha chicftain.
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known as the Bara Bhai banded themselves together to
prevent Raghoba from usurping the Peshwa's gaddi.
A Council of Regency was lormed to carry on the
administration in the name of the child Peshwa, Ragho-
ba received no support from Holkar and Sindhia on
whom he had counted. e turned to the Gaekwad
and the English, In s%}im of Raghnba's opposition, the
child was placed on the gaddiand it has been rightl
said that “frowm this time Raghunnth Rao (Ra lmhn.sr
beeomes in fiet & mere pawn in the complicated intri-
gues and eonseouent struggles® in which the Maratha
leaders geadually played more and more for their own
individual aggrandisciment and but little o the cause
of the Maratha State, thus (acilitaring the ultimate
supremacy of the English,™

Raghunath Rao in this hour of his misfortune turned to the
English for helps The Bombay Government had felt that and
instructed their confrere and at Caleutta and Madras had far out-
stripped them in the political race and they decided to negotiate
with Raghoba for the cession of the islands of Salsette and Has-
sein. iile matters were still under discussion, the Portuguese
made efforts to recover Bassein which had been wrested [rom
them by the Marathas in 1739, The Bombay Council had judged
it necessary to take possession of Salsette and justified their action
by saying that its capture by the Portuguese would have been of
infinite prejudice to trade, revenue and intevests of the Company
in those parts. Raghoba was defeated by [lari Phadke and was
in need of further help. He concluded an offensive and defen-
sive alliance with the English, Ai last the treaty of Sural was
made between Rngihoha and the English on 7th March, 1775, by
which (1) the earlier treaties were confirmed; (2) the English
were to help Raghoba with a force of 2,500 men; (3) and Salsette
and Bassein were to be ceded to them in perpetuity with a share
of the revenue of the Baroach and Surat districts; (4) the English
were to be consulted in making peace with Poona. Raghoba was
asked to deposit six lakhs as security for his engagement. Desirous
of quick action, the Bombay Government assembleda force under
Colonel Keating who reached Surat in February, 1775, with ins-
tructions to assist Raghoba against his opponents and give him
every assistance that he needed. An engagement [ollowed be-
tween the allies of Raghoba and the forces sent by the Court of
Regency on the 18th May, 1775, on the plainof Arras in which
the latter was defeated, About the same time news came that
Maratha fleet was destroyed by the English and this greatly

l. Cambridge, History, V, p. 256,
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disheartened the ministerial party at Poona. Raghoba’s cause
scemed to triumph for the moment but all arrangements were
upset by the decision of the Supreme Council at Calcutta.

Treaty of Purandhar, 1st March, 1776

When the Caleutta Council heard of the treaty of Surat,
they disapproved of it and deseribed it as ‘unscasonable, impo-
litic, unjust and unauthorised’. In Hastings’ words it was uns
. seasonable because it was made with Raghoba at a time when he
had Leen totally abandoned by his former adherents. It was
impolitic because it thiew the whole burden ol the wars on the
Company without an adequate force and without financial re-
sources and because it was undertaken without paying any heed
to the general interest of the Company in India, It was unjust
because the Marvathas had done no injury to the English,
Though Hastings was opposed to the treaty, he did not favour the
idea of ordering the Bombay Governnient to withdraw its forces
peremptorily and call off the war for he knew the consequences
of such hasty action. Francis supported him and the majority
of the Council agreed that the Government of Bombay s{muld
be told that hostilitics must cease atonce. The Bombay Govern-
ment obeyed and withdrew their troops who had won the Dbattle
of Arras but the President made a dignified protest and sent their
agent (o represent [ully to the Government at Calcutta 'the
maotives for all our proceeding’ but the Goveirnor-General and
his Council informed him of the step they had taken. They
sent Colonel Upton to enter into negotintions with the Poona
Ministry and the treaty of Purandliar was signed on lst March,
l??E.eri‘hu Bombay Government's protests were unheeded.
Nana Phadnavis on behalf of the Poona Government offered the
same advantages as had been conferrcd upon the English by the
treaty of Surat. DBy this treaty the alliance with Raghoba was
given up; he was to be granted a pension of 3 lakhs per. annum
and was not to be allowed to keep an army in his service. The
English were to get Salsette and a shave of the revenues of Ba-
roach and the mouth of the Narbada., The patriotic party at
the Maratha Court, did not however favour the treaty, and new
difficulties arose: The President of the Council at Bombay des-
cribed the treaty as highly injurious to the interest and reputa-
tion of the Company and held that it would be a serious breach
of faith with Raghoba. Raghoba, exasperated by the dubious
conduct of the English, resolved to carry on the war himsell and
sought the help of Mahadji Sindhia but in vain. Mecanwhile
despatches arrived from the Court of Dircctors expressing ap-
proval of the treaty of Surat and sug h::fh the retention of
Salsette which had been secured by the %::gi .
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The uffairs at Poona assumed a maore scrious aspect with
the arrival of a French agent, the chevalicr de St Lubin, He
hind eome o negatiate an allianes with the Marathas und Nana
Phadnavis, his speeific object being to seeure a seaport near Bom-
bay and a (actory. The Nana treéated him with great atiention
although he know what the promises of the French support
meant.

The Laghish were abready st war withthe Ao ican Colonies
wlhom France was about to support and this considevably inercased:
the anxiety of the Baglish in Indig, "The Bamlay Governend
vightly fearved the vesults of French inteigue and  vemarcked that a
repetition of the scene ol wars and intrigues Tormerly enncted on
the coast of Coromandul, miglht end in ‘our tolal subwersion’,
They veiterated their view that Roghoba must be suppovted and
they were helped by the dissensions that had breken out at Poona
hetween Sakha Ram Bapu, the aged minister, nnd his younger but
more resolute and astute vival the Nana., The former asked the
Bombay Government {or help which was promised. The Boumbay
Government obtained the ngrpl‘uva.l of tho Galeuttn Governmiment
anly by the casting vote of Hastings. Prancis and Whaeler con-
demmed the action of the Bombay Governmenur, while Hastings
and  Barwell justiicd its illegality on grounds of cmorgency.
Alley 2 long aul stormy debate the Iollowing resalutions woere
passed by the Supreme Couneil:

[. That the Peesident and Cpuncil of Bombay are justified
in helping Raghobin at the request of the ministiy at
Poona.

2. That asum ol ten Jakhs ol rupees be immediately gran-
ted to the Bombay Government fer the prosecution of
war.

4. That military assistance be sent to the Presidency.

It was decided tosend a force under Colonel Leslic and
the President and Couneil at Bombay were authorised to carry
an the war.

The occasion was hardly ripe for a declaration ol hostilities,
Mr. Davics remarks:

“The prostige of cach of the three Presidencies could hardly
have been at a lower chb. Bengal was still in the
throes of faction, the progress of which had been
watched with interest by the Court of every native State
in India. Nor did they have to rely only on hearsay and

ionage to obtuin their information, Many times
Hastings had occasion to remark on the leakage that
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made the most seeret consultations of his Government
commnu kiowledge to every lorcign agent in Calcutta,
and he had grounds for believing  that the souree of the
feak was & memlwr of the Council —none other than
My, Prancis,  Muclvis similacly riven with divisions and
burdened with an exhausted treaswey, was like aleaf
that the first strong wind would blow [rom its braneh.
Nor, as Hasidngs surveyed the scene ontside the Dorders
of the {_.'nuTPil.nY‘x possessions; could he have desired
greiler comlort from what he at hod there.  Oudl, the
sole ally, was dissolving into anarchy with a vicious
and inenmpetent ruler an exhausted treasury, a lhuge
burden ol debt to the Company, a mutinous army, and
an incipicntl'{ rebellions Zamindari, it was as an ally
move ofa lisbility than an asser"

Frown the west come ominous news  that the Maratlhas were
cowposing their divisions that had for a long peviod rendeved them
powerless to intervene effectively in the political arena,  As procf
of this they had already sent an expedition against Tlaider Ali.
With the union of all the Maratha Siates and leaders, fmme-
diately there was created a most formidable military rival o the
English, made more fovmidable by its possession of drilled and
disviplined roops under the command of French oflicers. The
same was Lrae of Haider All. Inleagoue with the French and
expectantly awaiting [vom them strong re-inforeements of troops,
officers and monay, he lay puerched above the mountains of the
Western Ghats, commading every pass into the defenecless plains
of the Carnatic, like an eagle veady to swoop. In his head had
already been hatehed the old scheme of deiving the English
into the sen, And what was still more disturbing, every packet
from England brought news of reverses and failures in the war
that was raging beyond the Atlantie!

The English marched to Poona along with Raghoba with a
view to installing him in the Peshwa’s gaddi. Nana Phadnavis had
fully prepared himsell for the encounter and secured the help of
Holkar and Sindhia. He had managed to prevent the Caleutta
Government from sending reinforcements to the Deccan over land
from Bengal. When the English force reached Poona accompani-
ed by Raghoba and his son (in January, 1779) it was destroyed
by the Marathus and its General, frightened by the superior num-
Ler of the enemy, advised retreat, ?(aghohﬂ asked them not to
retreat but his entreaties proved unavailing. They retreated to
Wadgaon (]. 1779) village twenty .two miles north-west of Poona,
The Marathas who lind kept themselves fully informed of their

) \ dministration of Warren Hastings, pp. 245-47.

=
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movenients attacked them continupusly and forced them to Jay
down arms. The Nana demanded swrrender of Raghoba but he
escaped to Sindhia's camp. Through the latter's mediation the
disgraceful convention of Wadglion was signed (January 17, 1779)
by which (1) all territorial possessions attained by Bombay since
1773 were to be restored; (2) the force coming from Bengal to
be stopped; (3) and Sindhia was to obtain the share of the
Baroach revenues; (4) and a sum of 41,000 rupees and twn
hostages were to be surrendered as a guarantee for fulfilling the
terms ol the treaty.

The convention ol Wadgaon was a heavy blow to the pres-
tige of the English. Hastings wrote: “The terms of the treaty
most made me sick with shame while I read them! He resolved
to wipe out the disgrace. It was a difficult task, for the air
was thicle with rumours of a coalition between the Nizam, Hai-
der and the Marathas and Hastings perceived clearly that il the
British dominion was to survive in India, he must strike hard and
with boldness, He atonce repudiated the convention,

Leslie had wastecd his time in Bundelkhand by involving him-
sell in the quarrels of the Indian chiefs. His acts were prompt-
ly repudiated. Letters to this effect were issucd to princes.

Goddard pushed on by rapid marches passing through the
Malwa country without receiving any assistance from Mudaji
Bhosle who had promised to enter jnto alliance with Hastings.
Goddard reached Swat traversing a distance of 300 miles in 20
days, on the . 6th of February. Sindhia who had mediated Dbe-
tween the English and the Nana at Wadgaon and was desirous of
cstablishing his own ascendency in Poona politics, was sceretly
formmenting hostilities against the Company, DBut e now saw
that no useful purpose could be served by supporting Raghoba
and therefore he allowed him to escape from  his custody, Rag-
hoba fled to the English and Goddard granted him a pension of
Res, 50,000 & mon'th, The English found that it was uscless to back
the claims of a pretender who was so unpopular with his own
people and they decided to give him up, With the disappear-
ance of Raghoba from the r:rgiun of practical politics the English
came to the {ront as one of the principal pariies to the war,
Goddard opened negotiations with the Nana but the latter, evi-
dently strengthened by his alliance with "Haider Ali and the
Nizam, insisted on the surrender of Raghoba and the restoration
of Salsette,

Foiled in his cfforts to make témact with the Nana, Goddard
turned to the Gaekwar and enteved into a treaty with him (26th
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January, 1780). The Gackwar agreed to assist him with a force of
3,000 horses and cede a portion of the revenues as soon as he was
put in possession of Ahmedabad. Hastings had already made
an alliance with the Rana of Gohad who was much troubled by
the Marathas,

Goddard marched to Ahmedabad and captured it by storm
on the 15thol February (1780) as having crosscd the Narbada,
Sindhia and Holkar came to help the Peshwa but it is doubtful
whether Sindhia was really sincere,

But ominous clouds spon appeared on the hovizon, Haider
Ali had descended upon the Carnatie and in co-operation with the
Nizam was supporting the Marathas. It was feared that they
might reecive help from the Frenchfleets on the west coast. In the
nidst of these dangers Hustings acted with great coolness and
vigowr, IHastings's diplomacy succeded in detaching the Raja of
Berar from the coalition and a peace was separately mads with
Sindhia, In the same yewr Popham captured the Fort of Gwalior,
so [ar deemed impregnable in India, A treaty was made with
Sindhia at Salbai in May, 1782, The terms of the treaty were,...

I. Allthe territory conquered by the Company since the
treaty of Purandhar should be restored to the Marathas together
with three lukhs worth of revenue as Baroach. '

2. The Gaekwad's possessions were restored to the condi-
tion in which they were before the war (1775),

3. The English agreed not to give help to Raghoba who
was to be given a pension of Rs. 25,000 a month by the Peshwa,

4, Haider Ali was to retain all tervitovy taken [rom ‘the.
English and the Nawalb ol Arcot.

5, The Peshwa and the English undertock to sce that their
allies lived ar peace with one another.

6. Salsette was retained by the English and the independ-
ence of the Gaekwad was secured.

The final ratification of the treaty was delayed till the next
year by the Nana who was still trying to get hack Salsetteand.
seeking Haider's help to enable him to aveid it. .

The treaty of Salbai is one of the impartant treaties in
Indian history. It defined the relations between the. Marathas
and the English and secured to the latter a preponderating in--
fluence in Indian politics, Tt made peace possible with the Mara-
thas for 20 years and gradually led them on to the pesition of
the Paramount Power in India. Mahadji Sindhia's career was
assured. So far he had acted in subordination to the Peshwa

13



194 India in the Bighteenth Century

but alter the treaty of Salbai he rose into prominence and exer-
cised a profound influcnce on the course of Indian history. The
war had proved his great qualities as a leader and statesman of
rare ability who put his country’s intevests above everything clse
and faced obloquy and opposition with putience and lortitude.

Moeanwhile in the south Siv Eyre Coote defeated Haider Al
at Porto Novo on July 1, 1781, Seon after De inflicted another
defeat on him at S‘f;nilinghar. Huider Ali dicd of cancer in
" Decomber, 1782,  The stars were now {avourable 1o the English.
The war betweenr England France had been ended by the Treaty
of Versailles (1783). Tipu continued the fight but le had 1o
lace a lerrible coalition As the odds were heavy agninst him he
made peace in March, 1784,  The treaty of Mangalare provided
for mutual restitution of conquest,

Revenue Reforms of Hasting

The farming system had not worked well for the simple rea-
son that the farmers had contracted (o pay a higher revenue than
the districts could afford. Hastings proposed the appointment
of a commission in order to ascortain C}Jrﬂciﬁt‘.l}’ the condition of
the lands and also the grounds on which a new settlement could
be made, It was hardly nccessary for the evil resulis of the
farming system stood on record “and that those who were unable
to scc the drawbacks of such a system were scarcely competent
to-make a new settlement”, What the farmers had done in most
cases was to offer high bids and then to abscond in the event of
failure to [ulfil the obligations. In adopting this palicy Govern-
ment acted very much like the [oolish women whom the Apostle
describes as always inquiring, but never apriving at a knowledge
of the truth,

Hastings and Barwell submitted their proposal the gist of
which was that the revenue to be paid by farmers should be set-
tled on the basis of the actual collections during the three pre-
ceding years with an allowance of 15 per cent, which will include
the charges of collections and their profits. This asscssment was
to remain in force during the life of the former with the proviso
that Government will be quite free to sell the lands to another
purchaser if he was found *““deficient in his payments”. On the
death of the purchaser the lands will devolve in his heir or heirs
subject to revision of the assessment at the discretion of the Gov-
ernment. It was further suggested that the large Zamindaris
should be divided and the smaller one should be preserved on
the ground that the large Zamindars were “generally oppressive
and extravagant and employed their resources to thwart the .
Government”, 'With regard to the management of the collection
the Governor-General's plan suggested the continuance of the
Pravincial Councils already established.
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Francis put forward a counter-plan that the new settlement
should be madeon the basis of the actual requirements of the
Company, that (he contribution of the districts shall be fixed
lor ever and rhat the Zamindars shall be declared owner of the
soil,  He pouinted out that the lands were not the property of
the East India Company, but of the Zamindurs and new  claims
of natives who owed nothing to government but a fixed portion
of the new produer, e went on to observe that the riﬁllls and
'pr:znrl}r of the natives were respected by Muhammedans but
under the Company’s Government thave neither been  regarded.
nor understond’. He deseribed the Zamindars as the landed
gentry ol Bengal who wore erushed by the Company's govern-
inent which was eager ‘o annihilate that rank of men, in whom
the inheritance aml property of the lands of Bengal arc vested,
in order o ransler 1o the ruling power the produce of their
estates, leaving nothing 1o the owners but a competent subsis-
tenee’.  The editor of the Tilth Report sugpests that the objeet
of Francis was to indict the Company's administration but it
must be borme in mind that a similar plan was alterwards pro-
posed by Lovd Cornwallis and opposed by the Dircclors,

In 1776 Colonel Monson's death entitled the Governor-
General to carry his measures in the Council. He suggested the
appointment of a commission to make enquiries into the value
o¥thn lands anc larmers' account and to sceure to the wets the
undisturbed possession of his land to puavd him against military
cxactions. The Commissioner made the recommendations but no
action was taken until 1781. On the 17th August, 1780, was foug!::
the famous duel between Hastings and  Francis and after the
purture of the latter the following velorms were introduced: (1) A
committee consisting of four covenanted servants of the Com-
pany was formed subject to the authority of the Governor-
General and the eatire adminisiration of revenue was entrusted
to it. (2) The Provincial Councils were abolished and powers were
transferred to the Committee of revenue, (3) The collectors were
restored and were to exercise jurisdiction in their respective dis-
tricts under the direction of the Committee, (4) The office of
the Superintendent of the Khalsa records was abolished and its
powers and functions were transferred to the Committee of reve-
nue. (5) The Quanugoes were also re-appointed and  their
powers and functions were also restored.  (6) The members of
the Committee were Lo be puid a commission on the collections
and the European members were bound by oath to accept no pre-
sents or bribes of any kind. Thus the revenue administration
was centralised. All the amount collected was to be brought
tn the Presidency where it was to be managed and handled by
the Committee. . .

£3
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have said a good deal to defend his policy and it is therefore
necessary to state the whole history of the case in order to enable
the reader to form an independent judgment.

* The finances of the Company were drained by the Mavatha
war and the struggle with Haider Alj, and Hastings’ great need
was to find money. He turned to Chet Singh, the Raja of
Benares, who had succeeded his Father Balwant Singh on the
gaddi. Benares was held ns a fief from the Nawab Vizier of
Oudh and was teansferred to the Compuny by the Treaty of
Faizabad in 1775, The Raja enjoyed the h::r:;-.:ﬁ'la vight ol tho
collection of revenues, complete Civil and Criminal jurisdiction
and the maintenance of ovder.  In return he paid to his suzerain,
the Nawab Vizier, a fixed annual tribute amounting to 224 lakhs
Nazrana at the accession of each new ruler and special contrilin-
tions of men and money in time of need. The Sanad pranted
by the Company conferred upon Chet Singh the Zamindari, the
Amini and Eﬂujdﬂ.ri of the territories ol Benaves and stipulated
to recieve the tribute which he used to pay to the Nawal Vizier.
It was expressly laid down that no further demand would be
made, and the Raja was given the privilege of coining money
and maintaining a considerable force for his protection,

Presied hard for money, Hastings at the instance of Sir Eyre
COoote demanded of the Raja 5 lakhs of rupees in addition to
his regular tribute of twenty-two lakhs and a hall to meet the
wost of two battalions of sepoys. The Council supported Hastings
though Francis suggested that the demand .-«h::mléJ be treated as
‘entively exceptional’. The same demand was repeated in the
lollowing two years and Chet Singh puid under protest, Hi
claimed exemption from all contributions over and above the
stipulated tribute which he had been paying to the Vizier and
in doing so he was perfectly within his rights. At this a foree was
sent inte his Zamindari and he was required to pay Rs. 20,000
to meet its cost. In 1780 besides paying his usual subsidy
the Raja was asked to furnish a cavalry force 2,000 strong but
when he expressed his inability to comply with the demand
it was reduced to 1,000. He collected a foree of 500 horse and
500 infantry and informed Hastings that they were ready [or the
Cﬂmpﬂ:&&r’a service. But the latter was deeply uﬂ'mdl:(r at what
he regarded as the Raja’s contumaciousness and decided to levy
upon him a fine of 50 lakhs, He was led to do so by two conside-
rations; he knew that the Raja had amassed a huge fortune;
secontdly, he considered him guilty of disaffection to his suzerain
and therefore worthy of severe punishment. As he said himself
he wanted to make him pay largely for his pardon, to exact a
severce penalty for his dnﬁnqunncy. and to draw fram his
fruilt the means of relicf to the Company's distress,
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When the demand for thesubsidy was made for the thivd time
Chet Singh offered through a confidential agent a bribe of 2 lakhy
to Hastings to obtain a remission of the subsidy. The latter
accepted the money without consulting his Council, an act of
serious conutitutional impropriety, and applied icto defray the
expenses of Camac’s expedilion against Sindhia,  Yet the m*f{;‘inal
demand for 50 lakhs wax repeated with a ruthlessness which shows
Hastings as utterly devoid of even tovdinary fecling and conside-
ration’ and he threatened to employ military foree when the delay
overtaxed his patience. Besides the normal tribute the Raja was
asked (o pay = fine of 50 lakh: and to furnish troops to assist n
the wars of the Company. Such was the position in 1781,
My. Davies makes an extraordinary statement that Flastings at
this time feared a eollaboration of the Marathas and Chet Singh
and disaster to the Company's interests, Theve is no evidence
to support such & view and Mr. Davies himsell scems to be hall
convinced of the correctness of Flastings when  he aseribes it to
‘intuition’,

In discussing this transaction there is annther consideration
which should be borne in mind, There was personal ill-feeling
between Hastings and Chet Singh on account of a tagtless message
from the latter to General Clavering “to eompliment him on  his
supposed accession to the Government at the time of Hastings'
vesignation.”  This in Hastings' opinion. was ‘indecent with
respect to iy oflice, unjnstil’iaﬁ]c with regard to his situation,
and, a proof ol his rooted disaffection to the English administra-
tion. Before he left Calcutta to deal with the Raja, he determined
to punish him fur his offence and told Whecler, Member of the

Ciouneil, of his intentions.

With an escort of no more than 500 men, Hastings lelt
Calcutta to stamp out a ‘vebellious conspivacy' up the Ganges.
On August 12 C}EetSin.gh received the Governor-Generalon the
border of his State which Mr. Davies calls ‘Zemindary’ at Buxer
and hegeed forgiveness, The Governor-General received him
coldly and refused to accept his turban, which he tried to place
in his lap as a token of submission. Hec was . told that nothing
could be done until he had reached Bonaves, Both travelled
sepairately and when Hastings reached Benaras the Raja’s request
for a sccond interview was refused,

A detailed statement of the offence of the Raja was sent to
him and animmadiatc aniwer was demanded, H: was inform-
ed that the danger to which Colonel Clamac’s force was exposed
was due to the Raja’s delay in paying the sabsidy of 1780. The
Governor-General went on to say;
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“Besides this, I required in the name of the Governor-
General and Council by letter, and ordered Mr. Foroke
to repeat the uisition in person, that you should
furnish a body of horse to assist and act with the armics
of the Company; and when Mr. Markham succecetded
Mr. Foroke I gave him orders to repeat the demand,
which he did accordingly with frequent and almost
daily importunity, limiting the number to [,600 and
afrerwards to 1,000. To this demand you returned
cvasive answer nor to this hour have you contribmted o
single horseman,'!

. Hastings charged the Raju with an attempt to cause disor-
der in the Company's government and with the misgovernment
of his own territories.  He wrote to him that the rohberies and
murders were daily committed in the siveet ol Benaras to the
great and public scandal of the English name'. These charges
speak for themselves. The Raja's reply to Hastings was that he
had obeyed his orders with the utmest promptness, As
regards the [urnishing of the ecavalry foree the Raja added:

«In compliance with your wishes I collected five hundred
horses and a substitute from the remainder five hund-
ved Barkandazer of which I sent you information, and
I told Mr. Markham that they were ready to go to
whatever place they should be sent, No answer,
however, came [rom you in this head, and I remained
astonithed at the cause of it. Repeatedly I asked M,
Markham about an answer to my letter about the
horse but he told me that le did not know the reason
i!' noe answer having Dbeensent; I romained astonis-

Ed.‘!l‘

The reply of .Chet Singh was regarded by the Governor-
Gengral as ‘not only unsatisfactory in substance but offensive in

al:].lr}c'. But he was for drastic action; he ecasily persuaded him-
sell :

“The ban left him (Chet Singh) in the full exercise of
powers which he had notoriously abused, and which it
was to be apprehended he would employ for the most
dangerous purposes, was totally inconsistent with the
maxims of justice and prudence.”

. Without further parley hé ordered the Resident to place the
Raja under arrest in his own Capital and sent two companies of
sepoys to mount guard bn his palace. This insanc rashness

1. Torrest, Administration of Warren Hastings, p. 198,
Sceret Select Conumittee's Proccedings, 111, p. 782,
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brought swilt retribution. The Raja’s men found the indignity
to which their chicl was subjected unbearable.

A message to the Raja [rom Hastings that ‘every sepoy isa
European, and every European is as the Company, if' a dvop of
their blood is shed, yours shall answer for it' had no effeet and
the entire force was massncred by  the infuriated men of Chet
Singh,  In (he conlusion that ensued O Raja escaped with his
family and treasuee (o his Tortress at La.l.il'I'rgarh. leaving Benares
in astate of tarmnil omud Tull of his armed retainers,  Another
detachment under an English Officer sent to quell the disturbance
was fired npon from the houses and destroyed. A feeling of con-
sternalion spread throughour the locality and the wholr population
ol Benaves broke out i an opan insurrcetion.  Hastings belicved
et e outhreal was due to the rebellious  intentions of Chet
Singh but it is more probable, as cven his defenders admit,
tliat it was due (o fspontancous combustion, arising from the
anger of the Ruja’s followers at the indignity offered to their
prince and the pavecity of Governow-General’s eseort’.  Benares
was like a prairic on fire and everywhere the grealest insceurity

revailed. Hastings hastily fled to Chunar and was deprived of
is baggage and cscort by the inswgents. He put himself
in communication with his officers to collect lorces while all torts
ol rumour spread creating a state of anxicry and  confusion. Tt
took three months Lo enlleet mon and money to deal eflfectively
with the Raja who had at his back and call a forec of 20,000
devotedly loyal 1o him., He was defeated and the fortress of
Bijaigarh in which hie had deposited his treasures was surrender-
ed by his followers.

Hastings returned 10 Denares and gradually order was ves-
tored in the city. A general amnesty was proclaimed and all
except Chet Singh, his brother and those who had taken an active
part in the rebellion were J)ardoncd. A nephew of Chet Singh
was placed on the gaddi and adequate arrangements were made
{or the due administration of the territories entrusted to his care.
The police and the magistracy of the city were placed under a
Muslim' Ali Thrahim Khan for the Governor-General had no
confidence in thie Hindu inhabitants of the town, The measures
which Hastings devised for the administration of the province
were warmly approved by his colleagues,

The treasure of the Raja was looted by British military
officers. Mnajor Pokham, the commander of the force, had o
give way Defore ‘their insatiable greed. Thus was the fair name
of the Company besmirched and tings' adventure, so ill-advi-
sed and thoughtless, resulted in a necdless waste of human lives
and money which the Company could ill-afford for a distant
and uncertain prospect of adding 17 lakhs Lo her revenues,
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The Chet Singh affair was indecd a blot upon Hastings'
honnyy and severely damaged his reputation. It formed one of
the counts of impeachment against him. He was accused of
violating the 1exms of the treaty which bound him to respect the
claims and dignity of the Raja and to demand from him nothing
lieyond the siipulated weibute. The Parliamentary oralors head-
ed by Burke deseribed the Raja as an independent Prince and
questioned the right of e Governor-Geneval 1o inwult him in
such an indecent mavner. Modern rvescareli has shown that
Hastings's contluer was  “vindictive and mereiless”  and  his
actions ¢ eortainly pracipitated the stovm from the eloud {0 which
it had gathered™, In sdjudging guilt o Few questions arise which
must be elearly explained.

1. Whether Chet Singly was an independeni Rajn or a maore
Zamindar ?

2. Whether the Company had not bound itsell to levy no
contribution upon him beyond his normal tribute of 224 lukhs ?

3. Wheother Chet Singh was in rebellion against the Com-
pany ?
4. Whather the transactionwas moral m even palitic P

The Raja was not anindependent  Prinee, it is true, but on
Hastings' own admission he was more than a mere Zamindar.
If he was nothing more than a Zamindar, then it was clearly
wrang on the part of Hastings 1o demand money from him alone,
He should have levied a tax or eondribution [vom all Zanindayy
wio were dependent upon the Compuny or suliject o ity suzer-
ainty. But this was not done. Hastings’ own statement thid
“there was no other person in the situation of Chet Singh" shows
that he did not consider him as an ordinary Zumindar and dfs-
tinguished him from others of (he same class.

The second question does not admit of much controversy,
The Sanad granted to the Raja by the Company expressly provid-
ed that he was to dpa? only 224 lakhs annually and that no fur-
ther demand would be made upon him, The terms were per-
fectly clear and left no room for equivocation or doubt,

*No demands shall be made upon him by the Hon'ble Com-
pany, of any kind, or on any pretence whatsocver, nor shall any
persan be allowed to interfere with his authority, orto disturh
the peace ol his country.”

Though the Raja was not hound to pay anything beyond the

stipulated tribute, yet he had not  altogether refused to comply
with the wishes of the Governor-Geneval. He had paid though
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under protest and expressed  his willingness to Nurnish 500 horse
and 500 infantry, but the Governor-General who was eager to
punish him paid no heed to his letter which has been referred
to helore.  Nor did the Resident care to ascertain his wishes in
the taatiee,

As vegards the cluoge of rebellion against the Company there
is not & sheed of ovidence to support it,  The entive chain of
circumstanees relaled above goes Lo show that the Raja never
meditated vebellion against lﬁ:-. Company nor did he intend to
ineur the displeasure of the Governor-General, Twven when he
met him ot Buxar he was apologetic and submissive but the
]i.ra,{n Proconsul persisted in his attempt to goad him inte rebel-
1.

Hastings's conduet was impalitie in the highest degeee. To
arrest the Raja among his. own subjects and in his capital was a
proceeding which admits of no justification. The responsibility
lor the insurreetion rests wholly upon Hastings and though he
acted with a remarkable presenee of mind in a grave erisis, which
might have cost his life, it cannot besaid that bis judgment
was sound or ﬁmscimcc certain,. The adventure yiclded no
money for the Raja's treasury contained only 23 lakhs which
were plundeved by the Company’s troops, The conduct of the
officers was particularly reprehensible and out of the spoils of
Mrs. Hastings rccnivm{ a sct of dressing boxes “*all Leautilually
inluid with jewels", which were returned by her husband., The
net vesult of the campaign was that the Company lost more than
it gained. The revenue did not increase much and in iater years
when Lord Cornwallis sent Jonathan Duncan as Commissioner
in 1788 to report on the condition of Benarves he wrote that cul-
tivation had much declined sinece Chet Singh’s defeat and flight,
that in certain districts there was nothing bur desolation as far
as the cye eould reach.

On principle Hastings' demand was wrong and the manner
in whiclh he coerced Chet Singh is extremely indefensible. To
exact money from him by means of subterfuges and shilty devices
and to press the demand cven after the acceptance of a bribe
albeit it was spent for the Company—and to humiliate him in the
eyes of his own subjects, were acts which 1o honest historian can
uphold, The Select Committee of 1783 stated the truth :

“The complication of cruclty and [raud in the transaction
admits of few parallels. Mr. Hastings...............dis-
lays himsclf asa zealous sevvant of the Company,
ﬁnunﬁ[‘ully giving from his own fortune............from
the gift of a man whom he treats with the utmost
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severity, and whom he accuses in this particular of
disaffcction to the Company’s cause and interests.
With £ 23,000 of the Raja’s money in his pocket, he
persecutes him ta his destruction.'’

The Begams of Oudh

Having failed Lo get woney feom Cliet Singh., Fastings (urn-
e 1o the Begums of Oudh and Jaded himsell into another
sordid transaction which hrowght much obloquy upont liis Trend
and eonsiderably tarnished his reputation,  While Tie was stiying
il Clivnar awaiting reinforcements, the Nowah Vigier of Oudl,
Asaludowlal, eame to canfer with him, e owed (e Chnmpany
a crove and o lhallof rupees.  He pleaded wtter inahility 1o pay
his debts and_informed Hastings that it was impossible for him
to maintain the English troops employed in protecting his terri-
tories, Oudl was an important State on the [rontier of the Com-
pany’s possessions and it was necessavy Lhat a way out al the
difficulty must be found. The immediate problem was tn fined
a sum big enough to enable the Nawab Vizier to pay the debis,
The late Nawaly Shujaudowlal had aceumulated o large trea-
sure amounting to two erores and alter his death lefl extensive
Jagirs which were all raken possession of after Dix death by his
widow and his mother (the mother and grandmother of the
present Nuwab respectively),  Asafudowlah held that the treasure
belonged to the Siate and that the debt due to the cnm?any was
first charge on it, He argued that his mother was entitled “only
to 1/8th of the property alter the payment of the debts of Ther
husband and that his gr‘undlnmﬁnr had no  claim to inheris
tance. Sujaudowlah’s widow calledd Bahuy Begum refused to
surrender treasure to her son, claiming it for herscll on the
strength of a will, which was never produced. The Nawab
Vizicr was a weak Prince who could not muster courage to deprive
his strong-willed and hot-tempered mother of the property which
in his opinion belonged to the State., The ladies on one occa-
sion gave 25 Jakhs to the Nawal when he was in sore straits for
moncy. In 1775 the Begam wrote lo the Calenita Council
complaining of the conduct of her son and requested Hastings
to ask him to stop his importunate demands. Through the
meditation of the British Resident an agreement was drawn up
between the ladies and the Vizier by which an additional sum
of 30 lakhs was paid to the Nawab and the Begams reccived a
full acquittal for the rest of the treasure. Their Jagirs were
sccured to them without interference for life. Bristow, the English
Resident, guaranteed the agreement on behalf of the Company
and the Caleutta Council gave it their sanction. It was expressly
laid down that no further demand should be made upon the
Begams,
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Matters stood at this stage when the Nawab visited Hastings
at Chunar in 178] and submitted his difficultics to him, He
had satisfied himsell that the Begams had ecarried on secret cor-
respondence with Chet Singh and fomented rebellion, ‘Though
thereis no evidence 10 prove the case, Hastings had his own
suspicion und this made him less disposed o show any lenieney
to the ladies in spite of their high rank.

Heset about in right earnest collecting evidence against
the Begams. A number of aflidavits were produced by certain
servant of the Nawab Vizier proving the complicity of the
Begams in the Chet Singh affair, These affidavits were based on
hearsay and since the man who produced them were servants of
the Vizier they did not furnish good evidence of the guilt of the
Begamns.  Liven My, Davies remarks that the servants ol the
Nawub had labricated or exaggerated the Begam’s complicity
in order to sereen their own share in stivring up disorders in
Oudh. Colonel Hannay, Commadant of the British Brigade
in Oudh and My, Middleton, the British Resident corroborated
the story again with no more agrcement than hemrsay, Icis
clear from the correspondence of Wheeler and Middleton that
the Begams had no hostile intentions towards the British, They
had never thought of rebellion nor had they entered into deal-
ings with the Raja of Benares. The Court of Directors who
examined the records came to the conelusion:

it nowhere appears from the papers -at present in our
possession that the DBegams excited any commotion
previous to the imprisonment of Chet Singh, and only
armed themselves in consequence, of that transaction,
and it is probable that such conduct proceeded from
motives of sell-defence under an apprchension that
they themselves might likewise be laid under unwar-
rantable accusation.”

Sir Elijah Impey was asked to come from Calcutta to exa-
mine the evidence against the Begams. After a very cursory
examination of the affidavits the Begams were declared guilty
and it was decided to deprive them of the protection of the
Company. A treaty was concluded with the Nawab Vizier in
Scptember, 1781 which provided for the removal of English adven-
turers in the Nawab's scrvice, the curtailment of the military
establishment, the resumption of the Jagirs of the Begams, the
sequestration of their treasure and the veduction of the Nawab’s
cxpenditure.  The Nawab on his part agreed to reorganise his
finances, to reform his army to control extravagance fmd o al-
low the British Resident to superintend the administration of
public funds. The Nawab was very much disinclined to carry
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out the treaty and deprive the Begams of the Jagirs and treasure
but Hastings who felt convinced of their guilt was determined
to use pressure to cempel him to do it. Four months passed and
still nothing was done. Both Middleton, the British Resident
and the Nawalb shrank [rom undertaking the disgraceful task
but Hastings was premptory, In December, 1781, he wrote
to the Resident:

You must allow any negatiations or forhearance bl must
prosceute both servants until the Begams are at  the
entire mercy of the Nawalb, In case the Resident
failed to carry ont his orders he threatened to go him-
sell’ to Lucknow and warn the Vizier that unless he
wotld exact from him assets sufficient to discharge
his liabilities to the Company. Middleton who was
not very cnergetic was succceded by Bristow,

At last the Vizier vielded to the pressure of the Governor
General, A detachment of troops was sent to Faiz.
abad and the cative houschold nf the Begams was
placed under arvest. The eunuchs Bihar Ali Khan and
Jawahar Khan who managed their affairs were seiz-
ed, deprived of food, thrown inte prison and tortured,
it it was not until 8 year had passed that their re-
sistence broke down and they disclosed the hidden

treasures of their mistresses, e Resident reported
éu Haﬁtings that all that foree could do had been
one.

The treatment meted out to the Begams by Hastings are of
the principal charges against him, during his impeachment.
Macaulay has described in his vivid stylethe impression which
Sheridan’s (amous speech on the Begams of Oudh made on his
hearers in the House of Lords. In highly embellished language
the orator described the misery which belfell the Begams and the
torments inflicted upon their trusted and faithful agents. The tale
of oppression pierced even the heartof Hastings but he maintainad
that they had excited disturbances inthe country and a revolt
against their sovereign, the Nawab. There can be no defence of
the manner in which Hastings dealt with the Begams. Ewven if
we assume that he was in desperate need of money and that the
Begams were guilty of fomenting rebellion in the country, it is
difficult to justify that was to say the least of it, a sordid, shabby
and sorry iness.” Hehad accepted for the Nawab a bribe
of ten lakhs to release him from the necessity of coercing the
Begams........, a step which he knew was  against all vanons
of Eastern morality.............Still he persisted in his high-handed
course and' showed an utter lack of scruple in money maltters.
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There is ne doubt that Hastings was the C}m'i:l.-::ipual actot in the
drama and the only thing that can be said in his Favour is that
he was trying to serve his country’s interest in a difficult situation,
But the utter disregavd of morval principles and even chivalrous
considerations  presents Hastings™  charvacter fn an  adious
light. The Nawab and the Vizier both shrank rom the task but

astings was [irm and sanctioncd the use of force. LFven, Sir
G.W. Forrest who is adefender of Hastings writes that the cruclty
practised by the Nawab and his servants though greatly exa -
ted was sufficient to have justified the hﬂnrgm'mm of the Resi-
dent. Sir Allred Lyall too does not approve of Hastings’ methods
and condemns his conduct as *unworthy and indefensible”. A
madern writer while applauding his aim writes:

“But until we hold that mere expericnce may override all
considerations of cthical and polidcal right, we must
continue to regard his conduct on these occasions as a
serious departure from the best traditions of British
statcsmanshiip in the East,™

The Begams, he it said to their credit, bore him no malice
and in truc Indian fashion even sent hima testimonial during
his impeachment “‘commisserating him on his hard and undeserv-
ed fate”., This was conduct befitting theiv high position and
dignity and in striking contrast with that of their tormentors
who had insulted their honour and despoiled them their Fmpm'ty.
T'he Nawal acted like a tool in the hands of his British allies who
arrogated to themselves the function of masters. He resented
their influence and was yet powerless to prevent it, His imbeci-
lity, his supervision and the consequent degradation of his Govern-
ment were the result of the political system which the Company
had imposed upon the Indian Princes. Under this system a
Prince lost both prestige and stimulus to self~discipline and
degenerated into a spineless cpicure, a mere sensualist or a croa-
ture of caprice, utterly devoid of self-respect and honour. This
was what happened to Oudh after the death of Shujaudowlah
who was a Prince possessed ol courtesy, sagacity and statesman-
ship. Misgovernment did not come to an end until the annexa-
tion of the kingdom to the British dominion in 1856.

Faizullah Khan's case

A third case which damaged Hastings' credit was that of
Faizullah Khan who had been left in charge of the Rohilla terri-
taries alter the war of 1774, He was an able ruler who governed

|. Selections, IIT, p, 795
2. Roberts' History of India, p. 212
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his country well, and tried to make it prosperous, He had
entered inio a treaty with the Nawab Vizier by which he agreed
to Furnish military aid to the latter in time of need amounting to
ftwo or three thousand men according to his ability’”, In 1780
he was required to send 5,000 horse for the defence of the Nawal
Vizier's frontier to which he veplied that he was bound by In:uir
to supply two. or three thousand troops. He offered 1o [urnish
2,000 horse and I000 foot but Hastings was not satisfied.  He
accused Taizullah of evading the treaty obligations which was
entirely .untrue and asked the Vizier o resune the Jagies,
Hastings knew well that there was no breaely of treaty and yet
with amazing effrontery he recorded o minute which containg  the
following passage:

“The conduct of Faizullali Khan, in vefusing the aid deman-
ded though not an absolute breach ol treaty, was cva-
sive and uncandid .................50 scrupulous an atten-
tion to 'literal expression, whena more literal interpre-
tation wonld have been hilghly nseful and acceptable
to us, strongly marks his uniriendly disposition, though
it may not impeach his Gdelity,”

But luckily Faizullah was saved [rom disaster by the Fact
that the order was not executed immediately and later Hascings’
action was disallowed by the Directors who reprimanded him for
having recourse to such dishonourable proceedings,

Parliamentary interest in Indian affairs

After the passing of the Regulation Act for seven years public
interest in  England was mainly concentrated on the American
question. The issues between the Colonics and the mother
country were fiercely debated and the war of Independence which
Lroke out in 1775 lully occupied the nation’s attention. From
1780 omwards interest in Indian affairs was revived again, In
1781 the Company’s charter was renewed for ten years and steps
were taken to strengthen British control over the administration
of India, In the same year two Parliamentary Committees.,. ..,
Belect and Becret on Indian affairs were appointed, The object
of the first was to consider the administration of justice in India
and the other was charged with the duty of holding an enguiry
into the cause of the war in the Carnatic. It worked in secrecy
and Dundas acted as its Chaivman. The conclusion of peace in
Europe and America in 1783 gave the English an o%ﬁnrmnity
of looking into the Indian affairs. The position in India was
such as needed immediate examination, The Company was no
longera trading concerny it had become a political power and
its ascendency had been [ully established. There was no Indian
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power which cither singly orin collaboration with others could
drive it away [vom a political field. Besides, its position under
the DBritish Constitution was anomalous to a degree and the
Government found it not only difficult but dangerous to allow it
to do what it liked in India, The Committees of the House of
Ciommon submitted their reports and reviewed the entire adminis-
tration of the Bast India Company. They urged upon the Divee-
toes the recall o Warren Hastings and a clenr  definition of
tha power ol the Governor-General and his Couneil, When the
Coalition Ministry ol Fox and Novth took oflice in 1783,
Fox introduced his famons India Bill by which he hoped to
cstablish Detter control of the State of England over the affairs
ol the Company. They proposed 1o substitute for the Gowt of
Divectors a body ol seven Commissioners who were to be answer-
able for four years cxcept upon an address (vom either House of
Pavliament und who were fivst to be appointed by Parliament
and then by the Crown. They were to have absolule autheority
over the Company's officers and were given the power to adminis-
ter her territorics, revenue and commeree. A body of nine Assis-
tant Dircctors was appeinted by Parlimnent from among the
lurgest proprietors to look after the details of Commerce. The
bill aroused u furious controversy. Pitt hjected strongly to the
provisions ol'the bill on the ground that itwould transferthe patro-
nage of India from the Directors to the ministers and thus intro-
duee an clemot of corruption into the Government  of the coun-
Ly, I’arh{ feeling ran high and some ol the sanest politicians
vegarded the billas o **disastrous deviee [or vesting the whole
%V{:mmmt and patronage of India in Foxand his whig satellites.”

e bill was carried through the Commons witha large majority
hut was defeated in theLords through the intervention of the King,
A Tadtle royal raged between the Parliamentary parties over the
Indian issue und the result was that the Coalition Ministry
toppled down and Fox nud Burke were driven out of office.
Pitt came into power and began to do precisely what he had
denounced out ol office.  He wished (o extend the control of the
State over the affairs ol the Company in India and with this
object in view he brought forward ]his famous India Bill of 1784
wf:ich placed the Company in subordination to the British Govern-
ment,

By this Act all civil and military matters were to be manag-
ed by a body of Six Commissioners who constituted a Board
of Control, consisting of the Chancellor of the Exchequer, one of
the Secretaries of State and lour other Privy Councillors, appoint-
ed by the King and holding office during his pleasure. The
President was to have a vote and a casting vote. They had no
patronage but they were given the power ‘‘to superintend,

14
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direct and control all acts, operation, and concerns whicli in any
way relate to the civil or military government or revenues of the
British tervitorial possessions in the East Indies”. They were
empowered to call for any papers or documents from the Direc-
tors and could inspect any minutes, orders or dispatches sent or
received by them. The Divectors were hound to obey the orders
touching tzm civil and milutary administration of Indian affairs.
Further the Board hadthe powerto approve, disapprove or modily
the dispatches sent by the Directors o Indin and il the lntter
made default in this the Board could send theiv dispateles with-
out waiting for an expression ol views by the Directors.

A Committee of Secrecy, consisting of not more than three
Directors was appointed through which the orders ol the Coms
missioners were to be sent to India, and the Court of Propriciors
was debarred from annulling or suspending any resolution of the
Directors approved by the Boayd, The number of members of
the Governor-General's Council was reduced to three. The
Governor-General, Governors, Commander-in-Chief, and mem-
hers of Council were to be appointed by the Court o' Direetors,
The control of the Governor-General and his council over the
governments ol the Presidencies was enlarged in matters of peace
and war revenucs. As regards the Company's relations with
Indian powers the Act included a definite provision which van
thus:

Whereas to pursuc schomes of conquest and extension ol
dominion in India are mensures repugnant to the wish,
the honour, and the policy of this nation, the Governor-
General and his Couneil were not without the express
authority of the Court of Directors, or of the Sceret
Committec, to declare wars, or eommence hostilities, or
enter into any treaty for making war, against any of
the country prinees or States in India, or any teeaty
for guarantecing the possession of any country, province
or State, except where hostilities had actually been
commenced, or parations actually made for the
commencement of hostilities, against the British nation
in India, or against some of the princes of States who
were dependent thereon, or whose Lterritories were
guaranteed by existing treaty.”

This is the clause which laid down the policy of non-inter-
vention about which much will have to be said later on.

There were other provisions in the Act intended to ensure
better administration of the Company's affairs in India, The
glauses of the Regulating Act lor the punishment of offences
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committed by British subjects in India were reaffirmed and
strengthened.  All British subjects were placed under the juris-
diction of competent Courts in India or in England for acts done
in the Indian States, Presents were absolutely forbidden and
servants of the Company on their return to E.ngla.nd had to
declare on oath the amount of property whiclt they brought with
them, A special Court of thwee Judges, lour poers and six
members of the House of Commons, was appointed to try offences
committed in India,

Such was the double government established by Pitt's famous
Act of 1784, Tt lasted wutil 1858 when the Crown was Compelied
Iy the pressurc of circuinstances to assume the direct administra-
tion of Indian affairs. The Board of Control possessed great
powers bul in practice they were cxevcised by the President who
nccupicd o position analogous to that of the Secretary of State
for India inthese days. The Divectors still retained their pat-
ronage and had not a little share in influencing the policy of the
Home Government, Though the new system was not without
its defects as will be clear from an examination of the policies
and methods followed in the years to come, it must be conceded
in [airness that the Aet effecled o considerable improvement in
the machinery of the Indian Governmment. Sir Alfred Lyall's
comment is significant

«The immediate effect of Pitt’s Act was a geeat and mani-
fest improvement in the mechanics of Indian Govern-
ment removing most of the ill-contrieved checks and
hindvances which had brought Hastings into collision
with hiz Council and the subordinate gpovernments,
abolishing the defects that he had pointed out and
applying the remedies he had proposed. All preceding
governors had been servants of the East India Com-
pany; and Hastings, the first of the Company’s Gover-
nors-General, had been the scapegoat of anawkward
and unmanageable governing apparatus, hampered by
divided authority, and distracted by party feuds in
Calcutta and in London. The position and powers of
the chief executive authority in India were hencefor-
ward very differently constituted, and the increased
force of the new machinery became very soon visible in
the results,™!

Hastingss’' enemies had long been at work exciting hatred
and animosity against him. His recall was demanded and at last
the Directors had to yield (o public opinion.

1. Rise of British Dominion in India, p. 217.
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Impeachment

He relinguished his office in 1785, On his veturn to Eng-
land he was received well by the King and the ministers, Dun-
das who had taliled a motion of censure against him in the House
ol Commeons now called him the saviour of India, Pitt, the Prime
Minister, treated him coldly and did not deem it proper to advise
the King to confer upon him some title or dignity in recognition
ol his great services. Iis encmies had done their best for years
to stir ill-feeling inst himn and notably Philip Francis had
sedulously edyucated the membersol Parliament inthe misdenean-
our of his great oppenent. His rancorons hatved towiards [lag-
tings had led him to misrepresent all his plans and, pelicies to
Burke with a malignity rarcly found even i political polumics.
The latter moved for papers and in April 1766 brought forward
against him a number of charges, the chief of which were the
FEohilla war, the treatment of the Begams of Oudh, the Chet
Singh affair and the murder of Nand Kumar. The managers of
the impeachment were Burke, Fox, Sheridan, Pelliam, Erskine
and others while Hastings was represented by such well-trained
lawyers as Lord, Plumer and Dallas.

The trial began on the 13th February, 1788 and Burke charg-
ed the retived pro-consul with every cruclty, outrage and unkind-
ness which human nature can commit and concluded his open-
ing speech with the words @

«] impeach him in the name of the Commons, Housc of
Parliament whose trust he has betrayed; in the name
of the English nation whose ancient honowr he has sul-
lied; in the name of the people of India whose counlry
he has turned into a desert and, in the name of human
nature itsell, in the name of both sexes, in the name ol
my rank; I impeach the common enemy and oppressor
nrall‘!!l .

Sheridan opened the charge relating to the case of the
Begamsol Qudhin a specchol unrivalled elogquence which caused a
sensationin theHouse and ashe concludedhe sank, exhausted into
the arms of Burke, Tickets for admission to the House of Com-
mons that day were sold for as much as £59. The trial dragged
on from February 1788 till April1795 and in the end Hastings was
acquitted of all charges by large majorities. The Lords examin-
ed the evidence with great care and their wverdict was influenced
+ by the consideration that his difficulties were great and that he
was a man “uncommonly regardless of money”. Hastings was
ruined by the lengthy proceeding: which had dragged on for
seven years and his debts amounted to £ 97,000, But the Direc-
tors came Lo his rescue and granted him a pension and a loan

(1) The reader well dowill to read Macaulay's graphic deserip-
tion of the trial in his History of England.
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which he was permitted to pay by instalments. Burke's anger
way inextinguishable to the last :

B e WE &TC N0t hiere to comupromise maltters at all,
wi do adinit that our [ame, our honour, nay the very
being of the inquisitional power of the House of Com-
mons is gone, if this man s goilly, we ae not comae
here (o salve a problem but to call T justice...... ...
I, Tor mysell and lor others, make this deliberate deter-
mination. T noneapate this Solemn and  serlous vow
...... weere, that we do glow with an inunoptal liatred
against all this carruption.”

Hastings behaved during the teial with great composure and
dignity. "The virulent abuse in which the ovators indulged decp-
ly pained him but it did not break his proud spirit. He made
no petition [or pardon nor did he admit his guilt, He justified
every action and the defence he put forward gave evidence of his
beliel in his own integrity and devotion 1o public interest, He
was acquitted on all counts but the managers had the satisfaction
of hringing a great wrong to light.

After the trial he retived to his ancestral house in Dalysford
where lie died after an illness of several months on 22nd August,
L#1A, whatever his fnults, his name will always rank as one of the
lounders of British power in Indja,

Hastings was a great administrator who did much for the
organisation and consolidation of the British dominion in India.
He did many things that arc wrong, things that are hard to jus-
tify. Towards Indians of vank and dignity he behaved in o man-
ner which seriously impaired his country’s prestige and tarnish-
ed his fair name. He was unscrupulous in imoney matters and
went to the length of accepting tributer and presents which were
expressly forbidden by his masters. Yet it must be said that in
all that he did he was actuated by the desive to serve his couns
try’s interests. No other man could have saved the British
power from the damages which surrounded it in the eighteenth
century, Among the Pm-mnsuTr- who have served England and
India, his name will always rank very high and we cannot find
fanlt with imperialist historians for describing him as the real
founder of the British dominion in this country,



CHAPTER XI

Policy of Non-intervention (1786.98)

Appointment of Cornwallis

After the departure of Warren Hastings John Macherson,
the senior member of the Council succceded him. The Court of
Directors had offered the Governor-Generalship to Lord Mae-
armey, Governor of Madras, but he declined it.  Soon after he
reached England and found that it was possible for him to ohtain
the Governor-Generalship of India. He met Dundas and Pitt and
suggested certain changes in Government as the condition of
his accepting the office. To these Pilt gave a generel diplo-
matic approval, “but Lord Macartney's keenness {or a British
peerage gave offence to the authoritics and the matter was drop-
ped.. Thus the office was vacant again, and cfforts ware ma

to find a suitable person to fill it.

The choice of the Directars fell upon Barl Cornwallis, a
seasoned soldier and distinguished noblemanwho had taken part
in the seven years' war and the war of American Independence.
He had declined the officc on two previous occasions, In 1782
he had informed Colonel Ross that he was not going to abandon
every comfort to quarrel with the Supreme Government in
India, that he had neither power to model the army nor to
correct abuses and finally 'to run the risk of being beaten by
some Nawab and disagraced eternally. In 1785 he “was again
most violently attacked’ and pressed to accept the Governor-
generalship, but he refused.  In the beginning of 1786 the offer
was repeated again and this time Cornwallis expressed his desirve
to acept it provided the offices of Governor-General and Com-
mander-in-Chief were combined in him, and the authority of the
Governor-General was enlarged to enable him ta avoid the diff.
culties which had beset Hastings’ path at every stage. The Par-
linment passed an Act (1786) by which the offices of Governor-
General and Commander-in-Chief were combined in the same
person and the Governor-General was empowered in emergency to
act on his authority by overriding the decision of the majority of
his Couneil and to adopt, suspend, or repeal a measure in whole
or in nart,
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Character of Cornwallis

Thus fortified by Pacliamentary enactment, Lord Cornwallis
came out to Indiaand it was expeeted that as the first Governor-
General who was sent direet from England he would be able to
bring to hear a fresh outlook upon the Indian problems. Unlike
ITustings e was a man of greal personal probity andintegrity and
his high sense of public duty was warmly commended in political
vireles. He was a personnd friend of Heney Dundas, President of
the Board of Control, and Pitt who had a high opinion of his
abilivies and chavacter.  Though not endowed with genius of n
high order nor with much experience of Indian administration like
Shore and Grant, lie was a conscientious man who yiclded to none
in his loyalty to his masters and in his desive to carry their
plans into effect,  His special distinction was his uprightness,
He did not carve lor money and wished to vaise, according to  his
lights, the stundard of the country’s publie service about which
I had heard so much in England,  He was regarded as & man
ol prineiple who was tetally averse from regulating his con-
duet by doctrines lashioned to the varying hour and by havin
recourse to shifty ways to find moncy or to advance their persona
interests,  His largeness of aim, his wide and liberal outlook, his
honesty ol purpose were qualitics which distinguished him from
many of his contemporaries,

As o soldier he had learnt the value of obedicnes and self-
ciseipline and his military training through long years of sus-
tained drudgery enabled him to subordinate his will readily to
his superiors, He had utter dislike for petty chicanery and
never sanctioned anything that fell short of his high standard.
He was devoid of personal ambition and nothing weighed with
him so much as the paramount claims ol duty done without
nstentation or love of gain, He possested a rave cquanimity of
temper and was capable of passing through great crises unrufiled
by disaster or misfortune. Such a man was needed at the helm
t:-rl:hc Company’s affairs. The entive political system which had
grown up in India through British agency was full of abuses.
Warren Hastings was a man thorpughly devoted to the public
interest, hut he was blind to considerations of morality, justice or
righteousness. He had allowed eorruption to grow to such an
extent, that only a man influentially connected ar home and
possessed of a high character could cleanthe Augean Stable,

The taslk before Cornwallis

(Gornwallis was the firsi Governor-General sent out by the
Board of Control to carry out the provisions of Pitt's Act: (1) to
reorganise the civil and military establishments of the Company;
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(2) to enquire into and [ully investigate, and if lounded
effectually redress, the complaints of the Rajas, Zamindars and
other native landowners, that they hiave been unjustly deprived
of their lands; jurisdictions, and privileges, or that the tributes,
rents and service required to be paid or done by them haw
Liccome oppressive and grievous; (3) and to velrain from declar-
ing war or entering into treaty with any of the Indian Prinees,

The Select Committee of 1781 had emplnsised (he objeets
which the Gompany's government was (o keep in mind in fiture.
These were “security and advantage' for Britain and the happiness
of the Indian people.  During the years 17801-86 (hese aims Iid
been reiterated both in and ouw of Parliament and the reform of
the Company's government in India way looked upon as a malter
of the highest importance, ‘The instructions to Cornwallis con-
tained the principles which the Indian Government was to follow.
The land revenue was to be reorganised and what was to be
enforced was “amoderate Jamma, regularly and punctually collic-
ted” and the rights of the Zamindars were to be carcfully defined.

The higher services were still to be manned by Durepeins
and the natives of India were to he employed in the subordinate
branches of the administration.. . ....a disereditable  policy
which was founded on prejudice and selfishness but for which
the Indians themselves were vesponsible.  The thivd ftem in the
programme was the reform of the judiciary which was in a chaotic
condition. The European ideas of justice were to be enforced
but duc regard was to be paid to the customs of the Indian
people; both Hindu and Muslim. A modern weiter thus des-
cribes the task which confronted Cornwallis on his arvival in
India. '

“Abuscs ol all kinds were to be swepl away; peculation was
to cease; useless offices were to be reduced, aud the
interests of cconomy and simplicity were to regulate
the various branches of the administrative system,'™

Foreign policy

Besides thesc problems of an  admistrative character the
Governor-General had to deal with the Indian States who did
not like the establishment of the British power and whose hostility
was an ever-present factor in the political situation. Before dis-
cussing the internal measures of Cornwallis’s government an

attempt will be made to explain his policy towards the Indian
powers:

1, Cambhridge, History of India, Vol V, p. 434,
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Relations with Sindhia

For ihree years alter lis avrival, Cornwallis was husily
engaged in relorming  the civil and military departments of the
Government,  During this period and Macpherson®s briel tenure
of oflice Maliadji Sinclhia had beeome a powerful Prince and had
acguired & considerable influence in the politics of Delhi. In
L7084 the Mughal Emperor had appointed  the Peshwa Vakil-f-
Mutlugy (Vieeregent) and - Sindlhia  had  become his deputy,
Sindhin  demmnded arvcars of teibute due to the Emperor hut
Mauepherson denied (he validity of the claim and insisted on its
withdrawal, In 1786 the Peshwa entered into an alliance with
the Nizan agninst Tipu Snltan, By the treaty of Mangalore the
LinyglisTe were nol to assist the enemies of Tipn but Macpherson
promised military aid to the Marathas for defending their pos-
sessiony agning the Lovd of Mysore, Clormwalliz felt he was bound
by Pitt's Indin  Act which pledged him not to enter into hostili-
ties with the Indian Princes, He vefused to vatify Macpherson's
agreement and ineurced the wreath of Nanag Fadnavis who i
reputed to have said on  learning of the Governor-General’s
decision that “he was greatly pained and shocked at the duplicity
ol the new  Governne™,

Settlement with Oudh

Sononalter Cornwallis had assuwmed his exalled offics, the
Vizier's vepersentative Haider Beg Khan waited on him to settle
cortiinn matiers between the Company and the Vizier's Govern-
ment. The British complained of the mismanagement of the
Vizier's territovies and his evasions in making payment to the
Company. It is vary difficult to establish a [air open line be-
tween us, wrote Cornwallis to Dundas and pointed out the diffi-
oultics of reaching a satisfactory settlement. The Governor-
General assured Haider Beg Khan that the British Government
did not want to expleit Oudh for commercial gain but he did
not accept this assurance and often quoted the proverh: *whe-
ever has Dbeen stung by a snake, is frightened when he seesa
rope”.  Several months were passed in discussion, and the Vizier’s
minister urged with great insistence the withdrawal of the English
foree stationed in Oudh for the protection af his dominions.
This vequest was refused on the ground that the internal
sccurity of the kingdom would be seriously threatened by taking
such a step.  Afler protracted negotiations a settlement was made
by which the Vizier wasnot to be asked to pay more than 50
lakhs for the maintenance of troops stationed in Oudh —As
vegards interference in the internal affaivs of the kingdom Corn-
wallis assured the Vizier that strict orders shall be sent to the
Residlent not to interfere in the details of government nor to allow
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any British subject to claim exemption [rom duties or tributes
undcer the authority of the Dritish Government. The Governor-
General asked the Vizier nol to allow any European to reside in
his country without his weitten permission. This was [ollowed
by a commercial treaty with the Vizier in July 1788 by which
the power ol levying dutics was limited,

Relation with the Nizam

According to Pitt’s Indin Act the goveriunent of the Company
was bound 1ot to declare war against o hiter Tnto o treaty with
any Indian Irince, and Cornwallis sturted on his enrcer with
the most pacific intentions,  In 1788 he refused (o assist 11 son
of the Mughal Emperor Shah Alam who was then living al
Benaves to recover his throne and with diffieulty got out of the
tangle created by Macpherson in entering inte an agecement with
the Peshwa. But there were clowds on the hovizon which loresho-
dowed an ominous future and the Governor-General found him-
sell in circumstances which made war inevitalle, Tipu was o
formidable cnemy and though he had made peace with the
English at Mangalore, he had not completely abandoned his
hostilities towirds  them. Lord Cornwallis had his Tooes s,
therelore, he wanted o seitle relations with the Nizam, Tipu
had encroached upon the tervitorics of both the Nizam and the
Marathas, When the Marathas appealed to (he English for
help, the promise made by Macphersan was not kept and the
war between the Marathas and Tipu was closed by a peace in
1787 by which the [ormer obtained some tervitary, the Nizam
ot Adoni and Tipu was compelled to pay a tribute. Probably
{Mipu agreed to these humiliating terms  [or he was aleaid lest the
English should join his enemies.

Lord Cornwallis judged this a good opportunity lor demand-
ing from the Nizam Guntur, a2 place of great strategical import-
ance in the Northern Circars which were ceded to the Engish
in 1759, By the trealy of 1768 it was agreed that the Circar of
Guntur should be ceded to the English alter the death or mis-
conduet of the Nizam’s hrother !ia.mh;r.ml}' ung who occupiced it at
the time. Uasalat Jung died in 1782 the Company claimed
the restoration of the Circar but the Nizam put them off with
dilatory pleas. He valucd this piece of tervitory as it was his
only outlet to the sea coast and the English also looked upon
it as a point of strategic importance betwecn Madras and the
other Circars. The Nizam expressed his willingness to surrender
Guniur provided the English fulfilled their part of rthe treaty of
1768 he required them to arrange for the restoration to him
of some territories which had been snatched awag from him by
Haider Ali. Now, by the treaties of Madras (1769) and Mango-
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lore (1784) the territories included in Tipu’s dominions had
been reorganized by the English and they found it difficult to
comply with the Nizam’s demand without making & serious
hreach of treaty obligations, Disappointed at the attitude of the
Baglish, the Nizam opened negotiations with Tipu but no under-
stunding could be renched, and both remained suspicious of each
othor’s intentions.

Meanwhile Cornwallis il consulted the Direclors on the
question ol Guituy ane  they had advised vesumption. Captain
Kemnaway was sent to Haiderabad 1o demand rom the Nizam
an immediate soerender of Guntur but  before he reached his
destination news came that the Rajn of Cherika (n pétty Prince
om the Malabar Coust) had by the order of Tipu begim inroads
i the Company’s teyritovies and  that Tipu was alse prepaving
for an invasion ol Travancore. In this situvation Cornwallis
again cecicled to procecd slowly; he did not want to offend the
Nizam nor did he want to throw him into the arms of Tipu and
therefore advised the British envoy to proceed with great cau-
tion, The Act of 1784 was another ebstacle to the conclusion
ol an alliance with the Nizam which was necessary il Tipu went
to war with the English. Lord Cornwallis by what Roberts calls
‘a desparate picee of casuistry' decided to accept the Nizam’s
demand which he hiad Dbased on the treaby of 1768. The poli-
tical situation of the time suggested this somewhat shifty com-
prommise,  Coenwallis informied (e Nizam that il the terciovies
which he claimed ever came into the posscssion of the English,
they would he restored to him and that the English will help him
with forces not to be employed against any power in alliance
with the Company. Tipu's name was deliberately excluded from
the list of allies. The treaty was made in 1788,

Clornwallis had been much eriticised lor entering into this
treaty, Some have said that It was in violation of the treaties
of 1769 and 1784. Sir John Malcolm regarded the course which
he pursued not only questionable in point of faith but ene which
was caleulated to produce war with Tipu. Mill found it instruc-
tive to see a pacific and righteous statesman acting in con-
travention of the Act of 1784 by entering into *a very intelligible
offensive alliance.” These opinions are not wholly justified.
The policy which Cornwallis followed was approved by Pitt
and Dundas.

Indead the latter wrote to him

“t is so very cisential to our interest to detach him (Nizam)
from all other Indian connections, and fo unite him in
the closest connection and dependence upon our
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protection, that there is no alliance [ormed upon that
hanis to which you may not ecxpect our concurrence,'’
The treaty with the Nizam, though notstrictly in accor-
dance with the India Act, did not imply any breach
al Faith with Tipu either, Tipu's intercsts had been
clearly hiostile ; he had broken the treaty of Mangalore
and committed numerous petty acts ol aggression.
He had sent an ambassy to Paris and - despatohed seeret
agents o Ponclichery to study the relutions between
Fangelined anel Pronce. In the event ol war, the relitions
betwern the two  eountries be would try (o advanes
his interests and add o his dominion by scizing {he
State of Travaneore which would Ponish him with an
outlet to the sea. Such were the grounds in which
Anglo-Indian histovians have justificd the policy of
Lord Cornwnllis.™

Third Mysore War, 1790

The State of Travangore is situated on the south-western
side of the Decean Peninsula, The land sovered with  coeonut
end palm trees ad for miles together one sees the grecn rice
ficlds which make th's country a veritable Gacden of Eden peo-
tected on all sides by Nature except in the north where the
Ghats act as a tolerably satisfuctory rampart.  Tipu was anxious
to obtain this State. Tt had heen placed under British protection
by the treaty of Mangalore, Tﬁc Raja had purchascd [rom
the Dutch two towns Cranganore and Aya Cottali situated al
the extromity of the works or lincs of fortilications which he and
the Raja of Gochin had constructed and which were known as
the lines of Travancore. They van from west to cast and con-
sisted ofa ditch about 20 feot deep and 16 feet hroad, Tipu
demanded these towns on the geownd that they belonged to the
Raja of Gochin who was his teibutary and that the Dutch had no
right to sell them, There was anolim' canse of Tipu's displeas-
ure. The Raja of Travancore had given shelter to those vefugees
from Malabar whose extradition was demanded by the Sulian.
Besides these immediate causes the hatred between Tipu und the
British Government was a determining factor. What the for-
mer's British contemporavies must have thought of him may be
inferred from the highly overdrawn picturt cf Tipu's charcter
and habits furnished by certain modem writers:

“Tipu was & liar 50 ingrained that he seems never to have
risen to perception that a distinction between true and
false existed ; he could not see that it might sometimes
advantage him to keep his word., His letters to com-
nandars besieging forts would instruct themy to  offer
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quarter and whenquarter had been recepied, butchered
everyone irrespective of age and sex, 11 was impossible
lo ascertain what captives he held; and a8 a pre-
liminary, when war broke out, he would murder any
who still survived.”!

Oun December 14, 1789, Tipu invaded the lines of ‘U'ravan-
vore anel secured the comutry within a mile of Qe He was
repulsed but I atlacked agwin with redoubled foree and Corn-
wallis: wus eompelled (o declave war in January 1790, The
Mudras Government was noloriously inefficient. The Governor
was suspended and  General Medows was appointed to tuke his
place.  Cornwallis had already concluded an offensive and defen-
sive alliance with the Nizam and the Marathas on the basis
olsn equul division of the conquered territories. The treaty
with the Nizam was concluded on the 4th of July, 1790 and was
ratified by the Governor-General in Council on the 26th. He
way suspicious of the Marathas bul his inind was put at ease by
the British Resident who assured him and  his ministers that they
would always receive from the Company’s Government *‘the
most uncruivocal marks of cordiality and friendship”. A further
assurance was given that whenever an opportunity presented
itself, steps would be takento draw the connexion closer be-
tween the two allies, Siv John Malecolm comments upon the policy
underlying (he treaty in these words :

“The Nizam co-opted with perfect sincerity in the war
against the Sultan; and though the character of his
troops and the habits of his Government, prevented
the benefit from his aid, which might have been expee-
ted from the number of his army, and the extent of his
resources, there cannot be a doubt, but that his exer-
tions, however ill-conducted; contributed in a consider-
able degree the happy to termination of a war, which
indecd could never have been catried upon such a
scale without his assistance,''?

The treaty with the Poona Court was also an offensive and
defunsive alliance against Tipu. It was signed with the Peshwa
on the [t June and ratified by the Governor—General in Council
on the 5th July, 1790, The conditions of the treaty were the
same as that of the treaty with the Nizam. Priorto the

1. Thompson and Garret, Rise and Fulfilment of British Rule
in India, p. 176.

2, Malcolm, Sketch of the Political History of India, p,
76.
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conclusion of the alliance Cornwallis had pointed out to the Court
of Poona the objects he had in view in fighting this war. The
first was the indemnification for the losses sustained hgniim Cam-
pany either in Ernpﬂratiom or military operations. ¢ second
object was to oblige Tipu to restore all territorics which he or his
father had usurped from either of the two powers s well and Lo
force him to surrender that part of the Cavnatic which was
in his possession and to free the Nairs of Malabar whom he
had treated with ‘shocking barbarity’.

Fortified by these alliances Lord Cornwallis procecded to
carry on the war with the utmost vigour,

Meadows opened the campaign but it proved indecisive,
The Marathas helped and captured Dharwar but the Nizam was
inactive. Tipu made a dashing raid marching [or Serangapatam
through the Carnatic and reached Trichinopoly. He ravaged the
island of Seringham on which was situated the famous temple
with its battlements and towers. Cornwallis himsell assumed
the command in pevson in 1791 and the reasons why he did so
he stated in a letter dated November 20, 1790 to Dundas.

“That we have lost time, and our adversavy has gained re-
putation, which are two most viluablie things in war. It is vain
to look back; we must only consider how to remedy the cvil,
and to prevent the ill.effects which our delay may occasion in
the minds of our allies. It immediately occurred to me that
ru:vthirgl would be so likely to keep up their spirits, and to con-
vince them of our determination to act with vigour, as my taking
command of the army.™"?

Cornwallis advanced with his loree towards Vellore, about
eighty miles from Madras, and from there entered the Mysore
plateau by the Muglee passand captured Bangalore (1791) after
a determined resistance by Tipu's forces.

As the town was an important possession of Tipu, he made a
d’:ﬂ:mtc atternpt to recover it but in vain, There was a bloody
and obstinate struggle ; the Mysoreans fought bravely defending
their altars, hearths and houses with the courage of martyrs but
they were repulsed by the British. They lost about 300 men and
in despair returned to their camp.

The fortress of Bangalore was stormed and the garrison suf-
fered heavy losses. The Qiladar Bahadur Khan who did his
utmost to drive back the assailants was among the slain, His

1. Forrest, Selections [rom State Papers I, p. 61.
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dead body lay on the rampart in all its glory like that of Sir John
Moore on the battlefield of Corunna and was visited by cvery
one in the avmy and all who saw it were decply impressed by the
noblencss and majosty of its appearance. The brave man was
buried with military honours which he vichly deserved.

Thongh the British had captured the fortress, they were
much troubled by wint ol forage and grain and it was felt neces-
siry to move to a place where mien and cattle could find the
means of satisfying lunger.  More success followed and the for-
tresses of D{‘Q}’lﬂll and little Balipur surrendeved to  Cornowallis
withnut offering any resistance. The British army was at this
time joined by 10,000 cavalry of the Nizam who were not well-
equipped for fight, It marched towards Bangalore again and
reached there on April 28,1791,  Cornwallis now determined
to advaner upon Seringapatam, Tipu's capital, and intended to
terminate the war quickly by capturing it, The dircct route
was strongly blocked by Tipu. A morve northerly route was
barred by well-garrisoned fortresses and therefore 8 southerl
voute was chosen,  But the path was rogged and stony, full
of vavines and rivolets and the troops suffered a preat deal, Theve
was searcity ol food and fodder also ; the villages hiad been des-
troyed by Tipu's orders and the miscry of the British army was
unendurable, While the army was moving towards Seringapa-
lamy, another British loree under Abercoombic advanced [rom
the west coast to  join it. At Kerighatta the English won a
victory over the Mysoreans but incessant rain and shortage ol
supplics prevented them [rom reaping the full advantage of it.
Cornwallis advised retreat and would have been in a timely
arvival of a Maratha force under Hari Punt and Paras Ram
Bhao, The junction of the Marathas and the English alurmed
Tipuand in customary fashion he sent out a flag of truce,
accompanicd by a numerous retinue of servants bringing trays
of lvuitl The llag and the fruits were returned and Cornwallis
informed Tipu that he could not make peace with him except
i concert with the Nizam and the Marathas who were the allies
of the British. The fact is that the English had a great dislike
for Tipu and were determined to fight to the bitter end. The
war dragped on and the English captured Nundidurg and scveral
other [ortresses, The Marathas engaged themselves in plunder
and at times suffered reverses at the hands of Tipu’s generals.

Next year Co llis resumed the campign at the head of a
large army. He » fully supported by the Government in
England. The House of Commons had approved ol the war and
the Company had resolved to send out £ 5,00,000 to enable the
Governor-General to carry on the war, The allies of the British
joincd them and rendercd [ull help. Tipu placed himsell at the
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head of the forlorn ope of Mysore and Prcparr:tl to give battie
to his foes. Cornwallis advanced on  Seringapatam to which I
laid scige in February 1792, Tipu's men rained (ireupan the besie-
gers again and again but the lack of ammunition proved a serious
handicap, Sccing no chance of success Tipu offered terms of
peace but higglings went on for a long time and then Cornwallis
dictated the tevms which were accopted by Tipu. e was asked
to cede one-hall' of his domiinion, to puy three croves and 80
iakhs as indemmity and to swrrender Listwo older sons ax  lostages
for the due fullilment ol the treary,  Tipu did not send his eldest
st and two young boys who wuere treated very gencrously by
Lo Gurnwurl?s. The oy who escorted  the childean to the
British camp addressed the General in these words: “These
children were this morning the sons of' the Sultan, My maslor;
their situation is now changed, and they must look up to your
Lordship as their father Cornwallis received them with distinguish-
ed courtesy and treated them like his own sons,

Tipu saw clearly that nothing was to be gained by protract-
ing the negotiations and in March 1792 he put his signature to
the Treaty of Seringapatam.

Treaty of Seringapatam

By this treaty Tipulost anc-hall ol his dominion. The tevenue
of the entire ceded tevritory was estimated at £ 1,135,029 and as
the prize was to be equally divided, the share of each ally amoun-
ted to 395,000, Trﬁu: Englir:h reccived ag their portion the
Baramahal, the Salem Country, Dincigal and Malabar, Tl
strip of land on Malabar coast was very valuable, for it contained
the ports of Canmanore and Calicut. All these districts were
added tothe Bombay Presidency the importance of which was
considerably increased,

The shave of the Marathas consisted in the disiricts situated
in the north and west which extended [rom the Krishua Lo & large
tract of land below the Tungabhadra.

As in the case of the Marathas the acquisitions of the Nizam
were contiguous to his own territories and extended from the
Krishna to the Panna river and included the forts of Cadapa and
Gunjikotah,

The Raja of Coorg who had helped dﬂritish, was rescued
from Tipu's tyramy and placed under Bri protection, This
was an advantage to the English for Coorg was regarded as the
door to Scringapatam. The importance of this cession can be
ﬁgugnd from the act that when the proposal was made to Tipu,

is wrath was excited. According to Wilks he is reported to have
asked “To which of the English possessions is Coorg adjacent ?
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Why do they uot nsk lov the key of Seringapatam 7 They know
that T would sooner luve died in the breach than consent Lo such
u cession, wnd durst not bring ir forwards untl they had treach-
crously nlitained possession ol my childreat and oy ireasiee.”

Besides the cossion ol territory Tipu had to pay three crores
aned thirly lakhs of rupees to be paid vither b gold mohars,
pagodiai or bullions.  TTall of this was to be paid at onee and the
other hall' in theee instadoents,

The war resuliod in adding 20,000 sq. miles 1o British
tervitory aid e Nixam and the Peshwa entered into o delensive
allinuee against Tipu by whiel they houned  themselves jointly to
guared the tevritories they had olitained.

Lowd Cornwalliy behaved generously towards the iroopy. Out
ool (e reisee ooy Lo gresatedd then a gratuity cegual to six months®
Hhatta (about 22 lalhe of rupees). The Court of Diveetors
approved of the mwevure wid suggested o nwore gencrous disiribu-
tion to recogidae theie seeviees, Lord  Cornwallis gaove up his
share of the-peize money as Commander-in-Chief which amount-
ed to £ 42,244, This was quite unlike Warren Hustings who
scldom resisted monctary gifts.

The Governov-General received the title of Marquis for
his able management of the war and the eitizens of Mudras ex-
pressed their Uuudkuliess to him by erecling his statue which now
stands in the hall of te Conuemara Publie Library.

'The treaty of Seringapatam suggests a lew rellections,  Lord
Cornwallis was weeused of being hallhearted inssmuch as he
did not capiure Sevingapuwiam and  extinguish Tipn's power.
Some said he had taken too moch while others held 51n view that
he had not done enough to eweh s wmbition.  "Tipn®s Tury and
vagre stll buest with o ne and was likely to disrurgj the peace ol
South India uguin, Muedows had actually suggested Vipu's deposi-
tion and the restoration of the Hindu family whom Haider Ali
had deprived of its ancient patvimony. But this would have been
a violation of Pitt’s Act and would have offended public opinion
in England.  The annexution of the whole kingdom was also
highly impolitic for that would have, as Cornwallis said, clearly
made a settlement with the allies difficult. The absorption of
Mysore into the British dominions would have emailed responsi-
léilitlipahwhiuh would have added much to the discomfort of the

nglish,

 Cornwallis was more prudent than his erities, As he said
himself, his object was not to destroy the power of Tipu but to
check his power of aggression, to establish peace in the country
by restoring the balance of power which in the eightcenth century

15
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event in the Europe was looked upon as the heighr of political-civili-
gation and wisdomt ', Tt was {elt at the time that il Tipu had been
deprived of his whele kingdom, it would have led 40 sirious com-
plications which might, have fesulted. in another ware. The pre-
sent arrangoments satisfied all. They satisficd the Nizam and
the'Marathas who'wert disuréd of Tritish' help. against Tipu's
n?'g' ssiofs in futpnd, ' Cormnwallis protily sranmed. vp the posi-
tioatHin lis Jetter th' Bundas:  “We' have effectually wrippled our
enemy without making our [viewds too lbrnidahle’. : el

" fn doing all this Cornwallix eonsulted the real interests of
the Company and for this reason desired to fmpose ‘such  condi-
“Hots"ay Emiﬂd put it 8ilt"of the Sultan's power 1o distuely
peace of India’.  Whether this purpose was effectwuly  atthined
ox not is another jquestion:. Wilks' ‘angwer s 'not far lfrom the
qui'h; b di ' | i Bl ';' '

o THe evidéned bl gubsbquest events will isi-nh;;ﬁly"'g;-.c

S deemed to amgunt to 4 hegative answir, Bt {:ani
A ouy gatingt faal to add, that if, underthe political
e circuttstances of the momient the entire extinetion of
=T g e Mysoreat power were really inexpedient, 1o

further veduction of that . power could huve heen
.attempted without the iniminent risk of heing foreed
| o into the extvemg alternatiie,! T

s e sudéess of the English in this war was dug not so mudh
Lo superior generalship as to the cooperation of the Indilh powers,
‘Tipp was a. fprmidable flghter and in Forrest’s State Papers
.ﬁ&rg igample evidence of the: valour.and heroism shown by the
Mysgreans,, But the lgck of unity and national fecling paralysed
'I’de resijtancerand when, children of the sail, hopelessly in-
gompetent-tg. settle their own differcnees,: chose to'throw their
weig gpn& he side.of the foreigner, what hope was there of the
safety, and. independence of Indian kingdom? One of the  grim-
apest monies of ‘history is--; and it persists to this day——that
o defeat or disaster'at the hands of u foreign foc could téach

ig’s numezoup, pringes and magnates a lesson in political wis-
L] gm‘, 1 |4,Ir1|"l. ] e : "
L Intervention!Gf Corrivallis, - A dispuie of suceession in Tanjore
drew!ithie dttentidn t:g fﬁb”ﬂnvﬁmr-ﬂcmml. The English at
“f‘{l‘ﬂ‘ﬁh‘uﬁpﬁritd"&m&i“ ingh ‘the wsurpdr, with whom they mdde
& tréatyin 1787" and' obtathtd 'from himh ‘the Dewani.of 'his
tervitovies. When his rival Serfoji appealed to them for help,
;g‘!’.‘-."‘?ﬁ“ﬁ was compligd with and he was vegarded as the vightful
T Wi e g anm ais T i 1 “il ]' ‘ I-:
[ L . s ilhs
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oo I 1792 Mubginmad A Nawab ol Capnatic, who , was, pver-
head and eurs in debt, entered into a f'rgsliftqmnﬁ Wil ll:!:' Clom;
pany and offered 1o the English; the admipisiration of a British
foree. T aged and  dogrepit Nawal) I“u_ilnslfd satisfy the greed,p
those who managed his affuirs and 'Uie condition of his count
grew [rom bad 1o worse , '

The st aets of Cornwallis were his invasions of ' Nepal - aund
Assaull War badd Iioken out hetweeh Nepal and 'Chjna - gind
thie feee of the Luder led the Nepuldse to sign 2 commbintial treaty
veith the Lnglish. By thiy treaty teades frout” Britisl' Thalid
wiete granled cortaid privileges and a duly’ &P 2,1(_‘-5{;, was Lot b
lewvivd oncgoods’ imported “on cither side, The Gurkhas ‘E_':’;kt{l
I'r_v!"Ilt:ll]:-ug.‘r.Ensl Uhina whieh Lord Cornwallis vefused on' rhe
yratind thal Clinid wis a Fendly power) (3ut 'he "ekprisied Tl
willingness to medinte hitween l];c two ‘powerd and sent''a’ i
sion under Colonel Kirkpaprick hut' belore - he''reatlibd - Nepal,
piace had heottide between the Chinss 'alid ¢hh |§j\%ﬁk;
"I labrer Lustily infuritted Kivkpatrick of the cessutjort 6f  hbstic
lities and asked him to go'tieek.  But' Iie wérnit on "ktnd' raching
Katlwoandu was woell veveived by, the Nepalese Goyernment,  He
tried (o start negotivtions but all attempts. Fn.il_ud.._ So distruseful
werg the Gurkhas of the English that they, resolutcly determined
1o shut out thejr inbrusion, - e o4

" UThb fuler of Assiatn deposed “aind Jie  soughit (he  help Vol
Cornwallis. 'Captain Walsh was sent at the head of 1,100 sépoys
16 Yeiustiite the depused Rajs but the lh’!lil:!" turmad but an'finbe-
cile knd 1tb sooncy did ',Wailaii' leave the tdﬁﬁu}" than‘ohe 'dﬂ]}'é:
Ideal Ohiefs established Rig pobier, 11°* 1 Ml 10w

+ These were the last acts of Corpwallis's adminisisation. In
1788 he retived and was succeeded Dby Sir John Shore, -
Lecatha b= T R il doo s
Pl Thy Nawab's debts arose out of bis dealings with | the. Com-
1 puny's servants. | They advaneed him tongy and ot from

' Eirn assignmonts of land revenue.. This .was .collectedl. by
- wi them with the restdo that they oppresscd the pebple-and
ali i'vuined! the conntry, ‘The intersst oh the loans .advineed
fili by those'men was ustrious'sometithes rising-to 48%. A fexr

+ tainjunior servant of the Company  Paul Beneficld:onge

il iapplied 1o/ the ‘Madras: Gouncilifor help in: recovering,' from

the Nawab the sum of Rs. 2,30,000. This led to much:eamnup-
. tion in which even members of Parljament shared. | Corn-
e e o g the e, 6 etlved 4" o

" " fion to scrvatisofihe Company Who ad dn claiins sghin
'ilcjwﬂmﬂ and 'forcedt "Bentfield 1o il fof Erightivd.
alitic The debte-ef tho Nawab were liquidated by instajments,

whivvidafuiing fo,00, 4 "1,'."!" Vi TN LR T R P B 1 E e
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What wis the condition of India when  Cornwallis Jeft the
country? ‘The Mughal Emperor was & puppet in the hands of
Sindhia. Oudh was misgoverned and the Nawal of Bengal was
poor and helpless. The Marathn Conlederacy was alTlicted with
vivalrins,  Its history during the last 20 years ol the cighteenth
century was that of the strupgle for power between Mahadji
Sindhis and Nana VFadnis, Both were able nud astie states-
tnen, capalile of taking & long view of Lthe situntion and were
endowed witlt a keoen sunse of political realion. Uipon wis buen-
ing with revenge and the Nizin aned the Mavathas wore full ol
suspicions and a rupture between themwas seriously feaved. Alter
Sindhia's death (1794) the Muratha eonfederates formed o gramd
eoalition and gove a short sheilt (o (e Nizam whio had e morti-
fication of heing abandoned by his crstwhile allivs, (he LEnglish,
The Chicl of the Carnaltic was an indolent prince who neglected
his administration and did nothing to promote the wellare of his
subjects. The whaole country was distracted by rivalries and
feuds which were going ultimately o end in the accession of the
English to the loramost position rn Indian politics.

Administrative Reforms. When Macpherson assumed charge
of  the Governor-Genevalship, the  linancial  systom of
Bengal was entirely unsatisfactory, There was no cash inthe
treasury with which to pay the salaries of the troops.  To meel
this difficulty he issued certificates bearing interest at 8 per cent.
until they were cashed. All civil servants drawing a salary
of more than Rs. 300 per month were to be paid with these
certificates, He effected  retrenchment in the eivil and military
departments of the Company and thereby cneouraged the very
abuses which he was anxious w prevent. He wok great care of
the revenue Collectors and entrusted e task o Jonathan
Dunewn who was an experlt i revenue matters.  He abolished
seven collectorshipsand three district civil courts  and reduced
salaries. This caused much discontent and (he Collectors sent
a protest to the Board, The Committee ol revenue was dissolved
and in its place was croated 4 Board of Revenue. The Directors
approved of the plan and it was carried into effect. Macpher-
son did not like the idea of the same officer entrusted with the
collection of revenue and the administration of justice. He did
not like the idea of centralising the rovenue administration of
the Presidency and favoured the appointment of Collectors in the
districts,

Macpherson’s administration was thovoughly unpopular.
Cornwallis on his arrival did not find a single person who did not
eondemn it.  Shove wrote though not without exaggeration:

“Never wasany administration so thoroughly irvesponsible
as his; a total want of energy, dignity and common-
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sense destroyed it. Evasion was no substitute for
clecision; caution and hesitation instead of action.
Cormnwallis who endorsed Shore’s view described
Maepherson as ‘certainly the most contemptible
and the most condemned governor that ever preten-

Bowvy

tedd e govern',

Cornwallis atonee plunged himsell into the task of reforn,
Ln 1787 the Directors accepted the retention of the system of
eollection but sanctioned the reduction of their number. The
Colleetorships were reduced from 36 to 23, but the officinls who
were retrenched wore given & subsistence until they got another
fobn The Colleetors wore not allowed to engage in private trade
and to cunble them to live with dignity, according to their status,
their saliwy wis raiscd to Rs, 1,500 2 month and they were
entitled to a commission on the eollections.  Cormwallis’s view
wits that addition to salaries will stimulate ambition and act
us an ineentive to good wirk.,  The Dircctors disapproved of the
additional allwances nnd Cornwallis emphatically repudiated the
statement that in an Eastern country whatever the pay; the
officials will certainly take bribes, Respaonsibility, he said, must
be paid lor, or the officinl will abuse his trust,

But 1o reform  the Company's servics was not an easy task.
Corruptio was il aud love of money  was rampant among all
clnsses ol the Compuony’s servants. The wast fortunes carried
by those who set themselves up as ‘Nabobs' in England completely
demoralised the members of the services whn came to laok upon
India as their milch cow and were anxious to make as much as
they could during their stay in this country, Intrying to gain
this object all other considerations, the interest of the Company, of
the people and the dictates ol morality and humanity were thrown
to the winds, Even the very highesi were not above reproach
and lrecly accepted bribes, Cornwallis sought to lessen corrup-
tion by paying adequate salarics consisting purely of fixed pay-
ments and pavtly of commissions, In his letter to the Directors
dated August 2, 1789, he said: ;

“The salaries onght to be liberal... ......, It is neither your
expectation, nor would it be possible, to obtain the services of
men of experience, ability and character, in this climate where
the continuation of health is so precarious, without granting them
reward in some shape sufficiently liberal to live in a decent and
comfortable manner and to make such annual savings as to give
them a prospect of being able ina moderate number of years to
return to spend the latter part of their day in casy circumstances

I. Fifth Report on Eust India Alfairs, IT, p. XIT.
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at hore!! He 'urged upon the Home  Ghvernment the desiv-
ability of onsidering - the ‘wholé" question and wutnéd them that
«the toleration ‘of  perquisites st undermine the discipline of
tHe' gervice”. Tt was aftet covsiderable veluctance that the
Directors finally: agreed 'to depart from their {rdditional policy
and establish adequate salaries [or their servauts.

. Another source. ol corruptiomwas  the palrorage exerciseil
Iy the Proprietors: and Dirctlors ol the Gnmp-nni:’.- So fu the
Campany’s sorvice Tad Dhaeen the elose proserve ol the velntions ol
the Ditectoys and othery connected with ‘the mansgpment nf the
whole  system. - Applicants for poats in India were supported by
tlie English pessonages in: Boglund, by the King, the Queen, the
nables and other  dignatorics,both Iy and -ccelesistical; whao
looked upon! the Company’sservice as a paradise to which their
friends and velutives shouldi'be sént. . Lord: Corawallis dicl not
like these , yecommendations and: resolutely set hiv face -ajinst
thém. . 1He resisted even the Priviee of Wales and: wrote to Lord
Scuthampton : J i f b b

. - - S + p ' ' K0
by can assure, you that I' read it with the grealest concern,
as it made mc apprehind what would be very painful 1o me,
that T should appear backward and disinclined to exercise any
commands that.His Royal Highness mighe think proper to honour
-.1.15,1]1;.'._.._1,:1 regird 1o & Jettenrocoived fom the Queen he wrote
th Viscount, Sydney, one of the . Seeretaries.of Statg : 11 1 :*J
O Y A | R TR BT E R I | H |
._,.,,‘._‘i' Lannot desert the only  system that can save the countryy
eyen, fyr.sacred , Majesty.’). Again he:wreote in 1788: T am duil
perseented every; day by people coming owt wwith letters 1o me,
whe. cither et into. jail ;or starve, in the Jorcign gettléments.
For,God's. sake, do all),in your. power to stopthis madnessi?
O, ane oceasion he relmked evén, Dundas fov recommending
4 fertaing candidatg, for & post. .in the - Administration, He
made it quite. cleay that he would not indulge jn. the.commen
adminisirative vice, not ¢opfined, 1o India, of  creating officers or

cxira oifices’, L ! \ b

aedtowiad by ndbpting  subh ettitode that Lord 'Clornwallis was
abletoput & stap 1éthis cvil and was able (o cstablish a fairly
hongst and. disciplined service:' Even aftér making some allow-
anoe foni thespartisan outlook: of Shore it is - pbssibleito cancede
spme element of faith-ini his' iemark about the Lappiness 'of the
peopleat largeiresulting from the sccurlty which “they possess
under: our. Government; dnd from which we sop af increadt of

population and industry. 2! 1 ! e 1N Dii o

I. Life of Lord Taigrithouthy pp. 328-29) st pur 5 1l 1
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T s, however, deplorable thar | Cofnwalliz séame oo rthie
conclusion that Europuan charactor was'! supenior (to- Indian
and justified the cxelusion of Indians from all serviees of any
mnmr(}:mnm. Wriling 1o the Dircetors onp August 18, 1787, he
remarked: ' g L

I think cicmust Dhe universally aditted thar - witheut -a
lavgn! and - wellsregnlntdd body of Yi’m'nlwmmn our: hold  of the
witlunble! dominions nust be vety insegurd?ht Stomaybe ah Sir
John Koy suggests, that Cornwallis feared at: tlic natlves should
Beednme a verycffeetive Hinsiernment th the bands o th Burapeen)
wel therefore  deeided not (o mix wp the two agencibs. . Thig
unjust decision af Cornwallis Hrmgurated IPr manopoly of higher
snts fﬁr Tamoprans  wliich' in' confse o il ereatbd  vested
ideres il a prejudive against the reversil of the gystem. Vt"?g
often Boropizns of very infervibr calibive afd ignorant of (id elg
merits of the! selenee of adminisichtion which they w;'&'tgmﬁi?:
to dischange, were appointed while' capablé Indisng Werd shut ‘ot
froth all shave in (he business of Governmenft uid were lefe, witliout
any worthy ohject of amhition. Tna cotntry like Indid' where
admission to Goyernment tenvige confers “Pﬂr.lkhit:'iglmns'.ﬂ-ﬁ ecial
respectability, the hards<hips and, heart-larning which this exclisipn
st huve. caused 1o numnerous Indians cannot e over-estimated,
There is- no douln  1hat the  efliciéncy of Government musgp, have
suffered for want of the services of the indigenous clement,

Anbthur meagiire of Chrnwallis abouf ;Iii-:’l'.:nﬂr‘i&u."; related to
thie adminisiration’of thi Police. At that tiifié the Plive admin-
_ih;:ré:tihriwh;\-'n-.*frﬁiﬂ &i'by the Zantindars wh Wit the, "He jof
R-riargkﬂum'hnr.n'f Ew pl}i'd‘éﬂ?éeﬂ”inﬁinraiﬂb -gﬂl:_‘md 'nrrﬂléﬁ !Iil.
the villages and protected the Tife ¢ Jn‘bp ey ol the inh it
Ante: . They wert houhd 1o appraliiid ¢ ‘l,"h‘ll‘nﬁd‘ci'_k', ‘and if'they
conld nefthei fecbver the prlopéity stélen, nol ‘sciée’ the robber,
they were liable to make posd :hc'ﬁ!‘n' ?t'?'l'd' ‘S'd“if * Who was
deprived of the goods. “THis systhrm ifas Tio 5%.. | T#ihs Vingro-
dueed by Sher i&hh towards the mitdle of Ifb sixteénth centiiey.
But like miost oriéntal’ instititjo¥ 1 H.e.]d-" 1én'iit 'gl;‘.a':'?{ﬂﬁd
disbrder. Corfiwallis dbolishetl ‘the ‘holicd  dtalilishriéne T‘ ¢
Zaminddrs and substituted for it tHd Company’s ‘BBH ek, this
accepting what must e the primary duty etery ti "‘]i?_éct‘ State.
Police’ circles or thanas with ‘an aviragé drea of tweity ' ilds
squave were established wiihy'a Daroga’ in-chakire' who was" ap-
Fo‘intud by the District Offictr” The' Darogd had powet 'to acee
3

ail in certnin case$" and ih,cqi‘m?n""c_lnsh .”61;, ety “offcnces, e
was empowered -to decidé 'atonak. | The vl howkiflars,
haveter,continyed to e Kpfoiated by h ' Zaindss, totgh

1. Rese, f}n;rmrnlﬁs Carrespiondenee] Voll 11, p. 203% " il
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they were placed under the thana officers. On Mr, Duncan's
recommendation the Province of Benares was excluded from this
system.

The condition of the Com s army was unsatisfactory and
Cornwalliz was shocked to see the ineflicacy bur the infantry
wag in a wretched condition and this was due 1o defective recruit-
in%in Europe. Cornwallis suggested that recruits should be
publicly obtained and kept under close warch until they were
sent to India. Dundas agrees that a regular system of recruit-
ing was highly desirable and disapproved of the practice which
prevailed.,

Cornwallis held that the British hold on India would not be
strong or permanent if the army consisted of ‘native’ clements.
fFven the best of traditions” said he would not conciliate men
differing from the British in every respect, It would not be wise
to depend on the natives to secure their subjection.”  Time has
shown how ill-ground were the fears of Cornwallis who had no
knowledge of Indian character,

Fudicial Reforms. Lord Cormwallis completely re-organised
the judicial system of Bengal and issued a Code ol laws under
the name of Regulations. Regulation I in the Cornwallis Code
related to the declaration of the Papetoal Settlement.  The other
Regulations introduced im{pﬂoﬁrram nges in the judiciary which
was in a4 chaotic state : Hastings had established & eivil and a
criminal court in each district and Sadar Adalats at Caleutta,
cach for civil and criminal cases, The Supreme Court establish-
ed by the Regulation Act represented a class by iwell and equld
hardly be included in any really wselul judicial system ol the
country. [However the friction between the jurisdiction of the
Supreme Court and Hastings' judiciary was constant thm%h for
a tine it was stopped in 1780 hy the appointment of Siv Elijah
Impey, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court, as the head of the
Sadar Dewani Adalat, The Collector also performed judicial
duries in addition to his revenue work and held a court known
as Mal Adalat in which he decided all cases regavding the rights
of the landholders and eultivarors, and all claims arising between
them and their servants.  The criminal justice was in the hands
of Indians under the direction of a Nail Nazim and was in
a most unsatisfactory state, This office was held by Muhammad
Reza Khan who appointed the judges ol the District Courts,
The salary ofthe judges was low, not more than Rs. 100 a
month and the Gaﬂ]ccror reported that the judges' salaries werc
inadequate. Sometimes they were in arrcars and were not paid
for three or four months, The judge possessed great authority
which was governed by caprice, He could be severe or lenient as
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he chose and in deciding cases took no account of mervit. The
Muhammedan liw was the Code which gnided the courts 1n the
disposal of criminal cascs and punishments were often dispro-
portinnate to the guilt of the accused person. The law of evid-
ence was nol  defined and injustice often resulted from for want
of a regular procedure,  Still the low of Abu Hanilfa was superior
t the Western [aws which prevailed in Ewope in the eight-
centh century pnd as Fustings said ic was hased on the mos
vlementary prineiple and an abliorrence of bloodshed'.

Covwnllis suw these grave defeets of the judicial system and
said with reference o criminal justice :

¥ esnene Lieel myself called upon. . ... . to take meas-
ures to prevent in future, on the one hand he crucl
punishment of mutilution, . .. .. and onthe other to
vestmin the spivit of eorvuption which so gencrally
prevails in native cousts. . .. ... 1 conceivethat it
will e indispensable Tor the good govornment ol this
country, that there should be geneeal jail delivevies
onee or twice a yvear, and that two or three respectable
Company’s servionts should he selected to act as Sup-
evintendents of the criminal teials, which may be
conducted onder thely inspection, by native judges,
with the assistance of learned Maulvis and Pandits in
strict conlormity tn the laws and costoms of Hin-
dustan. '

The veform of criminal justice was undertaken by Lord
Cornwallis, during the years 1790.92. He did not trust
Indians and wanted to remove them from the Criminal
Courts. Muhammad Reza Khan was dismissed and the Nizamat
Adalat which was heneelorward to consist of the Governor-Gene
eral and membrys of the Supreme Couneil, assisted by the Chief
Qazi of the Provinee and twa Multis was removed  from Murshi-
dabad (o Caleutta, The District Courts were also  reorganized.
The existing Fawjdari Courts were abolished and their place
was taken by four Provincial Courts, three for Bengal and one
for Behar. The judges of these courts were made judges of
civcuit who were to go round the districts.  Two jail deliveries
were to be effected cvery year.  After completing the eireuit of
these districts the judges were to reside ar Divisional headquar-
ters, i. €., Galeutta, Dacca, Murshidabad and Patna. European
British subjects were excluded from  the jurisdiction of these
Courts; they are to be tricd by the Supreme Court of judicature
at Caleutta. The law of evidence was improved and 2 Muslim

|, Ramsay, Muir. Cornwallis’s Correspondence, pp. 194-95.
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ﬁilty of murder could be convicted om the evidence of non-
uslims. |

Alter sometime when it was found  that the Fane Courts off
Cirenit could aor cope with the Dusiness: that come up. hetore
them, it was decided in Fulwrary 1792 to athorise the Magis-
trates to tryall petty eases ol theft and 100 give prouniary nskisi-
ance (o witnesses. who appeaded  belore 1T do give: evidens
In July 1792 & small allowance of not apore than Rs, 5 per
monil was granted to prisoners who were relensed o jadl and
whi, 10 wees Tenred, '""FL' weeiin vesorl, e wind of &|1l.p|n}r'n|[.-nl
to their eriminal Imbirs, "The practice of attaching the property
ol mider-teial prisones was abolished and: due prolissional in-
Formers conployid | by the Police were di:'.::untfnm'd (or they Do
quently guve trouble to the velatives of the culprits. |

The reform of civil justice  received eequal attention from 1he
Governor-General.  The Gornwallis Code ™ mitde ample provision
for improvement.  Ciirnwallis was convinced that the separation
ol executive and jndicial powers was a neecssity, By Regeulation
IT6f 1793 the rovenoe eonets were aliolished and  the Colleetor
and the Board of Revenne veers deprived of all judicial  powers.
They werd eonfined werely tothe colleetion of public dues and the
tognizanpt of canses wad truhlerred from thew to the Cowrts ol
Jﬁs}in&. Dewani Courls were estalilished i the disteiets ‘and the
jildge thereof wad to have cognizance over ecivil causes of all des-
eriptions that may arvise in his jurisdiction, whether of the nature
of those termed as revenue eauses, and those wldel hitherpo lave
tricd in Revenue Courts, or of the deseription of those which lind
hoen eognizable in the courts ol Dowani Adalar Fach ol these
courls wasto"be o covenanted civil servamt, of the Company,
with native assessors o advise him in matters of Hindn and
Myhmmninedan, laws.  Above these conrts were e Proviuegal
Courts of Appeal at Patnn, Dacea, Murshidabad and Calentti,
These courts were Courts of Appealr and - Revision aud were in
cartain cases invested with nrigi:ﬂ Jurisdiction alw, - Eizch Court
of Appeal consisied ol three English judges whose decroes were
final in snitg ol persanal property. those decrers, whose valuation
did ngt gxceed onethousand rupecs:, Appials fromn thadecisions
of these Cowrts in | eettain cascs were 0 be hoard by the Sadar
Dewani Adalat at- Caleutta which was presided over by the
Governor-General. - The final Court of Appeal was the Privy
Couneil in all canses involving more than fifty thousand rupees.

. Qther Regulations were made for the hetter trinl ! cases.
Suitors who'could not conduct theiv own eases  were allowed to
emiploy Hipdu and Muglim Vakils or pleaders and their fees were
detevminrd By 'the valuation of (i suit.  Rules ‘'were made for
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tiiking the tvidesiee of Hindu and Muslim womét who olistrved
the purdak,  To expedite (he trinl of cased! qunlified Hindus and
Mtislims were appointed to hear - causes involving not more than
ity vuipees. “The decisions of these .Compnissioners were appeal-
ablé to'the Dewani Adalat, Hitherto the révenuc offices were
amenable’ to any court of justice [or'acts done in their “official
capieity and as’this resnlted ' ingreat hadship to the people.
Régulation II provided that Government officers were: personally
liable Tor dampges decredd against 1lwm by's eivil Enurt for acts
futhorised by the Regulations. ‘To, prolect the people against
the mishehaviour of Europeans, the ' regulations did * not allow
Bririshy, subjects-other than the King's Officors and covimunted
servants o reside beyond ten miles of Culeutta unless they. had
entered into an agreemeont to submit o the jurisdiction ol the
District Courts in-eivil actions : brought against them by Indians.
Those, whn  relused 1o doso, were joveed back to. Caleutta, A
complete, code of Regulutions  was .issued for the guidauce ol
courts to prevent the exercise plarbitrary authority.

The' Céinwallls 'Chde effectéd some improvement in the
administration'of justick Bt it wis not without serions defeets.
The Courts were burdened with a highly techpical procedure
which meant delay and defeated the ends of jusiice.  The agency
cmployed was foteign and it was imposzible Tor it to understand
{he sentimenty, habits and customs of the people. The Regulations
were clumsily dvalted and the principles wEich they embodied
weére horfowed from the English law and  were not wholly
applicablé to Tndian conditions., Cornwallis winted “to make
everything as Ehgland did". 'He' had too much fiith in Codes
ahd Courts of Justice ' for the pitvention of tyranny and injustice
and here again he was misled by his exporience of English life
and sociely. - Ttawas {ound " afterwards that 'the, Colloctor could
grant'speedy redress (o the poér people against the high-handed-
ness o exuciions of theiy Detters, The judges were exclusively
Europeans and in 1817~ Munvo ‘said offthem thar 1hiy wiTe as
ignorant of Indiah conditions as'if they had never left Englond.

- WCornwallis  was. salisfied only with measures which in his
apinton wepe caleuluted (o advance the property OF the poople.

¢ took no; account of theie: self-respact dnd openly dubbed them
as corrupt men lecking in capacity, charavier and integrity. ‘The
Indians in his system were denied o share -in the business of
government and thus their power al'initiative and indcpondent
action was scriously impaired. Nor was: public. busiiess transa-

I, 'An abstract of the 48 Regulations Wwhicli coniprise the Corn-
wallis Code it given in Nole A to Chapter IV-of-'Cormwal-
lis in Bengal” by-Aspinall, (pp. 95-98). « - ! \ '
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acted in o manner likely to inspire confidence or to raise the
standard of the  adminisication.  Forresi highly commends the
Code “lor rstahbishing in an orientel land the supremecy ol law
and the low courts over all persons whatever,  the foundation of
all vivil 1|'iu:r![>"p But D forgets that a mere deelavation ol the
sovercigity of low in thweory does uot mean the siaoe ing - e8 its
appliviction 1o the lik: of institutions snd  the pravtice of conrts.
The prople wore deagred Belore comts of justion and havissed
by o proceduse which was sebininistrened by ignoraa judges, The
vesults wsevibe 1o e Coooneadlis Code Tasee not been realised
i one eonnery even o this dey.

Aspinall’s remioks on the eMeeis of the Code are well worth
quoting:

*Thw exelusion ol the people ivom all effective sharve of the
govermpent ol their comtry was  alimost withont o
paredlcl in the history of periatism, Other conguesors,
said Munra, had treated ther sulijects with insolenee and
ernelty, bul none hed ever treeted them with such seomn
as el the Britishs hed stigpidsed 4 wlole nmion as un-
warthy ol tense, fncapable of hoaooralle conduet, ol
fit 10 he eonployed only  inmwendal  sitnations, Bubjoe-
tion to a loreign yoke was siill Further caleulved 1o
destroy the l‘lil.l!.lrﬂf cluvavier and 1o cxtingnisl natural
spirit.  The Comwallis system, therefore, was calcula-
ted lo debase rather than uplift the people fallen under
the Company’s dominion, 1t ook « whole generation
ol Tndian civilians to discover that such o syslem was
nol anly ungenerons and unworthy ol the British people
Lut impalitic,  Theve wus no ineentive to sell-improve-
ment, intelleciual and morally, when all to which even
the ablest men could aspive in the service of the Com-
pany was same peity position in either the revenue or
Judiciz! line gave them ncither social position, nor
wealth, nor honour, Inthe military line, oo, none
could atfaito any rank above that ofa Subedar,
which was as inlerior to an ensign to  a Commander-
in Chiel...... ........For long the quesiion was ignored
whether it ought not 1o be the policy of the Company’s
Government 1o improve the character as well as the
cconomic condition of the people.”

'The Cornwallis Code held the field for 20 years and it was
during this period that its defeets became clearly manifest,  Gra-
dually the estecm in which thar Code wes held rended to

1. Aspinall, Cornwallis in Bengal, pp. 174-75.
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diuinigh and men began to perecive not only the mischicf of words
but also ofils praciical writing. The Cambridge History of
India records the following verdicy ;

“Ihe great fault of his system was that he confounded
courts of justice with justice ilsell, In aland whew
the laws were still vague and wiknown, and the new
systent ol adimindstration was alien (o the ideas of the
wantives, the multiplication of court-amade justice was
oo ndvionage B dtsell,  In theory, the Indians were
proteeted by eourts ol justice lrom the oppressinn of
ollicials,  Zamindars and talugdars against Revenue
Collectors, ppols againgt Zmmindars, But the same
courly were both unsuited and  fnedequate for the
tusk.  Deluys were so sevious that suits, it was said,
woere nol decided in e normal cowse of a life-time.
Proteetion of this kind was not of much value, and
witheno the geavest unconcern for the welfare ol the
puople, it wis bmpossible 1o disvegard the need lor
relorm, ™

Land revenue system, "The most important reform of Corn-
wallis wits the reorganisation of the Lmufo system of Bengal, Tois
an crror (o think that the idea of revenue reform emanated from
him and that he was seit o impose oan Bengal a system ol landed
proprictvship like (lie system ol English ladlovdism.'a  The
idea was first adumbraied in Pitl's India Act which direcied that
permianent rules [or the lands, rents and  (ributes should be made
but these rules should be framed accovding to the circumstance
ol the various rajus, Zamindars, polygars, taluqdars and other
mative land-holders and “according (o the laws and coostitulions
ol India”, The disputech of the Court of Dirvectors dated April
12,1786 honestly tried to give effcct to what it termed the ‘true
spirit* and “the humune intentions of the Act”, It suggesied no
riles based on British practice. Tt ordered the settlement to be
made as far as possible with the Zamindar and only inspecial

lu, Sir William Hunter expresses the same view. He writes:
“The Permanent Settiement of Bengal was neither con-
seiously nor unconsciously an imitation ofthe English
system of landed property. TLord Cormwallis carried out
in good faith and with due care and caution, the injunc-
tion of Pitt's Act of 1784 and the intentions of the Court
of Direclors based thereon in 1786, to establish permanent
rules for the land revenue, according to the laws and
the Constitution of India.”

2. Bengal Records, Vol, I, p. 45.
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cass it permitted the alternative., of wuking:ii, ﬂ"-ill’hﬂ (pevEnag
farmey, I Pl i LC J Lo ned

I predominantly ugrlrull.ur—ul :_uuntry like India where |f|m
hulk of the government vevenue is devived fromeland, the land
setilement B wg dmportent; nadtiy, 1t is very ;mquuu now;
it was still Ot 0 it the carly days of the C,.umpﬂn].r s rule.

.+ 'The wor 1:, lnmn._vm. fefuires mmlumus Ialour aiud intinuue
knowledge ol lund, the people and agricullure.: No, one who
hasnpl byen pcmmﬂy in touch with agriculiure gan gver under-
smm.l. cxacily its naluve,  Dilficult as it is, the wark of settlement
is renduped sfill mone cowplieated by the custows, usages and
the habits of | the people whmh vern, land temures gnd \\lmh
ad,junl the rtélns of the vacivus closses t.htu. hqw. an jotercst in the

'l --J'.'- o

When the Cum]_m!!ty took nim‘ the' !]uwmﬂ ifs sb-vants were
‘;]}r ignorant ol all reverlud affairs with ‘the h'suﬁ" that they
failed 1o appreciate 1ht difficulties '6f the pedple 8 th cmum?'
Sometimes they were deeeived by the people bur oftén they ma
exorhitant exactions to_the great detriment of agriculture.  This
was one of the elifel causes 6f misgovernment in Bengal. It
caused uhtold sul'ftrmg duri ing i ihc perioe of the Diial Gmrcrmnmt
(?‘?65 72) :md the: qumqmlmm mtiIa:Fnt of u.sl.r ‘which
caipe ‘at th g rv.é of 1t did. not"' impro mb.imr Mvcrmc
W mllac'lm; and paid by Tarmers whe had obl:amé{l thht'l
thf: hightgt, bidders at a public auction,, My of ‘thesd w
advcm ers g lmc’l no intérest in 1dnd except moncy and thedl-
are | SJ ﬂlls.!.ﬂ all ‘kinds ol extovtiohs on' the éultivators, while
they displegsed the old cul'lm:gms who held the, office by heres
d:;ary r:ghl and had mnﬁnn qcl with land !'qr a ‘long time.
new | instrument of ZEpn:ss:mx rhmmg as’it did ‘aftér'h
fnm;n:,inlﬁwu-:ndgns words did not expedite ‘rekovery: “rather
1{.|t11runu:,nqd A& PCTUCT 10 i SFate. ol nature, Hnstingﬁ, he was ‘ot
satisficd with this m:!c al Affairs wanmd. Lo ﬂuttirmi-,m
while Philip Francis wis it favoir &1 mai:mg i 1m.mmt "but
he could not persuade the Council to accept this view. The
Directors effected cmnﬁmrhlm and suggested annanl «settlement
with m&z;lnundm et annual  settlement, however,- had its
disadvantaged. "The revenue enllection of Government [vom year
th'yeat was uncortain’ and a great diffidulty was experienced in
franjing  the 'bidget. -Secondly|* the Government demand feil
lm&ﬁlyb‘n the Zamindarg fol the itendency was to. inorease the
destinnd nd, :_hm many old familicy wem ruined.

Such was the state of affaivs :n.,vhm d_;mwalhs ! ne out as
Governor-General. Hc had ll_hc ?ppiwﬁi"?"'}}; to b:.n I:fy thc:
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experienee of Sir John Shore who was appointed to  the Cajeutta
Council and sailed in the swme vessel with him,  Shore was
originally like Warren Hastings o clerk in the Company’s service
ort pn annual salary of Rs, 96 which he eked out Ly other
weans wul when Clive’s regulations limited the  Geilitics - cnjoyed
by thy Company's seevants he spoke ol him as “Lord Clive of
infunous mewory™, e rose to high ollice by dint of hard
winde and became kuown for his abilities and wide experience.
Alter oo moouhe of biy sweival  Cornwallis weole ol i s «The
wbilitivg of Mr. Shore and  his knowledg: in- every, braneh, of the
businwss ol the conuntry, and the very high chapacier which he
hlels far tle settlement, ‘rercer his nssistanee to me invaluable.”
He fuli happy that he ludd sueh a distinguished officer 1o assist
Iim,  Another an who could give him help was James Grant,
another oflicer in the Company’s service who was a specialist in
revene guatters, - In 1786 e wag appointed Chicl Sarishiadar
16 the Bonrd of Reveuue and in this capacily he made a close
study ol revenuc records, BEven Shore who would consult no
Eess than [our diffeeene texts of the din-i-dkbari to make sure of
his fuets nnd figurey, admived the indefutigable. industry and
%miuru:t: of Grant who based his figures on twenty volumey of
ursian records,

Alter Clornwallig’s aveival in the beginuing of 1787 civcular
letters were “nddvessed 1o District Officors nsking them 1o subunit
reports oo the wnrkfpg ol the revennoe system in their, jurisdic-
tion. They were askeld 1 pay special attention to tree ques-
Ciois: . A i i

1. With whom was the Settlement to be made ?
s ] Y M PR c
2. What wasto be the: amount of Asscssment ?

" 8, Whether the Permanent Settlenient was to ];t:' made at

nnoe or graduoally ? . |

Caonnected witly tliese was also the  equestion ol Gimaking rules
for guavding the cullivatar [rom the oppression of the Zamindar
or the under-farmer of the land tax.: The first. question was not
casy to setile for there were several classes of claimants inthe
field. There were the Zamindars, the talugdars, the revenue
furmeérs, military and otheér holders' of lands'and those who held
land pither fréc of revenue ot at ‘'a low land ‘f_-::-rlc}lprimhlc.
educatitral or veligiots purposes such as lands Sttached to tem-
ples, Pathshalas; mosques and other philanthropic institutions.
Opinioti was divided on the question. 'Shove’agiged that the
Famindars were the proprietors of land subject to the'payment
of revenue to Government.  Grant held a differént view and said
that Zamindars were merely agents of Government ' for the collec-
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tinn of revenue and they were entitled to a shave of the procecds
as their wages, In a voluminous Minute dated (he 18th June
1789 Shore discussed the whole thing and made out a strong
case for dealing with Zamindars as the actual proprictors of the
soil on grounds of hoth policy and expediency.!  The main prin-
ciples stated by Shore were the sceority of the Government with
respoct to its revenues, and the security and protection of its
subjucts. He hoped to accomplish the former by concluding a
Permanent Settlement with the Zumindurs or  proprictors of the
soil and the sccond by curying o practice, as far as possible,
an acknowledged maximum of taxation. The settlement was o
ber made in the first instance fov ten years cortain, bhut with a view
bo permaneney.  The conclusions of Mr. Shore were nol aceepted
thy Sir Thomas Munro, who, with his expericnce of the ryotwari
system of Madras advocated similar measure [or Bengal. The
Fifth and Sixth Reports of the Secleet Committee of the House
of Commons lkewise condemned the conclusions of Shore,  Lovd
Cornwallis and the Home Government, however, accepted the
recommendution of Shore in favour of the Zamindars. In an
able Minute dated September 18, 1789, the Governor-General
said;

I. Bhore's. Minutes are to be found in the Filth Report on
East India Affairs, 1812, Vel. II, pp. 1-119, 478-510 and
pp 515-18.  The first of these is the mos| important;

Shore has discussed at length in this Minute the rights and
pasition ol Zamindari in Bengal,

He said ;. “T consider the Zamindari as the propriciors of
the soil, to the property of which they sucered by right of
inheritance, according to the laws of their own religion;
and that the sovereign authority cannot justly exercise the
power ol depriving them of the succession, nor of altering
it, when there arc legal heirs. The privilege of disposing
of the land by sale or movtgare, iy derived from this lund-
amental right, and was exercised by the Zamindars
before we acquired the Dewanny,

The origin of the properietary and heveditry rights of the
Zamindavs is uneerlain; conjecture musl supply what
history docs not mention; they probalily existed before
the Muhammedan conquest, and without any formal
acknowledgment have acquived stability by preserip-
tion,”

Fifth Report, I, pp. 80-81.
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I. Shore’s Minutes are to be found in the Fifth Roeport on
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Shore has discussed at length in this Minute the rights and
position of Zamindar] in Bengal.

Hesaid @ “I consider the Zamindarci as the proprictors of
the soil, to the property of which they sucoeed by vight of
inheritanee, according to the laws of theit own religion;
and that the sovereign authority cannot justly exercise the

ower of depriving them of the sucesssion, nor of altering
it, when there are legal heirs.  The privilege of disposing
of the land by sale or mortgage, is derived from this fund-
amental right, and was exercised by the Zamindas
before we acquired the Dewanny.

The origin of the properietary and hereditary vights of the
Zamindars i uncertain; conjecture must supply whit
history does not mention; they probably uxisl:t:{i' before
the Muhammedan conquest, and without any formal
acknowledgment have acquired stability by prescrip-
tion.™

Fifth Report, I1, pp. 80-81.
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*Mr, Shore has most ably and, in my opinion, most success-
fully, in his Minutes delivered in June last, argued in favour of
the right of the Zamindars to the property of the soil. :

“Although, however, T am not only of opinion that the
Zamindars have the best rights, but from Dbeing persuaded that
nothing could be so ruinous to the public intercst as that the
land should be retained asthe property of Gowvernment, Iam
also convineed (hat, [hiling the claim of right of the Zamindars,
it would be neeessary lor the publie good to grant a right of
?rnpt:rly in the soil to them, or to persons of their descriptinns,

think it unneerssary to enter into su?' discussion of the grounds
upon which their right appears to be founded.™

Cornwallis decided to grant proprictary vight to Zamindars
for without such a body there was no means of extending and
improving agriculture, Large tracts of land in the possession of
the Company still lay waste and it was idle to expect that they
could be brought under cultivation through agents who changed
from time to time. The suceess of the culnvators were limit-
ed and it was necessary and desirable that Zamindars should
e made proprietors, if improvement of agriculiure was desired.

As regards the question of assessment, Shore dealt with the
matter in his Minute and said that it should be hased on the
acluals of recent years rather than npon minute local investiga-
tion where there was always possibility of emor or fraud. He
rejected Grant’s view that the amount of the revenue was limited
only by the productivity of the land, that the basis of caleulation
should be the assessment of 1765 and that local conditions should
be theroughly explored.  Cormwallis accepted Shore's view,

A serious difference of opinion mose between Shore and
Cornwallis as regards the third question. Shore was opposed
to a Permanent Settlement for which he said the time was not
yet ripe. He m‘gund :

“That we do not possess a sufficient knowledge of the actual
eollections made from the several districts to enable us
to distribute the assessment upon them with the requi-
site equality; that the demands of the Zamindars upon
the talugdars and ryols are undefined; and even il
we did possess a competent knowledge of the above
points, there are peculiar circumstances attending this

1. Forrest, Selections from the State Papers, II, pp. 73-74.
16
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country which must ever render it bad policy m the
Government to fix their demand upon the lands,'?

He suggested & decennial settlement and added that il the
Government bound itself to & permanent settlement it would be
impossible to remedy the defeets and errors revealed by the act-
ual working of the settlement, He urged that the proposcd
limitation of settlement would siot diminish the confidence of the
Zamindars, ov incluce the naglec! and desolation of Land becanse to pouple
who had subsisted on annual expedient, n perind of ten yuws
was nearly equal 1o perpetuity snd that their own interest at the
commencement of the team and their confidence in the stability
and advantages ol the sysiem towards its close, would induce the
necessary exertion on the part of Zamindars, In support of his
contention he urged that the cultivation of Bengal had progres-
sively increascd under all the disadvantages of a variable assess-
ment and personal charges. He suggested that the intermediate
period should be employed in inspiring confidence among the
Zamindars by appropriate measurcs and that after four or five
years, during which period the Zamindars would be induced by
self-interest to cultivate their land, the settlement might be dec-
laved permanent.

Lord Cornwallis met these arguments by two lengthy Min-
utes written on Scptember 18, 1789 and February 10, 1790, He
said that the Home Government scemed (o be pre-determined
to make the settlement purpetual and irrevocable and that ‘in
my judgment a permanent settlement alone ean make the coun-
try flourish and secure happiness to the body of inhabitants'.
 edAnd as I havea cE;ar conviction in my own mind of
the utility of the system, I should think it a duty I owe to them-
to my country, and to humanity, to recommend it most carnestly
to the Court of Directors to lose no time in declaring the per-
manency of the settlement....... ..and not pon[l;l:none for ten years
the commencement of the prosperity and solid improvement of
the country,”

After thus pronouncing judgment in the style of the eighteen-
th century Lord Cornwallis proceeded to state his reasons, He
said that the rights of the Zamindars recognised by Shore him-
self, would be nothing but a mockery if the Government retain-
ed to itself the right to demand whatever rent it thought proper
after ten years, - In addition to the question of right there was
the more solid argument for the improvement of land, The
Governor-General added:

-

1. Forrest, Selections fraom State Papers, I, p. 87,
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“In a country where the landlord has a permanent pro-
perty in the soil, it will be worth his while to encou-
raghe his tenants who hold his farm on lease to im-
prove that property; at any rate he will make such
i agreement with them as will prevent their destroy-
ing it. But when the ]nnrllm*c? of the seil. himsclf
is the vigghitful owner of the land, he is only to became
Ul Sarney for o lense of ten years, and il he is then
te b expusidd to the demand of a new rent, which
nnvy perhaps be dictated by ignorvance or  rapacity,
what hope can there be, I will not say of improve-
ment but of preventing desolation?  Will it not be
to his interest doring the carly part of that term, to
extruct from the catale every possible advantage for
himsell; and if any future hopes for a permanent
gettlement are then held out, to exhibit his lands at
the end olit in a state of ryin. '

As rvegards Shorve's objection that move information  was
necessary belore making the settlement permancnt Lord Corn-
wallis said (hat it could mot be hoped that more information
would be available to the Government at the end of the years.
Rather it might be more difficult to abitain information as a
rosull of confession at the cud of the perind of settlement. “After
all”, said Cornwallis, ©1 um.l:mtmlcF the word ‘permanency’ 1o
extend 1o the Junma only and not 1o the details of the seltle-
ment.” e knisw wall that many new regulations would hive
to be made to supply the details and adjust the rights of the

Zamindars, talugdars and ryets. The advantages of a fixe
assessment were obvious:

“There is this further advantage to be expeeted from a
fixed assessement in a tountry subject to drought and
.inundation, that it affords a strong inducement to the
land-holder to exert himsell to repair as speedily
as possible the damages which his lands may have
sustained from these calamities; for it is 1o be expect-
ed that when the publicdemand ulpon his [and is limit-
ed to a specific suin, he will employ every means in
his power to render them capable of again paying
that sum, and as large a surplus as possible for his
own use. His ability to raise moncy to méke these
exertions will Le proportionally increased by the
additional value which the limitation of the public
demand will stamp upon his landed property; the

1. Forrest, p.?{-- ; 0N a
Tifth Report on East India Affairs, 11, pp. 527-543.
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reverse of this is to be cxpected when the public
assessment is subject to unlimited inerease.'™

Lord Cornwallis dealt at length with the abjections ol Shore
and pointed out that the argument about the ignorance ofthe Zam-
indars had little foree becavse the evil resulted from the system of
collecting revenues which prevailed in the comtry. They had been
kept in tutelage for a long time and all initiative had been destro-

ed. To eave the reot from e exactions of the landlords the
atter could be made to grant them  pattes upon the principles
suggested by Mr. Shore in his proposals for the Bengal Settlement.
It will be wearisome to reitesuie all the arguments put forward
in support of his position but the following words reveal the in-
tensity of the Governor-General’s conviction;

v Lot clearly of opinion that this Government
will never be ﬁcttm‘ qualified at any given period
whatever, to make an cquitable settlement of the
land revenue of these provinees; and il the want of

L further information was to be admitted now or at

any other Mfuture peviod as o ground for delaying the
declavation of the permanency of the asscssinent, the
eommencement of the happiness ol the people and ol
the prosperity of the country would he  delayed for
ever.”'L

With these arguments Lord Cornwallis decided in favour of
a decennial settlement and issued a proclamation on February
10, 1790 in which he stated that though fixed for a limited term
the satttlement was intended to be permanent and 1l it would be
deelared so as soon as the sanction of the Diveetors was obtained.
Shore objeeted to such a antification on the ground thar the
Zamindars would regard it a4 a promise and should the Directors
refuse the sanction, would charge the Government with a breach
of faith. Lord Cornwallis did not agree with this view. He was
supparted by Dundas and Pitt who very carefully examined the
pros and cons of the proposed system, and declared in favour of
permanence, In 1793 their sanction reached India and the settle-
ment in Bengal and Bihar was made permanent.

Lord Cornwallis's proclomation dated March 22, 1793 con-
tained two articles which are important:

II. “The Marquis Cornwallis Knight of the most noble
order of the Garter, Governor-General in Council,
now notifies to all Zamindars, independent talugdars,
and other actual proprictors of land, in the provinces.
of Bengal, Bihar and Orissa, that he has been

I I. Forrest, p, 1035,
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powered by the lionorable Court of Directors for - the
ulliuirs of the East I'ndia Company, declare the Jum-
ma whicli has been or may be assessed before  their
l}uucha under the regulations above mentioned, fixed
or evor,™

I “The Governor-General in Conneil sweordingly de-
liees 1o the Zomincis,  independent lulnqtlurn,‘ and
odlier actual proprictors of land, with or on behall
ol whom o settlemen has been coneluded under  the
regulation (21) abovementioned, that at the cxpira-
tion of the torm of the settlement, no  alteration
will be made in e assessiment which they have res-
]!:m:tiw‘:y engaged to pay, but that they and their
teirs and lawlul succrssors will he allowed 10 hold
their estates at such asscssment for ever,™

Accordsng to Mr. R, G, Dutta the aswessment made was
double of that which prevailed in the beginning of the cighteenth
century and the colloctions were as much as those made in the
fivst year of the Dewant, i, ¢, 1765-66.2

Historians and publicists have expressed difforent opinions
about the merits of the Permanent Sctllement, Some have like
the late Mr, R. C. Dutta praised it as o wise and benevolent
measure whicl I improved  agriculture and diffused prosperity
among the people. There ave others who regard it as a blunder
which has done much harm to the State by depriving it of the
uncurncd increment which has been exclusively enjoyed by the
Zamindars. These conflicting views are not contradictory as
may seem o be the case, The Permanant Settlement was obvi-
ously advantageous 1o the Zamindws., More lands were brought
under cultivation, agriculture im}?mw:d and they began to get
much higher rents, The value of land increased owing to the
rise in prices and this benefited the Zemindar without the State
getting even o fraction of the profit. The uncarned increment
was appropriated by the Zamindar exclusively and the growing
burden of expenditure was shifted (o other shoulders and often
guestionable schemes of taxalion were resorted to and the other
provinces had to pay more taxes so that the landlords of Bengal
may continue to enjoy their prospeurity. Henecforward the
Zamindar felt secure in his possession and was no longer sub-
jeet to fines and burdens which had been the lot of the farmers
under the old system. The Government escaped from the

1. Torrest, I, p. 206.
2, Economic History of India under Early British Rule, pp.
02-93.
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worry, hother and cxpenditure of periodical asscasments which
led to “cconamic dislocation, evasion and concealment of wealth,
and the deliberate throwing of land out of culiivation”, Asthe
result of the Permanent Seitlement a new elass of landlords came
into ¢xistence which was loval to the Government and which
il'praper encouragement had been afforded by the State would
have materielly helped inthe industrialisation of the provinee
instead of wosting money on dissipmion. Still, it must he
conceded that the measure diffuscd property and wealth amon
the people and imparted the Government ; stability and strengt
which were not to be found under temporavy scitlements.

Bur it was only 13; gradual stages that the lot of the Zamin-
dars improved. Inthe beginning they suffered much. Many
of tham [ailed to pay their dues by the date fixed and their lands,
zcc::u'dmg to the strongest provisions of law, were sald by auction,
Thus a defaulting Zamindar was always confronted with ruoin
and bankruptey and many old and aristocratic lamilies were
deprived of their lands, A the Zamindars were not allowed (o
employ cocrcion in the collection of rents, they frequently met
with evasion on the part of their tenants, It was in 1790 1hat
they were permitted to  distrain crops.  In the 19th century the
condition of (he Znmindars improved considerably and Sir John
Strachey estimated the Bengal Zamindar’s profit at 40 Llimes
more than what it was in the heginning,

Many Englishmen like Shore were profit-minded but we can
discover a touch of idealism  in the character of Lord Cornwallis
who felt for the poar people who had for deecades tilled their
lands uncir cortain conditions only to feed the rapacity of the
tax-farmer whose visiiations they dreaded and disliked, Their
Iot wes perhaps no better, They were sill attracted and rack-
rented in the many cases and found it difficult to obtain redress
in courts of law where justice was neither chegp nor expeditious.
Cormwallis tried to mitigate thier distrees but he was not very
much successful. Their rights had to be guarded by the Bengal
Tenancy Acts of 1859, 1868 and 1885. This was undoubtedl
a harsh feature of the Permanent Settlement which turne
farmers into proprietors of land without providing for the security
and comfort of the pzasantry who constituted the backbone of
the population, In the opinion of Beveridge it was a gross blun-
der and injustice to make a settlement with the Zamindars only
and 10 neglect the poor ryof whose claims were as strong and
well founded as those of the Zamindars,

The Permament S:ttlement has not fulfilled the expectations
that were formed of it. It has not prevented famines nor has
it secured the three objects at which it aimed in 1793, namely
the punctual payment of the ‘minimum’ fixed as the State demand
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the extension ol cultivation and the development of agriculture.
IT move land has been brought under cultivation, it is not due
to the Permanent Settlement but to the inercase in population.
'The hope that the landowners wounld invest money (or the deve-
lopuient of agriculture has also proved illusory. The minimum
Siate demund was fixed bt itz punctunl payment was not ensured
sl the law was so delective that by its oporadon many faimnilies
were deprived of thelr inherited lands.

It law Deen contended that i the settlement had Dbeen
delayud Dy ton or twenty years more, knowledge might have been
actpuired and 1le mistadies aoul anemalies which resulted from
hasty legislation might have bees aveided. Sir Alfred Lyall found
fouale with the Pormamnent Settlenwont for cutting off the Indian
treasury ltom all share in the inerease of rents and the immense
spreadd of eultivation but he admicted that it hadund wbtedly made
Bengal the wealthicst provinee of the empire. In his judgment
from that time forwared political insccurity within British terri-
tory gave way to asonse of stability and te  the fecling of confi-
dence which is the mainspring ol industry, 1

Thompaon and Garrett have deericd the Pormanent Settle-
ment and goue to the Jungth of saying that hardly any one would
defiend it woday and all Indiang would denounce without measure
what up to thirty yoars believed by mwoost Nationalisc writers as
the only good thing which the English lad done.®

A Lalanced statement of the defects of the Permanent Serile-
ment is contained in the Cambridge FHistory of India:

it was soon found that the evil of ‘balance’
continued as belove ; that the cfforts made to pre-
vent the oppression of tenants and rpots led only to
the complete blocking of the Courts of Justice : that
the attempts made to realise the revenue without
ersonal correction of the Zamindars resuited in
requent sale of estates. Moreover the provision
that talugdars could elaim exemption from the.
Zamindars' control increased the business before the
GCourts, and led to the cutting up of estates.”"

Renewal of the Charter (1793)

In 1793 the Company’s Charter was rencwed and as the
Indian finances were in a satisfactory condition the Act was

l. Rise of the British Dominion in India, p. 220,
92, Rise and Fulfilment of British Rule in India, p. 911,
8. Cambridge History of India, V, p. 456.
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passed without any serious opposition. The previous Acts were
gencrally re-affirmed; and the principles which were embodied
in them werc emphasised, The Company's monopoly of trade
was vetained for 20 years and Englishmen were allowed to trade
with India only unc‘fcr certain special restrictions.  The entry of
Englishmen into India in large numbers was feared and colonis-
ation was discouraged. Missionaries were not allowed to go to
preach Christianity in India for it was feared that their activi-
ties might create trouble or distueh the pulidic peace.

In August 1793 Lord Cornwallis who was now created
Mavquis left Caloutta and in the bheginning of October he started
on his homeward vovage [rom Madras,

The Commander-in-Chiel was not to be a member of the
Governor- General’s Council unless specially appointed by the
Court of Directors. The Governor-General's powers over the
other two Presidencies and his anthorily to override the decis
sion of the majority of his Conneil were realfirmed and similar
powers were given to the Governors of Madras and Bombay,
Provision was also made for the appointment of a Vice-President
during the Governor-General’s absence from the headquarters
and the Governor-General was given full authority to act without
a local council and (o pass any orders without consulting it.  In
times of emergency he could go to any provinee and  assume full
control of the Government there as Lord Wellesley did in 1798
on the eve of the Fourth Mysore War. The Company was nllow-
ed to appoinl ils covenanted servants and others as Justices of
the Peace in India. Patronnge was curtailed and the Act laid
down that “all vacancies happening in any of the offices, places,
or employments in the civil line of the Company’s service in
India (being under the degree of Councillor) should be from time
to time filled vp and supplicd from among the civil servants of
the said Company b:lﬂnfing to the Preidency wherein such
vacancies shall rvespectively happen..................-No office, place
or employment, the salary perquisites and emoluments whereof
shall exceed [ 500 per annum shall be conferred upon or grant-
ed to any of the said servants who should not have been actually
resident in India as a covenanted servant of the said Company
versesswns . This was a healthy provision and the servants of the
Company gained much by it.

The doetrine of free trade did not prevail and the exclusive
policy of the Directors was fully supported by Dundas, President
of the Board of Contral.
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Sir John Shore's appeointment as Governor-General (1793-98)

As has been said before Shore had come outto India asa
clerk in the service of the East India Company on a small pit-
tunce,  Gradually lic rose to high position and  became a mem-
ber ol the Calcutla Council. He owed his rise, to no small
extent, to Philip Franeis whom e supplicd with information re-
gavding vevenue wmatters which wios the busis of bis minutes.
Hastings’ snspicion wis tud Francis’s minules were written by
Shore but there is no warrnnt lor such un opinion ecause Philip
Francis was o nman of great ability who had acquired much
knowledge and  experience of the Indion administration. Lord
Cornwallis always held the view that the Governor-General of
India shall be appointed  direct from the ranks of English noble-
men but hie was so impressed Shore's abilitics and upright-
ness that he was prepared to make an cxception in his case.  Iis
appointment was partly due 1o the faet that the Home Govern-
ment failed to find for the post of Gavernor-General what King
Goorge called a very proper man of distinetion’. At onc time
Dundas  himsel! wanted  to proeeed to Indin tn  assume
the great vespousibilities bul he was prevented by circumstances
from fulfilling his wish. Shore’s ability and integrity were un-
questioned but he was a timid man of limited outlook, Expert
in routine business and {ully conversant with details, he lacked
the statcaman's  vision and insight. He had no eye for the large
issucs of politics nor was he capable of laoking inte the future.
Esscutially a bureaucrat, wedded lo red-tapism und office-routine,
he loved order and peace and Iacked the heroic qualitics that
were needed 10 deal with the politieal situation that was opening
before him, He adhered to t?m. policy of Pitt’s India Act some-
what slavishly and his faith in Jafsgez-faire lod to serious conse-
quences. The principal cvent of Sir John Shore's regime was the
rupture of the Company's relations with the Nizam who was
their ally and whom they were pledged by rreaty to support. In
order to understand the history of this rupture it is necessary to
review briefly the developments at the Courts of Poona and
Hyderahad from the time of signing of the Treaty of Serangapa-
tam till the battle of Kharda which destroyed for the time Deing
at least the independence of the Nizam's Government.

Mahadji Sindhiz. The treaty ol Salbai was signed on May
17, 1782 and was ratified by the Nana on behalf of the Peshwa
on December 20, 1782, It ensured the dominance of the British
in Indian politics, and increased the power of Mahadji who now
began to cherish new ambitions designs, He wanted for
himsell a position, independent of the Peshwa and the Nana and
upon this he concentrated all his encrgy and attention. He was
arrested in his endeavours by de Boigne, a French soldier of for-
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tunie, who joined his service on a salary of Rs. 1,000 per mensemn
and offered to organize a force to [urther the plans of his mastcr.

Alrer the death of Alvasayab? in Qotober 1784 Sindlia at-
tained toa position ol great prominence at Delhi and on 4th
December was oflicially appointed Naib Vakil-i-Mutluyg (Deputy
Vicoregent or Deputy Regent Plenipotentiney as Sir Jadunath
translates it) by Shal Alun II who had placed himself entirel
wndar his protection,  His vival Nana who had acguired much
inlloenes in Poous politics looked on Sindhin®s veiled designs with
suspicion and regarded his growing power in the north us danger-
ous to his own position. A plol was formetl te depose Madlin Rao
II and Najal' Khay who was supreme in his time in the Couneils of
the Mughal Empire. He died on April 22, 1782 and was succeeded
by his adapted son Afrasayaly who hecume Amir-ul-Umra, He had
a great rival in Muhammad Beg, Governor of Agra,  Altasayab
wittited Sindhia to help him and the latter compelled the Beg to
surrender the [ort of Agra on March 27,1785, Mulammad Beg
was pardoned and allowed (o crter the imperial service. Sindhia
scquired much influence at Dulhi and beeame the most powerful
man in the emipive,  The Emperor conferred upon him the title of
Amir-ul-Umra which he velused bue he sceepted on the Peshwa's
e hall the title of Vakil-ul-Mutlag, At Poona an intrigve was
scton foot to place Raghoba's son Baji Rao on the gaddi but it
was frostrated by the Nana who connceted Sindhia with the
authors of the intrigue.

As the chief authority in the Delhi empire (1788) Sindhia
took sleps to organize the administration. At his instance the
Emperor revived his old claims and demand d tribute from the
English, He loune himselfin sore inancial siraits.  The revenue
was not collected, the ‘Farmers™ oppressed the rwels o sguecze
money out ofthem. Lawlessness prevailed and the tax collec-
tors sometimes went 1o the length of torturing the people to
compel them to yield up their wealth, Sardesai writes that
‘they tied vags to the bodies of the rich and the poor alike and
pouring cil on them set them on fire’.?  Cultivation had declined ;
famine stalked the land; the treasury was exhausicd; the Emper-
or pestered him with his demands and Sindhia had not money
enough to meet his own expenses and those of 1the Emperor.
His credit was low; no banker would advance him meoney; the

1. Afrasayab on the son of Najaf Khan who was Prime Ministcr.

2, There were farmers of revenue.  Revenue was farmed out 1o,
the highest bidder and these men oppressed the people.

3. Main Currents of Maratha History, p. 178,
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distress in the camp was [earful and crowds of men were seen
roaming about in seaveh of Tood. !

Sinelhia held an enguiry hto the titles  and tenures of Jagir-
dars, wed this gave oflenee to the Muslime nobility who  disliked
the influence of o “Hindo upsunt”, Mulwonnad Beg Guoneed
the Home of disenmient el wanted 1o poy off old scores. When
Sindhin: dewsoeded Trilute Grom the l'g.it.jpm chiels in the munc
o0 the Taperor 1hey abo hecame hostile 1o lidm and Jaipur and
Jodlipur formed o ecoalition Lo pesixt his importunate demands,
They were joined by Mulwmmad Beg and in the greeat baule
that was fiught at Lulsot, about 40 miles from  Jaipur, Sindhia's
lorces were defliaded, Paking advantyge of his reverses Ghulum
Ouadiv, e son ol Zahite Khan, the Rohilla Chicl, marched to
Dedivi in i beginning of 1785 and extoried from the deerepit
Fyapeeoy the tide of Amisul-Umra, He invited Ismail Beg,
Mubismmad Bog's nephew, who hacd d grudge against S ndhin (o
join him, ancd witl his forees the Beg advanced upon Agra which
was held by Lakwa Dada, & Maratha General ol experience. Ghu-
loan Quadir in the meantimie had 1o goto his kingdom to defend
it aguinst the Sikhs who had stavted marauding expeditions -
wards the Soull Epst,  Ismail Beg hod w fight single-handed
agaimt the Marwhos and was severely defied ina battle near
Fatehpur Sikei through the bravery and skill of de Boigne, Not
sutisfied with the poogeess ol Sindhia’s fovtunes, the Geneval left
hisserviee and sotthed st Luckoow as o businessman,  Sindlina
vetnrned to his Cantowment ot Mathuora,

Glhulim Qadir awd Ismail Beg marched to Delli and over-
powered the feehle resistence  that was offered by the Emperor,
The palace was plundered and the Rohilli clicf, infuriated at the
Emperor’s inability to disgorge his hidden treasures, tortured the
Iatier and blinded him  with his own dogger.  The Dmperor was
deposed and a puppet prince, a son of Ahmad Shah, was placed

on the throne. The royal [(amily was treated with great in-
dignity and even the imperial princesses were flogged and furned
out into the streets when the Afghans failed to obtain the imag-
inary treasures, Ie smoked his fugga on the peacock throne
and these orgies lasied several weeks. Sindhia was moved to
indignation at the news of these horrible atrocitics and marched
with his forces against Ghulam Qadir who was defeated and
captured. Asa punishment for hiv misdeeds his facc was black.
ened and he was paraded vound the ecity of Mathura ona
jackass, His eyes were cut outand his limbs were hacked to

L. Such is the account of Mahadji's finances given by one of
Mana's agents. It was sent to Poona by him from Sn-
dhia’s camp near Mathura about the year 1788,
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picces which were sent to Delhi to be laid Lelore the fallen and
degraded majesty of Shah Alum. Sindhia took the Emperor
under his protection; the latter wns touched so much by the
Maratha Chiel’s kindness that he composed odes in his praise and
addressed him as his Tarzand” (son) and the giver ol light and
life.

Surrounded as he was by enemics on all sides, Sindhin el
that he could not elo much withour de Boigie's holp and  there-
fore requested him 1o return,  The General chivaleously respond-
ed to the call and the combincel forees marelued against Tsmail
Beg who was completely rowed.  His Rajput allies, the Princes
of Jaipur and Jodhpur, were defeated in June 1790 and the terri-
taries of Taragarh and Merte were captured. Soon alter the
Runa of Udaipur also offered his submission.

De Boigne rendered a grear service to Sindhia, It was he
who organized his scattered forees trained them in Euwropean
style mﬁ% imparted to them a new discipline. European officers
and artillerymen were invited by him to join the armv and it was
through his efforts that it attained the strength of 68 battalions,
427 guns and 40,000 horse. [t was the ‘New Mode! Army' which
he organized that gave a short shrift to the Rajputs and saved
Sindhia’s prestige in Northern India.

The unfortunate Shah Alam who had been restored to the
throne in 1790 was induced by Sindhia to confer upon the
Peshwa the title of Fakil-i-Mutlag and that of his natd upon him-
self. In June 1792 he procceded to Poona with an imperial
firman by which the Emperor forbade the slaughter of cows
throught Hindustan. This was a scrious complication for the
Nana., The astute minister advised the Peshwa to refuse the
proferred honour but the latier’s youthfol vanity was much [atter-
cd by the prospect ofimperial favour and in an open davbar in the
midst of great pomp and ceremony, Sindhia with feigned hum-
ility presented to his chicf the robes of honour and other precious
gifts together with the insignia of the fire and the sun. Ma]mdlji
behaved with great adroitness and  caution, preferred himself
to be a humbie Patel and a slipper-bearer of the Peshwa, He
carried with him concealed in his clothes a new pair of sli 5.
which he placed on the Peshwa’s feet before a distinguished
assemblage of Maratha generals and statesmen.  Another darbar
was held in which the Peshwa bestowed upon his deputy the robes
of honour and gilts that were suited to his dignity, Days and
nights were spent in festivity and scenes of unparalleled brilliance
and splendour were enacted which Poona had never seen before.
Thus did by histrionic d‘i:ﬁla}r and subtle diplomacy, Mahadji
Sindhia succeed in establishing his influence at the Courtof Poona,.
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which was only a preliminary step to his more caleulated and
autdneinus plan of ousting the Nana from the position of pre-
emincnce which he hid seenred in Mavatha polities. Rightly does
Sir Joluw Maleolm observe iy “Mahadji® had made himsell a
sovercign by calling hinmsell’ a servane

Prizmayed at Sindlia’s stateeralt, the Nuna looked about
for s ally who weould help him to popetuate his power.  This
wiis fonnd by Tuknji Holkir, who atonee ninde commmon auise
with him, Fuolly awire of the services de Boigoe had rendercd
to Sindhin, Tukoji admitied Drenee;, anether  French adventurer
in his service, and asked lim to nrganize a diseiplined army to
eonutornet the designs of his grear vival,  On Seplember 20, 1792
Uwe forces of de Boigne encountered Holkar at the Lakheri pass in
the Kowmh Stae and alter an obstinate battle in which the jssue
wak [or  longin doubt, the redoubtable General suceerded in
defeating Dronee, and captoring 88 guns. The Holkar’s army
took to flight and duving the retreat  ravaged Sindhia's capital,
Ujjain,

The Nana's Lope that Sindhia would leave Poona to deal
with T'ukoji had proved false.  He was greatly perturbed to hear
ol de Boigne's victory aver Holkar's furees which rendered him
powerless for the moment.  Sindhia hegan ro interest himsellin
the administration of the Poona State and henceforward he and
the Nana both beecame aspirants for aseendency in Maratha
palities. Bach tried to clbow out the other and each became
anxious to acquire mastery over the Peshwa. The Nanain
desperation appealed to the latter, recounted his services, com-
E{laimd of Sindhia's conduct and his intrusion into Poona affairs.

¢ offered toresign and hetake himself to the lile of an asectic
uniess his master reposed [ull confidence in him. The inexper-
ienced Peshwa burst into tears, begged lowgiveness of the minister
and promised to regard him as his greatest friend and counciflor.
Sindhia atonce took steps to checkmate this move but suddenly
he was altacked by lever and wfier o brief illness died on
February 12, 1794 in his camp at wanodi, five miles from Poona.
The story of Sindhia’s murder through the Nana's intrigueis a
pure myth and does not rest upon reliable evidence,

Mahadji was a man of great sense and sagacity who had a
clear perception of the political issues that confronted him during
his life. He was never swayed by emotion. Even in the midst

. I. Memoir of Central India, T, p. 125,
For an account ofde Boigne the reader may consult Keene’s
“Hindustan under Free Lances (1770-1820)" and the
Memoirs of Sir John Malcolm.



254 India in the Eighteenth Century

of the greatest erisis le never lost the equanimity of his temper
and laughed and joked as i nothing untoward had happened,
Defeat cid not  break his spivit nor did the pertinacity mud
malevolence of his foes make him swerve from the path which he
had ehosen for himsell Tle was a Dot militaey leseler sl Tuwl
shown ik great qualities in the buttles he el fowghe, e Jied o
vare organiging  capacity and enjoyed in oo darge wonsare the
confidence and devotion of his officers and men.  Even foreignos
served  him lovadly and  Faichifully and were much impressed by
the eloaemess of his intellect and  the steaightTorwardiess ol his
cluracter, whielh ave veveuled in the Memoirs of Count de Doigne
writben by his son.

Sindlin was  greatly impressed by western mcthods of
warfure.  He koew the danger from the English and therefore
tradneel his troopd in Buwropean siyle.  The guerille tatics were
abandoned and a fne modern army  was ereated which has been
regarded by some as a handicap rather than an advantnge.  With
this avmy de Boigne deleated the  Muslims and Rajputs and the
auxiliavies ol ITelkar in 1792, and egtaldished his  aster’s
ascendancy in Northern Indin,  Bul Buropesn writers Iuave ex-
pressed  the view  that this avmy was ineffective when it was
employed against their countyymen.  Sir Alfred Lyal! writes @

“Morcover in proportion as the Marathas adopted the
armament and tactics of European warfave, they lost the advan-
* tage that comes ont ol unaninuity of national, religions, or trilal
sentiment, out of the bond of a common conntry or rradition. The
new system required professional soldiers, who must be enlisted
wherever they could be found and especially it neetded Breign
officers. In this manner the foreign or ulion n?::mum. grow rapidly,
until the later Maratha armics hecame principally a iniseellancous
collection of mercenacies, enlisted from all parts of India, with
trained infantry and arillery conunanded by adventuvers of
different races and countives,' Thompson and Garvctt also
endorse the above view :

“Itis noteworthy that when war broke out afresh
against the English, it was not Sindhia’s highly trained
troops that did most damage, butthe still largely
“‘vernacularised" forces of Hollkar, his rival’.”®

1. Risc of British Dominion in India, p. 226.
2. Rise and Fulfilment of British Rule in India, p. 180,



CHATTER XII

The Supremacy of the British Power
Lord Wellesley (1798—1805)

Political Condition of India on the eve of Wellesley's arrival

The: politieal condition o Indin on the ove ol Wellesley's
arvival was guite dillereme rom ey whiely comlonted Lord
Covmwallis i 1784, Tipu then was still the “Tiger of Mysove'
wied aonightmewe of the Madras Council, The attitude of the
Nizwm was uncertain,  "The Mavatha conlederey was a power
o be dreaded, having some clements ol eolesion und unity
with Mult wlji Sindhiv dominant in Noohern Indl and Nana
Faduis powerful ar the Court of Pooua. In 1798 when Well-
axley landiad, Ui picture lind eutively changed.  The Mysore war
ol Cornvwidllis hed elipped the elaws of the *Mysore Tiga’. Tipu
Liel Liceoie powerless either to defond  himsel!l or to offend the
Company,  The Nigm was inclining more and more towirds the
English,  'The Maraha confudersey had brokn up into rival
Stateg, jralous of cach other,  The great but selfish Maladji Sin-
elffin haul cleparted fron the field ol his glory, and no more was
Nur Fadnis ipow-::rl'ul at the Court of Poonn, Such were the cir-
cumstances which favourcd Wellesley in his expansionist schemes.

The Indian powers had become fully alive to the danger
which threatened them from the side of the English. They had
realised that they were equally dangerous as allies or focs, and
that noreliance could be pluced on their treaty obligations. They
had also realised that their own military technique was delective,
to vemedy which everyone of them had engaged European officers
to train their men, Most of these Buropeans were Frenchmen,
a fact which increased the suspicions of English, as r_lz:n {wo
nations were at war in Europe. De Boigne at the Court of Sindhia
and Raymond at the Court of the Nizam are namcs famous in
Indian history. Wellesley came determined 1o put an end (o this
state of affairs, 1o establish contact with the Indian powers and
reduce them ro a state of subordination.

Wellesley and the Nizam

The Nizam, threatened by the Marathas from the west and
Mysore from the south, had always looked to the English for
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support. Before them, it was the French who kept him on the
throne but after Bussy’s recall, it was the English bayonets that
frightened away his encinies. His position internally was also
prucarious as the mojority of his subjects were Hindus. In the days
of Corawallis he had cnrered into a defensive and ofensive alliance
with tlic English and shared in the spoils of tlie Third Mysore
War. But%m soon [vll upon evil days and found himslf in serious
difficultics. The Mavuthas under Nana Faduis renewed  (heir
outstanding demands agninst the Nizam. The latter, conficent
of English support and placing relianee upon his own foroes
trained under Riymond, refused.  The Namg, acting ander the
impression that the English cwved not go to war againgt the
Maruthas, eolleeted all” the confedsvates under the Poshwa aned
declared war,  The Nigam appealed to the English [or support,
reminded them of the treaty ol 1790 but in vain,  Siv_Joho Shore,
the Governnr-General, had no desive 1o go to war wilh the Mara-
thas and he weigaled out of the (reaty obligations with many ex-
cuscs, The Nizam was defeated at Kharda ?I 785) and compelled
to sign a humiliating treaty. The attitude of the English deeply
offenided the Nizam. He dismissed the English troops and began
more and more to lean towards his French Gencrals. Such a
gituation wos Mull of peril as 1he English were engaged in the
French Revolutionary was,

Wellesley came with the determination to win over the
Nizam once again to the side of the English. He had alrcady
heard from one David Baird at the Cape of Good Hope of e
intentions of Tipu Sultan. Baird was one of the prisoners of
war of Tipu released after the Treaty of Bangalnre. Tipu's pre-
parations made the settlement of the velations  between the Iing-
lish and Nizam imperative as there was a pro-Tipu and a pro-
French party at the Court. The English cause was supported
by Mir Alam, a niinister at Court and the Nizam was once again
won over to the side of the English. In September 1798 treaty
was signed. It was the first of the subsidiary alliance of Wellesley
and, therefore, its terms are important:

(1) The subsidiary force at the Court of Hyderabad was
made permanent and raised to six battalions costing
over RRs. 24 lakhs a year to be borne by the Nizam,

(2) The Nizam’s French rroops were to be disbanded.

(3) The British would settle the dispute between him and
the Marathas in case tlic Marathag did not agree; the
British were to protect the Nizam *from any unjust and
unrcasonable demands’ of the Peshwa.

The Nizam helped the English in their war against Tipu and
got his share, to be presently dealt with., The removal of Tipu
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from the political field encouraged Wellesley to complete the sub-
ordination of the Nizum who was cujoled into making another
trewty in Oetober, 1800, the terms of which reduced the Nizam
from & position of equality to subordination. By this treaty the
subwidiary force was inercased and for its psyment the Nizam
ceded all the tervitories he had gor as a vesult of the Mysore
wart, Theserviees which the subsidiary foree was to vender
woere regulated by the teems of the treaty.  The Nizam was for-
bidden from entering into any political negotiations with foreign
powers; all his disputes were to e relerred to the English who
were to act as arhitrators.  In return the English guarantced the
internal sovereignty of the Nizam.

The treaty sccurid the Nizam against internal revolution and
exlernal invasion., o (he British the submission of the Nizam
was a masterful siroke, It prevented a coalition of the Nizam
and the Muarathas, placed a large army in the very heart of the
Nizam's tervitorvies nt his expense, which could at any moment
be used (o cocree 1l Nizam  as well as against the Marathas,
The administration of the Nizam's tereitories did not improve
and the trealy led to difficultics, The Nizam protected by Eng-
lish bayonets E{‘.Cnm[: carcless; the administration became lax and
disorder increased.

The Fourth Mysore War (1799)

Wellesley had eomu out with the Hnn determination ol weed-

%}g‘ out French influcnce lrom Indian Courts.  The Anglo-French

ar in Buropr and the fear of Napolean's invasionof the East

made this absolutely essential ﬁmg it was this determination

which led to the Mysore war and the final destruction of
Tipu.

Cornwallis's war with Mysore and his anncxation had left
Tipu powerless. But he was not the man to take deleat lying
down. With astonishing rapidity he repaired the ravagesol the
late war, increased his resources both military and financial,
improved his artillery and fertifications and sent embassies to
Kabul, Persia, Arbin and Mauritius for support. He was con-
scious of English strength and hence desired allies who would
help him in expelling the English. The French Governor of
Mauritius gave encouragement to the desive of Tipu for an alli-
ance and gertain French volunteers joined Tipu's army. Tipu
became a member of French Republic and planted the tree of
liberty on the walls of his fortress. He called himsell “citizen
Tipu®. Wellcsley interpreted all this as an act of hostility against
the English in India and he immediately made preparations for
war. In this he was supported by the authorities at home. -As
a general principle wrote Henry Dundas, then President of the

17
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Board of Commissioners for Indian Affairs, ‘I have no hesitation
in stating that we are entitled under the circumstances of the
present times to consider the admission of any French force into
Tipuw’s army as direct hostility tows.' “The Secret Committee
informed Wellesley that if Tipu's designs were really hostile, he
should not wail but carry the war at once into the encmy's terri-
tories. Simultancously reinforcements were st [rom Eugland,
The Nizam and the Marathas joined in the attuck and war was
declared in February 1799, Wellesley himuell was at Madras
directing the operations which were under the comnmand of Gen-
eral Harris and Acthur Wellesley, brother of the Governor-
General. Tipu was attacked from the Bast and the West, At the
same time cﬂgrts were made to win over his subjects and tribut-
aries. * On the 6th March, 1799, Tipu was defeated at Sedascer
by. General Stuart macching from the west while on the 27th
he was again defeated by General Haris at Malavali. He
retired - to his capital Srivangapatam which was besieged by the
enemy and died fighting in ‘its defence. With Tipw's death the
Muslim poweér in Mysore came to an end.

. The dominions of Tipu were partitioned between the allies.
The British got Kanara on the west, Wynasad on the south-
west, the districts of Coimbatore and Daraporam, two on the
cast, together with the town and island of Srirangapatam. The
Nizam got the district of Gooty, Guramkonda and a part of
Chitaldrug without {he lfort, The Peshwa was offered the dis-
tricts of Hirpanhali and Seconda lying between the possessions of
the British and the lands ceded to the Nizam. But, asie was
expected, he refused and the lands were divided botwoen the
Nigam and the English. The yemainder of the kingdom of
Mysore was: restored 1o the old Hindu dynasty in the person of
a minor prince on condition that the whale of the military force
maintained for the defence of the country should be English for
.which the Raja was lo pay seven lakhs of pagodas annually, that
“in case of war the English might exact any larger sum lastly
in case of mismanagement the English had the right to intervens
and even take over the administratgjon. The Raja was forbidden
to admit any Europeans in his service or to enter into any cor-
respondence with '?ur:ign States. The minor prince was put in
charge of Purniya, at one time finance minister of Haider Ali,
now 4 creature of the English, through whom the whole admin-
istration was'to be controlled.

By this seulemenr Wellesley brought the whole of Mysore
under the British, keeping the Rajah as a screen tw hide the
extent of his aggrandisement, He himself wrote that ‘under this
arrangement, I trust that I shall be enabled to command the
whole resources of the Raja’s territory’. To have completely
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annexed Mysore, which he could have done, would have entailed
a greater share 1o the Nigam which would have made him more
powerful W was desirable, The offer to the Pesliwa was con-
ditioned by his agreeing o enter into an eugagement against the
Frenel, not to employ  Europeass and  guarantes the integrity of
the new State of Mysore.  As was expected  the Peshiwa refused
ey gdvee sy graraades.  Dhe shisc which wend (o the Nizam was
titken Urone i subseguently in 1808, ay wehave seen, with the
result 1lut it was the English who got everything.  The Gover-
nor-Guneral wis made  Mavgquis Wellesley and General  Harvis
vt clevated to the haronage,

Lord Moraington on the Caswe Belli against Tipu,

The fivst eonwickeration: requived an aliernative  examination

ol the proclomaion ssved ot the Isle of Franee, together with

all the eollatera] eirenmmstunces accompanying this extraordinary

ublication, 'Uhe proclimution made its fivst appearance in
leutta fin o pewspaper of (he By of June,

At first the Governor-Genera! doubted the anthenticity of
the proclamation and I seemed inercdible (o him that il the
French really entertained a design of furnishing aid to Tippu they
would publicly declare thit design, when ne nther apparcent end
could be answered by such o decluration, excepting that of ex-
posing the project in ity infancy to the obscrvations of both
governments in Englimd and India and of preparing them for
slont resistance. A ecopy of the Proclamation was sent by the
Governor-General to the Governor of Fort St.  George at Madras
asking him (0 make a remonstrance 1o ‘Uipu of the Proclamation
way authentic, ITe asked him to eollect 4 foree upon the coast,
il necrssary.

The fiest regular authentication of the proclamation which
the Governor-General received was contained in the letter of
Lord Macariney, of the 28th March and in that from Sir Hugh
Chrisiian of the same dare received on the 18th June. Tipu des-
patched two ambassadors to the Isle of France and the Proclama-
tion was published alter their arrival. Tipu's ambassadors were
received publicly with every mark of distinetion and were enter-
tained during their stay on the island at the public expense. On
the second day the Proclamation was published and fixed up on
the most public places and crculated lll‘: h the town, Tipu's
ambassadors allowed the Proclamation to be published at their
own house. These events led to the impression in the dsland that
Tipu would immediately atiack British possessions in India. The
ambassadors were present in the island when the French Govern-
ment procecded to act according to the Proclamation and assist-
¢d the execution of it by making promises in the name of Tipu
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for the purpose of inducing recruits to list. They proposed to
levy men to any practicable cxtent, stating their powers to he
unlimited. They assisted in the levy of 150 officers and for the
service of Tipu under the terms of the Proclamation. Few of
the officers were men of ability and experience and the recruils
were men of the lowest society, With such troops the ambassa-
dors enterved into several engugements in the neme of Tipu Sul-
tan. 'According to the Governor-General the Proclamation furn-
ished the most powerful internal evidence of the coneurrence of
ambassadors on all its essential points, "Lhe pinicipal lacts there
were ;

That Tipu Sultan had addressed letters to the General As-
sembly of the Isle of France to all the Generals employed there,
and to the Directors of France and made the [ollowing pro-

posals :

1. That he desired to form an alliance, offensive and defen-
sive with the French, and offered to maintain at his expense, dur-
ing the continuation ol the war in India, whatever troops should
be furnished by the French and to supply only the necessary aid
for carrying on the wav.

2. That he had given assurance that all his preparations
were already completed and that the Generals and officers would
find everything necessary for carrying on a species of war, 1o
which Europeans have not Deen accustomed in the contests with
the native powers in India,

3. That he waitcd only lor 1he suceess of France to declare
war aguinst the English and thut it was his avdent desive to expel
the English fom India.

The Proclamation recommmended a general levy for the serviee
of Tigu and it assured all citizens who would enlist that they
would be paid liberal allowances,

Referring to the conduct of the ambassadors the Governor-
General writes that the following conelusions appeared to him to
be incontrovertibly established:

(1) ~That the ambassadors proposed to the Court of the Isle
of France an offensive and defensive alliance against the British.
This alliance was formally notificd by a public Proclamation.

. 1 (2) That the ambassadors carricd letters for the Directory
contaning the same propositions,

.~ (3), That the ambassadors gave the assurance in the name of
Tipu that he had actually completed the necessary preparations
[}}r ﬁfnr, for the express purpose of expelling the British nation from

ndia, :
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(4) That the ambassadors demanded unlimited military help
o the French and carried a military force in the Isle of France
with the ohject of commencing way witl the British,

(5) That this force had linded in Tipu's country and pm-
bubly admitted into his serviee,

(G} That Tipn lad personully ratified the engagements
mscle on his lmlmtll':uul lias procecded to act upon them.

{7} That although the help received from the French was
mich, vt the declaration of the ambassadors that it was Tipu's
Intention o commence & war of uggression upon the Cumpany
in India!

The Governor-Generul’s view was that having aseted with
offensive and delensive engagements with the enemy having pro-
veeded lo enllvet o forer Tipu openly intended o act against the
Company., He held that he had vinlated the treatics of peace and
leiendship subsisting Detween im aned (he Company and has
conuniticd an act of divect hostility against the British Govern-
wient in India,

The Governor-General proceeded to discuss whether  the
Clompany gave any provocation (o Tipu : He writes:

~ fBave the conelusion of the Triaty of Srirangapatam, the British
Governunents in India huve wniformly conducted themselves to-
wards Tipu Sultan; not only with the most exact attention to the
principles of moderation, justice and good faith; but have endea-
voured by every practicable success to conciliate his confidence
and to mitigate his vindictive spirit, Some differences have
accordmgly arisen wilh respect to the boundaries of his territory
hordering upon the confines of our possessions on the coast of
Malabar; but the records ol all the British Governments in India
will show that they always mauifisted the utmost anxiety 1o
provide the amicable adjustment of every doubtful and disputed
point; that Tipu Sultan has received the most unequivocal proofs
of the constant dispasition of the Company to acknowledge
and confirm all his just rights, and to remove every cause of jeal-
ousy which might tend (o disrupt the continnance of peace.”

‘It has always been well understood that Tipu Sultan’s resent-
ment was not to be appeased by any congiliatory advance on our
point of view by any other means than the recovery of his lost
power, the disgrace of the British arms, and the ruin of the
British interests in India. With such views it was cxpected
that he would eagerly embracc the first [avourable occasion

1, Owen’s Sclection rom Wellesley's Despatches, p. 18.
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of striking a blow againsi our possessions, and his itrigues at
the courts of Hyderabad and Pimal together with his embassy (o
Zamanshah (although merged with such a degree of caution as
ta avoid the appearances of direct acts of aggression) were suffici-
eni indication of & hostile mind.”

The Governor-General pointed out the dunger to the secu-
rity of the Company’s territories and the acts of hosiilities on the
part of Tipu Sultan. His profiessions and prinl:ilplr:ﬁ WO fl e
feint. In his judgement it was highly probable that he was
instigated by the promises and exhorlutions of the Government of
France but as the basisof a permanent Frewy faetion i India
on which the activily of the encmy miy establisde wn aviy of e
most formidable kind, either in peace or in war, The French
had considerable influcnee at the Court of the Nizam, they will
instigate the Marathas to make a junction with Tipu Sultan.
Tipu had sent his emissaries to Zamanshah asking him to invade
India. Sindhia was likely to join this coalition against the Britjsh.
He sent also a letter to the Sultan of Turkey in which he said lw:
was champion of Islam in India.

The Governor-General proposed that the DBritish and Ueir
allies the Nizam, the Poshwa and otwrs anight make s joint
declaration that their relations with Tipu should be clearly defin-
ed. He further added:

“The revival of onr allinnce, the appearance of owr armics
in the ficld, and the presence of a part of the British
squadron on the coast of Malabar, will proaliably incline

:rn to listen to the requisitions of this natwre. 1o
will soon perceive that we possess ample means of
annihilating his military force and I trust he will also
be convinced that we have no object in view beyond nur
own security and that we are really desirous of mainiain-
ing the relations ol amity and peace with him."

Settlement of Tipu’s territories

- Lord Wellesley wrote in his letter to the Directors under datg
the 3rd August, 1799
“it appeared to me, that no principle could move justly be
assumed, than that the original objects of the war
should constitute the basis of the peace, and eof the
general settlement of our territorial acquisitions, These
objects had been repeatedly declared by the allies to
be & reasonable indemnification of our expense in the
war, and an adequate sccurity against the return of
danger, which originally proveked us to arms.".

“With a view", he continues, “to each of these just and
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necessary objeels it was requisite that the Company, and
the Nizam, should retaina large partion of the con-
quered territory; but it required much consideration to
determine the precise extent of that portion, as well as
the just rule of partition. "The war had been under-
taken in the pursnit of schemes of eanquest, extension of
wrritory, or augmentation of revenue.  In praportion
to the magnitnde and lustre of our suceess, it became
i move urgent duty to remember, that a peace, founded
In the gralifeation of any ambitious or inordinate
view, {::mlrl ueither he advantagrous, honourahble, nor
seenre,' ’

e umn'uv::d policy, interests aml honour, of the British
Nution, requived that the settlernent of the extensive
Kingdom subjected to our disposal, should he formed
on prineiples aceepiable o the inhabitants of the eon-
gqueved Lervitories; just and conciliatory towards the
eontiguous  native States; and  indulgent to every
party, in mry degree affected by the consequences of our
success.”

*“T'o have divided the whole tervitory equally between the
Company and the Nizam, to the exclusion of any other
State, would have afforded strong grounds of jealousy
to the Marathas, and aggrandized Nizam’s ally's
power beyond all bounds of discretion. Under what-
vver form such a paveition could have been made, it
must huwve placed in the hands of the Nizam  many of
the strong fortresses on the northern [rontiers of
Mysore, and exposed our [rontier, in that quarter; to
every predatory incursion. Such a partition would have
laid the foundation of perpetual differences, not only
hetween Marathas and the Nizam, but between the
Coampany and both those powers.”

“To have divided the country inte’ three equal portions;
allowing the Marvathas (whe had borne no part in the
cxpense or hazard of the war} an cqual share with the
other two Dhranches of the triple alliance, in the advant-
ages of the peace, would have been unjust towards the
Nizam, and towards the Company impolitic, as fur-
nishing an evil example to our other allies.in India;
and dangerous, as cffecting a considerable aggrandize-
ment of the Maratha Bmpire, at the expense of the
Company and the Nizam. This mode of partition also
must have placed Chittledroog, and some of the most
important northern fortresscs, in  the: hands of the
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Marathas; while the remainder of the fortresses, in the
same I'ne, would have been oceupied by the Nizam;
and our unfortified and open (rontier in Mysore would
have been exposed to the excesses of the undisciplined
troops of I:.::—:E powers,”

«The Murathas, unquestionably, had no claim to any por-
tion of the conquered tervitory; and any consideralile
extension of Lheir ciapive was objectionnble, especially
when accompanicd by the possession of strong lortres-
ses bordering on the line o our frontier. It was, how-
ever, desirable to conciliate their goodwill, and to
offer to them such a portion of tervitory as might give
them an interest in the new settlement, without offence
or injury to the Nigam, and without danger to the
frontier of the Company's possessions, On the other
hand, it was prudent to limit the territory refrined in
the hands of the Company and of the Nizam within
such bounds of moderation as should bear a due pro-
portion to their respestive cxpinses in the contest, and °
tn the necessary means of securing the future safoty of
their respective dominions,”

The Governor-General was of the opinion that an equal
distribution of the territories between the 1lires parties, the Eng-
lish, the Nizam and the Marathas would not be a just and fair
settlement for the Marathas had no claim to any portion of the

uered tervitories and any considerable estension of their
empirc was ohjectionable especially when accompanivd by the
cession of foriress on the ling of the British frontier, It was there-
fore decided 1o conciliate cheir goodwill and offer to them such
a portion of territory as might give them an interest in the new
scitlement without offence or injury to the Nizam and withont
danger to the frontier of the Company's possession.

The settlement was as follows ;

1. The district of Canara, including all the sea-coast of
Mysore and the Provinces immediately contiguous tn the pos-
sessions of the Company on the coast of Malabar, and the Carn-
atic were assigned to the English, to which were added the foris
and the head of the into Mysore, and the fortress island
of Srirangapatam which was d!:ﬁ‘mt[{! cssential to secure the pos-
;::f“:ul;l ol the Company on the coast of Coromande! and that of

alabar,

2. The districts of Goorum Kondah, Gooty and others con-
tiguous to his dominions were given to the Nizam and though he
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had no claim to a share in the advantages of the scltloment ex-
cepting in proportion to the expenses and exertions during the
war.

3. As regards the shave of the Marathas Lord Wellesley
decided that it should De an amount which did not exeeed in
value two-thirds or was Liclow one-hall of the portion allotted 10
the Company and the Nizam and this share included Soondah,
Anagondi and other districts contignous to the Peshwa's posses-
siong.  As (he Goverinnend of Poona had twken no share in the
war Lord Wellesley decided thar the awsignment  of terriory
should lornt the hasis of & new treaty with them,t

In whose hands was the new Government of Mysore to be
pluced T No purty had o positive right or title w the throne
and the Governov-General judged it expedient that the choice
should he made between the family of Tipu Sultan and the
ancient Hindu fumily of Mysore.

The Governor-General atonce ruled out Tipu's family for
an heir of Tipn Sultan will he disloyal and will try to subvert
the settlement, Wiy such a price no true alliance could bhe
made and there was nothing to prevent him {rom cherishing an
irreconcilalle  hatred  towards the English, On the other
hand, the lineal descendant of the old Ilindua voyal Gamily, oppres-
sed and degraded by Tipu will have every reason to he grateful
to the British.  He will have no friendly dealings with the French
and his installatinn will lead 1o the stabilily oF the new settlement
in all its parts, This young Prince was Krishna Raj Wodiyar,
The Governor-General added :

“In the place of that power would e substituted one whose
interests and resources might be absolurely identified
with ot own, and the kingdom of Mysare, so long the
source of calamity and alarm to the Carnatic might
hecome a new barrier of our defence, and might supply
fresh means of wealth and strength to the Company,
their subjects and allics,

“In the additions to these motives of policy, moral consi-
deriation and sentiments of generosity and humanity,
favoured the restoration of the aneient family of Mysare.
Their high hirth, the antiquity of their legitimate title
and their long and unmerited sufferings, rendered them
popular ohjecis of compassion and respect; nor could it

. The Peshwa's share included Harponelly, the district ol
Chirtaldurg, part of Bednore above the Ghats and other

districts—Despatches, p. 137,
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ba doulsted that their government would be both non-
acceptable and more indulgent than that of the Muham-
medan usurpers, to the mass of the inhabitats of the
country, composed almost entirely of Hindus."”

A Commission was appointed to earry out the seitlement.
It aeted under (he orders ol the Governor-General.  'Theip s
net was to make provision for the principal surviving ollieers
chiclz of the Jate Sulian and for ihe familics of 1hose who were
slain in the war,  This measure producod o good  effect on the
chicF Mislim lfunilies in Mysore and plaeed (et elenumey sl
generosily of the British Government in the mest conspicuous
and honourable light, Mir Qaunaruddin was sent to Gurrnn-
conda where he was o sortle with a Jagie from the Nizam. The
Brahman Poorniah, the Chicf Finaneier of the late Sullan, was
apoointed Dewan of the young Ryja of Mysore, The families
ol Tipu and his sons were gent (o reside in the fort of Vellore,

A new treaty was made with the Raja,

The Governor-Guneral wrote to the Direclors ;

“But the sueress of your arms in the shoct period ol the
late campaign has not merely excluded the French
from Mysore, provided an ample indemnity to you and

ur ally for the charges of the war, destroyed the
Eg!tﬂl‘. power of Tipu Sultan and effectually preclud-
ed its revival, but has transferved the sword of vour
implacable enemy into your own hands and turned
to your use the main springs of his wealih and
strengih.™

Character of Tipu

The lear with which the English regarded Tipu is the mea-
sure of his greatness.  They dreaded him and hated him.  That
hate has found expression in the character which English histor-
ies have painted of Tipu. He has been deseribed by Kirkpat-
vick as ““the cruel and relentless cnomy ... the oppressive and
unjust ruler and whar not". “Haider”, writes Colonel Willks
“was scldom wrong and Tipu seldom right..,... ..unlimited per-
secution united in detestation of his rule every Hindu in his domi-
niond. He was barbarous where severity was vice and indulgent
where it was virtue,  IF he had qualities fitted for Empire they
were strangely equivecal”, the disqualifications were obvious and
unquestionable, and the decision of history will not be fw remo-
ved from the ebservation almost proverbial in Mysore <that Haider
was born to create un Empire, Tipu to losc one'. Others lesy
partial have however left a favourable impression of his character
and administration. ‘His country,” wrote Major Dirom, “was
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fonmd  everywhoe full of mhabitants, and apparently cultiva-
ted o the utmod exiont of which the soil was capable; while
the discipline and fidelity of his troops in the ficld, until their
List overthrow, were testimonies equally strong of the excel-
et regulations which existed in his army,  His Government
though siriet and arbiteary, was despotism of a  polite and
able soversign.'  Awotlor militiry office: Lt Moore has ronark-
el Swlen ao pesy teswvelling Chesughe o strnge eonulry, finds
it well eultivided, populons with indusivions, cities newly ound-
ed, cotnerce extending, towns ineeeasdng, and  everything  Gour-
ishing s as 1o ulicote happiness, he will ke 10 (o e under o form
ol goverimend congenial to e minds ol the people. Thisis a
picture of "Tipn's conntey, and this I onr eonclosion respecting
its Grovernment.”  Tipu therelre was not the barharous and eruel
fmatic asdepietod I};z' Iis ewemndes, e was an industrious ruler,
holding the strings ol administvation fn his ands and giving detail-
vel instractions 1o his olfices, ©As a domestic raler, wiote Mill,
hie sustadns an advantageons coonpavisan with (he greatest princes
ul the Fast,” e was pot ervel by nutuce, s cruelties had a
policy behind them.  He was ceuel 1o his enemies, in order to
st an example 1o others. A devout Muslim by religion, he gave
grants to Hindu temples and employed the Hindos in vespousible
offices of the suue,  Nothing eould reconeile him to the English
speainst whom he Fought throughont and  oventually lost his life
il kingdom,  He showed a lack of judgment in throwing his
lot with the French from the, Tsle of Frianee could never be of any
use 10 him. How fur he acivally velied upon their support, how far
his negotiation were merely designed (o keep the English on the
right side, is difficult to determine.  But it is impossible to belicve
that he [ailed in diseern that France eould not be of much use to
hitm on the ficlds of Mysore, Anyway his French leanings were
made the cause of war and he died a murtye fighting for the in-
dependence of hiy country. '

The conquest of Mysore and the treatics with the Nizam
completely changed the bulance of power. Tipu’s death removed
an inveterate foe of the British, while the annexations gave them
complete command over the sca-coast of the peninsula diminish-
ing the little danger that existed of French intrigue. The only
power that romained was that of the Marathas,  Before we turn to
them and the war, Wellesley's dealings with the little princelings
of the Carnatie, Tanjore and Oudh may be mnw.nicutg' disposed
of.

Carnatic

Among LLe papers of Srirangapatam, Tipu's capital, were dis-
voversd cortain documents whi:‘i went to show that the Nawab
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of the Carnatic was in sceret correspondence with “Tipu against
the British. These papers were used Woellesley as ample
justification lor interfering in the affairs of the Curnatic. Those
were [ar from satisfactory. The subsidy was in arreavs, the Nawab
was heavily in debt to English gentlemen and the administration
in & state of chaos. W:li-.sluy mended all this b‘{: entling the
Nawab's rule. He declared that the Nawal had broken the treaty
and had forfeited his theone,  Fappily for the Nawab, death saved
him from the indignity that Wellesley had planned for him,  “The
Nawab Omdut-ul-Unrah dicd in July 1801, Hisson Ali Husain
suceeeded him,  Woellisley pressed him to surrender the civil and
military adminiaration of the Carnatie tn the Dritish, Al
Husain refused demanding prool of the Caithlessness which his Guher
was charged. Finding that difficalt Wellesley negotiaied with
Azim-ud-dowlah, the nephew of the Jate Nawab, and in return
[ov the title and a pension secured from him an ageeement by
which the ejvil and military government of the Carnatie passe
into British hands. The arrangement, while heneficial to the
Faglish, was neither honest nor legal,  Azim-ud-dowlah had no
right to give away what did not belong ta him. The faithlessness
with which the English charged the late Nawab and used it as
a pretext against hiv son could nat he established.  Itds no longer
a matter of controversy that the papers found at Srirangapatam
did not prove any treachery on the part of the Nawab of the Car-
natic, Torrensan, admirer of Wellesley, has been constrained
to remark that ‘no prool of political perfidy seems to have been
gleamed [rom the mass of rubbish found at Srirangapatam’. The
fact is that with the removal of Tipu, the policy of keeping the
Carnatic as a buffer between Madras and Mysore wasno longer
necessary, The administration ol the Nawab which Tuy long had
breome a sham could now e scrapped, and the letters were used
as a pretext, Nothing could have prevented Wellesley from
uEeniy taking over thc administration. What is not undersiand-
able are the attempts at justilying the measure—attempts which
are both inconsistent and unsound. In the same way the rulers
of Tanjore and Surat were deprived of their administrations in
rntum{‘nr titles and pensions. That the proceedings were cha-
racteriscd by highhandedness and injustice neither troubled Well-
esley nor the authorilies in England. As long as the British

wer increased everything was just.  That was the principle on
which Wellesley acted throughout.

Relations with Dudh

A woll will always find a pretext for devouring the lamb.
In the cuse of Oudh mal-administration was the pretext for
Wellesley's interference.  We have already scen the relations of
the Company with the State of Oudh till the time ol Cornwallis.
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Asaf-ud-dowlali died in 1797, The succession was disputed hei-
ween Wazie Ali also called Mirza Ali whom the late Nawab
had regarded as his son and successor and Saadat Ali the late
Nawab's eldest brother who lived on a pension at Banares. Sir
Julu Shore, the Governor-General, saw his chance of using the
dispute as a means of advancing the interests of the English. In
fact it was the British habit of recognising and supporting that
eundidate who promiscd the most that invariably created trouble.
Shore recognaised Sandat All who was raised 1o the throne by Iiw
in Junuavy 1798, IIis teibute was raised to Ry, 76 lakhs and the
fort of Allahabad was handed over to the Company, Thetreaty
ilso provided that the Nuwab would not commmunicate with any
forcign power or admit Europeans without the Company’s por-
wission. Fiully the Nuwab agreed to pay twelve lakhs of
rupees 1o the English for raising him to the Masnad. In the terms
1;5' th-;. treaty we find the reason why Sandat Ali was made
awaly,

Wellesley’s attention was attiacted carly towards Qudh, His
policy was guided by stratigic and financial considerations. He
aimed at cncircling the Nawab-Wazir with British dominions
50 that he could not contact cither the Afghans or the Marathas.
at making (he subsidiary force independmit of the Wazir by an-
nexing tercitovy, and listly at veducing the Nawab's militayy
sirength iy clisturbing his toops, As he could not charge the
Nawab with treachery, he used mal-adminisiration and the rum-
our of Zaman Shal's invasion asa pretext for carrying out his
policy. Zaman was the ruler of Afghanistan who was credited
with the intention of invading India. The Nawab resisted but
in vain. Wellesley ordered troops from Cawnpore and Allahabad
to march upon Lucknow. The Nawal was powerless to resist;
he gave way and a treaty was forced upon him in November
1801 by which he was compelled to cede half of his dominions
comprising Rohilkhand and the Lower Doab, that is the land
lying between the Ganges and the Jumna, The number of British
troops was increased, while those of the Nawah were reduced and
lastly he agreed (0 improve the administration and abide by the
advice of the British Resident, That the arrangement was highly
beneficial to the Company is undoubted. It isolated the Nawab,
reduced the military power, increased British territory and re-
gources, That it was R’?ghhamlcd and unjust is equally undoulit-
ed. The cluims of justice had always sat lightly on the English
Governor-General, Having sccured his object Wellesley left the
administration in the state in which he found ir, satisfied by the
assurance of the Nawab 1o improve it. The dealings with Oudh
were severely criticised by the Court of Directors but the Board
1|:::I.!' {l-:rnlxtml restrained ‘them [rom demanding Wellesley's with-

rawal.
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Lord Wellessley before 1aking actinn made onl a strong case
sgainst the Nawab,  In his letter dated 9ih Felroary, 1800 Le
wrote ¢

“Your Excellency, since my arrival in India, has repeatedly
complained of the ruinous condition of your interal governments,
and carnestly solicited my direct interference, as heing indisput-
ably necessary for the pur of effecting a complete reform in
your affuirs, and especially in your military establishments.

WYou have reeestly declaved to Lientenan-Colonel Sentt, tha
thix same plan for the reform ol your militsy establishiment never,
in any measure, met with your approbation or acceplance, or was
deemed expedient by you',

“] buecame sarisfied that it was absolulely neccessary to com-
menee with that veform of your Bxcelleney’s military  forcus,
which your Exeellency had declared ta be indispensable. T waa
originally led to this conclusion by a rveview of 1he correspond-
enee and negotiations which had passed between your Exm:ﬁnnm,r
and Mr. Lumsden in consequence ol theadvance of Zeman Shah
to Lahove, towards the end of 1798; axel T was further canfipmed
in my opinion by a retrospect of the events which had followed
the rebellion and Hight of Vizier AlL

“Your Excellency when consulted by Siv  James Craig and
Mr, Lumsden on the measures ol defince to be adopted against
the threatened invasion of Zeman Shah, declared that o con-
fidence was to he placed in your troops’ and you not only avewed
your military force to be inadequate to contribute any assist-
ance towards (he defince of your dominions, It required the
presence of part of the British army within your capitul for the
cxpress purpose of protecting person and authority against the
cxcesses of your own disaffected and disorderly troops; in the same
moment whon the services of the whole ofthe British aviny were
most urgently demanded upon your Excelleney’s fronticr to resist
the approach of Zeman Shah, Hitherto, however, the fdelity
and utility of your Excellency’s troops had been distrusted prin-
cipally on grounds suggested by their repeated contumacy and
disobedience., That they weore actually capable of betraying the
interests of your Excellency in a crisis of positive danger, was
subsequently proved beyond a possibility of doubt by their
gﬁuihcmus conduct during the commotions excited by Vizier

The Nawab himsclfadmitted in his letters the need [or re-
form and when the Governor-General’s plan was laid before him

and approved and then he did not lesitate to assert that tho
plan had never in any measure, mol with his approbation or
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acceptance or beon deamed expedient by him,  "T'he Governor-
General psgerted the Company’s riglht to pugment heir lorees
within the Nawab’s dominions to whatever extent they were
neeessary for the permanent sccurity ol Uiy commmon interests,
He veminded the Nuwab that he was Dhound by 7th Avticle on
the "U'reaty concluded | between him and Sir Jolm Shore to defray
the expense of any (oree which the British Government considered
necessary for the effeetind protection of bis dominions.  “Ihe
vight of the Dritish Govermnent (o make sucli an augmentution
even against the Nawab's consent inthe event of an invasion of
his dominions or of' any sudden wlivm of domestic or foreign
wae, had never bheen disputed by him,

Thy Nawab offered to ahdisate and when he was asked not
1o do so e changed his mind,  “The Govermnor-General was con-
vingod that lie nover hind any Dittention to do so.  He veally Celt
that the Nawali's motive was to delay the relorm of the military
estalilishment,

The Nawab was churged with impeding the progress ol Brit-
islt troops, by cxposing them to difficultics in obtaning supplics
of provisions and with refusing the necessary purvanss to your
amils, "T'he Governor-General vegarded his as a sevious matter
and wrote to the Nawab ¢

“The conduct of your Excellency in both instances siated, but
more flageantly in the last, is of a nature so unequivecally
hostile, and may prove so injurious to every interest, both of your
Lxcellency and of the Company, that your persevernnce in o
dangerous a course, will leave no other aliernative than that of
considering all amicable engagernents between the Company and
your Excellency tobe dissolved, and of regulating my subse-
quent proceedings accordingly. 1 am, however, always inclined
to hope that your Excellency may have been inadwvertently be-
irayed into these imprudent and unjustifiable measuves by the
insidious suggestions of cvil councillors, and being ever averse
to construe your Excellency's actions insuch a manner as must
compel me to regard and to treat you as a lPri:m: no longer
connected with the Company, by the ties of amity and ofa
common interest; [ trust that my next accounts from Lieutcnant-
Colonel Scolt, may enable me to view your Excellency’s conduect
in a more favourable Light, but lest my wishes inthis respect
should be disappointed, it is my duty (o warn your Exccllency
in the most unreserved terms, that your Excellency alone will
be responsible for all the evils which cannol fail o result from
any further persevercnce in the fatal and imprudent course of
meagures which you have recently pursued. I also think it
necessary not to J::Iay for a moment whaiever further steps may
be pointed out to you by Lisutenant-Colomel Scolt, as necessary
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to effect the two urgent and indispensable objects: namely, the
reform of your military establishment, and  the provision of
funds for the regular monthly payment of all the Company's
troops in Oude,

5, e DUt circumstances well known to you, have hitherto
prevented us from exceuting all dictates of my duty with respect
to that distressed country, and have compelled me o limit my
efforts Lo a partial reform of his  Excelloncy's military  estalilishe
ments; providing for the seonrity of his Excellency’s dominions
and government to the extent of [urnishing an efficient and
vespectable foree for their defince and support, and of commenc-
ing a proportionate reduction in his  Excellency’s military
‘establishments,

U1t was always cvident that thesc precautions must prove
[ruitless if the defeets in the civil administration of Oude should
be suffered progressively to impair the fundamental resources
of the State, The continuance of the present system for a long
period of time will not only render his Emelcncy unable Lo
discharge the subsidy on account of the additional troops, but
will exhaust the resources ol the country to such a degree as to
preclude the possibility ol realizing the former subsidy.

*“The causes ol this incrcasing defluleation ol revenue arc
manifest, and daily acquire new strength. Had the tervitorics of
Qudebeen subject to the frequent or occasional devastations of
an enemy, had they been visited by unfavourable seasons, or by
other calamities which impair the public prosperity, the rapid
decling of the Vizier’s revenues might be imputed to other causes
than a defective administration; but no such calamitous visita-
tions have aflicted the Province of Oude, while, in consequence
of the protection which it derives from the presence of the %riiiah
forces, it has been maintained, together with all the Company’s
possessions on this side of India in the uninterrupted enjoyment
of peace. A defeetive administration of the Gevernment is, there-
fore, the only cause which can have produced so marked a diffe-
venee between the state of his Exeelleney’s dominions and tha
ol the contiguous tervitories of the Company. While the terri-
tories of the Company have been advancing progressively during
the last ten years in prosperity, population, ang. opulence, the
dominions of the Vizier, although enjoying ecqual advantages of
;rmuillily and security, have rapidly and progressively dec-
i

“The operation of these cvils has not commenced with the
government of Saadut Ali; they necessarily flow from the system
of administration which existed at the period of his Excellency’s
accession to the Musnad, DBut none of these evils have dimi-
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nished under his Exccllency’s government; on the contrary,
their daily inerease and aggravation are notorious, and must be
progressive, to the wiier ruin of the vosourees of Oudh, unless the
vicious system ol the native administration of the country he
immediately abandoned. Inplace of inveterate and growing
abuses must e substituled a wise and henevolent administration,
citlenlated to inspire the people with confidencs inthe seeurity of
woperty and lile; to encourage industry; to protect the fruits of
wnest Inbour; and 1o establish order and submission 1o (e just
authovity of the State, on i solid ondations of geativatle for
henelite receiveed, and expeetation of eontinunl seeurity,

T Tus Vigier st uey e prepoeed Doy the netive and decidod
interlirence of the Deidsly Governnent in the aflaivs of lis conn-
iry.  IMis Bxecllmey has vepratedly complained to me, and (o the
Bivitisl Resicent we hiv Court, of the rwinons candition ol the
internal eondivion ol Oudhy he has vepeatedly and carmstly solivi
ted my direel intedforonee, and Tus declared sucl interference to
In: indispensably negussary for the purpose of effecting a complete
relorm in hig affivrs.  In the month of November, 1799, his Excel-
lemey was so convinged ol the ineuralile diefects of lis government
aned of Big ownowtter inabilicy to administer it that he signified to
me, i the most formal monner his deliberate dererminarion lo
deseend from the Musnud, and to return into private life. He
solemnly avowed (ot in 4 mowent ol temporary anxiety and
wvexation, It after the most deliberste rellection) <Uiat his mind
was titterly withdrawn from the governmenr of a people who were
neither pleased with him nor he with them, and with whose evil
dispositions, enmity, disohedience, and negligenee he was com-
pletely disgusied.  This resolution, so deliberately adopted, was
suddenly abandoned, but the cause of so sudden a change in his
Excellency's resolution gannot, inforiunately, be tracedl to any
fmprovement in the general administration of the affairs, to any
augmentation of his meany of condueting the Government, or to
the consequent establishment af reciprocal confidence and atiche-
ment between his Bxcellenecy and his people. Could any other
fact he alleged to favour sych an interference? it would be totally

recluded by his Excellency’s recent statement of the condition of
gia revenues, and by recent and aggeavated symptoms of the most
alarming disaffection towards his person and government.

“His Excellency’s life has been lately attempted under civcum-
stances of the most formidable deseription, Active and gencral
support has been afforded by his subjects to the -impostor who
lately assumed the name of Vizier Ali; and the. acknowledged
temper of his Excellency's people, combinéd with the state of
his government, exposes his siluation every hour to increased
anxiety, embarrassment, and hazard,

18



274 India in the Eighteenth Century

“Having maturely considered these circumstances with the
attention and deliberation which the importamee ol the subject
requires, I am satisfied that no effectual security can be provided
against the ruin of the Province of Oudh, until the exclusive
management of the civil and military govermnent ol that country
shall be transferved to the Company, under suitable  provisions
for the maintenance of his Excellency and ol the fumily, No
other remedy cancflect any comsiderable improvemwnt in the
resonrees of the State, or can ultimately scoure its external sulity
and internul peace,

“[Inder this conviction, and witli 1 view o preservidion of
the common interests of the Compauy and ol tue Visier, T liwe
determined to propose to his Bxccllency a new treaty il arroge-
ment similar to that concluded in November, 1794, betweon the
Company and his Highoess the Rajab of Tanjore; mnd adse eoil-
formuble to the plan of the teew'y propoted 1o his Exeelleney by
me, in my letter of the Sth of Februaey, LK, af the period of
his Excellency’s proposed alvlicution ol the Govermment, A
copy of the treaty with the Rajal of Tanjore iy enclosed; I desive
that you will lrame from theactieles ol that treaty, and [rop
the treaty submitted to the Vigier in the month o' December,
1799, the plan of sueh an arrangoment; as, while it shall effectu-
ally secure all the political benefits described in the eighth pum-
graph of this despatch, shall also consult, as fwras iy be com-
patible with that pri abject, the inclinations jll't:i}ltd.iitt:ﬂ
of the Vizisr. Having iramud such a treaty, you will submit it
to his Excellency, and at the same Home you will enenestly exhort
him to consider the propositions contained inthe new arcinge-
ment with calm and dispassionate deliberation,

#If hiz Vxeellency should manifest a disposition to adopt the
general frame of the propesed arrangement, but should appenr
desirous of introducing any particular modifications into the pro-
:imm‘l treaty, you will receive whatever propositions his Txecl-
ency may offer for that purpose, and you will communicate them
1o me without delay; adding such observations as may occur to
you for my further information.

“Cn the other hand, il his Excellency should unfortunately
be persuaded by the interested councils of evil advisers absolutely
to reject the proposed treaty, you will then proceed to inform
his Excellency in firm, but respectful language, that the funds for
the regular payment of the a&&id}r to the full extent of the aug-
mented force must be placed, without a moment of delay, beyond
the hazard of failure. '

“For this purpose you will require his Excellency to make
4 cession to the Company in perpelual sovereipnty of such a



The Supremacy ol the British Power 275

portion of his territorics as shall be fully adequate, in their pre-
sent impoverished condition, 1o delray thosc indispensable charges.
This cession must e frumed upon the same principle which
has iormed the basis of the late treaty between his Highness
e Soubahdiwr ol the Decean and the Company, by which
his Flighness has ceded to the Company in [l sovereigniy, a
country med ot the oomal revenne of sixty-two lakhs of rupees
in econimutition for a subsidy ol nhout forty lakhs of rupees,

“Witl respect to the eomuries 1o be erded, itis sulliciently
evident thit e other portion of the Viziers dominions posses-
wes o muany political advantigres nx wonld be derived to the
Company [rom the possession of the Doab. The cession of that
provinge, inclwling the trilnite from  Farcukhabed, must there-
fore be requived in the first Instance, In selocting the other
districts which may be necessary (wftey deducting the charges of
colleetion) to complete the amount of the angmented subsidy, it
will be advisable to regulnte the domsnd in such 2 manner as
shall place the Vizier bheyond the reach ol loreign  connections
and loreign dangers, For this purpose the new possessions of
the Company should he so arranged as to surround  whatever
territory may romain to his Bxeellency.  With this view, the
country to be veguired, in addition te the Doaly, must be Rohil-
vund, The cession of these two provinees may be made with
less violenee 1o the pride and projudices of the Vigier, inasmuch
as they were actually added 1o ihe posscssions of his [amily by
the British arms. In this respect the arrangement proposecd to
the Vizier is similar to that concluded w&lz: the Nizam., The
greater part of the eonntrics ceded to the Company by the Nizam
having been originally acquired from the power of Mysore by the
assistance of the Comnpany,

“Ifthe present produce of these two provincey, after deduct-
ing the charges of eollection, should be deemed unequal to the
amount of subsidy to be defrayed, the deficiency must be sought
in the eountries bordering on the district of _]Yunnpum‘; and for
this Imﬁpos-.: cither Azimghur or Goruekpoor, or both, must be
required.

“Under such an arrangement, the territorries which would
remain to the Vizier would probably be sufficiently vrotected
by the position which the Company’s troops would necessarily
occupy for the defence of the ceded countries; and no division
of military force would be required forthe express purpose of
protecting the Vizier's territory, The continuance, however, of
a regiment of native infantry at Lucknow might be expedient as
a protection to the person of the Vizier, and a security foithe™
peace of the City. If any time the state ol hif Excellency's



276 India in the Eighteenth Century

rcmninixglm'rimriﬂﬂ should require the presence of any purt of
the British foree; you would be empowered (o issue the reguisiie
orders for that pruposc.’

The Governor-General felt strongly that under il new
treaty the Britislh Government would heeome the instrann of
restoving to aflluence and prospority one of (he most feetile
rogions ol the globe, new rednecd 100 a comdition: of tee o
alllicting misery und desolation by the deprave d aduiuistriion off
the native govermnent of Oude,

Lord Wellesley stated Giether that the autlgwity of the Nawab
was sustained with the help of the Company’s goverment and
the misgovernment of the rervitories of the Nowah damaged the
prestige and tarnished the fair wme of the Brivish, Al that (e
Governor-General did was Inr the gond nmne of the British nation
and in the interest of the people whose wellie was adversely
affected by the authority ol the Nawaly,

The Governor-General concluded his lewer to the Directors
with these words :

“Your hemourabile Committer will, therofore, decn it nat-
ural, that, having [requently been moduced to the main-
tenance of & system of so disgraceful in its principles
and ruinous in ity effects. T slwubl el o congidee-
able degree ol gaisfaction fn substituting lor such
an administration, the salutary influenee of these regula-
tions and laws, of which I have eocontly  witnessed
and admived ithe practical wisdom and extensive
benevolence,”#

Wellesley and the Marathas

With Hyderabad, Mysore and Lucknow hooked into the
subsidiary system Wellesley turned his attention towards the
Marathas. *To fix the peace of India on foundations of the
urmost stability, and to preclude the intrusion of the Vrench, it
is only necessary that the British Government should draw the
Maratha power under its protection.” Such were the views of
Wellesley in 1803 on which he acted and which culminated in
the ’I:rcntiuf Bassein and the Sccond Maratha War, The desire
to bring the Marathas under British protection was synonymous
with the desire to extend British dominion over that part of
India which had so long defied British diplomacy as well as
British bayonets. The war of France which looms large as the
mainspring of Wellesley's policy was a smoke-screen designed to

*Owen, Wellesley's Despatchics, pp. 274-76
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silence his eritics by playing upon their nervousness regarding
Freneh imentions.  The Governor-General’s  beother Arthur had
nn such lear of France ane wis of opinion that even if il Freneh
daved to fund, they would be inaedintely eut, being far removed
from their huse, The evacuntion of Bgypt by the French and
the well-kuown fuet ol their naval weakness further reduced any
clangger from that quarier.

Ther Buer v thae the confused stie of Mumthn wffiics
following the death of Nann Faduis seenned 1o offer an oppor-
vty for Deitish expansion whichh Wellesley was bl to Jeave
wivseel, TPl Freneli-pliohin of the thues served s a2 ready
exeuse to colonr Iis fmperialism as pucely delensive,

I'he vwernny vears that hae dlapsed between the Treaty of Sal-

Lk (1782) aned the beginning of the Second Martha War in 1803
el seen vast chungges inthe political condition of the English
ag well as the Marathus,  The English had hnmensdy  increased
their political strengily s were within striking distanee of the
Murathas,  The Maratha canfi deracy had in the meantime lost
evenr that logse eoliesion wliel it was the aelievement of Nana
Fiulnis 1o have maintained sgainst the disroptive and sellish
intevests of the Maraha elitefs. The year 1795 was the Lust occasion
when all the Maratha honses had combined under the headship
of -l Peshwi aggiinst the Niza at the battle of Kharda, The
Bautthes weus o persenal Gebwnph of Nanw whose prestige was -
miensely Dnevensed o e chiagerin of the othee Maratha eonfeder-
ates, namely the Smdhia, Holkar and Bhonsle. The rise of 4 Naua
Fadnis from the position of o minister to that of the head of the
Maratha Empirve was the symplom of u fatal disease. The Nana
held the Peshwa in surveillance, reducing him to the position of a
nominal landlord. This prodiced a two-sided reaction which
proved fatal to the Maratha confederacy. It produced a desire in
the Peshwa to (vee himsell from the thraldom of Nana, and on the
other hund emboldencd ambitious spirits like Sindhia and Hol-
kar to subjugate the Peshwa for their own enids by ousting Nana
from power. The young Peshwin Madho Rao Narayan fret-
ting under the tntelage of Nana whe would not eyven permil him to
assoviate with his cousin Baji Rao, the son of the infamous
Raghoba, committed suicide in October, 1793, A scramble for
power rnsued between Nana Fadnis and Daulat Reo Sindhia, the
adopted son of Mahadji Sindhia. In the end Nana emerged trium-
hant with Baji Rao II, son of Raghoba as the Peshwa. But Baji
E.an was a treacherous, ungrateful, intriguing man who plotted
for the removal of Nana, To counteract the influence of the
latter he turned to Daulat Rao Sindhia who saw in these machi-
nations an opportunity of ousting from power hiz great rival,
Nana was arrested and confined, Baji Rao soon discovered that
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the removal of Nana only meant a change of masters and he
began 10 plot against Sindhia,  Plots and counterplots mude
confusion worse confounded Ly the struggles of Daulat Rao
Sindhin and the widows of Maliwdaji on the one hand and Juswant
Rao Holkar oo the other,  Jaswant Rao and Daolat Ran were
bitter enemics of encli other and while Daalio Rao was at Pon,
Jnswant Roo was plundering his twerritories in Mulwa, “The
appenrance of Jaswant Rao in Malwa led to an indneere paiching
up ol the difsreses Betwesn the Poshwi and (e Sinedlida
and the re-nppeacanee of N whoon Sindhin ranght back
to power as @ eheck upon the imbeeile Baji Rao who was intrvign-
i with the Nizam,

It wis in this state of allaivs that the Maratha politics lost
the guiding hand of Nana Iednis who died in March, 1800,
Grant Duff who has written a comprehensive history of the Mar-
athos d-serilies him as a great statesman and Colonel Palier,
the British Resident wrote that ‘with him departed all the wis-
dom and moderation of the Maratha Government'. This is no
place to assess the credit and debit side of Nana's achievements.
In a way he was great for he controlled Maratha politics  for
full thirty-eight vears, But his actions were nnot always guided
by the intovesis of the nation and history will record this as one of
the causes of the fall of the Muratha Empire,

Nana's death accelerated the trinngular struggle for the
upper hand at Poona between Daunlir Ran Sindhin, Jaswant Rao
Holkar and Baji Rao IT the Peshwa, A truce between Daji
Rao and Daulut Bao was effected by whicl the former promised
aid against Jaswant Rao while the latter agreed to assist the
Peshwa in his policy of simplacable revonge’ against the friends
of the dead Nana. While Sindhia was away fighting the [orees of
Holkar in Malwa, Baji Rao took it into his head to exterminate
all those who had been the political opponents of himself and his
father. He callously murdered Vithuji Holkar, brother of Jas-
want Rao, which brought the latter to Poona to avenge his brothers
Murderers. He defeated the forces of Peshwa and Sindhia in Octo-
ber, 1802 and entered Poona. The Peshwa fled and at last found
refuge at Bassein where the English weee glad to receive him, The
Peshwa, a fugitive in despevate straits, agreed 1o enter into the
subsidiary system and the Treaty of Basscin was concluded in
December, 1802, Wellesley had been trying lor sometime to
bring the Marathas into the subsidiary system but his offers of
help and mediation had so long been spurned, Now an evil fate
placed the formal head of the Maratha confederacy into his hands
and he determined to make the best use of his opportunity.
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Terms of the treaty

The treaty was declared to be for the purpose of general
eefensive allinnee and reeiprocal protection ol the tervitories of
the Peshwa and the English East Indin Company and their allics
vespectivily.  For this purpese n subsidiary force of not less
thitn G000 regulae infantey with the wsual pm{mrliun of ficld-
artillery and FEuropean artillevy-inen wore 1o be permanently
stitlonedd i the Pesliwa's dowinions,  No Hwepean of any
pativ listile (o the Eaglish was  to be entertained by the
Peshwa,  Distvicis yickding 26 lakhs of ropees were assigned for
the poymeg af the subsicdiary Toree, and all articles interded for
the consnuption ul these troops were (o be allowed to pass duty
Preny ‘Uhis Peshwa Pelinguoishiod his elaims on Sueat and sub-
mitted o Beinishe avbitearion de adjusonene of his difforences with
antl elaiis on the Nisam and the Gaikwar,  The Peshws like-
wise houned Bimseld v emgage in no hostiliges with other Stales,
neither 0 eommnenes nor puesie o fetuare any  wegotistons with
uny power  whatever without  previous consultation with the
Eh'jlidl CGrovernent, The Peshwa by the treaty slipped indo the
positinn of @ subordinete at the price of protection,  The formal
implieations of the treaty were momentus,  The Peslwa was (the
Ll of the Mavathas and Wakil-ul-Mutlag or Viceregent of tlie
Mughal Pmperor. His subordination meant the subovdination
nl'the whole of Hindustan,  Uhe Bmperor Shah Alam like the
Pussliwar was another [eaee head, o caplive in the  palace, in the
hands ol Sindhin who in theory wias the Peshwa’s dapuly in
Ilindusiun, It is in this theoretical aspeet that the treaty has
heen deseribed ax bringing 1o the English the Empive of India.
That Empire in [act wes gained not Dy the treaty but by the
sword, The treaty only clothed the sword with an air of legality
and placed the English in more favourable circumstances than
they would have Leen without ft, Arthur Wellesley justly charae-
torised it as & *“Treaty with o ciphor' and supported it on the
ground that it ensurcd the exclusion of the French and the peace
of India. Strong criticism was levelled against it by the autho-
rities in England. Lord Castlereagh, ident ol the Board
ol Control attacked it as it *tended 1o involve us (the English) in
the endless and complicated distractions of the Mavatha Eanu-c'.
Mill eriticised it on the ground that it produced war. Wellesley
himself hoped for peace but with his usual thoroughness had made
full preparations for any contingency. To the Marathas the treaty
gpelt the annihilation of their independence which they were
not ready to acquicsce in without a struggle. But even in face
of the common danger they could not sink their. murual rivalries
and stand as one against the enemy. The English did their best
to prevent a coalition and while Daulat Rao Sindhia and the
Bhonsla Raja of Berar immediately closed their ranks, nothing
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could persuade Jaswaut Rao Holkar to join the allisnge., He
rotived to Malwa and watched the course ol events, When he
made his appearance, it was o late.  The Gackwar throughout
remaincd neuteal.

On the 13th May, 1803, the Peshwa escovted by British troops
under Arthur Wellesley  re-entered Poonn,  Jaswant Ruo Holkar
who was in Poona retived o Malwa and Avthure Wellesley opened
negotiations with Sindhin and Bhonsle who wore  encamping
sotth of the Narbodie  Negotitions fell tleongh and Shadhia
and Bhonsle relused to withdeaw to their territorics,  On August
3, 1803, the British Agent Coloucl Colling left Sindhin’s canp
which was the sigaal for war,

Wellesley was Tully prepaved to mneet the conlederati: forees on
all points and in their own tereitory.  The treaties with Qudh,
Nizam, Mysore, Baroda cnabled Wellesley al onee o throw  his
forees in the most vitel arena of the struggle, nancly Hindustian
and the Deccan.  So thorough were his preparations that even
the nbjeers ol the war were clearly defined in anticipation of
it, Those ohjeers were the conquest of that va:itm ol Sindhia's
dowinions which Loy hetween (e Ganges and Lhe Jumuna, inclu-
ding the eitics of Delhi ard Agra, the destruction of the French
forees, the reguisition of Bundelkhand and Broach in Gujarat.
Further e wanted to counect Madras with Bengal by acquiring
Cutteek, and lastly to secure the person of the bLlind Emperor
Shah Alam.

From the moment Colonel Collins left Sindhin's camp
events moved vapidly.  The real fighting took place In the Deccan
under Arthur Wellestey and in Hindustan, under General Loke
with simultuncous subsicliory operations in Gujarat, Bundelkhand
and Cuttack. A glance at the map will show that the sivategie
advantage lay [rom the outset with the English who wers in o
position to encircle the forees of Sindhia and Bhonsla and attack
themy on ull frontx. The Mavathos, leaving their old taclies
fought on western lines which they had not et fully inustered.
The Eurnp an officers in the service ol the Maratlns  deserted
them and passed through the English lines out of history, Their
desertion wis & great blow to the fighting strength of tle Mara-
thas for without them they were like sheep without the shepherd.

In the Deccan Ahmadnagar was captured in August by
Arthur Wellesicy and in September the combined forces of Sindhia
and Bhonsle were defeated at Assaye. The Bhonsla Raja was
defeated again at Argaon in November and the fortress of
Gwaligarh was captured in December, 1803. News from the north
was equally distressing for the Marathas and the Bhonsle stepped
out of the struggle by making the treaty ol Deogaon in Deceniber,
1803. With it the war in the Decean virtually came to an end,
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Operations in Hindustan, simultaneoulsy carvied out, with
those of the Decean, were equally suceessiul for the English.
General Lake captwred Aligarh in August and was master of
Delli ind  her King in September. 1803. Agra fell in October
and the final battle of the war in Hindustan was fought at Las-
witrl in November where Sindhia's battalions fonght with incre-
dilile widoue,  “The fellows’, 15 Lake wrote Soughe Tike devils or
rather hierors,  Peay God I ouy never be in suely a situation
apgain,’ O Deewmber 30th the "Treaty of Sugji Arjungaon with
Sincthin brought the war 1o an el

The tremties of Deogmon and Surji Arjungaon with Bhonsle
anel Sindhin considernbly inervenscd the powor of the Euglish,
By the foemer e Bhonsla Raja agreeed ro reecive a Dritish
Resident ar Nagpur, to entertain no subjects of any country at
war with (he English,  He gave up all his claims against the
Niwuwm nned ceded Cuttack and all tereitories west of the river
Wardlia.  Hue however did not aceept a subsidiary (oree and the
English dicl not press him,  Sindhia, in turn nrd}:-.d all his terri-
torivy between the Ganges and Lhe Jamung, relinguished his
rights over Heoach and all land novth of Jaipwy, Jodhpur and
Golied.  He lorther agreed not to enteetain (he subjectsof a
eountry ot wae with English; agreed o recogaise dhe rights of the
Rajput Chivts whom Lake had won over to his side and 1o reerive
a British Residey it his Court. By a separate treaty in Febroary
L entered into a defensive allianee with the English, Beth the
Blhiousla Raja and Sindlia recognised 1he Treaty of Bessvin

The advantages geined by the English by the war and the
treatics were lmmense. They emerged with expanded domi-
nions and became the supreme power in India, controlling the
aciions of all great Indian States,

War with Holkar

THolkar alone now remained rutside the pale of the subsidiary
system, Negntiations with him proved of no avail and war was
declared in April, 1804 on his ravaging the territories of the Raja
of Jaipur, an ally of the English. Three armies converged upon
him, Lake from Hindustan, Arthur Wellesley from the Deccan and
Colonel Monson from Gujarat, But before they could join, Holkar
fell upon Colonel Monzon in the Mukunddwaara Pass and obliged
him to bear a disorderly retreat towards Agra. Monson’s defeat
put new hopes into - Sindhia and Bhonsle, alarmed the Directors
at home who determined on the recall of their war-loving Gov-
ernor-General and embaeldencd Hollar to beseige Delhi, While
Holkar was in the north, his capital of Indore fell into the hands
of Colonel Murray. Lake's advance to the reliel of Delhi led
Holkar to abandon the siege and move down the Doab. A part
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of his army was destroyed at Dig on 13th November and he him-
sell was defeated ar Farrukhabad four days later.  Lake's failure
to capture the fort of Bharatpur whose Jat Raja, giving up the
Enclish alliance, had joined Holkar was of little help, But it deter-
mined the ministry st home to immediatcly recall Wellesley.  His
wars had inereased the Company's debit from 17 millions in 1797
to Al millions tn |806. Oun 30U July, 1805, Lord Cornwallis thaen
in his 62 yeur landed at Caleutta, and the forward policy off
Wellesley came to anend. It has been generally held thae the
reversal of Willesley's policy was & nistuke, that Holkar was in
mensurable distance of extinetion and what Fastings aecoomplished
some years luter was within sight of achievement when Cornwallis
landed with instructions to reverse Wellesley's poliey, It is no
funstion Af history to enter into realms of might have heens, It
is clear that men in awhority in England viewed with growing
alarm the endless wars of Wellesley, The fallure of Lake before
Bharatpur and Monson's disorderly retreat had shattercd the
fiction of British imvincibility, There were growing sigis of
Sindhia’s uneasiness and what was fcaved was the resurrcction of
the Mayatha c-::-nl‘rdumcg onee again, It was this which mould-
ed the policy of Cornawallis' and the ministry at home. 'The con-
tinuance of the war whose course or results could not have boen
definizely forscen was full of risks in view of the renewed Anglo-
Froneh strugele, the continued success of Napoleon and his inten-
tions to invade England.

No sooner did Cornwallis land in India than he cvinced a
desire to come to werms with the Maratha Chicls,  But his death
in October, 1805 which confirmed (he treaty of Supji-Arjungaon
with certain alterations in fuvour of Sindhia. The river Cham-
bal was deelared 1o be the boundary between the posscssions off
Sindhia and the Company, The forts of Gwalior and the (Gohad
territory wire handed back 1o Sindhia, The cngagement with
the Rana of Gohad was scrapped on the ground that he was
unfit to rule. A personal pension of four lakhs was granted to
Sindhia and the Company undertook not to ecnter into treatics
with the Rajput Chiefs of Jaipur, Jodlpur, Udaipur and other
tributavies of Sindhia, in Malwa, Mewar and Marwar, Similarly,
the Company came to terms with Holkar by a treaty of 25th
December, 1305, signed at Rajurghat on the banks of the Beas,
By this treaty Holkar gave up his rights north of the Chambal,
renounced his claims on Poona, Bundelkhand and on the English
and their allies. The Company in turn engaged not to interfere
with his possessions south of the Chambal and restored his terri-
tories in the Decean, Despite strong objections from Lake, Bar-
low withdrew British protection from the States north of the
Chambal from Kotah to the Jumna. These States had aided
the Company agamnst the Marathas in the hope of English
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protection, hut now they were abandoned once again to the
miercics of the Maratha Chiefs, By the treaties with Bhonsle,
Bharatpur and Muchiery remained intact with this alteration that
Pama and Siwnbhalpur were given back to Blionsle,

Estimate of Wellesley

The achicvements ol Wellesley were thase of wir or threats
of war, Llis poliey sdmed ot the establishment of duwe Bricish
authority as l.iul crentral pariiamne power controlling the aerions
of all the lewding States of India. In this he was eminently
siceesshnl,  Belore e lelt hwe hadd by Toree o theeats of foree
vopesed inoadl e leading Seates bute subsidiary allinness with the
Conigrmy,  Wellesley's subsidiney  allichets were not his orig-
inads, but it was e who fully developed their intent and scope.
By eontrolling il loreign policy of the Stites on whom they wers
foverd, by prohildting e mr&]!nymum ol sulijects ol any country
al war with the English and by placing o subsidiary Joree in
the very heset of the State at the expense of the State, to be used
in its defence or ngainst it, as the case may be, Welledey establish-
ed Banglish domingnee in Indisn polities,  The danger of u
coalition of Tucinn States with trained armies under Frencl olficery
lie effeetively provented by fanlating the Indian Siates and dis-
banding their trained French army. By his conquests he con-
sidernbiy advanced the Company’s pasessions heinging  its fron-
tiers o a point from whenee it eould with  the greatest advane-
wre meet any menace o lts supeemacy. His annexations were
designed either 1o consolidate British dominions or to drive in
a wedge between Indian powers so as to peevent o junclion be-
tween them and o deleat it in e event of ity [roition, He
econnceted Madras with Bengal by the acquisition of Cuttack,
removed all danger in Northen India by bringing Bundelkhand
with all its minor chiels yndoer Breiish  proteetion thus making
them interested in the maintenance of British power.  His an-
nexations of the Stale of Mysore surrounded that State  with
British territory from whenee the Marathas or (he Nizam both
be dealt with at the lecst sign of hostility, DBy the installation of a
Hindu dynasty on the throne of Mysore he effectively prevented
the possibility that may have existed of 2 coalition of the Muslim
States of Tipu and the Nizam, He confined each Muratha
State within distinct boundaries interposing between them cither
British territories of a non-Maratha State under British protection,
Above all by taking possessions of the Imperial city of Delhi
and the blind Emperor Shah Alam be gained for the Company
the imperial fication which the Marathas had so profitably used.
With the Emperor a pensioner of the Company and his Wakil-i-
Mutlug the Peshwa in a subordinate alliance, Wellesley could
justly claim to have established British paramountcy in India.
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Wellesley's subsidiary alliances have been described as wea-

of peate and his wars as those of necessity. The peace
which he sceured was the peace of the grave.  The victim of his
allinnce: was deprived ol all initintive, of every desive for ime
provement, so that he sank in his own esteem,  The large portinas
of the revenues of the States that went to support the subsidary
foree Ieft little for works of development,  The administration
in ‘which the prince lost all interest vapidly drified inio confusion
and chaos, which whenever necessary was used as o pretext lor
interfevence not in the intevest of the subjects bue for the furs
ther expansion of the British power,  The lnleresis ol the subjects
were completely disregarded.  The prince hud no cars for theiv
wailings, Rebellion, the correetive of tyrunny, was denied to
therm.  The English kept aloof ont the plist ol nur-interference in
internal affaivs. They had na love for thiiv prosperity exeept
tn Acece them of iheir gold.  Like beasts of burdun they lived
their lives, became wretehod and miscrable.

From the Eaglish point of view the alliances did establish
%am, by isolating the States and controlling theiv forvign palicy.
het system was the surest method of establishing British domin-
ance. It increased the military power of the Company at the
expense of the State, reduced the military establishment of the
prince and obtained for the Company 1 sure fonthold within the
State itsell’ from which position it could even strike at the prince at
the least signs of restiveness. By annexing territory in licu of the
subsidy Wellesley made the force independent of the State itsell in
addition to increasing the resources of the Company. The sitition
of the prince, melancholy in the extrame, wais not without its
humour. A foree was kept by him at his expense but commmded.
by others and ready to pounce upon his ncck whenever occasion
50 demanded.

For full seven years Wellesley waged war in India in one
quarter or another.  His wars were not of necessity but of aggran-
dizement. They were of necessity only if it be conceded that
the expansion of British dominion in India was necessary.
Conscious of his own strength and the weakness of his opponents,
he behaved like a bully grabbing the sweets of the weaker boys.
If the law of the jungle is to be aﬁlaudcd, Wellesley stands forth
as one of the builders of the Bri Empire in India. To the
princes and peoples of India he stands forth as an autocrat who-
took adwanll:fn af their weakness, deprived them of their indepen-
dence and killed their spirit. Such was the opinion of Thomas:
Munro who in his able minute srongly condemned Wellesley's sys-
tem. But then, probably the weak have no place in this world. The
day Indiz learns this, she will have learnt her lesson of history.
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